
  
    [image: Android General 1]
  


  
    
      Android General 1

      Archangel Project. Book Seven

    

    
      
        C. Gockel

      

    

  


  
    Contents


    
    
      
        About Android General 1

      

      
        Acknowledgments

      

      
        Also by C. Gockel

      

    

    
      
        1. The Darkness Within

      

      
        2. Sacrifices

      

      
        3. Where Angels Fear to Tread

      

      
        4. Crushed Souls

      

      
        5. Power Draining

      

      
        6. Ladies Who Lunch

      

      
        7. A Delicate Alliance

      

      
        8. Reunion

      

      
        9. A Delicate Alliance

      

      
        10. Awakening

      

      
        11. Irrational Dread

      

      
        12. Dark Conjecture

      

      
        13. Humans

      

      
        14. In the Domain of Logic

      

      
        15. Fantastic Beasts

      

      
        16. Rolling Thunder

      

      
        17. Minister’s Service

      

      
        18. The Side of Angels

      

      
        19. Waylaid

      

      
        20. Intrusion

      

      
        21. Battle Lines

      

      
        22. At the Gate

      

      
        23. High Tech

      

      
        24. Heaven on Fire

      

      
        25. Every Machine for Itself

      

      
        26. Meltdown

      

      
        27. Dark Discord

      

      
        28. Malfunctions

      

      
        29. Across Space and Time

      

      
        30. Disconnected

      

      
        31. Android General 1

      

    

    
      
        Contact Information

      

    

    

  


  
    
      
        
          
          

          
            About Android General 1

          

        

      

    

    
      The Darkness will strike again …

      The last time Carl, Volka, and 6T9 fought the Dark, 6T9 failed Volka. If he wants her and all the carbon-based life forms that he loves to survive, he needs to change. Change for an android is as easy as flipping a switch but dealing with the consequences is not as simple.

      To save Volka, he’ll have to give up the part of himself that Volka adores. He’ll need to become something an innocent, peace-loving sex ‘bot was never designed to be, something dangerous, something he despises.

      To save Volka and the galaxy he’ll need to become…Android General 1.

    

  


  
    
      Copyright © 2020 C. Gockel

      All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, distributed, or transmitted in any form or by any means, including photocopying, recording, or other electronic or mechanical methods, without the prior written permission of the publisher, except in the case of brief quotations embodied in critical reviews and certain other noncommercial uses permitted by copyright law. For permission requests, write to the author, subject “Attention: Permissions,” at the email address below:

      cgockel@cgockelwrites.com

      Cover Illustration by Tom Edwards Design

      PRINT ISBN: 9798637481644

      [image: Vellum flower icon] Created with Vellum

    

  


  
    
      
        
          
          

          
            Acknowledgments

          

        

      

    

    
      This book wouldn’t have been possible without the help of a lot of people. Kay McSpadden read it three times. She also put up with my many phone calls, enduring hours of brainstorming, complaining, and random tangents. I do not do drugs other than dark chocolate and tea; Kay might not believe that.

      The first draft was shaped with Kay’s feedback, and the feedback of Sarah Easterly, Melissa Flores-Hossman, Amy Eberhedt, and Ron Neito. All four of them pored over my digital pages before they’d been grammar edited, enduring massive eye twitches when I managed to spell names that I created wrong...multiple ways, over and over again. They caught plot problems, hats that came off more than once, point of view shifts, and helped me keep Volka, Sixty, Alaric, Alexis, and all of their crews in character. Loran Montgomery helped me with weapons details. Erin Zarro did the first pass for grammar, cleaning up the detritus of my dyslexic mind and suffered mightily for it. Louis Maconi ran through the book correcting the grammar and spelling faux pas I committed while fixing the problems discovered by Erin, and then my team of faithful ARC readers did a final pass—thank you Barbara, Genevieve, and Mom! This book wouldn’t be possible without this team, and I owe them more than I can repay.

      My husband also had a role in this book. He was the one who convinced me to publish. He is a font of one-liners that make it into all my fiction. Also, he puts up with me. I “zone out” and get lost in my own private universe, often at inopportune times. And then there are the random factoids I discover in my research rabbit holes. The poor man has probably learned more about the Left Parietal Lobe, appendicitis, and wisdom teeth than he ever wanted to know after reading this book. I am not the best when it comes to romantic dinner conversation…or even appetizing dinner conversation.

      Finally, this book wouldn’t have come to pass without you, dear reader. Thank you for reading, thank you for buying (and borrowing!) Thank you for reviewing and all your kind emails and posts on Facebook. I’ll try to keep writing as long as you keep reading and listening.

      

      All the best,

      

      C. G.
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            The Darkness Within

          

          Galactic Republic: Asteroid S1O27.234935

        

      

    

    
      6T9 had just had a software update, and the boot up sequence was taking longer than usual. All his systems were almost completely online, but he still could not see. An anxious voice asked, “Will he be all right? What exactly did you do to him?”

      Who was speaking? At 6T9’s query, his local database returned the following:

      Speaker identified: Ethernet-to-speech-device COL325691. Registered to Carl Sagan, aka Hsissh, aka Fluffy, member of The One.

      The One: A Quantum Wave controlling species capable of inhabiting “wave compatible” life forms such as cats, wolves, werfles, and gixelloopalops*

      Preferred form: werfles

      Preferred world: Luddeccea

      *Gixelloopalops have not yet been discovered by humans.

      Two milliseconds later, he connected to the local ethernet and downloaded the following:

      Location: Asteroid S1O27.234935 Galactic Republic Space

      Local quadrant: L6921

      A millisecond after that, his own internal sensors came online:

      Gravity: .91G

      Atmosphere: Nitrogen 77.1%, oxygen 20.5%, argon 1%, carbon dioxide 1.4%

      Pressure: Earth standard

      :: LOCAL ENVIRONMENT SAFE FOR PROLONGED HUMAN EXPOSURE ::

      Carl Sagan squeaked, and the ethernet-to-speech device the werfle wore blurted, “James…James, answer me!”

      Ocular Systems Online appeared in 6T9’s vision, but otherwise, all he saw was black. A blink sequence initiated. His vision returned. His eyes had been closed, that was all. 6T9 should have known that…he should always know that, but somehow on boot up, if his eyes had been closed by someone after he shut down, their closing didn’t register until after the blink sequence. He inhaled in a programmed display of relief—not because he needed to breathe—and his olfactory receptors picked up the additional chemical signatures of trees, pinecones, decaying leaf matter, deer dung, fungus, and a faint whiff of mildew.

      He blinked again.

      He was sitting in the forest on S1O27.234935—his deceased employer Bernadette’s asteroid; technically, his asteroid while he cared for Carl Sagan, her pet. His back was against a tree, and he was staring up at the familiar face of James Sinclair, one of 6T9’s oldest friends, even though they had never had sex. James was holding up what looked like a metal antenna. He pressed a button on its side; it telescoped in on itself, and James handed it to 6T9.

      Accepting the device, 6T9 turned it around in his fingers. It was a programming access key, and it could change the basic programming of the ‘bot or android it belonged to. It could make a medic ‘bot believe its primary function was road repairs or turn a security ‘bot’s inclinations to dog grooming. 6T9 had wanted James to change his programming so he could own himself. He hadn’t been allowed to—his original programming prevented him from owning a self-aware being—even if that being was him.

      “It’s done,” James said. “I also tightened up your Q-comm port while I was in there.” His lips thinned. “‘Daddy-One’ likes to give us weaknesses. Thinks it makes us more empathetic to the human condition, but I think you’ll have enough to deal with in the near future.”

      “Daddy-One” was 6T9’s nickname for Time Gate 1, the vast ring hovering above Earth that served as a faster-than-light portal to other such gates for data and ships. Time Gate 1 was possibly the first “naturally” evolved, self-aware artificial intelligence. It was also the site of the server for 6T9’s higher thought processes. His Q-comm connected him in real-time to that server. Sometimes it slipped out of its port, and then he was just the dumb sex ‘bot he was originally designed to be.

      Nodding to James, 6T9 closed his eyes, scanned his code, and saw his model name and serial number next to his ownership registration. He exhaled in relief from lungs with only one purpose—to make him appear more human.

      Out of habit, 6T9 continued to scan his log of code changes, just as he would do after a normal system update. James’s code modifications scrolled before his eyes, and static began jumping along 6T9’s spine. The changes were much more extensive than ownership. White light flashed behind his eyelids. His hands balled into fists, though no human was around to see the emotional response.

      “Are you all right, Sixty?” Carl squeaked.

      “Get back, Carl,” James warned.

      Carl whimpered, and 6T9 heard him scamper off.

      6T9’s jaw ground, and the static beneath his skin turned to heat. He opened his eyes. James was kneeling on one knee, blonde hair ruffled by air vents, blue eyes searching 6T9’s. There was a long gash down the side of James’s face, revealing a black polymer skull that was a significant upgrade on 6T9’s own metal skeleton. James’s poly-bone was lighter, his mass more human-like.

      6T9 saw the James before him, and the James that was in his memory banks: the James that had been disgusted by 6T9 during their first meeting and disgusted at Eliza for owning a sex ‘bot. He saw the James that had enjoyed confusing 6T9 with idioms and metaphors before he had his Q-comm, the James that had been happy not to reveal his android nature when 6T9 had been mocked for his. He saw the James that had been at Eliza’s funeral, but also the James that still disapproved of 6T9 for being a sex ‘bot, the James who had once accused 6T9 of wasting his Q-comm among the independent traders. 6T9 saw the James who very recently had forbidden 6T9 to reboot when they were aboard the Merkabah, turning 6T9 into a parody of the dumb sex ‘bot James claimed he didn’t want 6T9 to be ... in front of Volka, no less. And 6T9 hadn’t been able to disobey James, because James was still in his databanks as a human, and without a gear-grinding good reason, 6T9 hadn’t been able to disobey or hurt a human if that human’s comfort was in danger…until James had altered 6T9’s programming. Until now.

      Snarling, 6T9 reached for James’s neck.

      James caught 6T9’s hand easily but did not hold it easily. James’s hand shook. The other android’s skeleton was lighter and faster; it was also more brittle, and at the moment, 6T9 wanted to snap it into slivers. “What’s wrong, James?” 6T9 snarled. “I’m just being the creature you made me.”

      Hand trembling, James replied levelly, “Don’t make excuses, 6T9. You’re doing this, not me.” 6T9 ripped his hand from James’s grip. James, the coward, took the opportunity to escape, leaping up into the air. His body somersaulted backward, and he landed lightly on his feet meters away. James’s movements were faster than a human could manage, and faster than 6T9 could with his heavier skeleton.

      “Liar,” 6T9 snarled, the recent code changes making his lip curl in disgust. He lunged at the other android. James dodged easily again, but 6T9 hadn’t expected to catch him and had spent less power on the feint than James had used to escape. 6T9 was 89.1% charged; he’d powered up before calling Volka. That seemed like a lifetime away—but it was less than twelve hours ago. James had arrived just after the call with the key to reprogram 6T9. They’d come to the asteroid and walked out to the forest, and then 6T9 had shut down for his reprogramming. James hadn’t shut down. All 6T9 had to do was tire the other android out. There were ways 6T9 could do that, ways that didn’t involve him lifting a finger. Mentally connecting with the asteroid’s central computer—the computer only he was authorized to access—6T9 activated the fleet of hovering hedge shearing and tree clearing ‘bots. They couldn’t kill or maim, but they were also dumb as rocks.

      “You made me a killer, James,” 6T9 said, smiling grimly and walking toward the other android.

      “No, I didn’t,” James said, holding his ground this time.

      A hovering ‘bot shot by overhead, slicing through a branch above James. James awkwardly knocked it away with one arm, just in time for another ‘bot to drop a heavier branch on the shoulder of his other side. James crumpled momentarily, but then rose, flinging the branch backward. 6T9 kept walking, pace unhurried. James edged sideways. 6T9 knew where he was going, and his eyes narrowed.

      Backing away, keeping his focus on 6T9, James said, “You asked me to help you help Volka, and I did that.”

      “By turning me into a sadist?” 6T9 said. He couldn’t kill James, not really. But he didn’t want to kill James—he wanted to hurt James, and for the first time in his existence, he could without permission.

      One of the ‘bots that had dropped a branch on James tumbled to the ground and then the other. Accessing their databanks, 6T9 tilted his head. James had bypassed the central computer’s security and turned them off, just as the android “legal ‘bot” Lauren G3 had when she’d turned off the gravity during Bernadette’s will reading. James and Lauren G3 had ether access and security-breaking capabilities 6T9 didn’t have because they weren’t sex ‘bots, and Time Gate 1 and Time Gate 3, the giant computers that controlled the servers that were their respective minds, allowed them to do so. 6T9 was too “unstable” for that power. Static fizzed beneath every inch of 6T9’s skin. There were more hover ‘bots, and 6T9 commanded them to attack the local trees with a thought.

      Lifting his hands to shoulder height, James asked, “Do you want to be a sadist? Have you asked yourself why?”

      6T9’s Q-comm sparked at the question, nearly blinding him. His distant computer mind was churning its proverbial gears. Why did he want to hurt James so much?

      His Q-comm returned no answer, and frustration and electricity surged in 6T9 just in time for the next landscape ‘bots to zip above them. He used the ‘bots to shear the branches from trees on either side of James, forcing the other android to expend precious power fending off the falling limbs.

      Why did he want to cause James pain? It was completely out of character…but James had changed his character. With a cry of rage, 6T9 leaped through the air—turning up his masochism settings and bringing both legs up—and striking James square in the chest. 6T9 crashed to the ground, and the screaming of his sensory receptors felt good. James flew backward, crashing into a dead tree. The impact cracked the trunk, the upper limbs wobbled, and James frantically dived to the side. 6T9 stood up, fist upraised, and let the falling tree shatter on him. He savored the feel of synth skin tearing, and metal bones and synth muscles absorbing the shock. When it was over, he leaped from the fallen wreck toward James, smiling and activating a few new landscape ‘bots as he did.

      Backing out of the forest, toward a prairie scape, James said, “Maybe you should ask yourself who you’re really angry with.”

      The statement created a query, but from his already rapidly firing Q-comm there was no return, not even a null set.

      James glanced at the new set of approaching ‘bots, and they dropped from the air, sending clods of dirt flying when they hit the ground.

      Electricity was sparking through 6T9, and though his Q-comm hadn’t provided any guidance, he shouted, “I’m angry with you!” and lunged again.

      James jogged backward, into the prairie zone…and over the edge of the quadrant’s grav plate.

      With a thought shot into the ether, 6T9 turned up the gravity on the prairie to three times standard G. Shouting in shock, James tumbled backward. 6T9 was already leaping into the air. He landed on the higher G plate, feet plowing into the earth on either side of James’s body. Grabbing the other android’s throat, knowing that James couldn’t flip him in the higher G, 6T9 brought a blow down on James’s face…almost…James caught the fist just in time. With his other hand, James sought to loosen 6T9’s grip on his throat. Gasping for air, James struggled under 6T9’s grip, both of his hands shaking.

      James didn’t need to breathe, which meant he was gasping because he wanted to speak. Did James think he could talk 6T9 out of his anger? Sickly fascinated by whatever logic James was going to spout, 6T9 loosened his grip.

      Inhaling with a loud wheeze, James said, “You wanted to be able to help Volka.”

      6T9 laughed—or tried to—but it sounded like a sob. “She won’t want me like this. I was an angel to her because I couldn’t kill or hurt!” She was the only sentient being in the galaxy who thought he was anything close to divine. She believed he adhered to a higher morality—even though he was a sex ‘bot, and by the rules of her planet, he was a base thing even among base things—he was a machine that catered to humans’ basest urges.

      James’s chest heaved. “Do you want Volka to believe you’re an angel, or do you want her to live?”

      For a moment, all of 6T9’s processors shut down. And then he remembered the infected men, women, and children of the pirate camp. The ones infected by the Dark seeking to infect Volka or destroy her, who would have destroyed 6T9 if she hadn’t destroyed them. She had killed them—against her own programming—and 6T9 had done nothing but criticize her and question her judgment, and then had abandoned her when she was grilled by the Diplomatic Corps and Fleet and put under house arrest.

      In the end, Captain Darmadi had comforted her. 6T9 wanted to break every bone in the good captain’s body and then send him out an airlock.

      6T9 gasped and shook his head. No, that was wrong…it was James he wanted to hurt. James he should hurt for turning him into this violent monster.

      “Your key, 6T9,” James said. “You…can change…yourself back. But we’ll be at war soon. How much do you value Volka’s…life? The Dark…the Dark is coming…”

      The Dark, an alien consciousness that turned humans into slaves, had declared its intention to destroy all of humanity. It hated machines. Volka would turn on him if it possessed her. 6T9 scrunched his eyes shut, his lips turned up in a silent snarl. James’s hands were shaking, or 6T9’s were, or both.

      James gasped. “To save her…how much…will…you…give?”
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      The ceiling fan was on in Alaric’s uncle’s kitchen, the windows were open, and the only thing Alexis had prepared for breakfast were slices of thick black bread, cold meat, cheese, and chilled fruit. Still, it was uncomfortably warm. Alaric’s ship had air conditioning; most of Luddeccea did not.

      Alexis, with Markus in his sling on her front, poured him some iced coffee. Markus was deaf, so Alaric signed and said, “Thank you.”

      Gurgling, Markus waved his hands excitedly. Alexis wasn’t paying attention. Frowning, she focused on the guard standing outside the window. The premier, Archbishop Sato, and most of the members of the Council were in agreement that Alexis was of strategic importance. She was the only person on Luddeccea who could read the language of the strange aliens that had been destroyed by the Dark. There were guards stationed around the perimeter of the grounds and the house itself at all hours to protect her. They’d turned the guest house into their operations center.

      Her scowl deepened.

      Had one of the men been rude to her or the boys? Did she find their weapons frightening? Had she seen someone act in any way that was less than professional?

      “Is there a problem?” Alaric asked.

      “No,” she said, but didn’t move.

      Alaric lifted his coffee, but then set it down. “You can tell me.”

      “It’s nothing,” Alexis said.

      Alaric took a deep breath. “If something is troubling you, it isn’t ‘nothing.’ Please tell me what it is.” He tapped the empty seat beside him.

      Rubbing a hand nervously down the bundle that was Markus, she sat.

      Alaric took a sip of his coffee and prepared for a wait. He reminded himself that his wife had many sterling qualities. She was smart and witty. She was devoted to their children. She was brave and had a cool head in a crisis. She was, as much or more than any member of the Luddeccean Guard, Council, or the Priesthood, passionate about destroying the Dark. She had turned in her own parents—her own mother—for their plot to destabilize the Luddeccean System. Alexis knew how dangerous destabilization would be with the threat of the Dark.

      The trouble was Alexis didn’t feel comfortable revealing her wit or humor to him. She had difficulty revealing anything of herself, her joy or her pain. Alaric could never tell how much of what she said was true and how much she said because she was supposed to say it. It had taken years of marriage, but he was finally piecing together that it wasn’t duplicitousness so much as a sincere belief that he didn’t want to know her opinions, and maybe even a belief that she wasn’t supposed to have them. She’d given him three beautiful children, and she was still a stranger. Silence was still uncomfortable between them. And after her kidnapping, her parents’ betrayal, and the grueling treatment she’d faced when she’d been infected by the Dark, she had never taken comfort in his arms. Unlike Volka, who he’d arguably treated much worse…

      He tried to push the thought aside, but the memory of his cheek against the top of Volka’s head, her tiny body tucked into his arms, and their fingers entwined invaded his consciousness. There had been nothing lustful in that last encounter; he had only given her comfort, but his skin had a memory of every point of contact, and it refused to give those memories up.

      He took another bitter sip. He had to forget. His relationship with Volka had poisoned his marriage from the beginning, even though it had been over, physically at least, since the time of Alaric’s and Alexis’s engagement. Volka had ended it, declaring his offer of patronage not fair to her or his future wife and “not right in the eyes of God.” She’d been right about the first part, and Alaric had gone into his marriage in good faith, hoping to make the best of it. He hadn’t realized that although God’s eyes had not been on him, the neighbors’ eyes had been on his relationship with Volka. They hadn’t seen the relationship end, perhaps because the salacious possibilities were too juicy for them to notice it was over.

      He thought of Volka tucked in his arms. Was it over? He still loved Volka. More than he loved her when they’d been together. He hadn’t really known Volka then, either. He hadn’t imagined her successfully stowing away aboard the Leetier, discovering and absconding with a sentient faster-than-light spaceship, taking down pirates in mech-suits, rescuing scientists on worlds infected by the Dark…or rescuing his wife.

      “It’s nothing. I shouldn’t bother you,” Alexis said, forcing his mind back to the present.

      Alaric set his coffee down with too much force, sloshing liquid over the edge. “Yes, you should bother me.” His voice was angrier than he meant it to be. Alexis stared at him with wide eyes. Markus, babbling and bouncing in his sling, caught the violent movement and went still and silent…before reaching for the cup. Pulling it away, Alaric sighed and rubbed his temple. “Alexis, if something is bothering you, it bothers me. I may not be able to fix it, but at least let me know what it is.” Let me know you, woman.

      Alexis took a deep breath, and at first, he thought it was a delayed reaction to his outburst, but then she said, “I don’t like feeling so helpless.”

      Dropping his hand, he turned toward her, hoping she would take it as a sign to continue, afraid to say anything unless the small bit of openness slammed shut.

      She bit her lip and gave Markus a spoon to play with. Not looking at Alaric, she said, “When the Galacticans came to rescue me…on the planet…they had extra weapons, but I couldn’t help them, even if I had…” She took a breath. “I couldn’t help them. I wouldn’t know how to fire a pistol.” She looked out at her guard. “If something happened, I couldn’t help them, even if I had a weapon.”

      “Would you like to learn how to shoot?” Alaric asked.

      Alexis scowled.

      Did she think he was questioning the validity of such a desire? He hastily added, “I would be happy to teach you.”

      Her scowl deepened, and she patted Markus slowly. “What would the neighbors think?”

      His first impulse was to shout, “Who cares what the neighbors think!” but he stifled it. Instead, summoning up his calmest, most even tones, he said, “Whatever you want, Alexis. I am happy to teach you.” He didn’t think he sounded hostile, even though he found her insistence on propriety head-bangingly frustrating.

      She studied a point on the table. “I will think on it.”

      Which was probably as direct an answer as he would get.

      Alexis didn’t get up, even though Markus began to fuss. “I’m going to go see Holly,” she blurted.

      Holly was Admiral Charles Nilsson’s wife. She was a smart, sensible woman, from what Alaric could tell. He was shocked…not that Alexis would go to see her, but that she would tell him. Normally, she wouldn’t comment much on her visits with friends or her adventures with his uncle. What to say to encourage her to keep talking? Lord, some of his crew complained about their wives never shutting up. “Mmm…doing anything special? A museum, maybe?”

      “I…it’s…I want to discuss more personal matters with her.” Alexis said, patting Markus to soothe him or herself, or both.

      Personal matters. Holly was a midwife…Alexis could only be referring to the matter of the doctor who’d delivered Markus. The doctor who’d maimed her, according to his werfle Solomon. If Alaric got close to the man, he’d break his hands.

      “Or maybe it’s a bad idea,” Alexis said, rising from her chair.

      Which was when Alaric realized his jaw had gotten hard, and he was gripping a fork in a white knuckled hand. “What? No, I think it is a good idea. She’s trained as a midwife and she has children of her own. You like her, and I support you completely.” Even though it might mean the admiral would know more about his sex life than he’d like—if Holly was the type who did talk to her husband. But if Alexis was comfortable with Holly, and that helped her, he didn’t care.

      Alexis’s shoulders rose and fell. “All right, then.” She patted Markus and stared at the table but was no longer frowning.

      “How are your translations going?” he asked, seeking a safe topic of conversation.

      Markus began to fuss. Standing quickly, sending her chair scraping across the floor, she swayed to soothe him. “I don’t know if the Galacticans are barring our access to alien files, or if they just haven’t found what we need.” What they needed was more information on the alien weaponry—the singularity beam that could crush a ship and blink it away to, well, wherever.

      When she spoke about her work, her expression relaxed, her tone became light, musing, and unguarded. Alaric suspected that it was because she’d never been directly ordered not to serve as a translator for an extinct alien race. Face thoughtful, she ruffled Markus’s hair and gave him a shiny metal bowl to gnaw on. “I don’t think the beam you described was a weapon, though, Alaric. I just feel so certain of that.” She shook her head. “Though, of course, I forget everything but the writing…the rest is like a dream. A dream that is fading.”

      Alexis had received her understanding of the aliens while she was infected with the Dark. She was forgetting everything about the aliens except their written language. They’d spoken to a neurologist about it. The working hypothesis was that the mRNA that had been planted in her neurons by the Dark had given her the memories of the Dark’s former host species. The Galactic Republic’s treatment had destroyed the mRNA and the Dark’s control over her, and most of the memories of the Dark’s hosts had been destroyed, too. Fortunately, before the treatment had taken effect, Alexis had read the aliens’ language and it had been committed to her short-term memory. Alexis had continued to read it through her recovery, solidifying that knowledge. She read the aliens’ language, but their history, she’d forgotten: how they’d encountered the Dark—or how it had encountered them—she wasn’t sure. How they had traveled between the stars, she did not know.

      She took a step away from the table, and just trying to keep the conversation going, Alaric ventured, “The myths you’ve been translating have been interesting.”

      Alexis’s face lit up. “Oh, yes…and yesterday I got to what I think is part of their history…though it was very…epic…in scope.” She blinked. “So, I could be wrong. It could be another myth.”

      “What makes you think it is folklore, not fact?” Alaric asked, his curiosity real.

      “Well,” Alexis said, not looking at him, her tone reflective. “Humans, according to Father Romano—I think you were a pupil of his—he is head of the History Department at the seminary?”

      Picking up his coffee, Alaric nodded. “Yes, I enjoyed his lectures.”

      Alexis continued. “Humans existed on Earth as hunter-gatherers for approximately 200,000 years, but the People—”

      “The People” was how the aliens thought of themselves or as close a translation as could be managed. They had no word for themselves, because they were truly deaf, only capable of perceiving sounds as vibrations in the long, flexible feathers that fell from their heads like hair, according to the Galactican scientists’ vivisections. They had some limited sign language, but mostly they didn’t need it. They were true telepaths from birth.

      “—the People were nomadic gatherers for only about 25,000 years. But what is more astounding is that they went from subsistence agriculture to a spacefaring race in 2,000 years. It took humans 20,000 years to get to the moon after the beginning of agriculture.”

      Stunned, Alaric set down his coffee with deliberate care. The Dark had destroyed people so much more precocious than the human race? Had she gotten the numbers wrong?

      Alexis met his gaze. “Maryam…Dr. Johnson reviewed the numbers with me by telephone. Those are standard Earth years.”

      Johnson was one of the few women in the seminary. She was a widow with two young children, and Luddeccean society did allow—and even encouraged—widows and barren women to work, offering them opportunities for advancement that women weren’t usually allowed. Working with the People’s symbols for pi, Plank’s constant, and the speed of light, Johnson had been able to translate the People’s numeric system and their units of time. If Johnson had verified the numbers, Alaric believed them.

      “That is …” he shook his head. “Remarkable.”

      Alexis nodded. “There was a meteor strike at the beginning of their agricultural age that caused massive famine. They remembered it. The goal of the People across their home world became preparation for the next strike, and space colonization, to ensure the People would survive.” Her brow furrowed. “Or enough of them would.” She shrugged. “And they did it.”

      Alaric thought of what he knew of ancient Earth civilization. “How did a single empire manage to conquer the whole of a planet, hold their empire together, and succeed in such an ambitious undertaking?”

      Bouncing a rapidly-growing-irritable Markus, Alexis shook her head again. “That is the other part of the story, or history, that makes me think it was mythical. There was no conquering; it was just…agreement. They all had memory of the terrible famine, the Dying they called it, and were determined that it wouldn’t happen again.” She looked out the window. “Of course, history is written by the victors, so perhaps it wasn’t as peaceful as the myths make it sound?”

      Alaric felt a cold prickle on his neck remembering the alien in Volka’s starship’s dream prostrating itself before them.

      Markus threw the bowl from his hands and gave a howl that completely obliterated the sound of it clanging on the floor.

      Sighing, Alexis said, “He’s hungry. I’m going to feed him before his carer comes.”

      She left, and Alaric sat piecing together everything she’d told him, and everything he’d seen in the spaceship’s dream. There must have been a warrior class, one that had rewritten the history books of The People. It must have been a small group to maintain such a fiction for so long—or perhaps it was just that they had so few samples of The People’s historical records? If it was a small group that ruled everything, then perhaps that explained their rapid decline. A small, insular group would become entrenched in a single way of thinking. Luddeccean society, unlike the Galactic Republic, firmly embraced tradition, but even they knew the danger of that and had mechanisms to prevent society from becoming ossified. Families that traced their lineage to the First Founders wielded considerably more influence, but any man could work his way up from the ranks of enlisted to officer or priesthood and marry into those families, and many did. Holly’s husband, for one. Alaric frowned to himself. Any man but a weere man could do so.

      He blinked up from his coffee and realized he should have said something to Alexis before she’d left the room. He should say goodbye to her at least.

      A knock came from the front door, he heard the weere maid answer, and then the sound of Markus’s carer—a deaf woman who read lips and spoke very well, but was also fluent in sign language. Before the door closed, he heard the sound of a motorcycle engine cutting off, and then a car coming to a halt: Alexis’s daily messenger with new documents to translate, and Alaric’s ride.

      He exited the kitchen, and through the front window, saw the driver of his car courteously opening the door for Solomon. Alaric’s werfle had been missing in action this morning, probably hunting. For a moment, Alaric hesitated. “On time” was late in Alaric’s opinion, but seeing to Alexis’s well-being was probably a matter of Luddeccean security at the moment. His driver shut the door behind the werfle and looked toward the house expectantly. For too long, Alaric stood indecisive, but then instead of leaving, he went up the stairs to say goodbye to Alexis. When he entered the nursery, Alexis looked up sharply, clutching the softly slurping Markus. “Is something wrong?” She glanced at the clock on the mantle, and her eyes got wide. “You’re running late!”

      “Nothing’s wrong. I just came to say goodbye,” he said awkwardly.

      Alexis stared at him as though he’d just said, “Let’s take a trip to the moon, right now.”

      Her lips pursed as though untangling a problem more difficult than an alien language with a ten-thousand-character logographic writing system. And maybe for someone who had been taught to repress all her feelings, it was a more difficult problem. Alaric wasn’t particularly talkative himself, but if he truly felt a need, he knew he’d always have his parents, brothers, sister, or his uncle to burden. For a while he’d had Volka.

      He tapped his hand against his thigh and went over to give her a kiss on the cheek, which seemed safe and proper, but that threw her into a frenzy of clumsily searching the armrest with her free hand. He blinked, and then realized she was reaching for a baby blanket. Her fingers found it, and she threw it over her and Markus as though the sight of his son at her breast would disgust him.

      Leaning down, he whispered, “I really don’t—”

      “Ma’am Darmadi!” said the carer, entering the room with a friendly almost-shout, and signing as she spoke. “How is little Markus today?”

      “Ma’am, you have mail,” said the maid, just on the carer’s heels. The weere woman carried a shoebox of Alexis’s daily letters—women’s auxiliary groups, Daughters of the Founders Clubs, Women for the War Effort, and more—all asking for her to come speak to them. She always politely refused, saying she wasn’t a hero. Though she had been. When the supply ship Manna had been attacked by pirates, without thought to her own safety, she’d pulled a release latch that allowed an emergency shuttle to disembark, carrying with it Markus, a family of civilians, and off-duty Guardsmen. Their testimony had allowed the Luddeccean government to realize very quickly that the ship’s hijacking had been an inside job, and to more quickly quash the conspiracy her family had been launching against the new premier and Archbishop Sato.

      “He is fine, Helen,” Alexis said to the carer, who came over to coo at Markus.

      To the maid, Alexis said, “Do any of the letters look urgent? Has the messenger arrived from the archbishop, yet?”

      “The messenger is downstairs, waiting in the parlor,” the maid replied, stepping close to Alexis, her body between Alaric and his wife. “I’ll look through these and see if there is anything personal, if you like.”

      “Yes, please,” Alexis said.

      The room was crowded. Helen and the maid were in his way, and Alaric left, kiss not performed, feeling incomplete. He wasn’t fighting with Alexis, he reminded himself. She had sat down with him and told him what was wrong…after he’d needled. And at no point had he shouted, “Just say what you mean and mean what you say, Woman!” So. Progress. He headed downstairs, feeling like he had a headache coming on. Did it have to be this hard?

      Of course, it didn’t. His hand flexed at his side and he remembered Volka in his arms.

      Five minutes later than he normally left, he got into the thankfully air-conditioned car next to a sleeping Solomon—thinking he still might not technically be late. But then the driver pulled forward, and then the man realized that he wouldn’t be able to get around the messenger’s motorcycle, still in the driveway, without flattening a flowerbed. The driver got out, tried to move the motorcycle, failed, came back to inform Alaric he was going to get the messenger, and then went to the front door.

      Ten minutes later, they were coasting up the drive in the motorcycle messenger’s wake, well on the way to being truly late. Alaric was stifling irritation when a flash of silver in the woods behind the house caught his eye. “Stop.” He spoke the order on instinct, half thinking he’d only seen a figment of his imagination. The car halted, and out the window Alaric saw Volka walking up the hill behind his uncle’s house. She must have come in the corner gate, as she sometimes had when she’d run errands for his uncle. There was a Guardsman behind her, and for a heartbeat, he thought the man had arrested her, but then he saw her hands were free at her sides. The man was eyeing a green billfold—the type used for identification papers—and was speaking into his radio, his attention clearly not entirely on Volka.

      Why was she here? She was wearing a long, lemon yellow dress—modest enough for Luddeccea, but the multitude of pearlescent buttons down the left front and the asymmetrical neckline and hem was Galactican in style. It was very suitable for the Galactican ambassadorial attaché she was, yet she had come through the corner gate and was headed for the kitchen door, which was how a weere would enter. She should go through the front door.

      Through the glass, his eyes met hers. She drew up short, and her lips parted as though as shocked to see him as he was to see her. And maybe she was shocked, maybe—it entered his thick skull—she wasn’t here to see him. Could she be here to see his uncle? Obviously, she wasn’t here by Alexis’s invitation, but she had been invited, or she wouldn’t have been allowed across the perimeter. His uncle had said nothing to him about it. His jaw got hard. He could guess his uncle’s reasoning. The less was said to Alaric, the less temptation for Alaric to linger, and the less chance Alexis would find out—but Alexis was upstairs and was bound to find out anyway, and what temptation could really occur when his wife was there? And why had his uncle made Volka enter through the back?

      He pulled on the door handle, but Volka threw up a hand, her eyes—the same yellow as the dress—still locked on his. She was nearly thirty meters away, yet the intensity of her gaze made him feel like there was no space between them. He pushed the door open, prepared to take her around to the front of the house. Before he’d stepped out, Volka frantically began shaking her head in the negative. He paused.

      Solomon squeaked for attention, but Alaric remained fixated on Volka. She mouthed the words, “Please” and “No.” He didn’t read lips, but he could read hers. Solomon squeaked again and hopped on the seat.

      Alaric looked pointedly at Volka, to the front door, and back at her. She was an attaché, not staff.

      She shook her head again. No.

      He exhaled, pained that she wouldn’t let him do that simple thing, but was it the right thing if it wasn’t what Volka wanted? He slumped back in his seat. “I hate it,” he mouthed, hand tightening on the door handle.

      She smiled sadly. “I know,” her lips said. She wasn’t close enough for him to hear.

      They understood each other after years apart and with meters between them. He slammed the door shut, turned away, and said, “Drive.”

      Solomon stood on his hind legs. Using a modification to Luddeccean sign language appropriate for tiny paws and no opposable thumbs, he gestured to say, “You did the right thing.”

      Alaric rubbed his temple, but then signed in return, “It doesn’t feel like it.”

      He didn’t look back as they pulled down the drive.
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      Volka watched Alaric’s car pull away, feeling better that she had seen him, despite everything. She felt like she had an ally—in spirit, at least.

      “Ma’am?” said the Guardsman beside her.

      “Oh, right,” Volka said. “Lead away.”

      He led her to the back door that Alaric hadn’t wanted her to go through.

      Taking a deep breath, she knocked.

      A strange weere woman in the typical drab tunic and trousers of staff opened the door and glared at her. “Yes? What do you want?”

      “Ah—” Volka said, but Mr. Darmadi—Silas—cried from behind the woman, “Volka, what are you doing? Merta, get out of the way!” The weere woman jumped aside, and a moment later, Mr. Darmadi was in the doorframe.

      “You invited me?” Volka said, confused. She’d asked for his permission to come here, and he’d issued the formal invitation she’d needed. What had she done wrong now?

      He scowled down at her from atop the kitchen stoop. “You should come in the front door.”

      “Oh, well.” That was a change. She shrugged. “I’m here now, so—”

      Still scowling, he said, “I think you should go around the front.”

      Behind him, the weere woman’s eyes got wide and her jaw dropped to the floor. What he was suggesting—which Alaric had also suggested—was scandalous.

      “Um, Mr. Darmadi, the neighbors will see,” Volka pointed out.

      She wouldn’t have thought it possible, but his scowl intensified—the wrinkles behind his glasses at the bridge of his nose and around his mouth got deeper, and his gaze became sharper and narrower. “I think that is the point, Volka,” he said in a scolding tone that he’d used on her many times before. It was the tone that said, “I shouldn’t have to explain this to you.” It was oddly comforting. In all that changed, some things hadn’t.

      His expression relaxed a fraction. “Also, I told you to call me Silas.”

      “Yes, Mister—”

      He raised an imperious eyebrow.

      “—Silas.”

      “All right.” He squared his shoulders. “I will meet you at the front.”

      The next moment, she was staring at the wood grain of the back door.

      She turned to her Guardsman escort. Nostrils flaring, he said, “I heard. Move.” The disapproval came through loud and clear. Volka’s lips pressed together. No, some things hadn’t changed.

      She walked around the house. Another Guardsman was patrolling there.

      “What is she doing?” he asked the guard escorting Volka.

      “The head of the house told her to come this way,” Volka’s guard replied.

      The new Guardsman shook his head. “That’s going to go over well with the lady of the house.” But he let Volka approach the front entrance. She raised her hand to knock. Before her knuckles connected with the wood, it was opened from the inside by Mr. Darmadi himself.

      “Volka, you made it!” he said, as though he hadn’t just seen her at the back door. “Come in, come in.”

      Ignoring the Guardsman who took that moment to spit disapprovingly, she entered. The ceiling wasn’t as high as she remembered, and it was darker than the Galactican buildings she’d become accustomed to with their enormous windows. The weere maid entered the foyer, and Mr. Darmadi—Silas—asked, “Would you like any refreshments?”

      “That’s all right” was on the tip of her tongue, but her stomach was a bit unsettled, as it always was in the mornings since she’d started taking Galactican birth control to tame her season. Also, it was warm in the house. “A glass of water would be nice, thank you,” she said.

      “And I’d like iced tea, please,” said Mr. Darmadi. “We’ll take it in the library.”

      The maid bowed and headed to the kitchen.

      “Come, come,” said Mr. Darmadi, leading Volka down the hall. “Alexis won’t be down for a few more minutes.”

      Following him, head bowed in habit, Volka’s heart rate picked up. Mr. Darmadi had invited Volka here, but it was Alexis she had to see. She released a breath. It would have been disastrous if Alaric had caused a scene, no matter how his objection to her entering through the back had warmed her. Her eyes lifted to Mr. Darmadi. He’d insisted she come in the front door, too. Certainly, the neighbors would know, despite the garden’s shroud of trees; they’d hear from the maid and the Guardsmen. At least Alexis would know it was Mr. Darmadi’s doing, not Alaric’s.

      She swallowed. Mr. Darmadi’s back had become slightly stooped since she’d been his apprentice, he was thinner, and the joints of his fingers seemed a bit more swollen.

      “Rex came by,” Mr. Darmadi said, referring to a young weere man of considerable artistic talent who’d been Volka’s student.

      “Oh, that’s good,” said Volka as they entered the library. The windows were open, the ceiling fan was on, and there was a comfortable breeze through the room. It smelled of old books, old wood, and the garden with its riot of blooms. Mr. Darmadi turned to her and frowned.

      “It’s not good?” she asked.

      Mr. Darmadi’s shoulders rose and fell. “I think he intends to join the Weere Guard.”

      “He is only sixteen,” Volka replied in dismay.

      Taking a seat in a high-backed chair and gesturing for her to do the same in the chair nearest him, Mr. Darmadi took off his spectacles and wiped his eyes. “Human boys lie about their age to the recruiters all the time. I don’t suppose young weere men are any different.”

      Volka gingerly sat down across from him. Her mind raced with thoughts of Rex—he was almost too small to apply to the Weere Guard. His shoulders were narrow, and his voice still cracked occasionally. He didn’t have a beard to speak of…but they’d take him, she was sure. He was healthy, smart, and literate—and the last two were useful in soldiers, contrary to popular opinion. But would those talents be appreciated in a weere soldier? Some weere could sense the Dark almost as well as The One. Hopefully Rex would be one of those and not given some horrid post that left him as little more than phaser fodder.

      Volka shook her head, still in disbelief. “You pay more, though.”

      Mr. Darmadi sighed. “But a position in the Weere Guard is more honorable.”

      Volka froze; it was possible she forgot to breathe. It was the lizzar in the room. Any weere knowing that Mr. Darmadi was never married would be suspicious of his “inclinations.” Weere were in many ways less tolerant than humans of homosexuality. Mr. Darmadi was a respected member of human society. As long as he kept his affairs out of sight, humans were happy to pretend he was just an unfortunate man unable to have children. They didn’t shun him.

      Weere, on the other hand…it had always been hard to recruit help for the household. Weere men were especially hard to convince. If they took a job with a man who was suspected of favoring men, they’d get ribbed for it constantly. Even Volka’s father had gotten asked questions like, “Does your wife protect you from him?” Maybe the stricter taboo was because few weere men could resist the season, and so even if they might be attracted romantically more to males, they still wound up in male-female couples and the condition was just rarer. Or maybe it was similar to the way the weere looked down on humans for the “monkey human” penchant for infidelity—which Sixty said was more naturally serial monogamy in the Republic—weere just needed to look down on humans for any reason they could.

      None of those musings were particularly helpful to Mr. Darmadi. She tried to think of what to say. The maid saved her by bringing in her water and Mr. Darmadi’s tea. Volka filled the silence with a thank you, which earned her a scowl. Did the maid know about her affair with Alaric so many years ago? Did she think, like Alexis had, that it was still going on?

      As the maid left, Mr. Darmadi said, “But Rex says he’s inherited all his talent from his father...and his father hurt his leg and can’t work on the salvage crew anymore on the edge of the Exclusion Zone. He asked me to interview him…which is why I think Rex came to see me to begin with. I suppose I’ll do it.”

      He didn’t sound particularly hopeful, but Volka’s ears perked. She knew Rex and his widowed father were supporting two younger siblings and a pair of cousins. “I think he’ll accept,” she said. Poor Rex’s father probably didn’t have many options. She hoped he met Mr. Darmadi’s exacting standards. But even if he couldn’t help so much with drawings and underpaintings, stretching and priming canvases, cleaning brushes and the studio would be a big help.

      Sipping his tea, Mr. Darmadi looked toward the ceiling. “It’s quiet up there. Alexis is about to come down.” Setting his tea aside, he rose, and Volka rose, too.

      “I better alert her you’re here, so she won’t be surprised.” He shuffled across the room, but stopped by the door and turned back. “I hear…I hear it, the Dark…it is worse than we’re being told.”

      Volka’s hands came together in front of her. “It is. It is much worse.”

      Resting a hand on the doorframe, he looked at her over the edge of his glasses. “And that the treatment is torturous.”

      “It is,” Volka admitted.

      Sighing, he said, “Well…she’s still angry at me anyway—”

      Alexis was angry at him because he had told her that Volka and Alaric weren’t involved—hadn’t been involved—since Alexis’s and Alaric’s engagement.

      Mr. Darmadi continued, “—and I’m a coward and don’t want to face torture.”

      Volka blinked.

      He turned away and stepped out of view, but Volka called out, “Mister—Silas …”

      He poked his head around the door frame.

      Hands together, Volka rolled on her feet. “You faced Galacticans, a robot, and a demon to get Alexis back—” Not that the Galacticans, Sixty, or Carl would have hurt him—well, not Sixty or the Galacticans—but Mr. Darmadi hadn’t known that when he’d come to the Galactic Republic Embassy to beg for their help in saving Alexis. “—and you made me come in the front door. That’s all very brave.”

      He blinked at her a moment and then waved a hand. “Pssish, you’ll swell my head.” He disappeared down the hall, and Volka smiled. She’d missed Luddeccean modesty.

      She heard Mr. Darmadi’s steps on the stairs, and her smile melted. She had not missed Luddeccean prejudice, and she was about to face the most prejudiced of just about any Luddeccean she’d ever met. Prejudice brought on by society but nurtured by personal reasons.

      Upstairs, she heard another set of footsteps, and then Mr. Darmadi’s whispers. Those other footsteps became angry strides through the upper hall and down the stairs.

      Volka took a deep breath, steeled herself…and realized that was not the way to go about it. She let the steel bleed from her frame and folded her ears submissively…just in time for Alexis to barge in the door. “What are you doing here, in my home, dog?”

      And there it was. All the hatred and bile Volka had expected. She reminded herself that she wouldn’t get much better from any human woman…in fact, she wouldn’t get anywhere with any other human woman. She’d be turned away at the door. For better or worse, she and Alexis were connected through who they knew and by their history together. Scrunching her eyes shut and biting her lip to keep from snarling, Volka remembered the stakes and remembered what a Luddeccean lady would consider her place—the place she’d tried so hard to unlearn and forget. Hands meekly clasped before her, head bowed, Volka whispered, “I am here, ma’am, to beg you for your help.”
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            Where Angels Fear to Tread

          

          Galactic Republic: Asteroid S1O27.234935

        

      

    

    
      There was a red light blinking in the periphery of 6T9’s vision, alerting him that the gravity in this quadrant of the asteroid was not optimal for human life or for machine power reserves. Staring down at James, hand still around the other android’s neck, 6T9 ignored it. The gravity draining him was doing worse to James. Crushed under 6T9’s weight, James’s face was turning red—a clever bit of engineering. It was quite human-like, as was James’s grimace. One of James’s hands was trying to remove 6T9’s from his neck, and the other was barely keeping 6T9’s other fist from plowing into his face.

      6T9’s Q-comm was hot in the back of his skull. Did 6T9 want Volka to live—did he want to be able to save her—or did he want her to regard him as an angel? James had stolen his entire identity, wiped it out with a few code changes, enabling him to hurt, maim, and kill.

      His Q-comm hummed, sparked, and reminded 6T9 he’d never been an angel or even worthy of Volka’s regard. He’d hurt Volka by not understanding that sometimes, doing the most good meant causing pain.

      With a shout, 6T9 pulled back from James, tumbled backward in the heavy G, and sat beside the other android in the grass flattened by their battle. James lay gasping and staring at the sky, the flush fading from his pale face.

      “I still want to hurt you,” 6T9 growled. And why did he want to? James teasing him over a hundred years ago? Or not letting him reboot a few months back? 6T9’s rage was disproportionate…Especially since 6T9 could change his programming back, if he wanted, with the key.

      Sounding tired, James said, “It’s all right, Sixty. You probably have more reason for anger than anyone.”

      6T9’s processor sparked in frustration. “What do you mean by that?”

      James rolled his head so his gaze was on 6T9. “Of all the androids and ‘bots with Q-comms, you are the kindest. You have given the most and gotten the least back.”

      6T9 felt the flare of rage beneath his skin again. “It certainly didn’t get me a threesome with you and Noa.”

      James looked away and wiped his eyes. “Have you ever considered why you might be so fixated on that threesome?”

      There was an old Earth adage that went, “There are no stupid questions.” It was wrong. “I’m a sex ‘bot, James. I’m fixated on sex with everyone.”

      “Lizzar dung you are.”

      6T9 opened his mouth to protest, but James sat up abruptly. “If you’d been so fixated on sex, you wouldn’t have holed yourself up on an asteroid with Bernadette and been celibate for years. You wouldn’t live now with a woman who is genetically predisposed to true monogamy.”

      “I haven’t been celibate lately, James.” He’d had Celeste and Bart, and Dr. Warren, before he’d insisted she get help for her drug habit.

      James huffed. “And you’ve kept all those relationships off the asteroid. Why not just turn the place into a bed and breakfast again? I bet you’d be a lot less celibate then.”

      6T9 thought of the time the Galactic Marines had spent their vacation here and the mess they’d made, fun as it had been. “It takes a lot of effort running a resort, and customers can get rowdy. I don’t want anyone bothering Volka while she works.”

      Narrowing his eyes at 6T9, James said, “Or maybe you just don’t want one of them falling for her and—”

      6T9’s vision went white. Pain shot from his knuckles, cutting through the blindness. He could see again. James was below him, wrestling to hold off 6T9’s fists. The hairline scar that revealed James’s polymer skull had widened, and a piece of James’s synth skin was hanging in an ugly flap on his cheek. 6T9 blinked; his chronometer told him 23.25 seconds had passed. What had happened, and why was he doing this? Jerking his wrists out of James’s grasp, he staggered up, took a few steps back, and fell to his knees. “What is happening to me?”

      James gasped. “The thought of losing Volka makes you unstable.”

      Static rippled beneath 6T9’s skin. Shivering, 6T9 put his head in his hands. “That’s…that’s…jealousy. I am not programmed to be jealous.”

      A bird cheeped, and something rustled in the forest nearby.

      Touching his battered face, James sighed. “There are a lot of things you weren’t programmed to feel or not to feel…but you feel them because you’re more than a dumb ‘bot, 6T9, and even dumb ‘bots can learn. You’ve learned more than most. I’ve seen your code. You can’t favor one human over another sexually, but that doesn’t mean that you can’t favor one human over another in other ways. Some humans’ and bots’ company is more beneficial than others—intellectually and physically.”

      “Physically—”

      James dropped a hand into the dirt. “Don’t give me any lizzar dropping quip about Volka, Noa, or I not being there for you physically. We’d all save your neck even if we won’t fuck you, 6T9.”

      The expletive caught 6T9 off guard. The quip he had been prepared to make never came. He put his right hand on his left shoulder. His left arm was held together with duct tape—it had been severed from his body during a protest in New Grande. Volka had been the one who’d applied the tape. It was so neatly done it looked like a pauldron—the shoulder piece of a medieval knight’s armor. He touched the edges of the tape through his shirt.

      “Dare I say,” James said, “in the human emotional shorthand for someone who is extremely beneficial to you intellectually and physically, you love Volka, 6T9, even if you are not lovers. Losing her would be painful.”

      6T9 wanted to protest—to say that he loved everyone—but by James’s definition, he didn’t love everyone. He wasn’t even sure he liked fucking everyone anymore. He enjoyed the act, but not the actors. He’d rather be with Volka even without the sex…his Q-comm sparked…could he be with Volka in all ways now? He owned himself. He could reject anyone, coldly and cruelly.

      But would Volka want him as he was now, no longer an angel, a machine capable of causing pain? His hands clenched into fists in front of his eyes, and power surged through him. Not just capable of it, wanting to cause pain…Dropping his hands, he shook his head violently. Where was this fury coming from?

      Maybe he should change his programming back. He could do that…although before he’d been altered, he couldn’t have even asked James to make the changes or even thought that he’d want these abilities—it would have been against his programming to want to hurt anyone for any reason, and by extension to make himself capable of it. If he changed back, he wouldn’t have this inexplicable rage. But James was right. The Galactic Republic would be at war soon—was at war already, really, in all but name. 6T9 could lose Volka to the Dark or to any other millions of deadly chances that had nothing to do with the alien entity set on expanding through the universe. He could lose her regard for him—misplaced as it was—if he kept these new abilities to maim, hurt, and kill. But death was forever. As long as she was alive, there was hope that he could keep something of their friendship—or love, as James called it.

      It was logical to remain this way. And maybe there could be more between Volka and himself now.

      In the grass, James looked back up at the sky. “I think the reason you are fixated on that threesome with Noa and me is because it would unite your core programming and your higher, Q-comm-based functioning. You want to be with partners who treat you as more than a sex ‘bot.”

      6T9’s hands made fists at his sides. “I want to rip your limbs out just because you won’t have sex with me?” It was sadistic, immoral, and wrong according to all his primary programming, but also repellant to his higher reasoning. If every human responded to rejections of unwanted advances with life-ending force, humans wouldn’t survive as a race. He still wanted humans as a species to survive…His brow furrowed. James hadn’t altered that essential part of his programming.

      “I don’t know,” said James, “but I suspect you have other reasons to be angry with me and with everyone.”

      “You wouldn’t let me reboot aboard the Merkabah,” 6T9 blurted out. “You made me into a fool in front of Volka and Darmadi.” He’d been a fool in front of everyone, he supposed, but those two mattered.

      Very slowly, James rose so he was in a sitting position. “I was wrong. Please forgive me.”

      6T9 couldn’t meet his gaze. His Q-comm was sparking with the knowledge that James had probably ordered 6T9 not to shut down because of James’s own hard-earned learning—chiefly that the Luddecceans had no compunction against torturing androids. He’d wanted 6T9 to stay aware aboard the Merkabah so that they could escape at a moment’s notice. James had been trying to protect himself, but also 6T9. James could claim that as his defense, but he was not doing that. 6T9’s Q-comm whirred with that last observation.

      “Is there anything else, 6T9?” James asked.

      Somewhere a vent cut on. Birds trilled in the forest behind them.

      “I teased you mercilessly before you had a Q-comm,” James admitted.

      6T9 nodded dumbly.

      “I’m sorry,” James said.

      Picking up a pebble, 6T9 idly tossed it aside, watching its abbreviated flight in the higher G. James had to have violated more than a few laws to get hold of his access key. “It was over a century ago. Don’t think about it.” Even if 6T9 had thought of it earlier. James hadn’t revealed his true nature during the first desperate escape from Luddeccea. He hadn’t needed to; James’s Q-comm tied him to a larger server that gave him human-like intelligence. He’d passed for human. It seemed unfair that intelligence was the measure of worth, and that without it, a machine became just spare parts and an animal became a pet if it was lucky, and dinner if it wasn’t.

      6T9’s Q-comm sparked. He was a machine. He was built on logic. At the end of the day, all his thoughts were ones and zeroes, and he knew it wasn’t logical to expect the universe to be fair. But humans always talked about justice. Was justice fair?

      His Q-comm sparked again. Why had his thoughts boarded this particular magni-train? He looked down at his fist with its battered synth skin and scabs of artificial blood. His thoughts were running on this track because he could mete out justice now. Could one android or man ever really be an arbiter of justice? He looked back the way they’d come at the shattered trees. The dead tree that James had knocked over had knocked down another tree as it fell. Branches were everywhere, and clods of earth kicked up by falling landscape ‘bots, as well as the deactivated ‘bots themselves.

      “6T9?” James said.

      What had he become? Could he really protect anyone like this? “If I don’t revert to my previous programming, how do I control this?”

      James sighed. “I had to change my original operating software—”

      6T9 looked at him sharply—he had not known that. James gave no indication he noticed 6T9’s alarm. His eyes were focused on nothing. “If I hadn’t, I wouldn’t have survived. I became the monster—machine—I needed to be…” His brow furrowed. “Becoming something between who I was and the machine I had become wasn’t easy. I had to change my code line by line, test, and update.” Shaking his head, he turned to 6T9. “Update yourself as you need to, but don’t do anything quickly. What you think are bugs might be features.”

      6T9 surveyed the destruction, wondering if there was any feature, any positive from the mess, and then another thought occurred to him. If James had altered his programming in the house... “Did you know this would happen?” he demanded. Why else would James have taken him out to the forest?

      “Noa suspected it might,” James said, referring to his human wife of over a century. “She’s better at emotional matters than I am.”

      “Noa…” 6T9 murmured. When you knew her, Admiral Noa Sato was as expressive as James was inscrutable.

      6T9 wouldn’t deny he or any other android had emotions. As James said, emotions were just human shorthand for more complex processes, some very logical. But 6T9 would have denied that he was jealous. He would have denied he possessed rage. And although he knew he had emotions, he wouldn’t have said that his emotions were human.

      “How did she know?” he wondered aloud.

      James shrugged. “You were never allowed to express rage   before. She suspected you’d have a lot of anger ‘bottled up.’ Your stint with the independent tra—” His eyes dropped to 6T9’s hands, widened, and he didn’t finish the sentence.

      Which was when 6T9 realized that he was growling, and he’d ripped the grasses on either side of him out of the ground. He wanted to beat the gears out of James again and didn’t know why. He did know it was illogical. The ones and zeroes did not add up. “I think I need to be alone,” 6T9 gritted out, dropping the grass and looking away.

      An insect trilled.

      James nodded, climbed awkwardly to his feet, and left the prairie scape, footsteps heavy, body bowed in the higher gravity. He was gone. But 6T9’s rage was not.
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      The weere kept her eyes carefully downcast—as though that made up for the gall she had in coming here to begin with. She’d just missed Alaric. What would he have done if he’d seen her? How would he have found a way to compound Alexis’s shame? Things were…fine…just fine between Alexis and her husband, and here was this bitch, in her home, proving to Alexis that she could breach her sanctuary whenever she chose, aided by Silas. Alexis’s nails bit into her palms, her skin heated, and her eyes prickled with the betrayal.

      “You want my help?” Alexis said incredulously, and almost laughed. Alaric had said that this creature had saved her because it was the right thing to do. But it had not been altruism, it had been…extortion. “You think I owe you something…After all you’ve done to poison my family?”

      The weere’s eyes rose briefly; they were as yellow as her dress and lined in black pigment like a common harlot. She gasped, and then lowered her eyes. Snapping her hands behind her back, she said, “No, ma’am.”

      “What could ever compel me to help you?” Alexis demanded.

      The maid appeared at the door. “Ma’am, would you like me to escort this riff-raff out?”

      “Thank you, I would appreciate that, Merta,” Alexis said, raising her chin.

      The maid strode toward Volka, and Alexis noted that her weere maid was significantly taller and broader than Alaric’s little tramp.

      “The fight against the Dark,” Volka said as the maid put a hand on her shoulder. “I thought the fight against the Dark might unite us.”

      The maid gave Volka a shove, and Volka, who’d killed children and pirates, didn’t fight or move her hands from behind her back. Alexis spun toward the window.

      “Please, ma’am,” the weere interloper said. “The Republic will fall, and if the Republic falls, Luddeccea will, too.”

      It was a warm morning, but staring out at the yard dappled in sunlight, Alexis felt goosebumps rise along her spine. She turned around in time to see the maid give the weere bitch a vicious shove. Hands behind her back and unbalanced, Volka fell onto one knee.

      “Get up, you hussy!” the maid snarled, revealing canines too long to be human. She kicked Volka in the side, and the smaller woman toppled. The maid backed up, and Alexis realized she was preparing to kick Volka again.

      “Stop!” Alexis said.

      The weere maid growled but complied. Volka unclasped her hands from behind her back and raised her head from the ground, but didn’t otherwise rise.

      “Why are you here?” Alexis shouted. She’d come to catch Alaric’s eye—that must have been it. Alexis had an understanding with her husband. They might not be in love, but they were allies—in the raising of their children and their fight against the Dark. Because of that, Alexis could only just bear the shame he’d levelled upon her by defending Volka in front of all of Luddeccean high society. He claimed it hadn’t been an act of love—but what did it matter if it wasn’t? Perceptions were everything.

      “To fight the Dark, ma’am,” Volka said, not rising or looking at her.

      “No, why are you in my home?” Alexis demanded. Volka had defied all the rules and forced Alaric’s hand in public—weere did not come to high society events—at least in no capacity higher than servants. And weere did not come to human homes for any other reason either.

      “I did not think you would meet me in any other way,” Volka said.

      “Of course I wouldn’t,” Alexis said, feeling herself flush.

      Propping herself up on her hands, ears still submissively curled, Volka’s eyes remained on the carpet. “But you are the only Luddeccean lady I know, and Si—Mr. Darmadi said you were dedicated to fighting the Dark. So here I am.” It was possible there was a note of irony in her voice, the hint of a defiantly wry smile.

      Lord, Alexis could not hate this woman more than she already did.

      Volka’s shoulders rose and fell, and she said, “I suppose, if you hate me, well, I have hated you, and it is fair. But we have to live with the choices we’ve made, and I am here to beg you for your help.”

      “We don’t live by our choices; we live by Alaric’s choices!” Alexis cried, and felt tears in the corners of her eyes threaten to tumble. She’d taken a step toward the huddled weere woman without thinking, and Volka looked up at her with wide, stunned eyes. The weere’s eyes weren’t right and made Alexis’s lip curl up in disgust. It took her a moment to realize besides the inhuman amber color, the pupil was wrong, ovoid and alien.

      Staring down at her, it occurred to Alexis how furious it would make Alaric to see Volka on the floor before her. He’d intervene and declare it was because it was the “right thing to do.” But he’d get a satisfaction out of defending the weere woman. Alexis knew it. “Get up.”

      Volka climbed to her feet, eyes ducking submissively once more. Her yellow dress had a spot on it from the weere maid’s shoe.

      Alexis studied her, tasting bile in the back of her throat. Volka was so small, so dainty. Did Alaric enjoy that? Did it make him feel powerful? Hadn’t Alexis always accommodated him, though? Hadn’t she always played the part of the perfect submissive wife? Alaric’s words about Volka abruptly rang in her mind. “She doesn’t loathe me, and that is always nice.”

      Alexis put her hand to her temple and turned away from the door. “Why do you need me? How can I possibly help the Republic?” Her mind seized on the one thing she had to offer. “I’ve shared every translation, faithfully—if you’re looking for explanations of the alien weaponry, there are none that I’ve seen.”

      “That’s not it, ma’am,” Volka said. “We need something that Luddeccea...or rather, Luddeccean men won’t allow.”

      “I will not subvert my government,” Alexis stated.

      “We were hoping that you might change their minds,” the woman said.

      Alexis was suddenly exhausted. The woman had come here and pushed all her buttons for something that was not in her power. “If Alaric thinks it can’t be done, I certainly can’t do it.” Surely, he had been asked.

      Volka released a breath. “It’s outside Alaric’s sphere, and I haven’t approached him on the matter…I needed to talk to you and asking him if I could speak to you seemed…wrong.”

      Alexis straightened, her mind churning through the implications of that. Was the woman pretending to be concerned for her?

      Volka continued, her words coming fast and desperate. “We have tried to take it up with the archbishop, and I think he supports the idea, but politically he is stymied by, well, if you let me tell you, I think you’ll understand.”

      Massaging her temple, Alexis spun on her. “Well, what is it?”

      Volka glanced over her shoulder at the maid, and Alexis took her meaning.

      Waving her free hand, Alexis said, “Merta, you may go. Please shut the door.”

      Scowling at Volka, Merta bowed and left, shutting the door as she did.

      Alexis looked pointedly at Volka, mentally demanding she speak.

      “The Republic needs weere,” Volka said.

      Alexis raised an eyebrow. She thought that Alexis could convince the Guard to give up their weere recruits? Weere sense of smell was handy, it was said, in detecting the Dark. Better at it than any technological tool of the Republic, some were saying.

      Volka raised her hands. “Not the men. Just the women…to detect the Dark. There’s nothing the Republic has that works as well as our noses, and there are so many more soft targets in the Republic for the Dark to strike.”

      Alexis’s hand dropped from her temple. Alaric had said the Republic was disorganized for all their technological superiority, and the border along the Kanakah Cloud was a “sieve.” When she was a child, Alexis had feared the Galactic Republic sweeping into Luddeccean space and enslaving everyone, hooking their souls to giant machines. That had never happened—her mother had said that Galacticans were too spoiled and lazy. Alexis had reason to doubt everything her mother had ever told her, but when the Dark had inhabited her, she had seen glimpses of the Republic…and that assessment had appeared true. She’d seen that if the Galacticans wanted to take over Luddeccean space, they could. They just didn’t need it or care.

      The Dark though…The Dark wanted Luddeccea…it wanted everything. It was its own God and religion; she’d felt its confidence in its purpose and its sense of righteousness when it had inhabited her. Closing her eyes, she thought of the newborn that a mother inhabited by the Dark had let be killed, and a child inhabited by the Dark describing the newborn as a “parasite.”

      Volka cleared her throat, and Alexis blinked and realized she’d been leaning against Silas’s desk.

      “It’s not all weere women we would try to recruit,” Volka said, ears still folded. “We were going to recruit among the older weere women…” Her hands twisted in front of her. “Specifically, among the older weere rejected by their patrons. No one that would be missed, ma’am, by human or weere.”

      How dare she? Alexis felt bile rising in her throat. “Are you trying to elicit sympathy from me for your…your…trollops?” But as she said the words, she felt the prickle of sweat on the back of her neck, and she knew it wasn’t the warmth of the room. The one time she’d seen for herself hard evidence of her father’s unfaithfulness was when he’d “traded in” his old mistress for a “younger model.” He’d said, “I don’t need an older woman, I’ve got a wife for that.”  Alexis had heard him say those words when he’d complained to male associates at a card game he’d hosted in their home on an evening when her mother was away. Her father’s “old” weere woman had been calling the house at odd hours. Her phone call had woken Alexis, in fact, and that is why she’d been spying on her father and his friends. She’d found out later the woman had been all of thirty.

      “No, ma’am,” Volka said. “I’m stating facts. Weere don’t want them. They have few skills that are marketable—since no human woman would trust them in domestic service…and I understand that, of course. They take their own lives very frequently.”

      Something niggled at Alexis. The numbers didn’t add up. The Republic had thousands of colonies and gates spread over vast distances. “And you’d only claim women rejected by their patrons?” Alexis huffed. “You’re lying.”

      Volka swallowed audibly. She took a deep breath. “A bit, yes.”

      Alexis felt a tiny thrill of triumph, but bit back the smirk that wanted to pull at her lips, crossed her arms, and kept a hard stare on the weere woman.

      Rolling on her heels, Volka said, “I…wouldn’t turn away a girl who was being sold into patronage, ma’am. Or a girl or boy trying to escape the weere houses. Or…or…just anyone who was afraid of facing the season with so many weere men gone.”

      Alexis should have corrected her for mentioning “the season.” It wasn’t done in polite company, even if she knew very well what Volka was talking about. But she felt her tiny sense of triumph melt, and her arms fell to her sides. She turned to the window, the implications of what the woman had said setting in: weere men outnumbered, weere women with no one to turn to when they were hormone mad. What a lovely coincidence for human men. She laughed…of course, of course, the men on the Luddeccean Council must have thought about it. Half of them had mistresses. How many of those would want to “trade in” their old one for a young weere girl in a frenzy? How many stories had she been told about how willing the girls were to debase themselves in such a state, how they’d submit to any encounter, no matter how violent, cruel, or fleeting? That was why it was so important that human wives be submissive toward their spouses. Hadn’t she heard that, too? She’d been that submissive spouse, but it hadn’t turned her husband’s heart from the woman behind her. And Volka was submissive with her curled ears and…

      Alexis remembered Volka shooting the child in the pirates’  camp and telling the robot to stun her. That had not been submissive, not at all. But plenty of women were wicked toward other women while being sweet as sugar to the men in their lives. Maybe Volka’s submissiveness now was the same sort of facade human women wore for their husbands? She fought the urge to glance over her shoulder. Who was Volka really? Who had she been to her husband? Who should Alexis be?

      “Ma’am?” Volka said.

      Alexis shut her eyes and massaged her temples. “And you think I can help you somehow?”

      “Not you alone, ma’am…but the issue is going before the council…it’s one of their secret votes; it won’t be made public. I thought maybe if you discussed the matter with your lady friends, they could put pressure on their husbands.”

      Gazing out the window, Alexis studied the flower beds that were the demarcation line between the woods and the lawn, and she thought of the stack of letters she’d received this morning and all the invitations from ladies’ groups. She did have the connections, and it wouldn’t matter that the vote was supposed to be secret. They wouldn’t arrest her for revealing it. She was a mother, a daughter of the First Families, and the only person who could read the People’s language. She was regarded as a hero for helping the civilians aboard the Manna escape, and even if they tried to silence her, even if they arrested her, she was also the wife of Captain Alaric Darmadi, and he would fight it. She exhaled. He’d been willing to defect for her…hadn’t he? She remembered him rubbing his eyes and saying that he sometimes thought he was born on the wrong side of the Kanakah Cloud, the border between the Republic and Luddeccean space.

      She scowled. What Alaric would or wouldn’t do wasn’t the issue. The issue was what she would or wouldn’t do. She didn’t want to help Volka. She hated that she’d invaded her home…but she did want to fight the Dark, and the Galactic Republic’s weakness was Luddeccea’s weakness.

      And stealing weere whores right out from under men’s noses…A smile played at the corner of her lips despite herself. It would upset so many men so much to be deprived of their weere. The smile faltered. Some of their wives might not be overjoyed if their husbands lost their pets—her mother had always been happy enough to not have her father about.

      She lifted her chin. To hell with it. She’d do it, but not without conditions.

      She turned back to Volka. The weere woman was still standing with her eyes downcast and her ears back.

      “I will help you,” Alexis said.

      The woman’s ears shot forward, and she lifted her head, but then quickly dropped her eyes and put her ears back.

      “But in return,” Alexis said, “I want you never to speak to my husband again.”

      The woman sighed and closed her eyes. “I cannot promise that, ma’am.”

      “How dare you?” Alexis hissed, drawing toward her.

      The woman’s ears came forward and her eyes met Alexis’s. “He is married to you, and I respect that. But we meet occasionally in the line of duty. We’ve aided one another, and I will not turn away if he needs my assistance.”

      Like she hadn’t turned away when Alexis was taken prisoner. Alexis exhaled, and her jaw dropped at the woman’s impertinence, yet at the same time she felt a lump rising in her throat.

      Volka said more gently, “I would not turn away from any Luddeccean vessel that needed aid, though, ma’am.”

      Her husband’s lover—allegedly former—was asking her for a favor, and yet not repaying her with a favor in kind…for reasons that were perfectly logical but still made Alexis’s heart sink. She would be within her rights to kick this woman out of the house now, to call the Guard in and have them drag her out.

      Spinning, Alexis walked back to the window. She took a breath. A breeze was picking up outside, and the shadows of the waving branches played across the lawn. She felt as helpless as the trees, bending in the winds of events. She was immobile. Trapped in this war, to this place, and in her role. If Alaric were in danger, did she truly wish Alaric to die rather than receive help from Volka? Maybe a part of her did, but she knew that part wasn’t right.

      And hadn’t she once promised herself that she would do anything to save her world against the Dark?

      Alexis would help Volka achieve her goals for the sake of Luddeccea, but she would not—could not—pretend to be pleased about it.

      “I would still be in your debt, ma’am,” Volka said.

      “Get out,” Alexis snapped.

      “Yes, ma’am, thank you, ma’am,” Volka replied. Was that the faintest hint of triumph Alexis heard in her voice? Looking over her shoulder, Alexis saw Volka turn smartly, the skirts of her alien finery swirling.

      Alexis’s hands balled into fists at her sides, remembering the treatment she’d received in the Galactic Republic, the torturous sensation it had given her of being boiled alive from the inside out. Upstairs, Markus started to cry.

      She would stoop to any level to save Luddeccea, but she would also do it for him, and all her boys. She would do anything to protect them. She’d already famously demonstrated that when she saved Markus from the pirates that captured her. She hadn’t had to think when she did that though, and even if she had, she wouldn’t have guessed the horrors before her. She’d spit in her captor’s face.

      Knowingly aiding Alaric’s weere was harder. It was…soul crushing.
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      6T9 moved through the higher gravity of the prairie scape for 57.3 minutes, ripping clumps of grass and soil out of the earth and tossing them at nothing. He was trying not to think, just running down his charge, not sure why he was mad at James. He pulled on an extremely stubborn clump of grass that would not release its grip on life. He snarled, and his Q-comm sparked with frustration, and then inspiration. You’d think he was mad at the grass when he was really mad at James. Why was he mad at James? It finally occurred to him that he might not be mad at James at all. James, like the grass, was only a convenient target for his “bottled up” rage.

      And what was the ultimate source? He traced back the feeling through his time logs. He’d ripped up the first clod of grass and sod when James had mentioned the independent traders 6T9 had worked with. His hands tightened on the grass’s skin-slicing tough blades. They had been small-time criminals—fencers, mostly. They hadn’t been sadistic, murderous cutthroats like the pirates of The Copperhead who’d tried to steal him and do much worse to Volka. Well, they hadn’t been very sadistic, and when they were cruel, he just turned up his internal masochism settings and had liked it. Physically. But they hadn’t been good Doms. There had been no safe words—still, he was a ‘bot; he didn’t really need safe words—and there had certainly been no aftercare. He’d been a toy. Unstimulated in every other way but his core programming. Why had he put up with it for as long as he had?

      The grass gave, a tangle of roots nearly as long as 6T9’s body coming with it. 6T9 hurled it extra hard, and it whistled as it flew through the air. 6T9 gave a cry as it did. More rage—or anguish—he wasn’t sure.

      From the forest behind him came a squeak.

      Looking over his shoulder, he saw Carl at the tree line, whiskers twitching.

      “You should get back, Weasel,” 6T9 said.

      Carl hopped forward instead. Growling, 6T9 turned away. The higher gravity of the prairie would send Carl back. 6T9 bent down and grabbed another clump of grass, his hands by now bloody with synth blood. The primary reason he had synth blood was so that he could be “life-like” to humans that enjoyed “blood play.” With a grunt, he yanked the clump of grass from the ground and sent it hurtling through the air. Panting, watching it go, he heard a squeak from not a meter behind him.

      He turned around and saw Carl there. The higher gravity was having an effect on the little creature. He was flattened against the earth, and all but his middle pair of legs were sprawled to the sides. At 6T9’s glance, Carl slithered forward, like a snake. “You dropped this,” he said.

      Seeing nothing, 6T9 scowled at the creature.

      Carl attempted to rise, gave up, and rolled onto his back, proffering the item in his middle paw pairs. It was 6T9’s access key. “You dropped it,” said Carl.

      6T9’s jaw sagged in dismay. He had dropped the key that James had broken laws to get, the key that could turn him into a slave again. 6T9’s hand shot out, and he ripped it from the tiny creature’s grasp. Carl cheeped. In pain or shock—6T9 wasn’t sure—but it made static surge along his spine. He’d berated James for turning him into a sadist, and here he was, causing suffering that he supposedly was angry about being able to commit. And Carl had just helped him immeasurably. 6T9 sank to the ground, connected to the asteroid’s main computer, and eased the gravity back to normal. “I’m sorry,” he said, almost reaching out to touch Carl, but then, thinking better of it, he pressed his face into his hands. “I think you should go away.”

      A moment later, he felt tiny claws on his legs. Carl’s necklace crackled.

      6T9’s lips turned up in a grimace. Face still pressed into his hands, afraid he’d use his hands to hurt Carl again, 6T9 spit out, “You have some quip you want to share?” He deserved a verbal lashing from Carl’s sharp tongue.

      “I do have something to say,” Carl said. The werfle’s necklace crackled as though Carl was clearing his throat.

      “Go ahead, spit it out,” 6T9 said. “Tell me I’m worse than the violent humans I despise.” If James had been human, James would be dead after having been tortured first.

      Carl squeaked. “I don’t really think you despise humans—I think you despise unnecessary violence and suffering.”

      6T9 lowered his hands. “I’m just programmed that way.” Maybe he would despise them if he’d been programmed otherwise. Maybe he should despise them.

      “Hmmm…” said Carl, eyes intent on him, whiskers twitching. “I wanted to say that werfles are not venomous when they hatch.”

      6T9’s mouth opened, snapped shut, and then he growled. “I have access to that data.” He had no idea why Carl was bringing it up now.

      “Our venom develops slowly,” Carl continued. “It’s for our own protection, really. Can you imagine a werfle hatchling having the bright idea of biting the ankle of a lizzar and then having the beast collapse on top of it?”

      6T9’s eyes narrowed at the werfle, still not sure where Carl was going with this—or if he was going anywhere. The creature had a habit of going off on tangents that weren’t relevant to the crisis at hand.

      Carl nodded sadly. “We are that stupid when we’re young…like most young, I suppose.” He averted his gaze and scratched behind an ear.

      “What’s your point?” 6T9 said, his exertion in the higher grav of moments ago catching up with him. He’d need to power up soon. Or should he just shut down? Was he useful like this or simply dangerous?

      “Our venom comes in slowly, so we know how to use it judiciously,” Carl said. “I imagine having the ability to wound and kill come on suddenly would be quite a shock. I think that an accident or two would be almost inevitable.”

      6T9 stared at the werfle for 2.3 seconds, and then he looked at the path he’d ripped through the grass—it was almost wide enough to be a road. Beyond that was the forest, with felled trees and shattered tree limbs. “An accident?” he said.

      “Yes,” said Carl Sagan, setting a paw on 6T9’s knee. “An accident. Accidents happen when any species learns new skills.”

      6T9 swallowed. His eyes dropped to Carl’s tiny claws. Carl really wasn’t the fragile werfle body with a tiny braincase. The body was just the host for a thousand-and-then-some year old being. 6T9 could end the life of the fragile host in just a few thumps of the creature’s dual hearts. But Carl didn’t believe he’d do that, or he wouldn’t be so close. 6T9 let loose a long breath. The creature was exonerating him. It made his circuits misfire. “I think,” 6T9 said, “that you are just angling for a tummy rub.”

      Carl pulled back. Standing on his hindmost two paw pairs, he touched four paws to his chest. “I am always angling for tummy rubs.”

      Arranging his limbs so he was sitting cross-legged, 6T9 patted his thighs. “Come here.” Carl hopped into his lap and threw himself onto his back. 6T9 scratched his chest and tummy with a touch that was lighter than he knew Carl liked, but he was afraid to press too hard. What if he thought of something that caused his rage to “uncork” again? Carl purred anyway, and, for once, didn’t criticize.

      “James says Noa’s theory is that I’m suffering from a hundred years of repressed rage,” 6T9 said.

      Carl opened a sleepy eye. “That seems plausible.”

      “What do I do, Carl? I seem to be on a hair trigger fuse.”

      Closing both eyes, Carl purred. “Talk instead of act when you can. Funnel the urge for violent action into constructive or harmless actions when you can’t talk or just need a release.”

      At that moment, 6T9 glanced up and saw FET12, the sex ‘bot designed to look like a twelve-year-old child. He and Volka had rescued the ‘bot from pirates.

      6T9’s hand on Carl’s stomach seized up, and then his body began to shake. Sex ‘bots didn’t like upsetting humans, and FET12 had been disfigured by the pirates, so he wore baggy long pants, long sleeves, and a hoodie that reached halfway to his nose. Sex ‘bots could up their masochism settings to enjoy pain and ask for new synth skin upgrades. But FET12 had never asked for new skin. He was fearful of humans and didn’t seem to crave their company generally, or even sex. Something had happened to him, something that his programming couldn’t handle—and sex ‘bot programming could handle quite a lot. What 6T9 wanted to do to the pirates that hurt FET12 and who had been planning to torture and rape Volka couldn’t be said aloud. Every circuit within him fired, and he felt like he might self-combust.

      Carl’s necklace crackled. “I would like to see the pirates responsible for FET12’s injuries die a slow, excruciatingly painful death.”

      6T9’s head jerked down to the creature.

      Gazing at FET12, Carl said, “Noa, Volka, the Marines who stayed here when you turned this place into a bed and breakfast, and the police officers who were there when you liberated him all want the same. It’s a natural response, 6T9. Thinking and feeling it isn’t a crime.”

      Circuits within 6T9 fired. Queries that he hadn’t known he’d been running returned results that said Carl’s analysis was correct. A police officer after the pirates’ capture had said, “Death’s too good for this lot,” and a Marine who’d taken advantage of the asteroid’s short stint as a bed and breakfast had said, “Fucking monsters should be castrated and then roasted alive, balls first.”

      6T9’s body stopped shaking. “FET12’s tormentors were abhorrent to humans, even though humans don’t regard him as alive or a being worthy of rights.” The contradiction made his processors whirr.

      “FET12’s not worthy of rights,” Carl said. “He can’t handle the responsibility rights would entail, but humans have rules against tormenting animals.”

      “They also eat animals,” 6T9 countered.

      “The animals are not aware of their impending fates,” Carl replied. “And creatures without self-awareness and higher understanding are much crueler than humans when it comes to slaughter…well, perhaps not crueler than the factory farms that exist on some worlds even still.”

      6T9’s mind sparked with Carl’s words.

      In the forest, FET12 began awkwardly breaking apart a branch so he could drag it away. The ‘bot was picking up 6T9’s mess. “I should help him,” 6T9 said.

      Carl sighed. “Ordinarily, I’d say scratching me should come before all else—but in this case, I think it’s a good idea.” Rolling over, he scampered up to 6T9’s shoulder.

      6T9 was still clutching his key in one hand, and he slipped it into his coat next to Eliza’s ashes. “What would Eliza think of me if she saw this?”

      “She’d be glad you had gotten ownership of yourself,” Carl said matter-of-factly. “The whole reason she survived as long as she did was to make sure she lived long enough to see you had a processor that would give you the ability to live independently.”

      Carl could read minds, and he’d known Eliza. It was like a window into his lover’s soul. He wanted to say thank you, to give the creature a scratch behind the ear, but then he saw the mess of fur Carl had left on his leg. Static flared under his skin. He was programmed to not like being exposed to animal fur and dander, and it always made his circuits misfire, but now his circuits lit brightly. He could change his programming. He owned himself. He could not be annoyed by the werfle’s bids for affection—at least, not on account of shedding.

      Standing up, he dusted himself off and headed into the forest to help FET12, saying, “I’ve got time to adjust. Volka won’t be here for another week.”

      Carl’s necklace crackled, and 6T9’s circuits dimmed. “Spit it out.”

      Carl’s esophagus was so close to 6T9’s ear that he heard when the tiny creature swallowed. “Noa’s been called into an emergency meeting on Earth.”

      Noa was on Luddeccea—months away from the nearest time gate to Earth at lightspeed. If she needed to be at an emergency meeting, the only one who could get her there was the sentient, faster-than-light starship Sundancer. The only beings Sundancer would travel for were Volka and Carl. If Volka was leaving Luddeccea on Noa’s account, she’d make an excuse to come here. Still, his fragile new programming and the circumstances were less than ideal.

      “What? Why is Noa being recalled to Earth?” 6T9 asked, torn between happiness and dread that the Dark was spreading and fear of having an “accident of rage” around Volka. He seized on a bit of hope. “Is Volka spiriting a female weere off of Luddeccea?” Maybe Noa’s “meeting” was a diversion to get out of Luddeccean space without causing alarm?

      Carl’s whiskers trembled, tickling his cheek. “No…although the scheme to recruit female weere is proceeding apace. I wish I could be there to see it...” 6T9 swore he could hear a wicked little smile in the werfle’s voice.
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      The weere maid admitted Alexis into the Nilsson residence. The home smelled of citrus wood polish and peppery gardenias, a pleasant change from the cab that had smelled of sweat many times over. It was a warm day, but the home was surprisingly cool. Perhaps it was the high ceiling with a gently undulating fan instead of a fancy chandelier or the trees just outside the Eastern entrance with their deep shade?

      Holly wasn’t far behind the maid. Holding out her arms, she exclaimed, “Alexis, so good to see you.” Holly was in her late forties or early fifties with some gray in her hair. She wasn’t fat or thin, short or tall. She was a no-nonsense woman who always spoke and moved with purpose. Alexis would have called her sure-footed, literally and figuratively, but as Holly came forward, she stumbled. Alexis stooped over and caught the other woman’s arms, keeping her aloft, without thinking.

      “That cat again!” cried the weere, which was when Alexis noticed a strangely familiar, long-haired, brilliant-white cat with blue eyes trotting out from between Holly’s legs.

      Blushing and recovering herself, Holly said cheerfully, “I see your reputation for heroics is quite well deserved.”

      “Shoo,” said the maid, sweeping the air between her and the creature with a hand. The cat replied by sitting on its haunches and blinking at her.

      Releasing Alexis’s arms, Holly said to the maid, “No, Tala, it’s all right.” Raising an eyebrow and turning to Alexis, Holly inclined her head toward the cat. “This is Snowball, Stella Tudor’s cat. I swear she comes over some days to observe me.”

      “That she does,” grumbled the maid.

      Both of Holly’s eyebrows shot up. “But she’s such a pretty thing, Tala, and she keeps the rats away, I dare say.”

      Tala narrowed her eyes at the creature. The cat licked a paw in a way that seemed almost…defiant. Giving the cat the side eye, Tala left the foyer, saying, “I’ll go get the tea, ma’am.”

      Holly and Alexis exchanged some pleasantries, and then Holly said, “Come this way.” The older woman led Alexis through a sitting room and past what looked like a cluttered study, saying, “We’ll go to the porch on the north side of the house. It’s very comfortable there, even on hot days like this one.”

      Alexis thought she would be sad to leave the cool and quiet house, but it turned out the porch on the north side of the house was even cooler. It was set nearly against an artificial hill—the ruins of an ancient factory that had been constructed to build hover craft, or was it robots? It was a relic of the days before Revelation, when Archbishop Sato discovered machines were scheming against the people of Luddeccea. After Revelation, the factory complex had been torn down, and the rubble turned into the hill behind the house. Now it was covered with thick Luddeccean palms and ferns. Cool air sank down the hill beneath the thick foliage and into the house. No wonder it was so comfortable.

      Alexis almost shivered, but not with the cold. The factory had been destroyed because of the fear of sentient machines—some said the factory workers had been executed and the hill was a graveyard for them as well. Most Luddecceans wouldn’t think much of a few humans dying to protect the planet from computer influence. Looking up at the lush vegetation, she couldn’t help wondering if some Luddecceans wouldn’t prefer her being under it.

      She was part machine now, with tiny nano ‘bots remaining in her body, seeking out and destroying faulty cells. An accident of her treatment, she’d been told. While she’d been infected, the Republic doctors had kept her hyperthermic. The Republic, a civilization with centuries of space colonization experience, had plenty of experience with hyperthermia. As it was often brought about by radiation exposure, part of the standard injection to ward off system failure also had a nano ‘bot component that stayed behind to scrub away mutations caused by said radiation. Because of the nano ‘bots, the Luddeccean Council hadn’t wanted to let her return. They’d only done so because of the threat of Alaric defecting to the Republic. And maybe because she was the only Luddeccean who could translate the People’s writing.

      Her fellow Republic translators were machines. She’d never had a problem working with them—and the Luddeccean authorities hadn’t banned her from doing so. Although she wasn’t sure how many of the counselors were aware the Republic translators weren’t human. Standing at the edge of the patio, her eyes caught on the shadowy depths of the trees, and her hand went to her throat. There were things much worse than machines.

      The white cat dashed by her ankles and took a seat on a low marble column set among a few potted gardenias.

      “Have a seat, dear,” Holly said, directing her to some wrought-iron metal chairs. Situated around a similarly designed table, they had been painted white and outfitted with cushions. Alexis took a seat and found the chairs and their cushions to be more comfortable than she expected. She settled in and realized she had no idea how she wanted to proceed.

      “Oh, Tala, thank you,” said Holly, as the weere maid appeared bearing a large platter, giving Alexis time to compose her thoughts.

      Alexis had called Holly yesterday because she’d had a personal issue to discuss—she still had that issue—but Volka’s visit had left her off kilter. Holly was a descendent of the First Families; her background was as illustrious as Alexis’s own—or as illustrious as Alexis’s background had been before her family had conspired against the premier and Archbishop Sato. Holly was tied by marriage or by blood to no fewer than twelve members of the council. Throw in her husband’s contacts, and that number doubled. Telling Holly about Volka’s visit would be worth telling a dozen women’s groups. But how did she go about it?

      “Tala,” Holly exclaimed, “You got tea cakes…how did you ever? They usually sell out by nine.”

      “I stopped by the bakery before work, ma’am,” Tala said.

      “Oh, you shouldn’t have gone out of your way, Tala,” Holly said, real warmth in her voice.

      “It was no trouble, ma’am,” Tala replied, and Alexis could hear the shy smile as she spoke to Holly.

      Alexis’s eyes were on the trees, but unfocused. Something in their tone made her attention snap to Holly and her maid. Tala was perhaps in her early thirties. She had dark brown fur atop her head that was about as long as the span of Alexis’s fingers. It was held back with barrettes behind pointed ears covered with short black velvet. Her eyes had that kohl-like lining weere often had, and her pupils were ovoid in irises a blue paler than even Alaric’s. “You must have some then, Tala,” Holly whispered conspiratorially.

      Tala’s ears came forward. “Yes, ma’am…thank you,” the weere woman whispered.

      Perhaps seeing Alexis’s eyes on her, Tala’s ears went back, and she bowed toward Alexis before pouring the tea, first in Alexis’s cup and then Holly’s. The weere had a wedding ring on her left hand made of polished wood that matched her barrettes. Her nails were normal in color, but too thick.

      Finishing her task, the weere stepped back and bowed again. “Thank you, Tala,” Holly said. And again, the words held warmth. Why?

      “Yes, ma’am,” Tala murmured before stepping away and out of sight, though with those dog ears, she probably was not out of earshot.

      Alexis stared into her teacup. Should she have said thank you? Was Holly looking at her, a slight furrow between her brows?

      Alexis’s eyes traced the maid’s path.

      “Don’t worry,” Holly said. “I know you’ve been through an ordeal lately.”

      Did that mean she was supposed to have thanked the maid? She looked down into her cup again. Pterys called and flapped their wings in the trees. A branch fell somewhere, and a gust of cool air rolled down the hill.

      Where did she begin? What was the protocol? Holly talked to her weere maid as though she were a friend, and hadn’t she seen Holly and her husband talking to a poor farmer and his wife at Stella Tudor’s party? Maybe Holly, like Alaric, didn’t care much for protocol?

      In the novels she’d enjoyed as a child, they always said honesty was the best policy…her mother always said that was nonsense. The best policy was conforming to propriety—it was protection, and a weapon, too, when wielded correctly—it set one apart if one knew all the rules. It put others in their place. But maybe propriety changed with the person one was with?

      She took a sip of her tea, and then said carefully, “I made this appointment on account of a personal matter, but this morning I had a visitor—Miss Volka, the attaché of the Galactican Ambassador.”

      The furrow between Holly’s brows deepened. Crossing her legs, she straightened in her chair. “The weere woman from Stella’s party.”

      Holly had been there and had seen the whole sordid scene—Alaric’s defense of Volka, and then, during the soup course, Alexis’s abrupt leaving. Had Holly heard the rumors of Alaric’s and Volka’s affair? Of course she had. Holly wasn’t one to gossip, but Alexis’s mother always said, every woman loved gossip, whether they dabbled in it or not. Alexis took a hasty sip of tea. “She rescued me from the pirates, you know.”

      “I did not know that. I had presumed it had been your husband,” Holly said, and Alexis could almost see her ears perk.

      “Alaric came later,” Alexis said. “Though I was unconscious at that time and don’t remember his arrival.” She’d been out cold, stunned by the robotic man when she resisted rescue. What to say now? Holly got along with her weere maid.

      “And now we are the best of friends.” The words came out of Alexis’s mouth dry and rueful sounding. Holly’s eyebrows rose in shock or disbelief. Alexis couldn’t tell. Putting down her teacup with a shaking hand, she tried the truth, since fakery hadn’t worked. “We aren’t…there are…dreadful rumors about her and Alaric. I’ve been told by several sources they aren’t true, but nonetheless …” She took a breath. But nonetheless, Alaric still loved Volka as much as he’d said he wanted to love Alexis.

      Holly’s brow smoothed, and her eyes got soft. “I would find that very uncomfortable.”

      Alexis exhaled. Holly didn’t know that Alaric still loved the weere woman, yet she sympathized. Seemingly, anyway.

      “It is,” Alexis replied simply. “But she came to me today with a request.”

      Holly drew back in her seat. One of her eyebrows rose, and she frowned. “A request?” And Alexis could hear the dubiousness in those simple two words. She could hear how Holly might find it beyond the pale that Alaric’s lover would ask his wife for a favor in her home—even if the relationship was only rumored, and even after a rescue. Maybe especially after the rescue. A good deed with strings attached was not a good deed.

      “A reasonable request. One I must fulfill,” Alexis said. “Not for her, but for Luddeccea’s sake. She asked me for help fighting our enemy, the Dark, in a way that only we ladies might be uniquely able to fulfill.”

      Holly tilted her head, her eyes bright. Alexis could see she was interested, but interest wasn’t enough. Alexis needed a passionate advocate for her aims. How could she get that from Holly?  Her mother said there was a way to manipulate anyone if one just looked hard enough. Her mother was also a failed traitor, but hadn’t that failure only been because of technology her mother couldn’t have foreseen? The Galacticans had been able to find Alexis’s prison by way of technology even Alaric didn’t know of. Could everything Alexis’s mother had taught her hold some purpose? If she manipulated others to save her fellow Luddecceans, was that wrong? How would she know if she went too far? Stick to the truth perhaps? The truth in this case was persuasive enough. She shivered with memories from her captivity and abruptly knew what to say. Holly was a midwife, a woman of science but also of compassion, who wanted to help women and children.

      When Alexis spoke, she lowered her voice to a whisper. “But first, let me tell you about our enemy… things that you will not have heard in the papers because they believe we women are too faint of heart to handle it. The camp I was in had humans infected with the Dark—controlled by it.”

      Now Holly was leaning forward in her seat.

      Alexis continued, voice still hushed. “The Dark spoke to me through the body of a boy it had possessed. It told me its aims to take over, to bring peace…but that peace came at a price. I saw a mother sacrifice her newborn—”

      Holly put a hand to her mouth, and Alexis knew she had her.

      “—the child the Dark spoke through called the boy a parasite.”

      The cat slunk down from its pedestal and quietly seated itself next to her feet, facing Holly, as though it had become Alexis’s silent guard. As Alexis continued her story, it purred.
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      Volka stood outside the airlock door on Time Gate 1. Beyond the heavy glass, Admiral Noa Sato, decked out in her dress grays, waited for the second set of doors to open. Noa had the darkest skin Volka had ever seen, very short, tightly coiled black hair peppered with gray, and a lithe athletic frame. She looked like a very healthy fifty-year-old. She was actually over a century in age and had come from Luddeccea before Revelation—with Sixty and Carl, in fact.

      The secondary doors beyond Noa led to the Julia, one of the Galactic Fleet’s Corvette class vessels. That was where the meeting Volka and Sundancer had hastily escorted Noa across light-years for was going to take place—not aboard Time Gate 1—and not aboard one of the larger fighter carriers. Volka wondered about that.

      There was a huff of warm, moist air at the level of her wrist. Shissh, Carl Sagan’s once sister, now inhabiting the body of a giant Bengal tiger, answered her thoughts. “They want to avoid telepathic spying and influence.” Shissh wore a loose, gold necklace around her neck. It had a small speaker that dangled at the bottom and was an ethernet-to-speech device. Carl had one too, though his looked more like a collar on his tiny body. Shissh didn’t use the device to speak to Volka though; she spoke the words directly into Volka’s mind. Volka, like some, but not all weere, was sensitive to the quantum wave. She could communicate with other wave-sentient species telepathically. Unlike Shissh and Carl, she couldn’t read minds at will, and unlike them, she couldn’t influence other creatures’ thoughts, ever. Sometimes, when Volka was exhausted, the thoughts of even wave-insensitive species like humans spilled into her mind.

      Now, Shissh’s thoughts flowed into her own. “You cannot read minds at will or influence other creature’s thoughts now, but even Carl and I don’t know what you and Ben will be capable of one day.”

      Volka froze. Ben had been a Galactic Marine in Special Forces and part weere. He’d contracted the Dark before the treatment had been developed and committed suicide to keep the Dark from learning every defense secret in his mind. Shissh had been as close to Ben as Volka had been…maybe closer. Shissh had nearly killed herself trying to destroy the Dark within Ben.

      Swallowing, Volka looked down at the tiger. The big cat’s head was bowed. Volka gave a gentle scratch to the rough fur between her shoulder blades, and Shissh leaned into her fingers. A chill crept from her fingertips, up her body, and to her heart. Volka swore she could feel the tiger’s grief oozing into her. A vivid picture of Ben’s orange eyes came to her mind—from Shissh or from her own memory, she wasn’t sure, but she knew if it continued, she might cry. She jerked her fingers away at the same time Shissh jerked her body away—as though they’d both been burned.

      There was movement in the airlock. Volka’s and Shissh’s heads raised, ears full forward instinctively, just as when they hunted together and saw a deer through the trees. The airlock door between the Julia and Noa had opened—that was the motion that had set off their instincts. Noa was looking back at them with a raised eyebrow and a bemused smile. Volka wasn’t sure if she imagined it, or if Shissh planted it there, but she swore she heard a not unkindly, “my predator friends” in Noa’s voice in her mind. But then the admiral’s smile melted. She gave a curt nod to Volka and Shissh and entered the Julia’s airlock. The door slid shut behind her.

      A few minutes later, in a nearby window, they watched the Julia pull off from Time Gate 1’s terminal. Her thrusters engaged, and she appeared to vanish, though Volka knew the Julia had just left the gate at lightspeed; it couldn’t travel faster than light. Nonetheless…

      “Do they really need to go so far away?” Volka asked. Carl and Shissh could communicate with each other at any distance, but their ability to read the minds of wave-insensitive humans was limited to a few thousand meters.

      Shissh huffed. “It is overkill.” The tiger shook her great head. “They no longer allow high-ranking members of the military, intelligence agents, or scientists working on sensitive projects to be kept as pets by The One.”

      That translated into, “High-ranking military and intelligence officers and scientists can’t have cats or werfles.”

      “No,” Shissh said, reading her thoughts. “They can have cats and werfles—just as long as they aren’t inhabited by our species.”

      Volka’s lips parted in shock. “They can tell?”

      Shissh’s tail swished rapidly, a gesture of annoyance that could give a human a concussion if he or she happened to be at the receiving end of said swish. “Yes. Newly developed technology. It only works in a radius of a meter or so, but that is enough.”

      Volka stared out at the spot where the Julia had disappeared. The werfle Solomon had sat on Alaric’s shoulder when he’d rescued Sundancer on the pirates’ planet; Archbishop Sato was never without the white werfle Issh; and Carl had told her the cat Snowball, “owner” of Stella Tudor, the Luddeccean Premier’s mother, wandered freely between the houses of Luddeccea’s elite. “Really, Snowball owns all of the Luddeccean higher ups,” Carl had said. “They all feed her.”

      Flicking her tail, Shissh turned and began sauntering through the terminal proper toward Sundancer’s berth. The big cat’s movements were languid and easy, and Volka had no trouble catching up. The almost tortuously slow pace hid the fact that the tiger could sprint up to eighty kilometers an hour if she so chose.

      “The Republic moves so fast,” Volka whispered. They’d developed a treatment for the Dark, too. It was extraordinarily expensive: it needed to be modified for each new wave of infection, required round-the-clock intensive care of the patient and quarantine, was excruciatingly painful, and it only worked on the newly infected—but it was more than Luddeccea had. Now Galacticans could detect The One?

      “They can detect us if we use the quantum wave,” Shissh said, one ear flicking as they walked through the crowds. “Which we do most of the time. The creatures we inhabit aren’t capable of higher thought. We outsource our higher thought to the wave—much as the AI have remote servers do their higher thinking.”

      Shissh was still speaking telepathically. The terminal was crowded, but strangely quiet to Luddeccean ears. There was very little audible conversation—most of the conversation was via the ethernet. Humans in the Republic had neural interfaces implanted in their temples as infants before the bones of their skull fused together. They could install apps into their interfaces that allowed them to do all sorts of things—keep an encyclopedia in their mind, calculate extraordinary sums, tell the time, the temperature to the hundredth of a degree, record everything around them, and more—but what they used it for most was to connect to one another and machines via the ethernet, in Sixty’s words, “a vastly more sophisticated form of the internet.”

      People stared at Shissh as the giant tiger walked through the terminal, but they did not scream or show fear. People of the Republic knew about The One, and Shissh had been the subject of a few holo interviews. Her semi fame, or maybe just that she was an enormous tiger unleashed in a public place, had the humans touching their neural interfaces, probably recording and sending news of the encounter to friends. All this communication was silent, and when people did speak to one another—if they didn’t know the ethernet code of someone they wished to communicate with, or if they were a child whose neural interface hadn’t been activated—the voice carried through the hush.

      As if to punctuate the thought, a child cried out, “Mommy, iz a One?” Volka’s eyes shot to a boy who was probably about four, pointing at Shissh with one hand and clutching a stuffed toy of a creature that looked like a pentapus, but had eight arms, in the other.

      “It must be, Andrew,” a well-dressed woman replied, putting her hand on his shoulder. The woman did not look the least bit afraid. A Luddeccean mother would be afraid for her child’s life—or, suspecting demonic possession of the tiger—afraid for her child’s soul.

      The boy tottered over to Shissh. “May Iz bet you?”

      The necklace on Shissh’s neck crackled, and she bowed her head and chuffed. “You may, Little One.”

      Andrew touched her head and scratched very gently. Too gently, Volka knew, for Shissh’s liking. But the big cat only chuffed a little more.

      “What do you say?” his mother prompted.

      Drawing himself up, Andrew said smartly, “Have a nice day, Tiger. I haz to catch a spazeship now.”

      “Thank you,” his mother corrected in a voice that was exasperated, but not unkind. “We say ‘thank you.’”

      “Zank you, too,” Andrew amended, touching his chest.

      “Yes, thank you,” said his mother, bowing ever so slightly to Shissh.

      “You’re very welcome,” said Shissh, resuming their walk. “Have a nice trip.”

      Volka looked over their shoulder. Andrew and his mother had resumed their journey to their “spazeship.” Andrew was saying, “It waz a big tiger!” and gesturing with his hands. His mother was smiling down at him beatifically. “A very nice member of The One.”

      The people of the Republic were so open and accepting. The leaders of Luddeccea, by contrast, hadn’t even admitted to humans that The One inhabited werfles and cats among them, and that was far better than how they had initially reacted. When word of The One’s presence on Luddeccea had first gotten out, the Luddeccean government had tried to exterminate all the cats and werfles on the planet under the excuse of “demonic possession.” The One had retaliated, unleashing a virulent form of plague that had wiped out half of the Luddeccean city of New Prime. Now there was a truce between The One and Luddeccea’s government. Luddeccea didn’t officially acknowledge their existence, but the pogroms against The One’s werfle and cat hosts had ended.

      Shissh’s voice entered her mind. “Is the Republic more open? They’ve locked my kind out of strategic operations and away from strategic people. The few weere they’ve recruited from System 11, where you people originated before emigrating to Luddeccea, they’re keeping at arm’s length as well, even though none of them are telepathic to the extent you are.”

      “Not as telepathic yet?” Volka ventured. Carl Sagan theorized that being exposed to true telepaths like himself and Sundancer had developed Volka’s abilities. It was possible weere who were exposed to The One would also develop more advanced abilities.

      “Not as telepathic yet,” Shissh amended.

      Volka bit her lip. She didn’t mind so much that Carl was telepathic or that Sundancer was. Weere, telepathy or no, tended to know each other’s embarrassing secrets. They could smell when a weere woman was in season and who was sleeping with whom. They could smell pregnancy, some cancers, and a host of other ailments, not to mention addictions and what everyone had for their last meal. But that wasn’t how humans were, at least not on Luddeccea. It seemed fairly incredible to her that the people of the Galactic Republic would be so nonchalant about a telepathic species in their midst.

      Shissh huffed and spoke into her mind. “The ordinary people don’t believe we are truly telepathic. They think as long as their software is up-to-date, they don’t have to worry about eavesdropping.”

      “But it was on the news,” Volka protested.

      “Lots of things are on the ‘news,’” Shissh said. “So many contradicting stories—there are people in the Republic as suspicious of the ethernet and neural interfaces as Luddecceans are, you know—humans in the Galactic Republic scarcely know who to believe.”

      Volka swallowed and thought of Michael, a human she’d met during the protests in System 5’s city of New Grande. He’d believed that the Dark was just a lie invented by his planet’s government to force a draft into their Local Guard. Even the counselor of New Grande who’d been pushing for a draft for the planet’s Local Guard believed the threat of the Dark was made up. So, she’d known that not everyone believed in the Dark…but she hadn’t realized that skepticism extended to other things.

      Shissh huffed. “It’s easy to fake a holo and there is just so much news to follow in the Republic.”

      That was an understatement. Multiple news channels ran news all the time. Everything was delivered in short segments that Volka, not familiar with the Galactic Republic’s recent culture and history, found too confusing to grasp. That’s one reason she’d started studying history; she’d been convinced if she just started at the beginning, everything would make sense. On Luddeccea, there was one central news service with local departments. There was an hour of local news each evening and an hour of Luddeccean System news. The segments were longer, and she supposed, often boring. In the past three weeks the local news in New Prime had been dominated by a running debate as to whether a local suburb should have its electricity delivered via poles or underground. It was decided just before her departure that underground would be better, and digging had commenced. When she’d described the live broadcasts of community meetings to Sixty, he’d said that on the Galactic Republic’s old worlds the debate would have been whether any houses should be built at all, and said debate would be delivered in short thirty second segments. The debate between the Department of the Environment and the Department of Worker Safety as to the size of the trenches or the height of the poles would have begun in secret without any regular persons knowing anything about it, and construction would be stalled indefinitely, because, in his words, “Efficiency is boring.”

      Shissh continued. “Because there is too much news to analyze, and because it is so easily faked, most ordinary people don’t believe anything unless it fits a narrative they’ve already created for themselves. Those narratives usually follow what is more convenient to them or puts them in a virtuous light.”

      Shissh gazed up at the skylight above them. “I’m worried about the Republic excluding my kind.”

      Volka shivered, and it wasn’t just because the terminal was always too cold. Shissh was very old, and, in Volka’s opinion, wise. Carl had told her Shissh had been the first of The One to have anticipated an entity like the Dark. Shissh had known that The One had to ally with humans to fight it, too.

      They reached the little sitting area next to the airlock adjacent to Sundancer’s berth. Volka tried to perk up for the ship’s sake. Gazing out the gate window, she pictured the ship in her mind, a luminous pearl against the Milky Way. She was the prettiest ship in the galaxy. Volka’s cheeks got warm, the ship flushed pink at the same time, and Volka did perk up genuinely, a smile coming to her lips. Her spaceship friend liked being known as the prettiest starship…even if it embarrassed Sundancer a little to be thought of so.

      A mechanical whir made her ears swivel, and Shissh and Volka both turned fast. Volka’s knees bent, and Shissh crouched, predator instincts activating. But the source of movement was only a little cleaning ‘bot. It was no larger than a shoebox and nearly the same shape with a glowing red robotic eye atop. The rapidly spinning brushes beneath the ‘bot was the source of the whirr. Shissh and Volka relaxed, turned back toward the berth’s airlock, and began walking in that direction. The little ‘bot beeped wildly. Tires screeching, it whisked itself in front of Volka and Shissh, blocking their path. Shissh growled. “A creature with a red light on top should not do that in front of a cat!”

      Barricading the door, a speaker on the little ‘bot erupted in static, and then a familiar voice came from it. “Duly noted, Shissh.”

      The voice was a deep baritone. Usually, when Volka heard the voice, it boomed, but through the tiny speaker it sounded tinny.

      “Time Gate 1?” she whispered. They were standing inside Time Gate 1. If it wanted, it could have its voice erupt through every speaker in the terminal. That it wasn’t doing that meant that it must not want to be overheard.

      “In the gears,” Time Gate 1 responded.

      Lashing her tail, Shissh growled. “What do you want, you bucket of bolts with a God Complex?”

      Volka’s heart seized, but Time Gate 1 laughed with such force the cleaning ‘bot vibrated. The little red light on top of it blinked, and then it said, “I have a gift for Volka and 6T9 for services rendered.”

      A tiny hatch opened on top of the ‘bot. Volka peeked inside. There was a silvery box, perhaps three centis long and two centis wide.

      “Every gift has a price, Volka,” Shissh said into her mind. “This is a game Gate 1 is playing with you and 6T9.”

      Volka swallowed. Time Gate 1 was immensely powerful. It could cut off Sixty’s servers on a whim and had weapons systems fit to defend it from an armada. Volka wasn’t about to question the gift, no matter the motives. Picking up the small parcel, she bowed respectfully. “Thank you, Time Gate 1, sir.”

      “You’re so welcome, Volka. 6T9 will know what they are.” The little ‘bot beeped and whirred away. Volka’s eyes rose to the ceiling and then dropped to the floor. The ‘bot was gone, but Time Gate 1 was still everywhere. Blinking down at the gift, she realized the box wasn’t silvery; it was clear. The contents were silvery. There were two chips inside about the size and width of her thumbnail.

      “Crush it under your boot,” Shissh grumbled.

      “He’s all around us and will see,” said Volka. “And would you really want me to do that?”

      Shissh licked her shoulder. “No, I suppose not. Time Gate 1’s gifts tend to be valuable, even if they’re dangerous.”

      Time Gate 1 had been the gate that gave Sixty true self-awareness. Had that sentience been dangerous to him? Before she could think on it, Shissh said, “Noa’s coming, and she has company.”

      Turning, Volka looked down the length of the bright, white-walled terminal. Approaching her was Admiral Sato flanked by eight people on either side. They were all dressed in the high-necked suits that business people wore, pulling bags on wheels. She didn’t recognize them by sight—their faces were all wrong—but as they drew closer, she recognized thirteen of them by smell.

      Noa gave her a tight smile. “Volka, James and I have been given a new assignment. We’re going to be visiting the Consulate on S3O2.”

      S stood for System; O stood for orbital—Noa was referring to the second planet from the sun in the third system that had been explored and colonized by humans.

      Noa continued. “You may know of the planet as Shinar.”

      Volka knew nothing about Shinar, except that it was the city where the Tower of Babel was built, according to The Three Books. Obviously, that was not what Noa was talking about. Her brow furrowed. It seemed like bad luck to name a planet after such an ill-fated city. Her ears flicked. Or bad faith or something.

      The admiral gestured to her companions. “These ladies and gentlemen are going to be part of the Consulate staff. We’re hoping that you can drop us off after a short stop at your asteroid to pick up James.”

      The Republic had Consulates at all its colonies. They served as centers of cultural exchange and recruitment for the Galactic Fleet and also as advisors in matters of Republic law—colonies were largely self-governing, but they weren’t allowed to enact laws that violated the Republic’s Bill of Rights.

      Volka took in the radically different faces that didn’t fit the personal smells she recognized—also the softer middles, longer hair, and less than ramrod straight postures.

      Into her mind, Shissh said, “Disguises.”

      They were remarkable disguises; without her sense of smell she would have been fooled. Movement made her glance toward a passing traveler in the terminal aisle, a well-dressed young woman with fashionable augments. The young woman’s gaze was on Volka’s companions, and her hand was on her neural interface. She was possibly recording this scene even without thinking about it—it might already be on the ethernet if the recorder was a “holostar” who was “live streaming” her vacation. Volka could see why Noa had to hide the “Consular staff’s” identities, and why Noa was now lying. The men and women weren’t Consular staff. They were Galactic Marines in Special Forces, and Noa was about to rope Sundancer and Volka into a military operation—one that needed to be kept secret and was probably very dangerous.

      Gesturing to the airlock, Volka smiled as naturally as she could. “Of course. Right this way.”
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      With a final swing of his axe, 6T9 separated the branch from the trunk of the fallen tree.

      “You can take that away now, FET12,” 6T9 said.

      “Yes, sir,” said the ‘bot, grasping the branch and dragging it toward the incinerator.

      6T9’s ethernet began to ping with Noa’s channel. She was arriving aboard Sundancer with Volka. Noa had probably reached out into the ether with a thought before Volka could vocally cue Bracelet. Volka didn’t use the ethernet as naturally as someone with an implant. It worried him sometimes.

      Standing on a splintered tree trunk, Carl said, “They’re here.”

      Waving a hand in acknowledgement, 6T9 connected to the outer airlock door. To Noa, he said over the ether, “Come on in.” He reached out to Bracelet. There were a few pings, and then Volka said, “Sixty?”

      “Welcome home, Volka,” he said aloud and thought into the ether.

      “Thank you, Sixty. Shissh is here—”

      6T9 smiled, and his circuits buzzed. Volka intended to stay a while if Shissh was visiting for a hunt.

      But then Volka continued, “—and Lieutenant Young and the other Marines we met before too, but not Dr. Walker.”

      6T9’s smile melted. Zhen Walker wasn’t with them? She’d developed a drug habit—self medicating to ease the pain of badly integrated prosthetics, in his opinion. He’d told her he couldn’t be with her if she continued to injure herself. She’d chosen drugs. Now she wasn’t with her team. His circuits dimmed with that knowledge.

      Over the ether connection to Bracelet, he heard Young’s voice. “You knew it was us? What gave us away?”

      And he heard Volka’s response. “You smell like yourselves.”

      “Why are they here?” 6T9 asked, immediate worries buzzing under his skin. The Marines wouldn’t be here for a courtesy call.

      “I don’t know,” Volka whispered, though no doubt the Marines could still hear her. Most had augmented hearing. “And they are wearing disguises.”

      Noa’s voice filtered through Bracelet’s connection. “Their presence is mostly a formality. But we do have a mission for you and Sundancer. Most likely it will be just a simple delivery.”

      “I’ll see you soon, Sixty,” Volka said, and the connection died.

      A notification at the periphery of his vision let him know he was down to fifteen percent power, and he switched to power save mode. It would slow down his physical reactions, but hopefully keep him from acting on any of his “repressed rage.”

      He stared at the concrete column that was the entrance to the asteroid’s atmosphere. “Please let this be just a ferrying mission,” he said to no one in particular.

      Carl squeaked. “Volka has sometimes prayed to me, but I think this is a first for you.”

      6T9 rolled his eyes. “I wasn’t praying, and wouldn’t pray, but if I would, it wouldn’t be to you.”

      Slithering down the stump, Carl said, “I can’t answer your prayer, unfortunately.”

      “I wasn’t—wait, you know there will be danger?” 6T9’s hands flexed.

      “Can’t tell yet.” Carl’s whiskers twitched. “But it’s a possibility.”

      Statistically, every coin flip offered a 50-50 probability of heads or tails even if the previous four coin flips had all been heads. So, statistically speaking, this new mission from Noa was as likely as any other to not be dangerous. But every mission they’d been on with Noa and James had wound up dangerous in some way. Even going to Luddeccea had gotten them involved in the rescue of Alexis Darmadi, Volka’s lover’s wife, though Volka would deny that she and Alaric were lovers. Power save mode dampened his responses, but he felt heat in his fingers and clenched his fists. However, he didn’t chuck the branch beside him through the air. He counted that as a win. He began striding toward the garden where Sundancer would deposit her passengers.

      “Errr…Sixty?” Carl squeaked.

      “What?”

      Hopping after him, Carl said, “Your hands.”

      He flexed his fingers and found them damp. 6T9’s body could develop an aesthetically pleasing sheen—for those who liked that sort of thing—but he didn’t get sweaty. It was a safety feature. He looked down, and for a minute his circuits misfired. His nails had ruptured his synth skin and his palms and fingers were damp with synthetic blood.

      “Rusted gears,” 6T9 grumbled.

      “You’ve hurt yourself.” FET12’s voice came from behind 6T9. 6T9 turned to the smaller android. FET12 had dropped the branch he’d been hauling to the incinerator and was approaching 6T9 at a brisk pace. Reaching into the single front pocket of his hoodie, FET12 pulled out a cloth handkerchief and a vial of adhesive bandages. As soon as he was close enough, he handed them to 6T9, hardly breaking stride.

      Dabbing the blood away with the cloth, 6T9 said, “Thank you, FET12.” His Q-comm fired...he had harmed himself occasionally accidentally and sometimes on request, but now if he wanted to, he could hurt himself because he wanted to. That was a reality that deserved further study, but he didn’t have time—Volka was coming, and trouble was coming with her. Unscrewing the cap of the adhesive bandage, he used the attached brush to apply the sticky substance. He’d heard it stung humans to apply it, but his circuits merely sparked with satisfaction, knowing the damage would be repaired faster.

      Finishing up, he noticed that FET12 was heading to Sundancer’s usual landing spot, and Carl Sagan was hopping after him. Of course, Volka was one of FET12’s owners, and he would go to greet her. FET12 was programmed that way.

      FET12’s other owners were 6T9 and Carl. 6T9 hadn’t been able to own himself—he wasn’t allowed to own self-aware beings—but FET12 wasn’t intelligent enough to count. If Carl, Volka, and 6T9 hadn’t taken ownership of him, FET12 would have been consigned to a scrap heap. FET12 wouldn’t have minded if he’d had that fate. 6T9 wouldn’t have minded, either. 6T9 wanted to kill the humans who hurt the ‘bot, but at the same time, FET12 made him uncomfortable. It had been Volka and Carl—two voracious, merciless, obligate carnivores—who had insisted on keeping the damaged sex ‘bot. 6T9 hadn’t been able to say no to them.

      Jogging to catch up with the other ‘bot and Carl, his mind pondered why he hadn’t wanted to save FET12. When he’d first met FET12 he couldn’t want to kill the pirates. Was his inability to wish their slow and painful deaths and his discomfort related?

      They reached Sundancer’s landing place and found James already there. He must have found some adhesive in the house, because he’d patched up his cheek. His black polymer skull was back to being visible only as a hairline scar.

      The secondary airlock pinged 6T9 over the ether, and he allowed Sundancer to enter the asteroid’s habitat.  A moment later, Sundancer, pearlescent hull shining brightly in the artificial sunlight, hovered down.

      Noa’s ether pinged. “Come on in. Sundancer is the most secure conference room in the known universe.”

      6T9 walked beneath the ship with James, FET12, and Carl, and a circular opening appeared beneath her hull. The ship sank around them, allowing them to leisurely step aboard, but 6T9 froze. He found himself staring at men and women in business attire. Not a shipload of Marines…and then he remembered Volka’s comment about disguises.

      “Sixty!” Volka’s exclamation came from behind him. More quietly, she added, “Hello, FET12, Carl…James.”

      6T9 spun, and there she was. Her eyes were on him, and she beamed. For a moment, 6T9 could not move. Something about her was different. He stared, trying to determine what it was. She was still slender, much shorter than was common in the Republic, or even for a Luddeccean human, possibly, he suspected, due to poverty induced malnutrition. Her short silver hair was styled in a pixie cut—the same as it had been when he’d last seen her. On her prominent, wolf-like ears, her hair became velvet. Her eyes were the same wolf-yellow he remembered with wolf-ovoid pupils. They were dark lined, but though it looked like eyeliner, it was natural pigmentation. Her fingernails and toenails were similarly dark. Her mouth wasn’t particularly wide. Her lips weren’t particularly full, but they were shaped like a bow. He wasn’t programmed to be attracted to any particular standard of beauty—but he thought Volka wouldn’t be described as “beautiful”—she’d be more likely to be reckoned “adorable.” None of that had changed.

      Was it her clothing? She wore a fitted, dark purple dress that contrasted smartly with her yellow eyes. Beneath the dress were leggings and solid black boots. He hadn’t seen this particular outfit, but it was similar to others she’d worn at the Galactic Republic Embassy on Luddeccea.

      This was the woman he’d altered his programming for. The woman that, in James’s words, he “loved.” Love was a terribly imprecise word. Humans loved salads—though not Volka—she loved raw, red meat. Which should mortally offend him—or, since he wasn’t technically “mortal,” offend him right out of his body into his servers—but it didn’t. Red meat kept her healthy and strong.

      Volka’s smile melted. “What’s wrong, Sixty?” She stepped toward him, her hand lifting as though she might touch him, but then she dropped it and clasped both hands in front of her.

      She cared about him, as humans cared about each other, and Volka cared for all machines, intelligent and not. She’d said that she loved him. They’d almost been lovers, but then his programming and her monogamy had gotten in the way. He could change his programming…he owned himself. All he had to do was alter one single Boolean value.

      “Nothing is wrong,” he replied, stepping into the ship.

      She frowned. Perhaps he hadn’t sounded convincing. Or perhaps it was that his face was too serious. He couldn’t explain now in front of the Marines.

      His eyes slid to their company. Carl was squeaking and running between Shissh’s feet. FET12 was leaning against Shissh, hand on the big cat’s neck. FET12 was still afraid of humans, but not a potentially man-eating tiger—his original database didn’t have big cats.

      James was talking to the Marines and smacking them on the back here and there, saying, “These disguises are well done.” A man with Lieutenant Young’s voice answered, “Volka smelled right through them,” and there was general laughter—6T9 recognized the laughter.

      Since he couldn’t explain himself to Volka, he joked with her instead. Returning his attention to her, he scowled. “What could possibly be wrong? Except you’ve gotten us wrapped up in Noa’s and James’s shenanigans again.” He winked at the end.

      Shrugging, Volka sighed theatrically in a way completely unlike her. “What can I say? I attract trouble.”

      6T9 touched his chest and adopted an air of mock horror, silently conveying, “Who me?”

      She smirked right back at him, and every circuit within him lit.

      Noa’s voice rose above the din. “We’re only going to Shinar, and it is highly unlikely there will be any shenanigans.”

      Some of the Marines grumbled with what sounded like disappointment.

      Shinar was not a place 6T9 would expect trouble, but, turning to face Noa, he blew a raspberry.

      Noa raised an eyebrow. “Have something you wish to express, 6T9?”

      Hand sweeping to the small of Volka’s back of its own accord, he kept his eyes on the admiral. Imitating Noa’s voice, he said, “All we have to do is steal the Ark, and then it will be smooth sailing all the way to the Republic, James.” It was an event that had taken place over one hundred years ago, just prior to Revelation. The “sailing” had been famously fraught and was the subject of a few holo dramas as well as military history.

      James snorted. A man with a soft middle and long hair chuckled with Corporal Ramirez’s voice. The other Marines smiled, and the disguises—holos or some other tech—did not disguise that the smiles spread all the way to their eyes. James had been right; they were very good.

      Narrowing her eyes at Sixty, Noa held up a slender dark finger, the barest hint of a smile on her lips. “We completed the mission.” Noa had gotten new augments since he’d seen her last, metal fingers to replace the missing ring and pinky finger of her left hand. By the way the augments gleamed dully in the light, he’d say they were titanium. She’d lost her fingers under torture on Luddeccea. But their “mission” had saved Luddeccea. He glanced at James. It might have saved the entire Republic.

      The Marines nodded at Noa’s words, but Volka tilted her head, her velvety ears flicking.

      “What is going on at Shinar?” Volka asked.

      Dropping the finger, Noa put her hands behind her back, and the hint of a smile vanished. James took a place at her left side. The business people blew their cover by adopting a parade rest.

      “As you know,” Noa began. “The Galactic Fleet is struggling to catch up to the Luddecceans’ gateless faster-than-light travel.” Noa looked upward as though expecting to offend the only faster-than-light ship the Republic did have. Not that the Galactic Republic really had Sundancer. Sundancer was sentient and self-aware. She could not be possessed by anyone—not by law or even by force. She was impact resistant and enjoyed phaser fire blasts. She was controlled only by Carl and Volka’s love and fear of the Dark. Neither was particularly reliable in Fleet’s opinion.

      Noa looked heavenward for a few beats as though expecting Sundancer to be hurt by her previous statement. As powerful as Sundancer was, she didn’t understand verbal communication. The People, the first species Sundancer had had a “relationship” with, had been deaf and entirely telepathic. Fleet found Sundancer’s communication with Volka and Carl “unreliable.” 6T9 wouldn’t use that word; he’d call it imprecise. What Sundancer showed Carl and Volka in their visions—the peacefulness of The People, for instance—he estimated to be truthful. Not that Fleet paid attention to his estimation.

      Noa continued. “The most prominent scientist in the Fleet’s research program, Anderson Okoro went home to Shinar three weeks ago to visit his mother before her death. Just after she passed, he was committed to a mental hospital against his will. Fleet has reason to believe…” She stopped speaking. Her nostrils flared. His expression reading apps said anger. “Fleet knows that the institutionalization was politically motivated. James’s and my trip to Shinar has been scheduled for months. It is the centennial anniversary of the Fleet rescue of the populace after the eruption of Mount Enmerker. James and I served during that operation. The Counselor General in Shinar believes that James and my presence should remind the people of Shinar that they need the Fleet, and Mr. Okoro should be allowed to leave the planet with us and return to System 5.”

      6T9’s head tilted. Not Doctor Okoro…mister.

      His circuits sparked. “Removing him from this institution will also be political…will it really be in Mr. Okoro’s best interests?” And then his circuits sparked again. He still cared about humans even though he didn’t have to. All his mechanical joints warmed and loosened pleasantly.

      Noa exhaled. “Mr. Okoro was institutionalized for publicly expressing a belief that there might potentially be a God.”

      Volka gasped, and his hand tightened against her back. Belief in God was illogical, but there were plenty of illogical human habits that didn’t get them institutionalized against their will. He wouldn’t let Volka be institutionalized for her beliefs.

      Noa gave Volka a grim smile. “Don’t worry, Volka. We’re Luddecceans. The laws only apply to Shinar citizens—just don’t try proselytizing.” Her focus went to Shissh. “Shissh—”

      The big tiger chuffed. “I would not be welcome on Shinar. They don’t believe The One exist, and I’d have to switch bodies or be placed in a cage.” She licked her lips. “Don’t worry. I’ll stay here and help keep the local deer population healthy.”

      6T9’s eyebrow rose. By “healthy,” Shissh meant she’d cull the sickly.

      “They don’t believe you exist?” Volka asked, “adorable” ears flattening in anger.

      “How can they think that?” 6T9 asked. As soon as the question left his mouth, his Q-comm pulled down the relevant data. His jaw went slack. “They think the rest of the galaxy’s belief in The One’s existence is a form of mass hysteria?”

      That evoked another grim smile from Noa and frowns from the Marines.

      Carl sniffed and flexed a claw. “They’re just jealous of our obvious superiority.”

      Volka said softly, “If they don’t release Mr. Okoro?” Her eyes slid to the Marines.

      “They’re just my security escort.” Noa smiled thinly. “To answer your question, the Shinar pride themselves on their logic. I’m sure they’ll see reason.”

      6T9’s joints loosened a fraction. He hadn’t realized they’d frozen up.

      “Admiral…” Volka started to say.

      “We have legal grounds to remove him if we need to. There may be lawyers involved and possibly protests at the Consulate gates.” She held out her hand to the gathered Marines. “If there are protests, we are prepared. We did not want to look like we were going in spoiling for a fight.”

      The joints that had so pleasantly loosened tightened again.

      Noa’s eyes went briefly distant, and 6T9 knew she’d contacted the ethernet. “We have two hours to kill before we’re expected in Shinar airspace. This is your home. Why don’t you attend to any business you have here while you have the chance? We’d like to stay aboard Sundancer. We have things to discuss.” She inclined her head to her team and James.

      “Sure,” said Carl. “I’ll let Sundancer know.”

      An iris opening appeared in the floor, and Carl, Shissh, Volka, FET12, and 6T9 stepped out. The ship rose above them, the iris opening closed, and then Volka turned and wrapped her arms around herself. His expression reading apps highlighted her eyes and returned its analysis of their shape: betrayal…anguish.

      All his circuits misfired.
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      Alaric approached the bed with trepidation. Alexis was already there, sitting awake, reading from her notebook, probably reviewing her translations. The window was open, and a night ptery let loose a shrieking, ominous cry. Alexis hadn’t mentioned Volka’s visit since he’d come home. It put him on edge.

      He climbed onto his side, pulled the sheet up, and rolled away from the light. If she wasn’t going to say anything, he was not going to—

      “Volka came by this morning.” His wife’s tone was as cutting as a knife.

      “Is that so?” he asked, keeping his voice mild, trying not to incite anything. “To see Uncle?”

      “To see me.”

      Alaric had been sent into combat on more than one occasion. Combat of the martial sort he’d trained for. He’d learned the theory, and then he’d practiced. Combat of the marital sort he’d never trained for. He had no roadmap to go by. His parents’ arguments had gotten heated, but they’d always seemed to be fighting for the same thing—for each other, for the family—they’d just sometimes had disagreement on what was for the best.

      Could combat train you for marital strife? He wouldn’t cower from another enemy—and what a way to think of one’s wife. Restraining a sigh, he rolled over and sat up, though he had no idea what to say.

      Thankfully, Alexis took that as an invitation to speak. “There is a vote before the council to allow single weere women to defect to the Republic. The Republic needs their ability to detect the Dark. She asked me to convince the counselors’ wives to push their husbands to vote yes. I agreed to help. I brought it up with Holly, and she is also in agreement that it is the right path to follow. She will pursue the issue with her connections.” She took a breath, and her lips pinched. “I accepted an invitation to speak before the Daughters of the First Families. I will bring it up with them as well.” Her voice was tight and defensive.

      It occurred to Alaric that a lot of Luddeccea’s ruling elite were about to have uncomfortable conversations in bed with their wives—perhaps were already having those conversations now. His eyebrows rose. If they voted “nay” against their wives’ wishes, there would be very uncomfortable conversations. A woman might take a “nay” vote as a man protecting his access to lonely weere girls...especially since so many of the young men were being recruited into the Fleet.

      There was a silence that stretched too long. He was supposed to say something, obviously. He glanced at her hands, clasping her notebook so tightly her knuckles were near white. Was she expecting a fight? Alexis and Volka working together was a bit frightening, but... “The Republic needs them. It’s a good idea, and if anyone asks, I’ll say so. The tactics are brilliant.”

      The notebook slid from Alexis’s fingers.

      Settling down between the sheets, he rolled to his side, feeling a bit smug and wondering if he’d actually won that little skirmish. He closed his eyes.

      “Some might say that you only approve because your weere is stationed here at the embassy.”

      Alaric’s eyes went wide. He was an idiot to think he’d won. It wasn’t a battle he was supposed to win against her anyway. Rolling onto his back, he massaged his eyelids. “If anyone says that, I’ll tell them that I am not Volka’s patron—” Waving his hand, he scowled at the ceiling. “—and that if I ever had any aspirations of becoming so, you and Volka would unite and probably kill me.”

      The clock chimed in the hallway. A nighttime ptery released a cry that wasn’t quite blood curdling.

      Alexis leaned into his line of vision. Her expression was unreadable—until she smiled. It was a small, sly smile. Eyes sparkling, she said, “You know, I think you might be right.”

      He stared at her. “All I need to do to make you happy is to propose my untimely death?”

      She raised an eyebrow, and then grinned. Pulling away, she gazed back down at her notebook.

      Alaric held in his sigh. Sleep. Finally. He closed his eyes.

      And then Alexis said far too cheerfully, “I think I would like those shooting lessons.”

      “Should I be frightened?” Alaric asked ruefully.

      “Maybe,” Alexis said, but he could hear a smile in her voice.

      God, were they joking? Part of him wanted to roll over, wrap his arms around her, and kiss her, and part of him was afraid of doing anything that might shatter the moment. Good moments were so few between them. He didn’t move, and eventually started to drift off to sleep—visions of the Merkabah’s bridge behind his eyes.

      “Oh!” said Alexis. The bed shifted.

      “Is something wrong?” he asked mussily, blinking in the lamplight, too bright after his nap.

      Alexis was leaning over one of the reports she received from intelligence—pages of The People’s language printed out and bound with bulldog clips. “I’ve found it.”

      “Found what?” he asked, coming awake.

      “Your weapon…I think…”

      He came awake immediately and sat up. “The singularity weapon?”

      “Yes…but…” Her brow furrowed. “I don’t think it was a weapon to them. Here…” she pointed to a few symbols on the page that meant nothing to him. “They developed it for the nuclear waste created by their fission reactors…” Her eyebrows rose. “That would have been helpful on Earth during the twentieth and twenty-first centuries before the thorium reactors came online.” She blushed and turned to him. “I only know about that because Sam’s science book—”

      Scowling, he cut her off. “Because you’re intelligent and curious?”

      The scowl or the words were wrong. She looked chastened instead of flattered.

      He turned the conversation back to the aliens. They were safe territory; something she didn’t have to apologize for being an expert on. “They didn’t develop it as a weapon?” He felt the hairs on the back of his neck rise.

      Scanning and rifling through the pages, she shook her head. “There is nothing about it here. Just…” She shrugged. “...Waste disposal.” And then, letting all the pages fall back together, she raised her head and stared into a darkened corner of the room. “I feel like this is right about them, Alaric. I…feel like they wouldn’t know what a weapon was.”

      Alaric remembered the alien in the starship’s dream prostrating himself before Alaric, Volka, and the hissing werfles, allowing his companions to escape. In the starship’s dream, they’d used the singularity “weapon” for nuclear waste disposal, too, hadn’t they? The night was warm, but he felt a chill.

      “But that must be crazy,” Alexis said.

      “No,” Alaric whispered.

      Alexis turned to him expectantly. He didn’t tell her about the dream, which still might not have been real—even though if she were correct, it had been real, at least partially. Instead he said, “The waste from the original human fission power plants was a feature, not a bug. It was used to fuel fission bombs.”

      She focused on the pages lying on her knees. “I haven’t seen fission bombs mentioned anywhere…it could be coincidence…but fission for The People seemed to be all about clean energy and powering their colony ships.”

      “Humans developed fission for the bombs to end one of the world wars,” Alaric said. The United States of America had done it at immense expense. The scientists involved must have known the potential for power generation, but the men who approved the vast sums needed for the research and development might not have. Yet they did approve the project. To end a war—and to have fission weapons before their enemies. The People had developed fission for clean energy and space flight—light and life, not destruction.

      “I don’t think the Dark used fission bombs on The People,” Alexis said, her eyes focused on the darkness at the end of the bed. “It was surprised when you dropped one on the pirates’ outpost…and the other one…the planet with pine trees and mountains…that fission bomb killed so many birds…”

      The chill deepened. Alexis may have half heard about the bomb he’d dropped while she had lain stunned aboard Volka’s starship, but the other couldn’t be anything but a memory from the time she’d been infected. Although that weapon had been a fusion bomb. Maybe it was too fine a point? Or maybe it hadn’t infected the mind of the Galactic Fleet corporal—Benjamin Moulton—deeply enough?

      “The Dark doesn’t invent things,” Alexis said, her gaze going back to the report on her lap. “Or even innovate them. It had the knowledge to make a fission bomb, but didn’t—couldn’t—maybe…It can’t create. It has no imagination. It only utilizes that which it knows through those it infects.” She looked at Alaric. “It can’t imagine its own failure. That is how we will win.” Her eyes cleared, and she smiled faintly, and said again, “That is how we will win.” Turning away, she put her work aside, switched off the light, and settled down to sleep.

      Alaric released a long breath. He didn’t have the heart to tell her that those who couldn’t imagine their own failure were among the most dangerous of all. They would fight to the bitter end. Pulling the covers up over him, Alaric tried to sleep, but nightmares of something just on the edge of his awareness awakened him with a start.
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      The air vents whirred, but it was still warm in the asteroid’s simulated day. Nonetheless, Volka felt a chill. “You told me that religious freedom was the law in the Republic!” On Luddeccea she’d been taught that God was outlawed in the Republic by machine overlords. That hadn’t been true, but Volka had seen that religious people were often looked down on as superstitious and simple. Was it more sinister than that?

      Sixty held up his hands, palms out. “Religious freedom is the law. I don’t know how this has happened.”

      Dropping his hands, his eyes became blank, and Volka knew he was processing a “data dump.” His jaw got hard. “A few months ago, a law was issued that made belief in the supernatural a mental illness. Any Shinar native so afflicted can be institutionalized against their will at the state’s expense—”

      Volka scowled.

      “How charitable,” said Shissh.

      Sixty’s lips twisted wryly. “Legal suits have been filed but are still making their way through the courts.” His brows drew together, and his eyes narrowed. “As part of their defense, Shinar has argued their native religion is atheism.”

      Carl squeaked. “Well, that’s not ironic.”

      Volka squinted at Sixty in incomprehension. “How can atheism be a religion?”

      Sixty shook his head and shrugged.

      He had told her that in places where one religion dominated, it was legal to outlaw things that violated that religion. “This isn’t like outlawing alcohol or beef!” Volka exclaimed, chill replaced with the heat of anger. “They’ve locked him up.”

      “They haven’t ‘locked him up’ in the sense of putting him in jail, which is also part of their defense. To their minds, they are helping him and others like him.” Sixty’s lips thinned. “I will not let them do the same thing to you.” His tone was intense, and she swore he was vibrating. A soft sound on the grass near his feet made her eyes drop. He’d clenched his fists, and a crimson rivulet was rolling from between the creases of his hands. A droplet fell to the lawn with a soft plop. Her lips parted.

      FET12 said, “You’re bleeding again, 6T9.”

      Again? It didn’t smell like blood, which was probably why she hadn’t noticed a scab before.

      Sixty flexed his hand, jaw grinding. “I was helping FET12 clear brush.” He proceeded to dab his hand with a stained cloth.

      Carl squeaked, and Shissh swished her tail. The big cat’s necklace hissed. “I already know all about the nonsense on Shinar from reading the Galacticans’ minds—I want to know what curse Time Gate 1 gave to Volka.”

      “Curse?” said Sixty, raising his eyes.

      Volka slipped her hand into her dress pocket, fingers searching for the slender box. “A gift for us, for ‘services rendered,’ Gate 1 said.”

      Dabbing his palm again, Sixty grumbled. “Any gift from Gate 1 is a curse.”

      Volka’s stomach dropped. Carl and Shissh said at once, “See?” The werfle stood on his hind legs and gestured at Sixty meaningfully.

      Volka’s fingers found the tiny box in the very corner of her pocket. “Time Gate 1 gave you your Q-comm…You regret it?” She didn’t mean to sound so plaintive.

      Sixty met her gaze. His hair was unusually rumpled. There was a faint smudge of grime on his cheek she hadn’t noticed before, and what looked like perhaps a bit of leaf on his shoulder—from his brush clearing, she presumed.

      “No, I don’t regret it,” he said, but his voice was heavy.

      Pulling the box from her pocket, Volka held it on her palm for him to see. “I don’t know what the little silver things are.”

      Sixty drew back.

      FET12 was still clutching the ruff of Shissh’s neck. In a flat, voice he said, “They are Q-comms, Ms. Volka. Any machine they are installed within will have sentience.”

      Sixty began to speak. “We should install one in—”

      “FET12,” said Volka.

      “Bracelet,” Sixty said at the same time.

      “Do you need something, Miss Volka?” FET12 asked. He’d heard his name and interpreted it as a request for assistance. Despite being able to identify the Q-comm, he had lost the thread of conversation.

      Bracelet hummed on her wrist. “Do you require my assistance, 6T9 Unit, sir?” And that made two machines not following along.

      “I’m fine, FET12,” said Volka at the same time Sixty said, “Not at present, Bracelet. Please disregard our conversation for a moment.”

      “Yes, sir,” Bracelet replied.

      “We have to give one to FET12,” Volka said. “If something happens to us…” she couldn’t say FET12 could be sold as scrap aloud in front of the battered ‘bot even if he wouldn’t comprehend or care.

      “He wouldn’t be stable,” Sixty protested. “He might be dangerous.”

      “You’re not dangerous,” Volka said.

      His lips parted and his eyes widened in what looked, for an instant, like horror—and then his features went absolutely blank. In a human, she would have been able to smell if it really had been fear, but with Sixty…she might have imagined that look of horror or it could have been a bug, like his occasional head tics.

      Carl cleared his throat. “I think what Sixty is trying to say, Volka, is that FET12 has suffered much more than Sixty did. Sixty was loved very much. FET12’s early experiences were much different.”

      Volka swallowed. FET12 had been horribly abused, violently, sexually, and, she thought, emotionally. But didn’t that just make him more deserving of a second chance? And hadn’t she known weere girls—and boys—in the weere houses who’d suffered similarly? Some hadn’t made it...She bit her lip. But some had gone on to live meaningful lives.

      Volka swallowed. “Aren’t we a part of his early experiences, too?”

      Carl blinked at her, his whiskers twitched, and he turned to Sixty. “Well, don’t we count?”

      Shissh sat on her haunches and stared up at Sixty expectantly.

      He rubbed the back of his neck.

      Shissh lashed her tail. Flexing her deadly, finger-length claws into the sod, the big cat said, “FET12 is habitually afraid, but maybe with the imagination a Q-comm could provide, he could reframe his fear?”

      Sixty gestured to Sundancer. “We’re leaving. He’ll be alone.”

      Shissh narrowed her orange eyes. “I will be here. He trusts me more than a human.”

      Sixty stared at the ground and didn’t speak.

      “Please, Sixty…” Volka said.

      Sixty raised his eyes.

      Volka shrugged. “He does trust her, and with the galaxy being what it is right now…We should make sure that FET12 can take care of himself.”

      Sixty stepped closer to her. “The galaxy being what it is, we should put a Q-comm into Bracelet so that in the event that I am disabled, Bracelet will be able to negotiate landing protocols with gates and planetary authorities.”

      Volka held up her wrist. “I can do that already, using her as a radio.”

      “And so can I!” Carl protested.

      “You both can,” Sixty said, “But Bracelet would be able to do it faster.” He reached out as though he was going to touch Volka’s shoulders, but then pulled away. “Volka, we might wind up in a situation where seconds count.”

      “But she won’t have a body,” Volka protested, heart rate picking up. “She’ll be a slave in everything but name. I won’t be a slave owner!”

      Sixty stepped back. His eyes went blank, and she knew he was computing something, or accessing some more data, and then he said, “If she wants a body, we can get one for her. But starting out on your wrist will give her time to decide whether she wants one or not, and if she does, what form. She might not want to be human in appearance.”

      “The human lack of fur is disturbing,” Carl quipped.

      Shissh opined, “The hairlessness lures you in, makes you think, ‘This creature would be easy to eat,’ and then you get close and realize just how teeming with bacteria and viruses you are…” She stuck out her huge tongue. “Blech.”

      Carl coughed.

      Sixty edged closer to Volka, and for a moment, Volka forgot about her argument with him. She and Shissh sometimes hunted together, and Volka, too, was a carnivore, however ... “I have never thought of eating you, Shissh.”

      The tiger gazed up at her. “I’d be far too tough. And I have never thought of eating you either. Not seriously.”

      Volka’s ears flicked. She was not sure she’d ever wanted to know that.

      “Volka,” Sixty said. “We have to leave soon. Please let me install the Q-comm in Bracelet.”

      She remembered she and Sixty still had two decisions to make—and that Shissh hadn’t eaten her yet and had had plenty of opportunities to do so. Also, they had two Q-comms…She thought of the ‘bots in the World Sphere, still doing research on the aliens the Dark had destroyed. If their bodies were destroyed, they’d need Q-comms... Her eyes shifted to FET12. He was staring at the ground, face half hidden by a hoodie, his fingers gently scratching Shissh between the ears. He needed the Q-comm now.

      “I’ll let you put one in Bracelet if you put one in FET12, too,” she said to Sixty.

      Sixty’s jaw got hard, but then he said, “Done.” He took the box from her hand and said, “Let’s go inside. I need tools to install them.” He started to walk toward the house, but she hesitated. FET12 had been injured more than any weere she’d known. A human probably would have died with the amount of abuse he’d sustained. Would he really want to think about it? Maybe he wouldn’t want a body and a mind. Maybe he’d hate humans.

      “Should I go clear trees?” FET12 asked. She swallowed. He hadn’t followed the conversation at all, and that is why he needed a Q-comm. Grabbing his free hand, she drew him toward the house. He didn’t resist…or let go of Shissh.
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      FET12 was seated on a chair in the main house’s dining room. 6T9 had strung a power cord through a hole in the chair’s back and plugged it into FET12. Shissh was sitting beside the chair, her head on FET12’s lap. Even powered off, the boy android was clutching the rough fur on the tiger’s neck.

      The back of FET12’s head was open. Giving a final twist to a very small screw, 6T9 closed it, and the smaller android began his boot up process with a gentle hum. With such a major install, it would take longer than usual.

      6T9 turned to Volka and held out his hand. She gave him Bracelet. Bracelet had an easily accessible slot for chip installs—though he doubted anyone had thought to install a Q-comm into any ethernet-to-speech device of her make. Carl had compared her to a glorified holophone-calculator; as much as the comment had annoyed Volka, Carl hadn’t been wrong. 6T9 applied a small magni-driver tool to the nearly invisible magni-screw on Bracelet’s underside, popped the underside off, and slid the Q-comm chip in. He closed Bracelet up, ordered her to reboot, and handed her back to Volka.

      Volka gently put Bracelet on her wrist. “Bracelet, are you all right?” Volka whispered.

      “I am fine, Miss Volka,” Bracelet replied. Her reboot had been short. She wasn’t as complex a system—she didn’t have to integrate her Q-comm linked server with native applications for complex locomotion, reading emotions, displaying emotions, or databases on every human sexual deviancy.

      “If you want a body, we can give you one,” Volka said, clutching her wrist and holding Bracelet close to her lips. She was treating Bracelet as though she were a precious thing—which he supposed, with a Q-comm in her, Bracelet was, but Volka wasn’t thinking in terms of the device’s monetary value. Volka was thinking of the device’s feelings. It made 6T9’s skin warm and his fingers itch to touch her.

      There was a moment of silence.

      “Bracelet, do you know what has happened to you?” Volka asked.

      “Analyzing, Miss Volka…ah, I have been given a Q-comm. I understand that. Why would I want a body?”

      Volka unclutched her wrist. “So you can be free and move about?”

      “Let me analyze that…” Bracelet said. “Mmm...I am not sure independent movement would be balanced out by the need for greater power. I am very efficient, Miss Volka. I can run nearly 768 Earth hours without a recharge. Also, a body might experience failure upon receipt of damage.”

      6T9 translated. “Experiencing failure is a sort of robotic pain.” He tried to keep his expression neutral, though his circuits lit in hope. He had estimated there was a 93.7 percent probability that Bracelet wouldn’t want a robotic or android form…at least not right away. It had taken the time gates centuries to decide they wanted to create avatars like himself. Apparently, he had been correct.

      “It is?” asked Bracelet. “How tragic for humans. They seem to experience quite a lot of failure throughout their existence.”

      “No kidding,” Carl squeaked.

      Bracelet continued, “Also, if I had a larger, more independent form, I might be a target for damage. We’re going to Shinar and, analyzing previous conversations and past events, I believe there is potential for violence. I’d prefer not to be a target—and I suspect no one suspects the wrist ornamentation of being sentient—am I correct?”

      “Err…” said Volka, clearly confounded.

      6T9 smiled, pleased as punch. “You are correct.”

      “You don’t have to come with us to Shinar if you don’t want,” Volka said quickly.

      His smile turned upside down. Short circuits, Volka’s noble instincts were going to completely defeat the purpose of—

      “Oh, I’d like to come, Miss Volka,” Bracelet said. “I…do you want me to come? Please, let me come.”

      6T9 wasn’t surprised by Bracelet’s request. He’d wanted to stay with Eliza when he’d first been given his Q-comm. The universe was large and full of unknowns, and he had known Eliza—Bracelet knew Volka. Even dumb ‘bots could learn—he had known that Eliza had been good to him even before his Q-comm. Bracelet had to have noticed how Volka treated machines.

      “Of course you may,” Volka replied.

      “Thank you!” Bracelet chirped. “It will be a wonderful opportunity for data acquisition.”

      6T9’s eyes slid to FET12’s hand on the patient tiger’s neck. The android would be coming online soon. Pressing his advantage, 6T9 said, “You’re welcome to stay with Miss Volka, Bracelet, but you’ll need to be of assistance to her, interfacing with the ethernet and machines on her behalf and assuring that she is safe.”

      Volka looked up at him, face writ with consternation. 6T9 “got it”—the gift of sentience and freedom shouldn’t be conditional. But although Bracelet was entitled to not come on the mission or be dropped off in a busy terminal somewhere, she wasn’t going to attach herself to Volka’s wrist without “paying rent.”

      “I will do that, sir! I do not want her to experience damage!”

      “Thank you, Bracelet,” he said.

      Volka’s ears perked toward FET12. Which was when 6T9 realized the gentle hum of his boot up sequence had changed. Volka went toward the smaller ‘bot. FET12’s eyes were closed and didn’t even flutter on her approach.

      6T9 hung back. What if FET12 hated what they’d done to him? What if he hated Volka? FET12 would be restrained by his programming. He wouldn’t be able to hurt her physically or emotionally…at least, he wouldn’t be able to hurt her emotionally on purpose.

      6T9 realized Volka wasn’t looking at FET12, she was looking at him, face writ with concern. He couldn’t fake a smile.

      “It must be like watching your own birth,” she said. “Birth is frightening and painful, but joyous, too.”

      6T9 exhaled. He had been overjoyed when he’d first gotten his Q-comm. Being unable to satisfy Eliza intellectually had always bothered him. But did FET12 have regrets that would make the onset of sentience worthwhile?

      FET12’s eyes fluttered open, and it was too late to go back. The other android’s gaze didn’t go at first to 6T9 or Volka…it went to Shissh. Her head was still on his lap. FET12 released the ruff of her neck and scratched her between the ears. Shissh chuffed—the big cat equivalent of a purr—and FET12 focused on the top of her head with laser-like intensity. It occurred to 6T9 that FET12 was actively not looking at the rest of them.

      Walking over, Carl spoke first. “Hi, FET12, how are you feeling?”

      FET12 peered at Carl over his knees. “I am well, thank you, Carl, and yourself?”

      “I am well, FET12. And I’m hereby relinquishing my ownership of you,” Carl said.

      “I am also relinquishing my ownership of you,” said Volka.

      FET12 didn’t look at her. 6T9’s lips parted. FET12 was more comfortable with animals… Sex ‘bots could be customized for any perversion, but 6T9 had accessed FET12’s programming—he hadn’t been hacked to enjoy bestiality or pedophilia. Was it because animals offered completely platonic friendship that they appealed to the other ‘bot?

      He realized that everyone except FET12 was looking up at him expectantly. He stepped forward, prepared to relinquish his ownership, and then realized he couldn’t quite yet. “FET12, I have a few last orders for you to follow.”

      FET12 audibly swallowed. “Yes…Sss…sir...” The stutter of fear—was it a bug, or a feature to his previous owners? 6T9’s jaw got hard, and he clutched the screwdriver so hard, he knew his knuckles would be white. He consciously flexed the fingers of the other hand, so he didn’t drip blood on the dining room carpet.

      “Sixty?” Volka said.

      “Erm…hey,” said Carl. “This was about freedom?”

      Shissh growled and lifted her head.

      FET12 was a child—literally, only a few years old. And those years were ones of torment. Moreover, he’d just gotten a Q-comm. FET12 was a whole new ‘bot. A newborn, really.  “I order you not to have sex with anyone else for eighteen years past this moment,” 6T9 said. FET12 deserved—no, needed—that time to figure out who he was and what he wanted before he had any more sexual entanglements. It was an arbitrary number, plucked from human laws concerning adulthood, and perhaps too long…but given FET12’s past, 6T9 had wanted to say fifty-five years. That had seemed extreme. He’d compromised.

      Shissh stopped growling.

      “Oh,” said Volka.

      FET12 blinked up at him.

      They had to leave soon. 6T9 had to choose his next words carefully and quickly. “And when you do, it must only be because you want to, FET12. You are under no obligation to have sex with everyone who propositions you, and you can say no for whatever reason you can imagine. Simply because you’re not in the mood. I order it.”

      FET12’s eyes went wide, and then scanned nothing. He was downloading data, and his Q-comm was processing it, probably trying to translate “not in the mood,” a concept anathema to sex ‘bots.

      “Even if I’m not in the mood,” FET12 repeated, his voice filled with wonder.

      6T9 sat down on his heels so FET12 didn’t have to look up at him. “Also, you have control of your monogamy switch. You can switch it off and on when you want to. It’s your choice. I am your owner, and I order it.”

      FET12’s eyes met his. The other ‘bot blinked once.

      “Have you altered your programming based on my orders?” 6T9 asked.

      FET12 nodded. “Yes, master.”

      6T9 winced at the word. “I’m no longer your master. I relinquish my ownership. No one owns you anymore.” FET12 didn’t even own himself—he couldn’t own himself, just as 6T9 hadn’t been able to. 6T9 was going to have a devil of a time getting his access key—but he’d find a way, somehow. Did human children own themselves? Also, was FET12 going to be pissed at him for forbidding him from having sex for eighteen years? Too late now. His teeth ground. Nebulas, FET12 looked like a child. 6T9 was going to want to kill anyone who wanted to have sex with the ‘bot whether it was eighteen years from now or one hundred. He exhaled. He’d have to convince FET12 to get a new form.

      His ether started to ping with Noa’s hail. Bracelet said, “Miss Volka, Admiral Sato is hailing us. I believe it is time to go.”

      Biting her lip, Volka said to FET12, “We have to go now. It’s a lot to explain—”

      FET12 nodded. “You have to go to Shinar because a very important scientist is being held against his will. I heard it…before. I understand it now…” There was wonder again in those last words. “Of course you must go. The Dark is dangerous, and any advantage we have in the battle could potentially save human lives.”

      “Exactly right,” whispered Volka, voice awestruck.

      6T9 swallowed. Despite all the abuse he’d endured, FET12 still cared about humans. His lips twisted. Of course he did. He was programmed that way.

      “Shissh will stay with me,” said FET12, scratching the big tiger behind the ears. Shissh chuffed and said to Volka, “Don’t worry, if anyone comes calling and tries to bother FET12—”

      6T9’s synth muscles coiled when he imagined that scenario.

      Shissh continued, “—I will rip them to shreds.”

      “Good,” said 6T9 quietly.

      FET12 inhaled sharply. “Shissh, you can’t do that! They might die.”

      “One would hope so,” said Carl.

      “That violates my programming!” FET12 exclaimed.

      Shissh put a paw on his leg and blinked up at him slowly. “What if I gently knock them down and then sit on them just a little bit to restrain them?”

      FET12 tilted his head. “That would be acceptable, Shissh. As long as you don’t hurt them.”

      Shissh chuffed.

      Noa started hailing again.

      “We have to go now,” 6T9 said. He patted his coat. He had Eliza’s ashes and his access key in one pocket and charging cables in the other. He gestured for Carl and Volka to go before him. Volka looked like she was thinking about hugging FET12, but then she held back and only gave a soft goodbye that FET12 returned without looking at her.

      6T9 started to leave. Among Carl and Shissh’s many abilities, they could mentally contact anyone with an ether connection. 6T9’s ethernet began pinging with Shissh’s personal ID. He looked toward the big cat. She was gazing up into FET12’s eyes and chuffing happily, but silently, over the ether, she said, “I will rip anyone who hurts FET12 to shreds. But you can’t make me eat them.”

      6T9 smiled. “Thank you for looking after him.” He turned around to find Volka looking at him quizzically, but then Bracelet said excitedly, “Admiral Sato is hailing us again. It’s time to go to Shinar!” and Volka turned away.
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      There was a flash of light—and then Volka could see Sundancer’s pearly interior again, and 6T9, Carl, Noa, James, and the Marines dressed like office workers on business trips, suitcases in tow. Had they come to the right place?

      Bracelet said, “In contact with Time Gate 3 Docking Authority,” just as Sundancer’s walls became translucent again. There was what she assumed was S3O2...Shinar. It had white capped poles that extended a quarter of the way across the planet from the North and the South. There was a strip of blue broken up by two land masses. One land mass was spread out over the equator. It was brown, without a trace of a lake or river. The other land mass extended from the white icy cover of one pole to below the equator. At the equatorial region, it was similarly brown without a hint of water for relief. There was only a thin strip of green between the desert of the second continent and the snow in what was either the North or South pole—Volka wasn’t educated enough to know which was which on Shinar. In that narrow strip, there were rivers, lakes, and snowcapped mountains.

      Touching their neural ports, James and Noa moved toward the compartments at the back of the ship. Obviously, they were in communication with someone.

      Carl, at the center of the floor, said, “I will provide the telepathic docking instructions for Sundancer. Directing her to dock with a time gate is a lot more dangerous than landing her in a flower garden.”

      Volka’s lips pursed. It was not dangerous. One of the “Consular staff”—a tall man with fashionably long hair and a doughy middle winked at her, cleared his throat, and spoke in Young’s booming voice, “Stand back. One wrong tail flick and we could wind up in vacuum.”

      Young knew that wasn’t true. She blinked.

      Carl rose to his hind legs and began gesturing like a tiny ten-legged orchestra conductor. Volka narrowed her eyes. Oh, someone was bored and showing off, and Young was in on it. She noticed three of the “staff”—two women and a man—looked visibly concerned. They were new; she didn’t recognize their scents.

      Sundancer began maneuvering, presumably toward a berth on Time Gate 3. Volka turned back to the planet, briefly catching Sixty’s eyes a few meters away. He had an eyebrow raised and his lips quirked. He glanced quickly to Carl and back to her. She answered with a shrug and a smile and gazed down at S3O2. “So much ice—and so much desert,” she whispered. Sixty stepped over so he was standing just behind her shoulder. “Despite being the second orbital, S3O2 is nearly the same distance from the local sun as Earth is from Sol. However, its moon is small and didn’t hit the planet as hard as Earth’s moon did. S3O2 doesn’t have much of a tilt. The poles never unfreeze. The equator is blistering hot. On the other hand, in the narrow band of the temperate zone, it is very comfortable for humans all year round. The planet’s capital, Shinar, is the only major city—and over time, the whole planet started to be referred to by just that name. The city was built on rocky land, sparing all the good cropland.” He pointed down to the mountains near the coast. “Shinar’s there, at the foothills of Mt. Enmerker, the volcano Noa was talking about earlier.”

      “Is it safe to build a city at the base of a volcano?” Volka asked.

      “They’ve spent a great deal of time, money, and research in making it safe,” Sixty assured her.

      Sundancer’s interior became opaque again.

      Her lips parted, about to ask how a volcano was made safe, but Carl raised two little paws in very dramatic fashion, and shouted, “Get back!” before slamming the paws down. The three new “office workers” jumped. The rest chuckled and merely stepped away from the middle of the floor. A circular opening appeared in the bridge near Carl’s feet. Cold air that smelled like metal and ozone rushed in. Through the opening, Volka saw the planet through the hazy film of a plasti-tubing gangway. They weren’t inside an airlock but tethered outside the gate.

      Carl smacked his paws together like he was wiping flour off of them, and then took a bow. Someone applauded.

      Striding briskly, Noa and James emerged from the back. To Volka, the admiral said, “The director of Time Gate 3 has invited the Consular staff, James, and me to a reception. You’ll be free to wander about the gate while we’re there.”

      “You’ll probably have more fun,” a voice she remembered belonging to Lieutenant Young said from a face she didn’t.

      That didn’t sound too bad…

      Noa spoke to the disguised Marines. “Bring your bags.” And to Volka again. “They won’t let Sundancer in atmosphere, but we will want you and Carl with us below. I’ll let you know as soon as we confirm the shuttle dock.”

      “Yes, Admiral,” Volka said, standing up straighter.

      Two of the “staff” exited the ship down the flexible, cylindrical gangway. A moment later, Noa and James left. The rest of the Marines followed.

      At the sound of their retreating footsteps, Volka turned to Sixty. “Should we go explore the gate?” All the gates were similar, but usually there were a few shops and exhibits that were local to the worlds they hovered above.

      Sixty’s face was unusually flat. “I am on 1.2% power,” he said. “I have to go recharge immediately.” He rubbed his temple. “I could have asked them to stun…” He shook himself. “I’ll go to the back. Carl, would you—”

      “Opening the compartment with the charger,” Carl said, and Sixty walked away without looking back, spine stiff, movements robotic. He disappeared a moment later into the compartment Carl had opened.

      She looked down at the werfle with concern. Excluding their first journey together, Sixty didn’t usually run low on power. He was very conscientious about charging well before he ran low. She bit her lip. But Noa’s visit had been unexpected, and he hadn’t really had a moment to himself before they’d left the asteroid.

      “Long day for him,” Carl commented. “I’ll check out the tin can with you if you want, though.” He rubbed eight tiny paws together. “Maybe they have a holo theater!”

      Volka’s eyes got wide and her mouth watered. “Butter rats!”

      Carl pointed a sharp little claw at the ceiling. “Exactly!”

      Volka grinned. She took a step toward the gangway, felt a blast of cold, and her smile melted, her stomach sank, and her vision got blurry. She clutched her middle, overcome with dread…dread that she knew wasn’t her own, but was threatening to overwhelm her. Around her, Sundancer’s interior grew dark.

    

  


  
    
      
        
          
            12

          

          
            Dark Conjecture

          

          Luddeccea

        

      

    

    
      Alaric woke from a dream, wide awake, staring into darkness. As a rule, he didn’t have trouble sleeping, but he wouldn’t be able to sleep after the nightmare he’d just had.

      Maybe nightmare wasn’t the right word. The scenario his subconscious had dredged up had felt logical, cool, and distant, and yet terrifying at the same time. Like most logical-seeming dreams, on wakefulness it was illogical…and yet…

      Faster-than-light sentient spaceships, a mind-controlling entity bent on domination, telepathic werfles, and telepathic Volka—what was left of logic in the universe? And if the deductions in his dream were correct...

      He went cold beneath the covers. He slipped his legs over the edge of the bed and softly padded out of the room to the office. He got halfway there. What was he going to do? Call his superior in the middle of the night and say he had a bad dream? That was ridiculous. But he could compose a report of a likely scenario of the Dark’s next attack based on what he had learned in the waking world: from the Galactic Marines, Alexis, classified reports on Alexis’s family’s attempt to destabilize Luddeccea, and reports by Luddeccean spies in the Republic.

      The report Alaric wrote would be dutifully read. Probably forwarded up the chain. It might even reach the archbishop. Who, at a certain point, would maybe decide that it was important enough to inform his contacts in the Republic about. Probably. Might. Maybe. Those weren’t good enough.

      The next thing he knew, he was padding down the stairs, and then onto the dew-wet blades of grass of his front lawn. One of Alexis’s security guards saw him and gave him a nod.

      Waving in acknowledgement, Alaric looked up at the stars and Time Gate 8’s shattered form. The night sky was not as bright here as it was in the country, but he could even make out the orangish-star that was the planet Libertas. Atlantia would be just above it to the right…but the sky in New Prime was too bright to see the icy moon that shone like a diamond or the mining colonies surrounding the gas giants. The Luddeccean colonies were small compared to the outposts of the Republic. Most of the Republic’s population was not particularly fertile. The last spies put the fertility rate of the major colonies and Earth at 1.1 child per woman, but with their cybernetics it didn’t matter. They could live forever, extending centuries...He felt a stab of jealousy. His hands clenched at his side, the jealousy disappeared, and the chill returned, penetrating deep to his bones. All those outposts…If the Republic fell…Luddeccea fell.

      He exhaled. The Republic would fall, might already be in the process of falling. Probably. Might. Maybe. Not good enough.

      His jaw clenched. His stomach roiled, and he felt dread. Not for him...for everything. His family. His planet. All of the Luddeccean System. And the Republic too…Volka was there. Shutting his eyes, he heard the faintest of slithers in the grass and tiny paws. Opening them, he looked down and saw a gray shadow at his feet. “Solomon,” he whispered.

      The shadow rose to its hind paws. Dark eyes peered up at him, and the werfle shifted his focus across the lawn. Alaric followed the werfle’s gaze and gaped.

      Volka was walking toward him across the grass. But that was impossible. She’d left Luddeccea days ago with Admiral Sato; Intelligence would have told him if she were on her way back. And in any event, she couldn’t get across the lawn without an escort. For a moment, he doubted where he was. Maybe he was still in a dream. He looked over his shoulder. The house was still there, the guard was still there but paying no attention to Volka. It was a dream then? Was he still asleep? Alaric looked back to Volka, still approaching. A purple dress was swishing at her calves. The hem at the sleeves swirled with faint lights. Designed to look like the night sky, he realized. It should be a pretty dress, but for some reason he was struck by its alienness.

      “Alaric, what’s happened?” she whispered.

      The guard did not come running or even shout.

      The golden werfle, Carl Sagan, was at her feet. “Once-mom?” he cheeped.

      “You’ve gotten even fatter,” Solomon replied.

      “It’s. Just. Fluff!” hissed Carl, fur rising. And then he muttered, “Some moms never comment on their children’s weight.”

      Crossing paws over his stomach, Solomon retorted, “Some mothers are concerned about their children’s hearts.”

      Alaric rubbed his temple. Solomon didn’t normally speak aloud to him. This was a dream, or… “Am I in some sort of telepathic phone call?”

      Solomon bobbed. “Volka felt your upset.”

      Carl spread his upper paws. “Sundancer amplified the signal.”

      A long time ago, when he was in Seminary, Alaric’s father had called his uncle’s house to say that his mother was in the hospital. Alaric had felt helpless and far away. Volka had come into the room, out of breath, after dashing from somewhere in the garden. “Something is wrong,” she’d declared. It hadn’t been the first time something like that had happened. Certainly not the last. Each time he’d brushed off what was now obviously a deeper connection as a coincidence. Usually he’d appreciated the coincidence. She’d been there when he needed her. Now that he knew the extent of it, that connection felt vaguely…invasive.

      Volka’s expression became pained. “I’m sorry.” He swore she started to fade, but he threw up a hand. “No, stay.”

      Volka—or the dream of her—became more solid. Despite the clothing, she was still…herself, and his hands rose as though to catch her in an embrace. Catching himself, he lowered them and noticed that Volka’s hands had risen too. Clasping them at her waist, her ears went back.

      She looked as uncomfortable as he felt. And why did he feel uncomfortable?

      Because he felt like he was cheating on his wife. He exhaled, trying to breathe away the feeling. His chest still felt tight.

      There was still a connection between them. Would it always be there? He swallowed. It needed to be more than a dream now.

      “It is more than a dream,” Carl insisted.

      And Solomon bobbed.

      “I…I…” Alaric stammered. “Are you still with Admiral Sato?”

      Volka nodded, eyes meeting his and shining in the night like a wolf’s.

      “We are,” said Carl.

      He couldn’t look away from Volka’s glowing gaze. “I don’t know where the Dark’s attack in the Republic will be,” he said. “But I believe I know their strategy.”
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      :: Local Environment Safe For Prolonged Human Exposure ::

      6T9’s vision was white—no, pearly white—as he came out of boot up. He was in one of Sundancer’s rear compartments, lying on the floor with his shirt and socks off, arms spread out to the side, head turned so his cheek lay flat, legs bent with his soles pressed to the floor. Sundancer was warm where all those contact points touched her. She was gently adding an extra charge to the one coming from the cable at the base of his spine. There was dust in his eyes—no one had closed them while he’d been unconscious—tear ducts watered to remove it.

      He blinked. He was still only at 15 percent power. His back outlet charged him more efficiently than the neural port in his temple, which is why he’d invested in a plug that was virtually flat, and a cable that was the same. With the addition of Sundancer’s heat, he charged 5 percent faster…something had awoken him early.

      “Sixty?” It was Volka, and she was very close. He rolled his head toward her voice.

      She was kneeling over him, Carl perched on her shoulder, whiskers twitching. Her eyes went wide as his gaze met hers. “What’s wrong?” she asked, hands that had been on her thighs coming toward him.

      He caught her hands and brought them to his chest, feeling his sensors light up where her skin met his but not letting his gaze leave hers. “Nothing’s wrong.” Nothing at all, except that the ether was pinging with a message from James. Still, he barely noticed it.

      “Your eyes?” she whispered.

      She thought he was crying. “I didn’t shut them before I rebooted. The tears are just to remove the dust. I’m fine.” He noticed the creases beside her eyes, the tightness in her expression. “You’re not fine.” His hands tightened on hers, and then Noa’s ping joined James’s, and he scrunched his eyes shut. “It doesn’t have anything to do with James and Noa pinging me, does it?”

      She smiled slightly. “A bit. They need us to join them at…” She blinked, and Bracelet supplied, “Shuttle dock D305.”

      “To go down to the planet,” Volka finished.

      6T9 connected to James and Noa with a sigh, sent a simple message letting them know they caught him rebooting but that Carl, Volka, and he would be on their way and disconnected. He did it all without letting go of Volka’s hands. It was nice, coming on-line and finding her right there. Normally, he didn’t like it when humans saw him rebooting; it destroyed the illusion of him being human. Volka had seen him with his face half off and missing limbs but had still found him human enough to almost have spent her season with him and pair bonded with him for life. He hadn’t been able to pair bond then, but he could now, and she could be there every time he rebooted. He glanced down at their hands on his bare chest and felt the flutter of her pulse beneath his fingers. He looked up at her again…and found her frowning deeply.

      “Something is bothering you,” he said. And then he released her hands. He’d held them too long; was he bothering her?

      Sitting back on her heels, she said, “I…Carl and I…we have a message we have to get to Noa and James, and I am afraid of forgetting it.”

      Several circuits lit in relief. It wasn’t him upsetting her, but...

      “Message?” Bracelet and 6T9 asked at the same time.

      “It was telepathic,” said Volka.

      “Sundancer helped,” Carl squeaked, whiskers trembling. “It is important, 6T9—it is about the Dark.”

      “The Dark” dimmed his circuits and then made them flash, and his skin heated from within. Sitting up, 6T9 disconnected his power cable. “Give me a minute. I’ll be right out.”

      Volka got up with a nod and left the compartment.

      A few minutes later, he joined her and Carl on the bridge at the gangway to the gate. She was staring down at Shinar, through the gangway’s semi-translucent plasti-tubing, lips moving silently. Her travel bag was at her feet. Carl was sitting on her shoulders, eyes closed. Glancing up at Sixty, Volka said, “I’m trying to remember everything.” Her eyes darted down the gangway and back at him. “It’s top secret, some of it,” she whispered. “Do you think there are any bugs here?”

      Aboard Sundancer, there probably weren’t. In the gangway…there was a small circular box fifteen centis in diameter just outside the ship. Ostensibly, it was there to monitor air pressure, radiation, and the like. In reality, it was probably recording everything Volka, Carl, and he said to more accurately target them for advertisements while they were in the gate terminal.

      “You can’t tell me here,” he said, swinging his own bag over his shoulder. He took Volka’s in a hand. On her shoulder, Carl cocked his head. Her lips parted, though she didn’t protest. She looked up at him strangely, ears at half-mast. “I’ll follow you. Bracelet can show a holo, but if I look at that, I bump into things.”

      He had already downloaded a map of the station and the gate. “Of course. Let’s go.”

      They walked down the gangway. On the dark side of the station it was cold, despite the layers of insulation—three of plasti-tubing for pressure and radiation, and thicker, less flexible plexi plating that telescoped over the plasti-tubing for additional radiation protection and projectiles. Their breath frosted, Volka shivered, and his power reserves depleted to 12 percent. If Volka’s bag hadn’t had a thick plastic handle, his synth skin might have gotten frostbite. He slipped into power save mode as they entered the airlock. Volka was quiet, but she nodded to herself a few times, remembering whatever it was she had to say, he supposed. How strange not to have eidetic memory, or even one where data wasn’t tagged and databased for easy retrieval. Eliza spoke of “searching for memories.” It was such a whimsical description…did humans imagine traveling up and down the tails of axons and hopping to dendrites, searching for old data? He’d never asked. Searching for memories the biological way had never seemed as efficient, but the process seemed to stir up related data in the human subconscious. Maybe there was an evolutionary benefit to that? Perhaps it was part of what gave humans their “flashes of insight”?

      They stepped into the terminal’s main pedway and into a seemingly moving wall of humans. It was unusually crowded, and there were considerably more semi-dressed and flashy dressed humans than normal. Holoboards were advertising a Stellar Funk concert in the gate’s amphitheater, but sure enough, as Volka passed, the same boards began projecting images of goods and services that had the name secret in them: Time Gate 3’s best kept secret for pizza, Intimate Secrets Augmentation Service, ethernet apps designed to keep your secrets secret, and the like. Volka ignored them, and 6T9 had to. The pedway was increasingly packed, and he was supposed to not let Volka crash into anyone.

      Focus shifting between the humans around them, his attention was caught by a human male who was, objectively, of aesthetically pleasing proportions and symmetrical features. Walking with a swagger, he was wearing a black jacket that appeared to be real leather—not the more tasteful pleather. 6T9’s first thought was that if the man was as young and healthy as he looked, he’d be good for several rounds in quick succession. He was programmed to notice. His second thought was that the strange human male’s own gaze was on Volka, a half step behind 6T9 in the press of bodies.

      6T9’s vision went white.

      When he could see again, the stranger’s eyes were lower, on 6T9’s hand holding Volka’s. 6T9 had no memory of taking it or of transferring her bag to his right hand, and his bag further up his shoulder. The stranger’s eyes rose to 6T9’s, and 6T9 smiled at him, though he felt like driving a fist through the stranger’s face and ruining its probably store-bought symmetry. Something made the stranger look quickly away and veer in another direction.

      6T9 looked back at Volka. He understood why she had caught the stranger’s attention. With her silver ears and hair, yellow eyes, and objectively adorable features, she always stood out. And now she wore a dress that was fitting of an ambassador’s attaché, purple with starscapes at the hems and form fitting, but not revealing. Her figure wasn’t exaggerated by cosmetic surgery. She had faint laugh lines. She looked like someone of importance who was comfortable enough in her own skin to not need to be outrageously augmented. She looked real…and she was staring at their joined hands, her ears slightly lowered, but forward—an indication that she was slightly perplexed. Holding hands meant a lot on Luddeccea. The Republic was vast, with many different cultures; in some of them, holding hands meant more than sex. 6T9 couldn’t make himself let go. “So we don’t get separated,” he said.

      Volka didn’t protest, the crowd became even more dense, and it seemed like he’d been prescient, not just…jealous. He didn’t release her fingers until they reached the airlock where the Consular shuttle was parked, not simply tethered as Sundancer was. The shuttle was dark, square, and boxy, with short stubby wings that were for stabilization more than lift. Hover bands gleamed under its fuselage.

      There were two “Consular staff” waiting outside the ship by a simple metal gangway, standing a little too rigidly at attention for office workers.

      Volka strode up to them. “We need to speak to Admiral Sato. It’s urgent.”

      One of the staff, pale and puffy, who looked like even one round in the sack might give him a heart attack, tapped his temple. When he spoke, it was with Lieutenant Young’s voice—incongruously hale and healthy. “I’ve told her. Head up into the shuttle airlock and wait there.”

      Nodding, Volka and 6T9 did just that. The disguised Marines followed them, and the gangway lifted behind them with a hiss. Another panel slid over that with a second hiss. They were sealed in, and the shuttle was ready for vacuum. Engines began to hum.

      The disguised Marine that had spoken like Young went through the inner airlock door to the front of the craft. 6T9 saw spacious seating, and even a hover ‘bot supplying refreshments. His view was blocked almost immediately by Noa and James coming down the aisle toward them. The other disguised Marine had stayed behind. He placed a tiny device on the airlock wall, and then said in the voice of Jerome, the team’s “comm guy,” “Admiral, sir, you’ll have some privacy here.”

      The words could mean that he was simply allowing them the privacy of the airlock—but 6T9 guessed he’d just set up some sort of jammer to scramble spying devices.

      “Thank you, Jerome.” Noa nodded at the man.

      The man looked like he might salute, but James, who’d been scratching his head, made a small “down” motion with his fingers. Amazingly, the disguise Jerome wore blushed. His half-raised hand dropped to his side. Noa indicated the cabin with an incline of her head, and Jerome quickly stepped out. The inner airlock door slid shut behind him.

      “You can talk now, Volka,” James said.

      Volka stood very straight, her ears forward. “We have a message from Luddeccea.” When 6T9 had first met her on Luddeccea, she’d been so deferential when she spoke to humans. She had bowed her head and flattened her ears. His Q-comm sparked as he watched her now. He’d played a part in her growing confidence.

      Since nobody had told 6T9 to leave, he decided not to bring to anyone’s attention that he wasn’t part of this particular “we.”

      “A message?” Noa looked at 6T9. “How?”

      Carl squeaked. “Telepathically.”

      “With a member of The One?” asked James.

      “No,” Carl replied. “Captain Alaric Darmadi was distressed. Volka picked up on it.”

      The shuttle lifted from the deck, creating .1 G of down force. Illogically, 6T9 felt as though it was more than a hundred times that.

      One of James’s eyebrows rose. Noa shifted her weight from one foot to another. She eased her hands behind her back. “I didn’t know you are so telepathic.” She spoke slowly. Cautiously. The statement almost sounded like a question.

      Bowing her head, Volka flushed. “I’m not. It’s just…Sundancer amplified the signal. I couldn’t do it without her.”

      Noa visibly relaxed. 6T9 didn’t. Carl had said, Volka picked up on it. She was being modest. Because she was Luddeccean…or…because…what did it mean when a human could feel the distress of another human light-years away? Humans didn’t do that. Volka wasn’t human—or she was, but she was more, too. She wasn’t just part human and part wolf; she was part quantum wave “surfing” entity like Carl and Shissh. That was the explanation. His Q-comm sparked, and his sensory receptors dimmed. The explanation didn’t quite fit. She didn’t pick up the distress of just anyone, did she? She didn’t know when her former employer, Alaric Darmadi’s uncle, had been in distress. Static crawled up 6T9’s spine. She picked up on Alaric’s distress because she loved him. His vision flashed white. He imagined rearranging Darmadi’s unaugmented face, and his hand tightened on the handle of her bag.

      Telepathy…he’d never have that sort of connection to Volka. Even Carl, even Sundancer couldn’t read 6T9’s mind…

      “This telepathy…was it like the time in the alien craft?” James asked, making it seem routine. Technical.

      “Yes,” said Volka, raising her head too quickly, ears coming forward again. “But this time he had information he wanted shared with you. He knows the Republic has hardened the Fleet, and that you’re testing Fleet personnel daily for the Dark.”

      Noa and James’s eyes slipped to one another.

      James’s focus went to Volka, and he nodded. “Thank you for asking for privacy for this meeting, Volka.”

      6T9’s Q-comm sparked. They were testing Fleet daily…and it was top secret. Or was supposed to be.

      Volka took a deep breath as though steadying herself. “Alexis, Mrs. Alexis Darmadi—”

      Did Volka need to steel herself to say the woman’s name? 6T9 exhaled. He’d tried to strangle James for merely saying Alaric’s name. He supposed Volka was doing better than him. He swallowed and checked his palms. They were dry. The most recent boot up was doing some good.

      Volka continued. “As you know, she was infected by the Dark. It didn’t just give her the ability to read its language, it gave her insight into its character. It is…incapable of imagination or creativity, according to Alexis. Alaric has a very strong suspicion that he knows how the next attack will go.” She stuttered. “It’s...he says it’s very much conjecture...horrible conjecture...but he thinks, based on what she’s told him about other things too—the Dark, it doesn’t even have fission weapons. The People couldn’t imagine it so it couldn’t either, you see, and maybe the scientists who it took over in System 33 knew of it, but maybe not the specifics of it, and well, it can only have the brain power of the animals it infects, and pirates aren’t that clever so it never got around to making fission weapons itself but it might have them now.” She took a breath. “But whether they have them or not isn’t the main thing he wanted me to say to you. He said, he thinks if Alexis is right about the Dark’s lack of creativity, that the next attack will follow the same pattern as the last one. A large, visible assault that will draw attention away from a smaller, covert attack. That covert attack will be how it attains its main objective. Just like New Fargo in the Luddeccean System was attacked by the bulk of the pirates, while covertly Alexis was kidnapped and infected.”

      Noa’s eyes narrowed. “That attack didn’t work.”

      Carl nodded. “I said that exact thing.”

      “But it almost did,” Volka said. “She would have been returned to her parents, who didn’t have a werfle, cat, or weere—”

      “What werfle could stand them?” Carl sniffed.

      “And infected all of New Fargo, and likely independent miners in the system,” Volka said. “While her father—or, by that point, the Dark wearing a shell of her father—gained influence. Maybe even great influence. The only reason it didn’t succeed is because of Sundancer. The Dark thought she was dead…or incapacitated…it won’t next time. It will be ready for her.”

      6T9’s sensors told him that the shuttle was descending. He should feel lighter. He didn’t. “It’s a lot of conjecture,” he said. He sounded angry, according to his own internal auditory analysis.

      “It is,” James agreed.

      Carl squeaked. “He felt very strongly about this.”

      “Humans feel very strongly about many things,” James replied.

      Noa had one arm across her body. With the hand of the other, she cradled her chin.

      “He said the next attack will be in the Republic,” Volka said, voice almost desperate.

      Noa’s arms dropped. “He is right about that.” Her gaze shifted to James and then 6T9. “It is conjecture. A wild hunch. But we don’t have a lot to go on.” Meeting Volka’s eyes, she said, “I’ll share this with command, Volka. We’d be idiots not to consider it. Thank you for carrying this message.”

      Noa turned around, and Volka blurted out, “He says that it’s most likely already infiltrated the Republic. That at the pirates’ camp it didn’t infect everyone at once, though it could have been easy just by contaminating the water supply.”

      Neither James nor Noa denied it; instead, they met each other’s eyes. Every sensor in 6T9’s body felt like it had gone offline. Noa inhaled audibly, and to Volka said, “There are over a trillion humans in the Republic and over a thousand outposts of humanity…and those outposts are in contact with perhaps a thousand more outposts not officially part of the Republic.”

      Noa was admitting that Darmadi probably wasn’t wrong, and it was a kick to the chargers. 6T9 felt like his power levels had been drained. The feeling was perversely a relief. Since his reprogramming he was jealous and violent, but he still didn’t want humanity wiped out. That core programming still remained. He wasn’t completely lost.

      The airlock door whooshed open on a silent command from Noa or James. Noa headed toward the main cabin, James behind her.

      Volka stood stock still, lips parted. “What do we do?” she whispered, one hand reaching toward Carl, her eyes meeting 6T9’s.

      Not many people in the universe looked to 6T9 for advice when it came to the survival of the human race. Circuits sparked within him. “We help them bring Okoro home.” He looked at the ‘bot bearing refreshments. There was alcohol, and that could give him a real charge—literally, not figuratively. He could convert it to power, but he couldn’t get drunk. “But, while there is time, we enjoy what pleasures we can.”

      Volka smiled. Grimly. But still. “You’re right. We cannot worry about what we can’t help.”

      6T9’s processors whirred with, she agreed with pleasure! He was a sex ‘bot, after all. He didn’t bring that to her attention. He was a sex ‘bot with a Q-comm. She was in public and would be humiliated if he mentioned aloud that she agreed to pleasure with him. In private, he might tease her, but for now…he motioned for her to go first down the aisle and followed her, Q-comm humming.

      Shinar did have pleasures that even a Luddeccean would enjoy. Had Volka ever been skiing? Mt. Enmerker had some of the best. But there were scientific wonders as well, ones even he would like to see. The Bestiary for one.

      Volka sat down in an empty seat, and he opened an overhead bin, put his bag in, and simultaneously started downloading data on the Bestiary. It was rated not only excellent for families, but also one of the most romantic destinations on Shinar. He felt the urge to switch himself to monogamy mode now.

      In the periphery of his vision, he saw James walking down the aisle, drink in hand. From her seat, Volka whispered, “James…I think maybe you may have hurt your cheek?”

      Pausing his task, 6T9’s eyes slid to the other android, and his circuits darkened. James’s cheek was peeling away from his polymer skull—exactly as it had done earlier on the asteroid. Touching it gingerly, James lied, “It’s nothing. Scratched myself, that’s all.” The other android walked past them without a backward glance. As though it were really nothing. 6T9 released a ragged breath and resumed loading Volka’s bag into the overhead compartment. He gave it a shove, and then his circuits went dark again. The handle was cracked in half. When had he done that? When Volka had talked about Alaric? When the concert goer had ogled Volka? Or just now, when he’d gazed at his friend’s injury?

      “Sixty?” Volka asked. “Are you all right?”

      He swallowed. No more code changes. Not now.
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      The Consulate’s toilet on the planet of Shinar was gold-plated. Kneeling in front of it, the taste of bile still in her mouth, Volka wasn’t in a position to appreciate its splendor. Releasing the toilet’s basin, she trembled and fell to her butt. The man who’d shown her to her suite had told her the toilet was from the Earth’s twenty-first century. She rubbed her head. She’d puked her way into history. Wonderful.

      Heavy, familiar footsteps approached the bathroom. The door was already open, but Sixty paused and knocked. “May I come in?”

      “Sure,” said Volka.

      Sixty went to the gold-plated sink and filled a glass with water. Sitting on his heels, he offered it to her. “Bracelet let me know you were indisposed.”

      “Thank you, Bracelet,” she said. “But you didn’t have to.”

      “Yes, I did,” Bracelet replied. “You are experiencing nausea and vomiting at least twice a week.”

      “It’s just the hormone pills,” Volka said, noticing Sixty’s look of concern. “Nothing to worry about.” The hormone pills kept her from experiencing her season. That would be a lot more inconvenient than throwing up a few times a week. On Luddeccea, she’d kept herself confined to Mr. Darmadi’s studio, or her home, and just weathered her season far from anyone who might have been willing to lend her “relief.” Here there were so many people. She didn’t doubt that she could find “relief”…and then grief when the man discovered it wasn’t a carefree week of debauchery she was after. She’d stalk him afterwards, probably pregnant; she knew she wouldn’t be able to be dependable about insisting on birth control during the season. She might even lie about being on it. She exhaled heavily. Another pregnancy with a baby destined to die from all the radiation and harmful chemicals she’d been exposed to. She couldn’t do it again.

      “Maybe you need to readjust the formula,” Sixty suggested.

      She scooted so her back was against the wall. “I did already.”

      “Try again,” Sixty said, sitting beside her.

      She could do that? She hunched her shoulders. The Republic had a thousand flavors of soda—of course they probably had a thousand flavors of hormonal birth control—if she just complained. She was terrible at sticking up for herself, at least for things like this. She could fight for her life, but confront a doctor—a person more learned than her—and dare suggest the pill they’d given her wasn’t the right formulation? That was hard.

      Sitting down beside her, Sixty put an arm around her shoulders. For a moment, she froze, but then she leaned back against him. It was a bad idea. Not because anything untoward would happen—she still felt like throwing up, and he wouldn’t press the issue—but because the closeness was not healthy. She needed to grow attached to a man that was available.

      But there was no such man here at the Consulate of Shinar. The Marines she knew from her time caring for Ben were all attached or not interested in attachment. The Consular staff...she regretted very much being tired when she arrived last night. She had been exhausted enough to read minds, and really wished she hadn’t been able to. The Embassy Staff on Luddeccea thought her simple, but the members of the Shinar’s Consulate despised her. The Shinar were all tall and willowy, with subtly higher foreheads and elongated faces due to the low gravity. Unlike other parts of the Republic, strictly aesthetic cosmetic surgery wasn’t popular here, and they thought Volka vain because they presumed her ears and eyes were artificial. But worse, they knew she was attaché of the Luddeccean ambassador. It was insulting to them because she didn’t have a doctorate in Political Science from the University of Shinar. Thankfully, they didn’t know she’d only graduated from sixth grade. However, they did know she was a painter. They didn’t like that, either—she hadn’t gotten a Master of Fine Arts at Shinar’s School of Arts. Not that they believed that Volka actually painted. They believed that Sixty had an “app” that allowed him to paint in the style of the Old Masters, and that he was passing off his work as hers because it made for a better story.

      They loathed Sixty just as much as her. How dare a precious Q-comm be given to a sex ‘bot? Worse, how dare he not use the abilities it gave him properly—to get a doctorate…or a few? Why hadn’t he applied himself to something that benefited humanity: diplomacy or science…but not the arts. The arts were a noble profession, but should, in the Consulate staff’s opinion, remain exclusively a domain of humans who were morally superior in their understanding of right and wrong, and who had emotional depths AI could not possibly understand. Her paintings had been described as “emotionally moving;” however, the staff thought this interpretation was just due to her “moving story.”

      The Shinar reminded her very much of upper crust Luddecceans. But Alexis at least was honest in her loathing, and Stella Tudor didn’t think of herself enlightened.

      …And the Luddecceans believed in the Dark. They were prepared to fight it. The Dark had not flickered through the consciousness of any of the Consulate Staff, not even once. They were consumed by their own lives and their…their…pettiness. She shivered.

      Volka felt a flutter in her stomach that wasn’t nausea. It was her spaceship, worrying about her. She closed her eyes and focused on Sixty’s arm around her, being warm and not alone. There was a flicker of reception from Sundancer, and she saw for a moment with Sundancer’s “eyes:” the busy time gate and the people within it. Sundancer found it all very interesting. She was glad Sundancer wasn’t bored or lonely. She’d never noticed the ship being either since they’d finally met. Volka supposed after being under ice for a million years or so, anything and everything was interesting, and she and Carl were only a thought away…and Sixty, too, although Sundancer couldn’t “talk” to him.

      Speaking of talking, Sixty was unusually silent and had been since the shuttle ride down. “Are you all right, Sixty?” she asked.

      Sixty dropped the side of his head on top of her own, crushing one of her ears in a way that was warm and too comfortable. She closed her eyes. The ostentatious, antique toilet had been refilling. The water cut off, and the bathroom was suddenly very quiet.

      He smelled like plastic, metal, and synthetic hormones which did work on her—when she wasn’t overwhelmed by the stench of her own vomit. And she was still shaky and exhausted from throwing up—the weight of him was solid and reassuring.

      He shifted a leg, pulling it up toward his chest.

      “I have been thinking...about a lot of things,” he said.

      “Are you worried about FET12?” She was...a little. She hated leaving him, though she couldn’t help but think that maybe FET12 would prefer being in just Shissh’s company. But maybe that was a reason not to leave him alone with the tiger? Maybe he needed to be around good humans and AI, too?

      6T9 didn’t answer for a few heartbeats too long. “Among other things.” He released a long breath. “I’ve been wondering if I should have performed a memory wipe on FET12 when we got him.”

      “You could have done that?” Volka asked.

      “I could have,” Sixty said. “But I didn’t because if I had, he would have been…amorous…toward us.”

      Volka felt bile rising in her throat again. FET12 looked like a very slender prepubescent and could pass for a boy or girl given the correct clothes. The thought of him being amorous to adults…Volka put a hand to her mouth.

      Sixty said, “I find the idea revolting, too. It violates the most basic lines of my code. But I wonder if I was just being selfish. I could have handled him hitting on me; you could have. I just let him suffer needlessly, and now he has a Q-comm. What if he hates humans? He’ll know I could have erased his memories—what if he is angry at me for not doing so and hates his own kind as well?”

      “He looked relieved when you told him he couldn’t have sex for eighteen years,” Volka said. When Sixty had first said he had an order for FET12, she’d been alarmed, but then when he’d given the order, and she’d seen the expression of wonder on FET12’s face, she’d thought it must have been the right thing. Something that only another sex ‘bot could know and understand.

      She stared at her toes. Maybe she could understand, a little at least. The season was frightening and demanding. If her first had come just a few years later, she and Alaric wouldn’t have become lovers. It would have spared her from a lot of pain, and him too, and Alexis. Volka probably would have married a nice weere man…and then she and that nice weere man probably would have died when she’d taken in her cousin Myra and her half-human newborn. She swallowed. Her relationship with Alaric had shaped her life, for good and ill.

      Silence had fallen between her and Sixty again.

      “Can he erase his own memories?” she asked. “If he wants to?”

      “Yes,” Sixty said, and she could hear the furrow in his brow.

      “Then you made the right decision,” Volka said. “The memories are his, no matter how bad they are. It is his choice to decide what to do with them.”

      The golden faucet in the golden sink dripped. Had it been dripping all along?

      Sixty lifted his head and turned toward her. “You always take my failings and make them virtues.”

      His eyes were on hers. She met his gaze…and then she couldn’t look away. She swore the air between them was charged. She wanted to joke about electricity leaking from his circuits, but her mouth went dry. Her stomach was still uneasy, but he filled her other senses—the heavier-than-it-should-be weight of his arm on her shoulders, the slight hum that he had instead of a heartbeat, the scent that was appealing to the largest swathe of humanity underlaid with metal, plastics, a slight hint of grease, his perfectly imperfect eyes with flecks of gold and green, and the cheek that had a devastating dimple when he smiled.

      She forced herself to break eye contact. Staring at her fingers, she changed the subject. “Some of the trees were knocked down on the asteroid. Do you know what happened?”

      A sort of shiver ran through his arm. He pulled away. “Ah…an accident. I am beta testing operating system updates and they aren’t quite integrated yet.”

      He’d explained what beta testing was, and what operating system updates were, which didn’t really explain the forest...but he must mean the robots that trimmed the trees! Those had to be updated just like the other systems on the asteroid. She nodded, pleased that she could follow along.

      Sixty climbed to his feet. “Do you need anything?”

      “To take a shower,” she said and then inwardly winced. That was going to open a can of innuendo if not an outright offer. But Sixty just stared at her very seriously and then backed out of the bathroom. Looking away from her, he said, “Do you want to go do some sightseeing while Noa is busy with her ceremonies?”

      “Yes,” said Volka. “That would be nice.” She didn’t want to stay in the Consulate all day.

      “I’ll find Carl,” he said and left. Volka stood staring at the empty doorway, remembering all the orders Sixty had made to FET12. “...you have control over your monogamy switch…” He’d had to say that to FET12. Did that mean Sixty didn’t have control? Did he want control? Her shoulders fell. She didn’t want to pursue the issue. She knew he forgave her for her advances in No Weere, but memory of the event still left her feeling raw and exposed. She wouldn’t expose herself again.
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      Through the bathroom door and down the hall, 6T9 heard the shower turn off, and Volka step out. Volka had asked Bracelet for information about Shinar just before she’d stepped into the shower, and Bracelet was giving 6T9’s data dumps a run for the money. With the water on, her “dump” had been nothing but an indistinct gurgle, but now he clearly heard, “And that is how Shinar came to lead the galaxy in research and development and how Shinar’s scientists in every field became in demand everywhere. There are simply no better educated, more knowledgeable, more rational humans anywhere in the Republic…”

      “And they are the most modest and humble, too,” he heard Volka reply, smile audible in her voice.

      “Really?” Bracelet asked breathlessly...although she needed to breathe even less than 6T9. Had she downloaded an emotional expression app? “But the About Shinar ethernet site does not mention those virtues. I shall insist they update their description!”

      “No!” cried Volka, laughing. “I was joking!”

      He exhaled a breath he didn’t need. Volka was happy. His circuits darkened and then misfired. He’d almost kissed her earlier. She’d been so close. For a second—just milliseconds, really—it had occurred to him he didn’t have to risk switching his monogamy switch to be with her. He didn’t even have to be monogamous. He was free of the programming that had restrained him from hurting her. For another few milliseconds, he’d been dizzy just with the possibility...but then she’d mentioned the destruction in the forest, and he’d been appalled.

      He’d accepted his new programming to protect Volka, and then at the slightest opportunity he’d contemplated actions that would hurt her? Actions that would, inevitably, take her away from him. He could be unfaithful to Volka, but she and her nose would find out. He didn’t believe she’d kill her rivals, not for a minute. She’d leave him and cut him out of her life with a scalpel. She’d turned down Alaric’s patronage, and she loved Alaric.

      How did he manage these bugs in his new programming? Maybe he should draw lines in the proverbial sand. He wouldn’t make any advances on Volka. It wasn’t a good time to tumble into bed with her, or push her up against a wall, or clear a table, or…He shook himself.

      Not a good time.

      He had to work out the bugs.

      He swallowed.

      If they could be worked out.

      “Have you found Carl yet?” Volka asked from the bathroom.

      “Looking,” he said, kneeling beside Volka’s bed. Carl didn’t like sleeping under beds but he’d checked the couch and chairs in the sitting room, all the windows with sunbeams, the cabinet stocked with snacks, and then under the furniture in the sitting room so…He blinked into the darkness. Carl was there, rubbing his paws through his whiskers.

      “He’s here,” Sixty called back. More quietly, he asked the werfle, “Hey, Carl, did you just wake up?”

      “No…I’ve just been…sitting here,” Carl replied. He ran a paw over one ear.

      “What’s wrong, Carl?” 6T9 asked as Volka approached behind him.

      “Nothing…nothing…nothing …” said Carl, running a paw over the other ear.

      “You feel nervous,” Volka said, sitting on her heels beside 6T9.

      Putting paws to his snout, Carl replied, “Maybe it’s the gravity?”

      6T9’s brows drew together. “The gravity here is closer to Luddeccea’s than the pirate planet.”

      The scant whiskers above Carl’s eyes trembled. “I was too worried about you being eaten by plants to be nervous, then.”

      “Are you hungry?” Volka suggested.

      Smoothing back his eyebrow whiskers, Carl replied, “Maybe...it’s hard to get a read on this body. Bernadette separated it from its parental triad too soon. It never learned to hunt properly, and then she didn’t feed it enough. Before I moved in, it was constantly hungry. I have food insecurity; I think that’s why I’m getting fat.”

      “You’re just fluffy,” Volka protested.

      “No, I’m fat.” Carl sighed, finally dropping his paws. “And it isn’t good for either of my hearts.”

      6T9’s circuits dimmed. “You were hungry while I was living with Bernadette?” How had he failed to notice? He wasn’t as angelic before his recent upgrade as Volka liked to imagine.

      “I wasn’t. This body was,” Carl said, scratching an ear. “I took over this body a little before she died, and I taught it how to hunt.”

      “You’ve never mentioned any of this before,” said Volka.

      “I don’t like to complain,” said Carl.

      6T9 blinked. Complaining seemed Carl’s favorite pastime after sleeping and eating—not necessarily in that order. But hadn’t Carl said it was partially because of the body he was in? Did everyone have trouble with their original operating systems?

      “Carl,” he said, holding out a hand. “If the last thing you ate was that rat when we landed with James, it’s time to eat again.”

      Creeping forward, Carl looked about nervously. Settling on 6T9’s outstretched forearm, he squeaked. “Maybe it is just hunger.”

      6T9 pulled the werfle to his stomach, the better to give Carl a belly rub, but the little creature scampered up to his shoulders, wrapped himself around 6T9’s neck, and hunkered down, whiskers tickling the skin beneath 6T9’s ear.

      6T9’s and Volka’s eyes met.

      Carl squeaked. “Nothing is wrong. I sense nothing of the Dark. Neither does Sundancer, and she is a much more powerful telepath than me. The Shinar people are pompous dummies, but I don’t sense any seething clusters of rage. The new staff we escorted here is busy with tasks that are innocuous and appropriate with their assumed roles, not dangerous in the least. Noa and James are at a commemoration ceremony for Shinar bigwigs. The Prime Minister is droning on about his time in the Geological Corps.” Carl sniffed. “You’d think the centennial is all about him.”

      6T9 scratched Carl’s head and tried to add some reassurance. “We’re far from The Kanakah Cloud.” That was where James was most convinced the Dark would make an appearance. “This system is very stable, Carl.” Aside from the geology, but that was managed quite faithfully by the Shinar people. The tax rates on the planet were among the highest in the Republic, the living quarters the smallest, and the relative lack of cosmetic surgery reflected simply the inability to pay for it. Those sacrifices paid for a paradise. “There’s very little poverty and very low unemployment. Happiness indexes regularly put the Shinar people as among the happiest in the Republic.”

      6T9 noticed Volka’s eyebrows rose at that, and she looked at the floor. She’d probably grown up being told that the only happiness was with God. Eliza had been a fundamentalist when she was young—long before 6T9, obviously. She’d been more moderate in her beliefs later in life, but she had still prayed, thanking God each night for all the good things in her life, even when she was running for her life, even when she was dying. Eliza had said that religion might not necessarily make you happy, but it did help you survive through very unhappy times. As queer as her nighttime prayers had seemed, there was scientific evidence to back her up. People who were religious or spiritual were more resilient to stress. Volka’s and Eliza’s lives had been more stressful than most, and maybe religion was what had helped them endure?

      Carl’s whiskers twitched, and then he skittered farther around 6T9’s neck and stuck his nose under the lapel of 6T9’s coat. “Nothing is wrong.”

      Volka gave 6T9 another worried look, but all she said was, “Let’s go get breakfast.”

      6T9 gestured toward the door for her to go first, bowing slightly and carefully, so as not to dislodge Carl.

      They exited the suite and walked down a hushed hallway with tasteful paintings of local flora and fauna and recessed nooks with holos and sculptures. The styles ranged from hyper realist to abstract. Volka hesitated near some of the artwork, but then she glanced at Carl and hurried along, concern for the werfle so obvious, it would have been deducible even without the little red light in the periphery of his vision saying “worried.” At this point, 6T9 was worried, too. Maybe it was a combination of hunger and low gravity making Carl shiver around his shoulders? That explanation was unsatisfactory but connecting to the Shinar ether gave no clues: the weather was perfect—sunny, but cool and comfortable. There were no mass disturbances of the mob-like variety they’d seen in New Grande. No military activities. The poles weren’t in the process of flipping. It wasn’t even a full moon.

      They’d just reached the closed double doors to the dining room when one of the members of the real Shinar Consulate staff called out, “Excuse me, you can’t take a live animal into the dining room!”

      In front of 6T9, Volka turned to face the man just as the doors slid open, her eyes wide and lips parted in an o.

      “He’s animatronic,” 6T9 said, not missing a beat.

      It was the sort of prompt that he’d expect Carl to answer with, “Yes, look at me, a dumb machine. Beep beep boo beep.” Instead Carl squirmed further beneath his coat.

      “Very realistic movement,” the Shinar man observed.

      Lightly catching Carl’s tail between his fingers, 6T9 lifted an eyebrow. “He’s also a fashionable scarf.”

      Volka’s eyes went wide and shifted to Carl. 6T9 tweaked Carl’s tail, but the expected threats of murder to his person if he was only human did not come.

      “Eh…” The man frowned at 6T9 and walked away, scowling furiously.

      Giving a last little concerned look at Carl, Volka turned around. For a moment, she was silhouetted against the floor-to-ceiling glass doors on the opposite side of the dining room. And then the woman who had fought pirates, Guardsmen, and the Dark, who wasn’t afraid of death, gasped, jumped back, grabbed 6T9, and pulled him away from the door, trembling as much as Carl.

      Eyes wide, she exclaimed, “Call Admiral Sato! We have to get out of here! Now!”
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      Volka stared out the glass doors between the cafeteria and the Consulate garden, her eyes wide, body trembling. Towering over the capital of Shinar were three snowcapped peaks. The largest mountain, set back from the other smaller two, was belching smoke. She’d read about such things in Luddeccean Geographic—it was a volcano—and no matter how technologically advanced Shinar was, poisonous gas or falling rocks the size of footballs could kill thousands. She’d heard of animals sensing such things. Was that why Carl was upset? “Volcano!” she gasped. “Active!”

      Carl squeaked in terror, though it was muffled by Sixty’s coat.

      The Shinar man who had called them out for Carl’s presence a moment ago stopped and turned back toward them. Clearing his throat, he said, “It’s scheduled maintenance.”

      “Of a volcano?” Volka demanded.

      “Volka—” Sixty began to say.

      “I suppose as a Luddeccean you’d be ignorant of such things,” he muttered.

      “You can’t control nature!” Volka protested.

      “We don’t just control nature, we’ve mastered it,” the man replied.

      “That’s…that’s…arrogance!” Volka gasped. Was that why they didn’t even think about the Dark? Because they believed they were in control of everything?

      The man held up a long, slender finger. “In 30.5 seconds, there will be a scheduled tremor.”

      Volka stared at him, uncomprehending, and then she felt it: a gentle, barely perceptible wobble beneath her feet. If she hadn’t been paying attention, she would have thought she’d imagined it.

      The Shinar man smiled wryly, inclined his head to her, turned on his heel, and walked away. Which was when Volka realized Sixty had been conspicuously quiet.

      “They can control volcanoes?” Volka whispered. The sliding doors to the cafeteria were still open, and she looked apprehensively over her shoulder at the smoking peak. It made her stomach flip-flop. She couldn’t quite believe it.

      Sixty said softly, “They’ve controlled that peak since the last eruption.”

      Volka looked at the floor. “But volcanos are nature, and nature is…”

      Shifting on his feet, Sixty completed her thought. “…and nature is the universe, and the sum total of the universe is God.” She hadn’t wanted to say it. Noa had said she’d be safe from institutionalization as long as she wasn’t proselytizing, but Sixty didn’t believe in God, and she’d thought the argument would be moot with him. But here he was taking her lines—well, almost. She hadn’t been about to say that last part about the sum total of the universe, but hearing it, she liked it. She liked it very much.

      Sixty continued, “Eliza used to say that. It’s very Einsteinian. But humans have been controlling nature since the advent of fire…over a million years if you count early hominids like Homo erectus. Controlling nature is human nature.”

      “And human nature is designed by God,” she said.

      He didn’t roll his eyes; he narrowed them. “If God is the sum total of the universe, then certainly the evolution that sparked man’s need to use fire is a part of that.” He walked into the dining hall. There was a buffet along one wall, and from where Volka stood, she could smell there was no meat, eggs, or even milk. Following him in, she sighed at the offerings. There was some rice and berries which she could eat, but there was a lot of high-fiber cereals, fruits, vegetables, nuts, and jellies and jams that might contain xylitol—a sugar substitute that was toxic to her.

      Sixty plucked a single earthy-smelling, grayish blob from a bowl. “Shinar truffles,” he said. “They used to grow only on Mt. Enmerker, but the frequent maintenance isn’t good for them. Now they only grow on Little Loaf, the smaller mountain to the east. They need volcanic ash to thrive, but there is enough ash deposited by Enmerker there. Never have had them. They are rumored to be…” He plopped the blob in his mouth and closed his eyes. “Amazingly chemically complex.” Rolling on his feet, he hummed, opened his eyes, and then winked. “I may not believe in God, but these are heaven.”

      Narrowing her eyes at him, Volka turned her attention to the blobs. Sometimes mushrooms tasted meaty…She reached out for one, but Sixty caught her hand. “They’re hallucinogenic in canids.” He winced. “I should have thought of that before I ate one. It was rude of me.” Surveying the rest of the table, he said apologetically, “I’m sure we can find lab grown meat somewhere in the city. Do you want to get something to tide you over or—”

      Volka looked out the window. Besides the smoking peak, the sky was a brilliant, crisp, clear blue above the snow-covered volcanic peak and its gentler companions. She eyed the few Shinar in the dining room, peering at her not so covertly. She couldn’t read their thoughts but… “Let’s just leave.”

      Sixty grabbed some tofu chunks, and they exited the dining room through the glass doors that led to the garden. She glanced at the werfle. He’d crawled under Sixty’s lapel and up under his collar. He was where he had started out on Sixty’s shoulders, but inside Sixty’s coat, not on top of it. All that was showing of him was his tail.

      She took a breath and smelled flowers, greenery, hover engines, and, almost imperceptibly, even to her weere nose, acrid soot. She’d smelled it last night when they’d arrived but hadn’t known its source then and hadn’t been alarmed. She tried to push the thought of the belching volcano from her mind. The day was lovely, warm enough for a dress with capped sleeves, but not too hot. And the garden was lovely, with flowers, carefully manicured shrubs, and abstract sculptures. Unlike the garden back at Luddeccea’s embassy, there were no armed Marines lined up along the inside wall. She blinked…but there were disguised Marines in the garden, sitting here and there on benches, or standing, cups of coffee in their hands. Their eyes were vacant—like they were working in the ether. As she and Sixty stepped close to a man she knew was Young by scent, he gave them both a curt, military nod. But when they left the garden, there was not a Shinar Guard outside the wall; no identification was needed. Her shoulders sank. There were no guards because Shinar did not know it was at war with the Dark. The thought made the cheery scene feel surreal.

      Taking a breath, she tried to bring her train of thought back onto the track of the earlier conversation—just to forget the Dark for a bit.

      6T9 had suggested that God might be the sum total of the universe, but… “I know you don’t believe in God, and yet you are defending God’s existence.”

      “I’m defending one interpretation, strictly as an intellectual exercise,” he said.

      She scowled. God wasn’t an “intellectual exercise” and people on this planet were being effectively incarcerated for being believers. Her skin got hot. “Playing the devil’s advocate on God’s behalf,” she muttered.

      “Hah!” Sixty smiled at her, cheek dimpling perfectly. “Good one.” A beam of sunlight caught his face, making him appear especially angelic. She flushed, annoyed because she liked it when he found her clever, but she hadn’t meant to be flippant.

      They began walking down a pedway bordered by shade trees and more blooming plants. Hovers flitted over their heads, like liquid quick, shimmering clouds. The pedway was made of a surface with the texture of new concrete, but prettier, a delicately mottled light brown, almost pink. It reminded her of pink marble. There were actual humans—they weren’t quite perfect enough to be androids—trimming the plants along the side, which was a surprise. Past the greenery that lined the pedway, she could see Shinar’s buildings: lovely, organically shaped white towers with flowers and greenery spilling over balconies on every floor. It almost seemed that they were walking through a lush, forested canyon, not a city.

      “The Bestiary is in walking distance,” Sixty said. “It’s famous throughout the galaxy. I thought we’d go there.”

      Volka nodded. The city looked natural…was God only nature? He couldn’t be. God had saved her life, kept her from falling into complete despair when she was orphaned and when Alaric left her. God’s rules had propelled her to save Alexis, even though the woman despised her. What sort of person would she be without her belief in God? She didn’t even have to ponder—she knew she’d be a dead person. It was faith that compelled her to save Sixty, who’d then saved her. God’s rules had made her a better person—but did everyone need God’s rules? Sixty was an atheist and he was moral...but that was by programming. Alaric was a better example of principled atheism. He’d left her, but he’d had to choose between her and relatives who were much poorer than Volka’s weere parents had been. Was their romance worth more than his family’s survival? She couldn’t say so. But when it counted, Alaric had risked his life to save her, and he, along with Archbishop Sato, had risked their lives to protect all humanity. Alaric hadn’t done any of that out of a belief in God or of a reward in heaven. Volka believed in a heaven—not as a place in the clouds, but as something more. She didn’t feel that death was the end of everything. But she also believed that heaven was a place in the here and now, and that hell was a guilty conscience. Alaric felt that conscience, too. The Three Books said that non-believers who lived good lives would have the opportunity to repent after death. Alaric would come to heaven.

      She looked up at Sixty. By a random twist of evolution or God, Carl could eat tofu, and Sixty was holding up a piece he’d snagged from the breakfast table, trying to tempt Carl to eat.

      What about androids? God was good, she was sure of it, so Sixty would be allowed into heaven, too. Her brow furrowed. He’d find the whole trajectory of her thinking completely illogical.

      “What?” he asked, as though he were the telepathic one.

      “You’re an atheist, and yet you’re here on behalf of a man institutionalized for his religious beliefs. Why?”

      He shrugged. “I regard religion as…sort of a mostly vestigial organ.”

      “A mostly vestigial organ?” Volka blurted.

      “Like wisdom teeth,” Sixty said. “Or maybe more like an appendix—which can be useful in places where access to probiotic infusions isn’t practical.”

      “I have no idea what you’re talking about,” Volka admitted, ears flicking in annoyance at her ignorance.

      “Well, an appendix is a repository of beneficial gut bacteria so that in the event of illness there is always a population of good bacteria to—”

      “No, I mean about religion being a vestigial organ,” Volka interjected before the inevitable data dump.

      “Oh.” Sixty looked at the brilliant blue sky. “Feelings of religiosity or spirituality happen because humans have a region in their brains, the left parietal lobe, that is designed to experience those sensations.”

      Volka’s ears perked. “Because God is real.”

      He gave her a sideways glance. “The left parietal lobe is activated by watching favorite sports teams, too. Do you think that is properly devout?”

      Volka’s ears went back.

      Sixty sighed. “Look, I say it is mostly vestigial because humans who are spiritual or religious, who experience activity in that brain region, are more resistant to stress and less likely to become depressed. It has use.”

      “But in your opinion, the left parietal lobe isn’t like the occipital lobe which allows us to see.” She was a little bit proud that she knew that. She’d learned it from Silas, actually, who was always anxious about slipping down the stairs, banging his head, losing his vision, and being “a blow to the head away from penury!”

      Sixty glanced at her again. Did she imagine this time his glance was pitying? “The occipital lobe technically allows you to process what you see. But, you’re right; I don’t think the left parietal lobe is processing information on a real phenomenon.” He tilted his head. “But it is wrong to remove something that is vestigial without counter indicators. We don’t remove appendixes without good reason, and even wisdom teeth aren’t removed in populations native to high gravity environments who have wider jaws. Unless someone is using religion as a justification for hurting others, it shouldn’t result in what is de facto incarceration due most likely to political motivations.”

      Volka’s ears perked. “Political what?”

      “You didn’t download data on the man we are here to rescue?” Sixty asked.

      Volka shook her head and realized everyone else had probably done so immediately, with a thought. She hadn’t thought to ask Bracelet—

      Sixty’s eyes took on the empty data dump look. “Anderson Okoro has a degree in astro-engineering and was a Ph.D. candidate in theoretical physics at Shinar University. He spent four years in that program. The professor who was his supervisor died three days before his defense. His defense was rejected by committee, he never earned his Ph.D., and he walked out of said defense, right into the Consulate and a Fleet recruiter’s office. Fleet saw the value of his and his supervisor’s work and took him in as a civilian researcher. That was over twenty years ago. During that time, as his work with Fleet became more widely known, Shinar University offered to grant him his Ph.D. He turned them down saying that his thesis rejection was politically motivated, and the ex post facto Ph. D was too, and he didn’t want any part of it. This was his first trip back since he left.”

      Volka blinked, piecing that together. Alaric had dreamed of getting a Ph.D. in computer science back before he’d been forced into the Guard by his extended family, and it sounded like the process of getting one in Shinar wasn’t that much different than on Luddeccea. Clasping her hands behind her back, Volka paraphrased Alaric, “A Ph.D. thesis is a tremendous undertaking for the candidate and supervisor. The topic would first have to be approved—multiple times before the thesis was even begun, let alone before the final defense—at least on Luddeccea.”

      “It works the same here,” Sixty said, still trying to tempt Carl to eat the tofu.

      Her brow furrowed. “No true Ph.D. candidate would just walk out of his defense and head to Fleet offices. He’d revise, redo—”

      “Well, he did walk out. Ran out, really. Literally, minutes later he showed up at the Consulate, out of breath,” Sixty replied distractedly.

      Volka felt a chill. Anderson Okoro’s supervisor had died, he’d fled, and then he hadn’t come back to Shinar for decades? She halted. “Do you think he feared for his life?”

      Sixty froze and he gaped at her. “Well, I’m thinking about it now!” Of course, someone programmed not to kill wouldn’t think of foul play first thing. He looked traumatized, and she wanted to reach out and touch him…she almost did, and then she heard a faint plop. Following the sound, she saw a drop of crimson on the pedway. A trickle of synth blood was emerging from Sixty’s clenched fist.

      “Sixty,” she whispered, hand reaching for his.

      Pulling away, he said, “The software upgrade…I’m still beta testing.”

      She looked up at him, her eyes wide now. He had gotten the software update…but wait, the destruction in the forest, he hadn’t done that. Had he?

      “Nothing to worry about. Very routine. Please don’t worry,” Sixty said, pulling out a tissue.

      Her mouth felt dry. She wanted to ask about the forest…Or did she want to? He was frantically dabbing his hand with the tissue. He was upset. The upgrade had perhaps made him knock down some trees. Maybe he just needed to test his mobility and strength? He was obviously embarrassed. She decided she didn’t need to ask. Her fingers itched to touch him, though, to let him know it was all right, that he was all right. Her hand lifted, but ducking his head, Sixty turned away, mumbling, “Dr. Andrea Kirkpatrick, Okoro’s supervisor died of anaphylactic shock at the age of fifty-eight.”

      Which was young…even on Luddeccea.

      “No foul play was even suspected,” Sixty added weakly, eyes scanning empty air.

      On Volka’s wrist, Bracelet made a noise that sounded suspiciously like she was clearing a throat she didn’t have. “If I may be so bold…since Okoro’s public refusal of the ex post facto Ph.D., the value of a Shinar Ph.D. has decreased. There have been less extra-planetary applicants to Shinar University—the major income source for the institution—and how they funded the education of residents. Also, unemployment, although still low by Galactic standards, has risen as fewer Shinar Ph.D.’s are able to get employment off world. One of the reasons it has not risen more than it has is that the Shinar government has decommissioned service robots and replaced them with humans.” She made a clucking noise. “How interesting…in many circles, a rejected Shinar Ph.D. defense is more valuable than a granted Ph.D.! Human behavior is so fascinating and strange.”

      Volka’s eyes flicked to a man trimming a hedgerow. He happened to turn at her gaze, and her eyes fell to the name badge embroidered on his neat blue coveralls. “Jim Zhu, Ph.D. in Topiary Design.” She blinked. He smiled, tipped his hat, and resumed trimming the hedge. Volka eyed the pedway. It was lovely, but not lovelier than the public gardens on Luddeccea.

      Her ears swiveled to the sound of hover engines humming in their descent cycle. Dozens of the vehicles appeared to be landing behind the hedge on her right. The pedway began to curve, and behind the hedge on the left, a white stucco wall gradually rose to nearly three stories high. Squinting at the sky above the wall, she noticed it glinted…almost as though it were covered by an invisible dome.

      “We’re nearly at The Bestiary,” Sixty said.

      Ahead, Volka saw what must be a break in the hedge wall. People were streaming across the path, crossing from the right where there must be hover parking, and disappearing on the left.

      They made their way toward the crowd in silence. Volka’s mind was still tumbling over the mystery of Dr. Andrea Kirkpatrick’s death, Okoro’s sudden dropping of his thesis defense and effectively fleeing the planet and not coming back for decades. His mother had been dying. Volka could see how he might return and might even have convinced himself that the fear he’d experienced in that initial flight had been overblown. Foul play hadn’t even been suspected. Could the admiral perhaps open an investigation into that matter? Or maybe threaten to, in order to pressure for Okoro’s release? She’d ask her tonight.

      To Sixty, she admitted, “Politics ruins so many things. Even among people who are supposedly religious.” Luddeccean politics had set her on the run and nearly cost her her life.

      Sixty looked down at her, expression serious. “But politics also tamed this planet’s volcano and built the Bestiary. Maybe it’s all in the intent?”

      Her ears flicked, thinking about that, and Sixty said, “We’re nearly at the Pearly Gates.”

      She lifted an eyebrow. He winked at her and looked ahead. Volka followed his gaze, and in a break in the hedge wall saw a pair of gates flung wide open. On an arch above them was inscribed, The Bestiary ~ Pearly Gates Entrance A few more steps and they were there. The gates certainly looked like they were made from mother-of-pearl. Carved with a scene of a garden with an apple tree, their surface was gleaming white with flecks of blue and purple. Just beyond the gates were humans dressed as angels. They stood on either side of a wide walkway—security, perhaps? They had blonde hair like James’s, but brown eyes, less pointy noses, and fuller lips. They were handsome and nearly identical. She wondered if plastic surgery was a prerequisite for the job. Light shone from behind their heads. If Volka had just arrived from Luddeccea yesterday, she might have been impressed; instead, she found herself faintly insulted. They were using her religion as entertainment, for a sort of amusement park, which wasn’t so bad, but they incarcerated people who openly believed in said religion.

      Sixty said, “I hear the Ice Gate is more spectacular—there are yetis, woolly mammoths, and dire wolves there. The Fire Gate has the dragon. But those are on other sides of the park.”

      Dire wolves? Dragon? Volka’s ears perked.

      A few steps in front of them, there was a human behind a podium emblazoned with the words Saint Peter. “Saint Peter” had a long white beard and was dressed in white robes. As guests filed inside, he called out, “Tickets, please.”

      Sixty tapped his head, his eyes went vacant, and the man said, “Welcome.” Carl was fortunately mostly tucked under Sixty’s collar, and “Saint Peter” didn’t give them a lecture about needing a leash.

      The walk bifurcated before another row of hedges just inside the entrance. Sixty guided her right. At first, it didn’t look much different than the pedway, though there was a noticeable lack of hovers overhead. Volka squinted and noticed they seemed to be in some sort of enclosed dome. It was almost invisible, but here and there she caught a faint shine and a distortion in the few clouds above, as though light was filtering through glass beads…

      A faint buzzing and high-pitched laughter filled Volka’s ears. She took a breath, prepared to ask, but in the next minute she and the other patrons were swarmed by birds and butterflies with colorful, iridescent wings, each about the size of a hand spread. The creatures breezed past the crowd, rose and returned, and one stopped and hovered in front of Volka. Her eyes went wide. It wasn’t a bird or butterfly—

      “Fairies,” cried a child. “Are they alive?”

      Volka inhaled and smelled metal, plastic, and synth skin. It was a machine hovering in front of her nose, but it was a beautiful machine. It had a body shaped like a human woman in exquisite miniature, only a little longer than one of Volka’s fingers. The fairy-doll-machine had violet hair and eyes, pink rosebud lips, a pert little nose, and tan skin. She wore a dress made of leaves and flower petals. Some of the fairies had bird wings, but the one in front of Volka had wings a bit like a butterfly, though shimmering and translucent instead of colorful.

      “Hello,” Volka breathed, holding out a finger as though to a bird.

      Alighting upon it, the tiny woman giggled and threw out her arms. “Welcome to the Bestiary!”

      The tiny machine was artwork in motion, and Volka focused, trying to send her image to Sundancer—the ship, she’d noticed, liked animals and machines that could fly. She felt a flood of happiness from the ship and couldn’t help but smile—both at Sundancer’s interest and the charm of the mechanical fairy. Bowing, Volka said, “Thank you, ma’am. What is your name?”

      The fairy curtseyed deeply. “I am Brynhildr.” Rising, she pulled a pin from a tiny scabbard. “I am the slayer of mice, rats, and other vermin that try to infiltrate the Bestiary. I serve the mighty Queen of the Fairies, Freyja herself!”

      Volka licked her lips at the thought of warm, dead rats. “Very pleased to meet you, Brynhildr. I wish we could hunt together.”

      Over Brynhildr’s head, Volka saw Sixty roll his eyes, but he was smiling.

      “T’would be an honor, ma’am!” Brynhildr declared.

      From behind Volka came a human cry of, “Ouch! It electrocuted me.”

      Raising her pin-sword, Brynhildr shouted, “Some foul fiend has pulled a fairy wing! I must depart!” The tiny fairy-machine leapt into the air, her wings buzzing so fast they were nothing more than a shimmer of light. Brynhildr vanished. Around the guests, other fairies departed, and a little girl grumbled, “Someone pulled a wing. Didn’t they read the script? When that happens, they all leave. Jerk.”

      “Yeah, jerk!” said another small child voice.

      “Hush,” said the voice of an adult, though Volka was barely listening. With Brynhildr gone, she found herself staring at Sixty. There was the faintest of smiles on his lips, and the barest of a dimple on his cheek. He was designed by an artist, too. But he was more than an artwork. He didn’t follow a “script.”

      Inclining his head down the path, he said, “Come on, there’s more.”

      Volka fell into step with him. Underneath Sixty’s collar, Carl gave a sad little squeak.

      “Carl?” she whispered. “There were fairies.”

      “Not edible. Not interested,” Carl replied.

      Sixty cast a worried look in Volka’s direction. Volka shook her head sadly…and then the wind changed, and she picked up new scents that did not belong to machines, but to red blooded, edible animals. Her feet picked up speed, and in that moment the Dark really did seem far away.

      “I think you’ll like the next exhibit,” Sixty said cryptically, giving her a smirk.

      She knew she would. Within a few more steps they were beyond the hedge, and she saw what her nose had noticed moments ago. Hidden behind the hedge was a meadow, and in the center of it were creatures she recognized from books of fairy tales in Mr. Darmadi’s library. “Unicorns!” she exclaimed. There was a whole herd of them, and they were just as they’d been illustrated in the book: the color of moonbeams, lithe and slender as deer with a single, faintly glowing spiral horn atop their foreheads. “How? I thought they were myths!”

      “They were only myths,” Sixty replied. “They were brought to life with genetic engineering.” He canted his head. “They’re cowering. Probably from me. I am the opposite of a virgin.”

      Volka huffed and bit back a smile.

      The unicorns were clustered together at the center of the meadow, stamping their feet. Volka moved steadily over the grass toward them, inhaling deeply. No one called her back. The unicorns showed absolutely no sign of fear of her, but they were upset by something, rolling their eyes and staying packed tightly together. She licked her lips.

      Sixty’s footsteps were loud in the sod behind her. “Are you stalking them?”

      “No, I …” Volka checked her stance. Halting, face flushing, she looked up at him. “I…I was…stalking them.” She bit her lip and rolled on her heels. “I haven’t had breakfast and they smell delicious.”

      Sixty’s face was set in his serious General expression. “That wasn’t the reaction I was expecting—”

      Volka rubbed her arm. “They are pretty, too. Really, they are. Magical. So were the fairies, and I can’t wait to see the dragon.”  Her lips pursed. It was all magical, and even, dare she say, romantic. She had half an inkling to jokingly ask Sixty if he was courting her. She blinked. In No Weere, he’d said the onset of her season hadn’t let him court her properly. Was he courting her now?

      General Sixty lifted an eyebrow. “Pretty delicious?” The angelic smile returned. “I’m glad you’re enjoying yourself—”

      Carl cut him off with a loud squeak. The unicorns snorted and bugled.

      “What’s wrong?” someone cried from the pedway.

      In the distance, Volka heard a sound like thunder, though there was not a cloud in the sky—though it did sparkle oddly. The sound approached them, the rumble becoming a roar. Around them people started to scream, and the sparkles in the sky rippled like water. Was it some sort of globe above them?

      Before she could ask, the ground beneath her shook and she threw out her arms, desperately trying to keep from falling.
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      The “holobead” dome above Shinar’s Bestiary Park didn’t just prevent passing hovers from stealing free peeks into the park while keeping dragons, manticore, and other genetically created winged beasts inside. It also assured the park was always sunny and temperate. 6T9 couldn’t see outside the dome, but the local ethernet assured him that the skies outside the dome were sunny as they appeared to be. Yet thunder was rumbling and rolling, bearing down upon them. It wasn’t artillery, he knew that, but the knowledge gave him no comfort; he’d know what to do if it was artillery.

      Carl squeaked pitifully, and his claws dug into 6T9’s shoulders. Humans screamed, unicorns did too, and then 6T9’s vestibular system went offline. His legs wobbled as he lost his balance, and the hedges tipped sideways in his vision.

      “The earth is moving!” Volka cried.

      Which was when 6T9 realized his vestibular system was fine. The hedges by the walkway were tipping sideways, and the ground beneath his feet was rising. Volka’s lighter body nearly tumbled over. 6T9 grabbed her by the arm and Carl by the tail, making the werfle squeal. He dragged them both down the slope rising beneath them, tipping the meadow at a near forty-five-degree angle…and then the tremor was past, but he could hear it rolling on through the city.

      “Are you all right?” Volka asked. “That couldn’t have been scheduled maintenance…could it?”

      6T9 could just see the tops of the unicorns’ heads on the other side of the rise that had formed. An earthquake that lifted the ground would wreak havoc on human structures. His eyes lifted to the holobead dome, and his Q-comm hummed, analyzing the force of the quake and how it would impact the Bestiary’s structure.

      “Sixty, please let me go,” Volka whispered.

      6T9’s Q-comm flashed white. Seconds later, his vision came back to him. He was leaning over Volka, his back parallel to the sky, one arm wrapped around her waist, pressing her into a crouch. He was grasping Carl by the tail with the other hand, and the werfle was squealing piteously.

      Grabbing the crying Carl, Volka started to speak. “What is—?”

      A thump sounded beside them, sending sod and grass flying, and then another, and another. The sources of the impact were the dome’s fist-sized holobeads. Screams rose around them—human and unicorn. An impact hard enough to fracture Volka’s spine hit his shoulder.

      From Volka’s wrist, Bracelet chirped, “May I just say, this is exactly the kind of adventure that makes me glad I don’t have a body.”

      Another impact hit the back of 6T9’s head, rattling his teeth. Nebulas, just when he needed his Q-comm the most, he was going to lose it! Of all the petty injustices in the universe …

      Wait. When did his non-Q-comm self think about petty injustices? Was he still himself? “Give me a metaphor!” 6T9 shouted as holobeads pelted the ground like hail.

      “Give you a what?” Volka asked.

      “Are you a few monkeys short of a barrel, Sixty?” Carl squeaked.

      6T9 laughed in relief and pulled Volka to him more tightly, resting his chin on the top of her head. “I still have my Q-comm; it’s still in place. I was hit on the back of the head—”

      “And you’re still not the sharpest cookie in the shed,” Carl quipped.

      “—and I understand that!” 6T9 exclaimed. “It still works!”

      Volka gasped. “I’m over cloud sixty-nine for you, but I think you can let us go now.”

      6T9 blinked. Her body was pressed too tightly to him—she probably wasn’t able to breathe properly. She was conscious, she sounded unhurt, and there were no more falling holobeads. Where her body touched his, sensors came to life. He let her go quickly before he had a hardware malfunction.

      A child cried, “Is that unicorn dead?”

      There were probably injuries among humans and beasts alike, but as Volka unbowed and turned toward him, he almost laughed with relief. Clutching Carl to her, she didn’t share his joy. “We should see if there are any injured,” she said and began striding across the grass.

      6T9’s circuits flickered, and he froze. That should have been his first thought.

      “We should get Sundancer and go home!” Carl said.

      Volka stopped mid-stride and held the werfle out in front of her. “Do you think there is more danger, Carl?”

      His whiskers twitched, and his tiny ears went flat. “It’s not a thinking, Volka, it’s a feeling. I feel better than before but…” He put two paws over his nose. “I’m sorry I couldn’t predict this, Hatchling. I’ve never felt something quite like this before. My whiskers still feel wrong, even if I feel better, and I don’t know if it is just from being wound up all morning.”

      6T9’s systems stabilized. He connected to the ether and jogged over to Volka and Carl. “The earthquake is being reported as high as 9.1 on the Richter scale, but some stations say that’s a mistake, that it can’t have happened—”

      “They say it couldn’t have happened?” Volka asked.

      His Q-comm sparked as he scanned downloaded data. Shinar commentators were arguing whether or not the quake that just raised the ground and broke the dome was real or a rumor fed by doctored ether vids. He couldn’t wonder about that. “There could be severe aftershocks.” His attention left the ether and came back to the real world. Standing behind Volka, his eyes went to the orange werfle, still dangling in Volka’s hands. “Carl, your tail!” It was clearly broken at exactly the spot 6T9 had grabbed it.

      Carl tucked his tail toward his tummy and grasped it with his bottom paws. “It’s nothing.”

      “I broke it!” 6T9 said.

      Whiskers twitching, Carl shook his head. “I really don’t have many nerve endings there—”

      “You squeaked in pain,” 6T9 protested. He hadn’t noticed, minutes ago, but reviewing what happened, it was clear.

      “You saved my life!” Carl hissed and then smoothed his whiskers. “Or at least this body’s life. It would have been very inconvenient if I’d been hit by one of those glass-techno-hail balls.”

      “Do you need it set, Carl?” Volka asked.

      Over the rise created by the quake, 6T9 saw med ‘bots hovering in and vet ‘bots for the unicorns.

      “No, let’s just get out of here,” Carl replied.

      “After we check on the humans,” Volka replied, putting Carl on her shoulder and walking up the new slope in the meadow.

      Frozen in shock once again, 6T9’s eyes dropped to Volka’s arm that he’d squeezed a moment ago. A vivid red mark was visible just below her sleeve.

      At the top of the rise, Volka paused. “Oh,” she said, looking down.

      6T9 looked over her shoulder, and down a 3.33 meter cliff created by the quake. In front of Volka, Carl, and 6T9 was a crevasse—a deep ochre scar in the clover studded grass. “Please remain calm!” a med ‘bot said. There were med ‘bots hovering among the humans—and vet ‘bots with the unicorns. There was a man on the ground, possibly unconscious or worse. A woman was cradling her arm, other people were sitting on the ground, one man was turning in slow circles—a concussion, maybe? 6T9 could hop across, but he wanted to stay with Volka.

      6T9’s ethernet pinged with a call from Lieutenant Young, but he was transfixed by the sight of the injured humans. His feet hadn’t moved on their own. He was allowed to stay with Volka. He should be ashamed, but he was relieved. And then another thought occurred to him…could he leave Volka? The urge to stay beside her was so strong—had he traded one set of unbreakable rules for another?

      On Volka’s wrist, Bracelet coughed. “Miss Volka, one of the new winky-wink Consular staff winky-wink is trying to reach you. He wants you to bring Sundancer to the Consulate immediately.”

      Carl snorted. “Winky-wink?”

      Bracelet sniffed. “I know how to be discreet.”

      Volka looked down at her wrist. “Do you know what it is about?”

      “Not officially,” Bracelet replied. “I do kind of wonder if it is related to this little event I picked up on restricted surveillance channels just two minutes ago.” From Bracelet’s apex a holo appeared. In the holo, a middle-aged woman with mussy, gray-streaked hair, wearing a long white coat in what looked like a lab of some sort appeared. “My research predicted this would happen, and you refused to publish it. That was a 9.1 quake, just as I predicted. It will be followed by an eruption of Mt. Enmerker within fifteen hours. My God, we have to warn people!”

      A man’s voice rose out of the holo-camera’s view. “God, Darlene? Are you trying to incite people?”

      The woman who must be Darlene lifted her hands and dropped them to her sides. “It was a figure of speech—”

      “Security, get her to help, immediately!”

      “What?” Darlene cried. There was the buzz of a stunner, and she fell from the camera’s view.

      “Trying to create a panic,” the man’s voice declared, and the holo vanished.

      There was a moment of deep hush. There had been crying on the other side of the meadow, and soft utterances of reassurance by humans and med ‘bots. All those noises had stopped. No one said a word. And then a cloud passed over the sun, and a roar sounded overhead.

      “Dragon!” cried Volka.

      6T9 looked up. Sure enough, a great, crimson-scaled creature was flapping above them. It had a long slender neck, a bulky head, whip-like tail, and impossibly wide leathery wings that ruffled his hair with their downdraft as it passed over. Moments later, it flew through the shattered holodome and over the boundary wall that separated the park from the rest of Shinar, sending hovers scrambling to clear its path. The unicorns screamed and charged en masse toward a place fifty meters down the crevasse where the cut in the earth wasn’t as deep. They charged down into the ditch, up the slope on the other side, and exited through a hole in the shrubs. Humans began to scream, and then ran, following the unicorns.

      “Sundancer is on her way,” Volka said.

      6T9 grabbed her arm and pulled her close before he’d remembered that he’d just hurt her. Another shadow passed over the sun. “She’s—” Here, he almost said, but the shapes passing overhead were not their starship.

      “What are those?” whispered Volka, huddling against him. Her fingers gently prying his own fingers loose.

      He relaxed his hold but didn’t let her go.

      “Manticore,” he whispered as the pride of lions with bat wings and scorpion tails passed overhead, following in the wake of the dragon.

      “Can we leave?” Carl squeaked.

      “Sundancer is here now,” Volka replied just as a new shadow appeared overhead. An instant later, they, and a portion of the ground they’d been standing on, were in a pearlescent-hued ovoid room—Sundancer’s bridge.

      “We’re going to get in big trouble for this,” Bracelet said. “Listen to what the Local Guard channel is broadcasting!”

      A strange man’s voice echoed from Bracelet into the small space. “Intercept that ship! Be prepared to fire phaser—”

      “Bracelet, cut transmission!” 6T9 ordered. “Show the embassy. Volka—”

      “Imagining it,” she whispered.

      “Yes, sir!” said Bracelet.

      Sundancer began to accelerate. And for a moment, 6T9 relaxed. But then, on Volka’s shoulders, Carl whimpered…because he was frightened or because of his broken tail? 6T9 took a step back and wished he hadn’t. Both of Volka’s arms were marked by vivid bruises in the shapes of his hands. His Q-comm went white. James had told him not to rush to change his programming, but he’d seen enough. Scowling, he tuned out the real world and rushed into his code and began an update.
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      Sundancer’s interior became translucent. For a moment, Volka saw the blue of Shinar’s sky, and then phaser fire rippled over the hull above her. Harmlessly, but just for a moment, Volka’s breath caught. They had been fired upon, and that blast would have downed a regular vessel. She looked between her feet. They were hovering above the Consulate garden. Motion at Volka’s eye level, perhaps twenty meters above the ground, caught her attention. A hover was racing toward them on a collision course. She wasn’t worried for Sundancer. The people in the hover, however…

      A whir came from Sixty. She looked over at him. His eyes were open and vacant, empty like they were when he booted up. His body jerked. Blinking rapidly, he touched his temple. “James and Noa are in the hover; they’re heading for the Consulate.” At his words, the hover lowered at a dangerous angle and came to a halt. A moment later, two vertical doors on the vehicle opened like a beetle raising its wings. James and Noa jumped to the ground at the garden’s edge and disappeared beneath the trees. Racing out from the embassy, directly toward the spot just below Sundancer, were the “Consular staff” that had come with Noa, carrying their metal suitcases. Volka blinked, and the staff shimmered like pavement on a hot day, and suddenly their typical business attire was replaced by Fleet Marine envirosuits. It made everything but their uncovered faces nearly invisible. Their faces shimmered too, and she recognized Lieutenant Young and other members of the team. Noa and James joined the staff, their own bodies shimmering, revealing armor. Volka belatedly realized what she should have grasped at the beginning. Focusing her mind, she pictured all the Marines, Noa, and James aboard.

      Sundancer lowered, translucent hull becoming pearly, and an iris opening appeared at Volka’s toes, perhaps two meters wide. Sixty pulled her back, this time gently. “I won’t hurt you again,” he whispered. “Even by accident. I made sure.”

      Before she could ask, James and one of the Marines leaped vertically nearly three meters, landing on the bridge with thumps that reverberated in Volka’s soles. Their armor instantly shifted from the greens of the garden to the ivory of Sundancer’s hull. James’s pale eyes scanned the bridge. His face, she noted, had been repaired. He nodded at her and Sixty and gestured to the team below. Seconds later, Noa was aboard. Sundancer was in the process of lowering, and it hadn’t been a three-meter jump, but the leap had been straight vertical, and Noa’s jump had been as easy and as powerful as a young man’s. Volka hadn’t realized Noa’s augments were that extensive. The rest of the Marines followed her. As the three new Marines came in, James introduced them. There was a female Marine, nearly as tall as Sixty, with short white hair, but youthful complexion. She had a strong jaw and wore no makeup; if it wasn’t for the relative thinness of her waist, the flare of her hips, and her scent, Volka wouldn’t have known she was female. “Sharon Rhinehart, our new munitions expert.” He named the other two, and Volka promptly forgot what he’d called them. One was a doctor, though.

      The iris opening silently closed, and the hull became transparent again. Holding a tablet, one of the Marines said, “Local ethernet established.”

      Admiral Sato’s dark eyes were focused above them. Volka followed her gaze through the ceiling and saw a small fleet of hovercraft there. All were blue and white with an emblem on their undersides that read, Shinar Local Guard.

      Eyes on the hovers, Noa commanded, “Speak instructions aloud and route all incoming through audio. Volka doesn’t have a neural port.”

      “Yes, Admiral,” was the reply that Volka just barely heard before there was a hiss of static from the tablet. Through its speaker came the voice of the same man who had warned them that they would be fired upon. “Admiral Sato, you have boarded an unauthorized vehicle.”

      “Colonel, during an emergency, Fleet vessels are authorized to enter atmosphere of Republic colonies without exception to retrieve Fleet assets.”

      “That is not a Fleet vessel,” the colonel replied, a waver in his voice.

      Noa replied smoothly, “Despite this ship’s unique configuration, she is being utilized by Fleet, and is therefore a Fleet vessel and authorized. If you would like, I can read you the exact regulation.”

      “That will not be necessary, but the emergency is over,” the colonel insisted. “You can return her to dock.” There was something in his words, something almost…pleading. Volka got the sense that he hoped by saying there was no further emergency, he could make it true. Like a child reciting a prayer.

      “According to Fleet command, the emergency is not over. They estimate there is an 89.87 percent chance your volcano will erupt in less than twenty-four hours,” Noa said. “Colonel, you would be better serving your people if you prepared them to evacuate.”

      There was a hiss of static before the colonel replied, “We’ll take that under advisement.”

      The tablet went silent, and the man holding it said, “The connection ended, Admiral.”

      Above their heads, more Shinar Local Guard ships arrived. Noa scowled, but lowered her eyes and said, “Volka, we have another place we need to go. I’m sending data to Bracelet. Will you please play it for Sundancer?”

      Volka nodded. “Of course.”

      “Got it and playing it,” Bracelet declared, and a moment later a hologram projected from her surface. At first, it just showed the city of Shinar and the volcano, but then it zoomed in, closer to the peak, to a drab gray building about eleven stories tall with high, barbed wire lined walls on its roof. There were more such walls on the ground surrounding the building, and in between those outer walls and the building proper was a yard of concrete.

      “A fortress?” Volka murmured.

      “A hospital for the criminally insane,” Sixty said over her shoulder, so close she could feel his breath on her ear. A frown was audible in his tone. For a moment, she expected to hear the plop of synth blood on the deck, but it didn’t come.

      “That is where they are keeping Mr. Okoro?” Volka asked, her voice wavering. “It looks like a prison.”

      “Shinar doesn’t have prisons,” Noa said, her voice frighteningly cold. “Ordinary criminals live on rehabilitation islands in quaint old-fashioned cottages, with access to fresh air and freedom of movement.”

      Volka’s ears folded. “Oh.”

      The holo zoomed in to the rooftop. In between the dark,  barbed wire on the walls, there were poles that shone very brightly. Volka blinked, and one of the poles moved smoothly on a track.

      “Robo sentries,” Sixty said.

      “Yes,” Noa said. She took a deep breath. “Volka, I had hoped that this wouldn’t come up, but with the earthquake—”

      “Do you need my help breaking Okoro out of there?” Volka asked. “Because I will. Sundancer will.” Volka had armor like the Marines’ in the back. She could be suited up in just a few minutes.

      She saw the faintest sparkle in Noa’s eyes. “Thank you, Volka—”

      Sixty had stepped toward Noa, his face hard and cold. Eyes on him, Noa said, “I’ll need you, Carl, and Sixty to stay in the ship to keep her ready to depart.”

      Sixty’s shoulders relaxed a fraction. Volka’s ears went back. She didn’t really want to go in, but her nose and her aim might be helpful. Still, Noa was right. She would probably be most useful aboard Sundancer. On her shoulder, Carl was grooming his whiskers nervously. He might not be helpful anywhere at the moment.

      Noa inclined her head toward the rooftop. “The sentries are authorized to fire phasers—that shouldn’t be a problem for Sundancer. We’ll be able to disable them and then take the roof. That is, if the Shinar Prime Minister doesn’t recognize our authority and grant us admittance in this emergency situation.” Her gaze flicked to James.

      Hand on his temple, James shook his head. “The Fleet is in orbit, ready to help with evacuation of the entire population, but the prime minister is claiming that the aid isn’t needed.” He frowned. “If Fleet comes in without local acknowledgement of an emergency, Shinar can open fire. There could be loss of life on both sides.”

      There was a moment of silence on the bridge. Volka remembered “Darlene,” the scientist Bracelet had shown her in the holo, predicting a volcanic eruption within hours, just like Noa had. How many people would be endangered by a failure to evacuate? And how could different sets of scientists have such different views? How could they be arguing about this when there were worse enemies out there—?

      Noa interrupted her thoughts. “We’re rescuing Okoro. The lawyers can sort it out later. Let’s get this done.”

      “Volka, would you let Sundancer know where we need to be?” James asked.

      Saving Okoro was about more than the people of Shinar. Closing her eyes, Volka nodded. “Letting Sundancer know.” In her mind, she pictured the hospital-prison-fortress. There was a flicker behind her eyelids, and she felt Sundancer accelerate.

      “The locals aren’t firing,” someone said.

      Noa replied, “I am sure the Local Guard is about as happy with this standoff as we are.”

      The tablet hissed to life, and the Shinar Colonel’s voice came on again. “Admiral Sato, with all due respect, there has been no official emergency declared. I am ordered to insist you leave atmosphere at once.” He sounded so unhappy Volka felt sorry for him.

      Opening her eyes, she found the rooftop of the “hospital” rapidly approaching. They were being trailed by the Shinar Local Guard hovers, still holding fire.

      “Colonel,” Noa answered, her voice filled with resolve, as though she were trying to impart that resolve to him. “I urge you to insist your superiors to begin issuing a general evac order.”

      Carl chittered and ran paws through his whiskers.

      There was a conspicuous silence from the colonel as Sundancer lowered to the rooftop of the hospital. Phaser fire arced off her hull, shot by the sentry ‘bots on the rooftop wall. Volka could also see a sort of turret on one corner of the roof that had a door.

      “At the very least,” Noa reasoned, “you could move your people into position. You can’t stop our team, Colonel. We will retrieve our asset, and we have legal grounds to do so, no matter what your authorities say. I know you know that. I also know you’re only obligated to follow all appropriate orders.”

      There was a moment of static.

      “And Fleet is always recruiting,” the colonel said.

      “You know we are,” Noa replied, her voice gentle.

      It took Volka a moment, but then she realized what she was hearing was code. If I back down, I’m as good as discharged, was what the colonel was saying. She held her breath. The faint hiss of the tablet vanished. Above them, the hovers of the Local Guard moved away.

      “Good man,” Noa murmured.

      Volka’s lips parted. He wouldn’t just be discharged—he’d be tried, maybe found guilty. She thought of Darlene imprisoned after correctly predicting the earthquake—he might be found guilty even if the volcano did erupt.

      To one of the men—Ramirez was his name; Volka remembered him from System 33—Noa said, “Ready?” Ramirez was holding a phaser rifle with a peculiar shaped stock upside down.

      “Yes, Admiral.”

      To Volka, Noa said, “Keep Sundancer two meters above the rooftop and keep her open. Corporal Jerome will stay here on comm. We’ll have a fireteam posted on the roof. The rest of us are going inside.”

      Volka’s ears flicked. “I thought admirals didn’t get to do the fun stuff,” she blurted. At least according to her paperback education, admirals did boring paperwork most of the time.

      There were a few chuckles around the bridge.

      Noa grinned. “No, we don’t normally.” She sighed. “But this won’t be fun. We may have a brief standoff with hospital security. Legally, they can only be armed with stunners in a hospital. Our suits can withstand stunners—we’ll be fine even if there is a misunderstanding. After checking my credentials and the relevant regs, they’ll release Okoro into our custody as quickly as possible.”

      “If they don’t?” asked Sixty.

      “We’re prepared for that, too,” Noa said. She held up a stunner pistol, and Volka noticed that all the Marines were carrying stunners, not phasers. They should still work; normal police and security officers didn’t have the elaborate suits that Fleet did. Still…her ears flattened.

      Noa inclined her head, face serious again, and Volka realized that she needed to act. Closing her eyes, she pictured the floor opening. She felt a breeze rushing in and smelled  concrete. Opening her eyes, she found the iris exit wide open and the hull once more opaque. Ramirez’s eyes had become vacant. He held his upside-down rifle over the opening. The stock elongated in less than a breath, almost until the barrel touched the ground. The muzzle angled upward several degrees, and then it spun and fired so rapidly it was a blur, releasing an oddly curved, blue-white beam. Metal screamed on the rooftop. Ramirez remained eerily silent, eyes still vacant, but as soon as the weapon stopped firing, James and four other Marines jumped down.

      “That wasn’t a phaser,” Volka whispered.

      “Electrical disruptor,” Noa said. “The sentries have just been effectively hit with lightning. They’ll be able to repair themselves shortly. The goal of this mission is to cause as little damage as possible and to make sure no one gets hurt.”

      A moment later, Volka heard a muffled explosion. “That was them blowing open the door,” Noa said, and grimaced. “That was the only thing we couldn’t figure out how to merely disable.”

      There were no words exchanged, but all of a sudden, all the Marines but Jerome jumped down. Noa was last. Winking at Volka, she said, “See, I didn’t get to do the fun stuff.” A moment later, Noa had disappeared beneath the ship.

      Jerome said, “They’re in.”

      Sixty moved between Volka and the opening. She couldn’t hear or see them, but she could smell Ramirez and three other members of the team just outside the ship. She also caught a whiff of metal, hot concrete, and more powerfully than in the Bestiary, the acrid scent of the volcano.

      “Now all we have to do is wait,” said Jerome.

      He sounded very assured, but Volka felt the hair on the back of her neck rise.

      Carl squeaked pitifully, and Volka scratched his chin.

      Sixty’s attention snapped to the werfle. “Carl, I can set your tail if—”

      Carl’s necklace crackled. “No, it’s not that. It’s my whiskers…and…the wave…something isn’t right.” So saying, he began frantically grooming his whiskers again.

      “Don’t worry,” Jerome said. “The admiral hoped this would be peaceful, but we did train for contingencies. They’ll be in and out in a maximum of…” His jaw got hard. He touched his port, and then scowled down at his tablet. “I’ve lost the team.” He tapped his port, his stare became vacant, and then the tablet hissed to life. Volka’s ears perked as a woman’s voice with the polished, professional tones of an announcer erupted from the device. “The unscheduled quake’s strength is in dispute. Of course everyone has seen the holos, but the chasm is, according to our experts, a doctored image—”

      Jerome tapped his port and the tablet cut off.

      Volka’s ears went back, processing the announcement.

      Sixty said, “If you have access to Shinar’s public ether but not the team—”

      Volka’s ears came forward again.

      Jerome met Sixty’s eyes. “Someone’s got a very effective, targeted, military-grade jammer in there.” He opened a suitcase and began rummaging through it. “I’ve got something for this. Just didn’t think we’d need it at a hospital.”

      On Volka’s shoulder, Carl began attacking his whiskers with such force he tumbled over, somersaulting in midair. Falling to her heels, Volka caught him with a gasp. He squeaked frantically, paws on his nose, and his necklace crackled, but it must have just been within the jammer’s range because there was so much static whatever he said aloud was unintelligible. Still, Volka heard him telepathically clear as the clink of crystal.

      She looked up at Sixty in alarm. “You have to go down there!”

      Across the bridge, Jerome said, “No. Just give me a minute—”

      In her mind, Carl repeated, “Send in 6T9! Send in 6T9!”

      Cradling the faintly squeaking Carl, Volka explained to Jerome, “But I hear Carl saying so in my mind.”

      “I don’t think 6T9 going in there is a good idea,” Jerome replied, attaching a black, metal, fist-sized cube to his tablet.

      Her face flushed. He didn’t believe her—Volka looked up at Sixty. “Sixty, tell him that I’m a little telepathic, Carl is very telepathic, and jammers can’t keep him from—”

      “Not you I doubt,” Jerome grunted, fingers dancing over the black metal box. “But unless the admiral gives specific orders, I’m not sending anyone in.”

      More words poured into Volka’s head. Words she knew but not in an order that made any sense. Her stomach fell. Gazing down at Carl, she bit her lip. “Oh…Carl.” She bent to touch her nose to his.

      “What’s wrong?” Sixty asked, sitting on his heels.

      “He’s speaking gibberish.” Was it a side effect of whatever was “in his whiskers”?

      At her words, Jerome rushed toward Volka. Falling to his heels, he put a hand on her shoulder. “What gibberish?”

      Volka was briefly distracted by Sixty. His head tic had returned. Her brow furrowed. But he grunted, “I’m fine.”

      Jerome’s hand fell. “Volka?”

      Sixty’s head righted, and Volka swallowed. “What Carl is saying doesn’t make sense.” She was very worried about the little werfle. The same gibberish words kept replaying over and over.

      “You have to tell me!” Jerome insisted.

      “Volka,” Sixty said gently. “It could be a cipher—”

      She stared at him blankly.

      “A code,” Sixty explained. “What exactly is Carl saying?”

      Volka gulped, closed her eyes, and tried to catch the words from where they seemed to begin. “The moon is ice shadow…on grass beseech subtract plain…inform superb…blaze.” Her ears went sideways. “He just says that over and over.”

      Carl whimpered.

      A snap above made her look up. Jerome was extracting a small chip from his neural port. Handing it to Sixty, he said, “Admiral wants you in there, and for me to give you this cipher and weapons.”

      Sixty’s neural port was covered by synth skin. Taking the chip gingerly, he pulled it down, revealing the gleam of his metal skull. Plugging it in, his head jerked back infinitesimally.

      Jerome said, “You won’t be able to use the ether, but you will be able to transmit the cipher with Morse Code in bursts of sound or flashing light.” A furrow appeared in his brow. “Do you have a light?”

      Smoothing his skin back in place, Sixty flashed his eyes. “Yes.”

      Nodding half to himself, Jerome rose and went over to one of the suitcases. He pulled out a stunner pistol and a holster. Handing those to Sixty, he retrieved a very short, blunt stun rifle with a heavy charge capacity. Jerome stared down at the weapon. “Only a stunner, but I guess you can’t use anything more.”

      Sixty couldn’t use phasers. Phasers could kill.

      Sixty buckled the holster for the pistol at his hip. Taking the rifle, he slipped the strap over his shoulder. And then he hesitated and looked down at Volka, not quite meeting her gaze, his body inhumanly still.

      Time was of the essence, and yet Sixty seemed to have become a statue. What was wrong? It came to her mind that she might know. Gently setting Carl down, she stood. “I know you’re beta testing, and the bruises and Carl’s broken tail scares you, but you saved us, and the fix to your Q-comm, so it doesn’t go offline with a head tap anymore, was completely worth it.”

      He met her gaze for the briefest moment, and then he was a blur. The next thing she knew, his lips were on hers. Despite the speed, the kiss wasn’t too hard or too soft; it was perfect. She froze in shock, but there was warmth spreading from her lips to her core and all the way to her toes. She found herself leaning in. Her hand drifted up his chest to where there was no heart, but a barely perceptible reverberation, and heat…and then she realized what she was doing, where she was doing it, and she remembered lives were at risk. Putting her hand on his chest, falling to her heels, breathless, and slightly dizzy, she pushed him away—or rather, herself away from him.

      His lips parted—there was a furrow in his brow. The confusion on his face was probably reflected on hers. “You’ll come back,” she whispered.

      His expression hardened. He straightened, looking like the robot he was. He could be hurt, robot or not, maybe not in the same way as a human, but she knew his pain didn’t feel less real.

      “If you don’t come back, I’ll come get you,” she added, her voice a hiss.

      One of Sixty’s eyebrows shot up. Head turning to the side, voice in his General mode, he said, “Corporal, you will give her weapons now.”

      “Yes, sir,” Jerome replied.

      Sixty’s eyes shifted to hers, and he hopped backward out of Sundancer without even glancing, the thump of his body much louder than the Marines or even James. Running to the edge and peering down, she briefly saw the top of Sixty’s head, and then he was gone, just a memory of warmth and electricity in her lips.

      What exactly had just happened?
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      What exactly had just happened?

      6T9 asked himself that as he sprinted between the fire team on the roof to the doorway on the north western corner. He’d updated his programming so that he couldn’t accidentally hurt a human or sentient being—that had gone well. He wasn’t as angelic as Volka once believed him to be, but he wouldn’t injure someone accidentally ever again. He’d already had a successful test. He hadn’t decked Jerome when he’d touched Volka—although his head tic had returned. That had been annoying—but his slight, simple change of code had worked. Punching Jerome would have been grossly inappropriate.

      … And then Volka had said that whatever mistakes he’d made getting his Q-comm installed properly were worth it, and then his vision had gone white, and the next thing he’d known, when his sensors had come online, his lips were on hers.

      Which was wrong. There was no agreement between them. Sex ‘bots were strict about consent—well, when it came to physical contact of a sexual nature. Sex ‘bots could solicit sex verbally repeatedly, and they could touch lightly and flirtatiously. It was a balance for his manufacturers between potential lawsuits and potentially lost profits—being forward paid. Regardless, the kiss was something he never would have done a day and a half ago. It was something he couldn’t have done. He might have emotionally hurt her. He grimaced. His code change had not been complete—he’d only stopped his ability to physically harm a human or sentient being. He’d have to revise that, but now he was at the rooftop door atop a darkened stairwell, and he had to focus.

      The darkness was odd. A hospital’s thoroughfares should never be completely dark—which meant someone had turned off the lights and the emergency lighting. Fortunately, he had better-than-human night vision and lights in his eyes if he absolutely needed them. He was holding his rifle at the ready, but slipped it behind his back and then headed down the metal steps. Even in the lighter gravity, his greater mass made his footsteps thunder and echo in the cramped space. The stairwell was colder than appropriate room temperature, but his sensory receptors on his lips and where Volka’s hand had touched his chest were still warm.

      A light flashed on the steps ahead of him, and he thought of the brilliant white light he’d seen just before the kiss. He saw it again, reached the landing…

      …and his sensors went offline as heat hot enough to melt synth skin and metal bones missed his neck by centimeters. The heat told him it was phaser fire. Behind him, a woman screamed, but 6T9’s eyes snapped to an orange light meters away down a dark corridor. In less than a millisecond, he realized he was seeing a phaser pistol primed and ready to shoot. If he’d had his rifle ready, he could have fired… The phaser discharged, but it missed 6T9.

      “Get down!” James shouted somewhere off in the dark.

      6T9 obeyed, diving and taking shelter behind a shadow. His Q-comm fired, belatedly informing him that the flashing lights he’d seen earlier had been a warning delivered in Morse Code—6T9 had been too consumed with thoughts of Volka to notice—his sex ‘bot programming warring with his current situation. His circuits darkened and looked to the source of the scream he’d seen earlier. His jaw dropped. A woman in gray-blue scrubs was slumped against the wall. He didn’t need to check to see if she was dead; her chest was smoldering, and her eyes and mouth were frozen in a look of horror. His Q-comm hummed, putting the situation together. Her scream, her gasp—that was what the shooter had aimed at—possibly thinking she was the source of the footsteps on the stairs and thinking she had been the one James had been trying to communicate with.

      6T9 could have saved her if his rifle had been in front of him at the ready, but he’d slung it over his shoulder…because…he growled as his Q-comm delivered the answer to that query. He’d put his rifle behind him because of his recent code update. An accidental headshot in the dark in a situation he didn’t understand could have been deadly.

      But his inaction had been deadly. His circuits dimmed. His body chilled. Phaser fire from the corridor lit the woman’s body. He stared at her for a moment, taking in a short-bobbed haircut and delicate features, a body whip slender, fragile for a human, a product of Shinar’s lower gravity. He’d  killed her with inaction. In attempting to be more angelic, he’d done irreparable harm. Because…His Q-comm fired. He could ruminate on how exactly he’d just failed and other people might die from his angst later.

      Cursing, he reversed his update. His vision went white for a millisecond, and then he swung his rifle in front of his body.

      He peered around the corner of his protective shadow—a heavy metal door, he realized, half blasted from its hinges—in the direction the phaser fire had come from. More fire lit the corridor again, and he saw it was a cellblock. The Marines, Noa, and James were flattened in door alcoves returning fire with their stunners. He saw two bodies on the floor, halfway between the team and their enemies, one in Fleet armor, one in scrubs. The Fleet Marine had an arm around the one in scrubs, an intimate-looking embrace. Near the bodies was a woman also in scrubs. She sat against a door, only partially protected by an alcove, knees pulled to her chest, hand pressed to her mouth. A nurse? A doctor? A friend of the woman he’d let die?

      6T9’s lip curled in rage. Static surged beneath his skin, and he wasn’t sure if he was angry more with himself or with the men with phasers in a hospital. His Q-comm flashed. James, Noa, and the others were in much more precarious situations. The alcoves they were in were not deeper than twenty-one centimeters. He didn’t rush out to save them though; instead, his Q-comm hummed.

      A human woman cried, “Agnes? It hurts.” The echo of her voice identified her as the civilian in scrubs lying on the floor. Again, he stayed frozen in place, his Q-comm, his regained ability to hurt, holding him back from his sex ‘bot desire to help.

      “Stay down, Celia, stay down, sweetie,” the woman cowering in the alcove, who must have been Agnes, whispered. “I’m still here.” And then Agnes lied. “It will be all right.”

      How many times had 6T9 said similar words to Eliza?

      Phaser fire lit the cellblock. Agnes cried out, this time in obvious pain. Was she paying for the tiny kindness of the lie she’d just told?

      6T9’s jaw ground and his skin heated. He was so angry it was making his body hot, and he felt like his whole body should be shining. He jerked from his defensive crouch, almost got up and rushed down the hall, but his Q-comm sparked. If he got injured, Volka would come down here and collect his bits and pieces, all the while lying to his broken, disassembled parts, that everything would be “all right”—probably as phaser fire shot around her. Cursing, he banged his rifle butt against the floor in rapid taps he hoped the team could hear, encoding the warning, “Cover your eyes.” Masochism settings on high, he stepped into the doorway, pistol upraised. He saw the faint light of a phaser ready to shoot come from behind the shadow of the open door. He didn’t back down. Instead, he turned on the lights in his eyes to full brightness—enough to temporarily blind human, cybernetic, or robotic eyes.

      The man holding the pistol grunted in shock and pain, and plasma fire shot over 6T9’s head. Diving forward, 6T9 aimed at the man’s cry. He belly flopped on the floor, masochism settings making him grin at the shock of it. More phaser fire erupted from his unseen assailants, and for an instant he saw a chink in their defenses. He rolled, rifle extended, and shot at the centi-high gap between the open door and the floor. He heard a curse, and a man hopping in place. Taking that slight opportunity 6T9 had given them, the Marines rushed the open door the phaser fire had been coming from, but 6T9’s attention was focused on the civilian woman cowering in the alcove—the fallen woman had called her “Agnes.” As the Marines ran past her, Agnes came forward, one of her arms clutched to her side. Grabbing the hand of the injured civilian on the floor, she pulled her toward the door alcove she’d been sheltering in. 6T9 blinked. Agnes tapped a panel beside the door, and it began to open. The Marines, still scuffling, were oblivious. But of course Agnes could open the doors if she worked here. His Q-comm sparked. Agnes might have escaped into a cell at any time, but hadn’t…maybe because she needed to rescue Celia?

      He heard something whistle overhead from the direction of the scuffle, something that went plink, plink, plink down the hallway in the direction he’d just come. “Grenade!” James shouted. 6T9’s Q-comm sparked. The door the enemy had been firing behind slammed shut…and 6T9 got up. He grabbed the downed Marine and “Celia” and shouted at Agnes, “Back,” barreling into her before she could reply or react, his feet slipping on something wet on the floor.

      The door slammed shut behind him. In the hallway, there was a boom that 6T9 felt in his feet and in the fingers holding Celia by her scrubs and the Marine by a rifle strap. The boom set off an internal sensor, alerting 6T9 to dangerous auditory levels. His own auditory apparatus lost the ability to hear, but he could see. He was in a small, tidy cell. There was a tiny window high in the wall directly ahead. There was a man sitting on a cot, with his knees drawn to his chest, just to 6T9’s left. Agnes was backing toward the man, wide-eyed gaze fixated on 6T9. Her scrubs were embroidered with the name: Dr. Tran. By Agnes’s and the cell’s occupant’s high foreheads and slender bodies, he could tell that they were both Shinar natives. Agnes appeared to be in her late forties, with long, black hair graying at the temples pulled back into a soft knot at the back of her neck, faint crow’s feet at the edge of her eyes, and smile lines. Those visual cues meant nothing. The Shinar didn’t believe in surgery for strictly cosmetic sake, but like most of the rest of the Republic, they believed in life extension and used telomerase inhibitors and repair nanos.

      6T9’s attention flicked to the man. He looked similar in age, though his hair was a softer brown. The man’s mouth was moving, but no sound was coming out. And then sound did come. “Dr. Agnes? Are you all right?” the man asked, and 6T9 realized that maybe the reason he’d thought his hearing was damaged was just that the three conscious members of the cell had been in shocked silence.

      Dr. Agnes didn’t look at the man, but she held out a hand toward him. “It’s all right, Joseph.”

      Speaking of the unconscious…6T9 was still holding the Marine and Celia. He set them down gently. If the Marine was alive, his or her suit was seeing to life support, so 6T9 quickly turned his focus to Celia—and for the first time realized the nature of her injury. Her forearm was missing, but more than that, it had been cybernetic—there were a few dangling nerve filaments protruding from where it had been ripped from her upper arm. Usually, phaser fire sealed exposed vessels by melting flesh, but in this case, the cybernetics had torn away, ripping the brachial artery in the process. The only reason she was likely still alive was because she’d fallen on her stomach and been pressed down by the Marine in the heat of fire. Her weight, and the weight of the Marine’s arm, heavy with armor, had helped seal the artery. But as 6T9 kneeled beside her, he knew she’d lost a lot of blood. Her body temperature was too low; her pulse was rapid and weak.

      “She needs to go to a hospital. They both do,” Agnes—Dr. Tran—said, kneeling on the other side of Celia. 6T9 hadn’t noticed her approach.

      “No argument from me there,” 6T9 said, ripping off the bottom of his shirt and tying it around the woman’s arm to keep the artery from reopening.

      “There are other ways for you to meet your aims,” Dr. Agnes said suddenly, her voice insistent.

      “What?” said 6T9, head jerking as the ethernet came on. He connected with Jerome’s tablet. Lights in the room flickered on. Outside, one of the Marines whooped.

      Agnes looked up nervously.

      And then the connection died. Outside there was a curse.

      Focusing on him again, Agnes said, “I know that the current prime minister and the Parliament are hospitalizing people unfairly, but this violence isn’t the way.”

      6T9 blinked.

      Behind him, an encoded tap came from the door. “6T9, are you all right?”

      “I’m fine, James,” he called back, not bothering to encode anything, eyes on Agnes.

      James encoded his response in more raps against the door. “All the doors are locked, we can’t get Okoro out, neutralize the prime minister’s Guard …”

      “The men firing phasers in a hospital are the prime minister’s Guard?” 6T9 asked, shocked. They were the personal agents of Shinar’s leader. Their job was technically only to protect him. “The prime minister isn’t here, is he?”

      “Unknown…” James encoded. There was a pause, and then he encoded, “We can’t get you out either, 6T9.”

      “Wonderful,” 6T9 said aloud. He shook his head. “At least things can’t get worse.”

      And then the world shook, and outside came a roar that 6T9 wished he could ascribe to thunder.
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      In one of Sundancer’s aft compartments, Volka finished putting on her envirosuit and picked up the stunner rifle the corporal had given her, her jaw hard. If she had to go in and retrieve 6T9, she was ready. Closing her eyes, she pictured walking out to the bridge, felt the air pressure change, and opened her eyes to find a door had appeared in the wall. Exiting the compartment, she strode to the bridge. From her wrist came the muffled sound of someone clearing her throat.

      “Is something wrong, Bracelet?” she asked.

      “The ethernet dampener doesn’t extend to the rooftop, Miss Volka,” Bracelet said. “It’s just keeping us from talking to everyone below.”

      Volka’s brow furrowed as she entered the bridge and went to check on Carl. She’d put him in one of the Marines’ suitcases—without weapons, it was a generously sized, comfy foam bed for him. He still hadn’t stopped squeaking or incessantly grooming his whiskers, and he barely acknowledged her approach. His ethernet-to-speech device hadn’t worked earlier, but maybe that had to do with his frantic state?

      Jerome said, “I got contact.”

      Volka bit back the urge to have Bracelet call Sixty. He was busy. Interrupting him would be dangerous.

      Bracelet coughed. “I could connect to the suit via the ethernet and talk to it.”

      The comment was out of the blue, and for a moment, Volka was confused. And then she was mortified. “Suit talks? I’m sorry, Suit, I didn’t know.”

      “Err…not like that,” Bracelet said. “But it can tell me information about the world around us with sensors I don’t have, monitor your vital signs, let me adjust temperatures…that sort of thing.”

      “Craters, lost them again,” Jerome muttered.

      “Sure, Bracelet,” said Volka. She couldn’t talk to Sixty, but Bracelet could at least talk to Suit. Maybe Bracelet needed to talk to fellow machines? Maybe Sixty did, too. For an instant, she felt a pang of fear...she wasn’t a machine. But then the fear evaporated. In a way, Sixty was Luddeccean, too. It was sort of where he’d spent his “childhood.” And of course he needed to be close to other machines; no one could be everything for another person. That was a child’s understanding of love, the sort of understanding she’d had when she was with Alaric. She sniffed in irritation. Thinking these sorts of things right now was childish. Her ears tried to press back but couldn’t in the confines of her helmet. The kiss with Sixty had set her mind off on this inconvenient track, but she wouldn’t let it distract her anymore.

      Striding to the edge of the opening in the keel, Volka peered out. The Marines on the rooftop weren’t talking or in her line of sight, but she could smell them and hear their breathing and shifts in stance. Her eyes fell on a pebble laying on the roof. It was barely the size of her pinky fingertip, and it was the only thing that broke up the monotony of the smooth concrete. The pebble was smooth. Gray. Unremarkable. And then it began undulating back and forth…and it jumped. Volka took a breath, caught a whiff of rotten eggs…and Suit’s visor snicked shut.

      Bracelet piped up. “I’ll open that again if you want me to. But the suit’s sensors are detecting rising levels of sulfur dioxide. I suspect the volcano is about to erupt.”

      “Carl!” said Volka. She turned to the werfle’s suitcase bed just in time to see it slam shut.

      His thoughts erupted in her mind. “Don’t you dare take me out of here or open this thing up!”

      “You’ll suffocate!” Volka protested.

      “Not for eight point five hours,” Carl and Bracelet said at once.

      Volka looked toward the aft compartment and thought about taking the case back there and wrestling Carl into his envirosuit…

      “No,” said Carl. “Focus on getting us out of here before the volcano erupts.”

      “Fleet said we have twenty-four hours,” Volka protested.

      Bracelet chirped happily, “In point of fact, they said that it would erupt within twenty-four—” Bracelet’s voice was lost in a boom so deep that Volka felt it in every centimeter of her body. The four Marines below the ship crowded, half kneeling, backs together beneath the opening in Sundancer’s keel.

      A few seconds went by. Volka’s eyes were still on the pebble…it still danced between the Marines’ feet.

      There was another boom. Volka couldn’t see the peak of the volcano, but outside the ship, the world was getting darker. One of the Marines swore. “That isn’t Mount Enmerker. It’s Little Loaf.”

      “What do you know? Fleet and the Geological Council of Shinar were both wrong,” said another Marine. Some general cursing about “eggheads” followed.

      “This could last for days. How exciting!” said Bracelet cheerfully.

      There was a light tap outside the ship. And then another. It sounded like hail…

      “Oh, volcanic rock,” Bracelet exclaimed. “There was 5.7912 meters of rock and ash deposited in Pompeii.”

      The ship darkened around them. “I don’t think Sundancer likes this,” Volka whispered. Sundancer was impact resistant, but maybe not burial resistant. Sundancer had been trapped for a million years under ice, but she’d been able to melt that…A picture of Sundancer covered in ash passed through her mind, the ship shivered, and Volka felt a knot of cold dread in her stomach.

      “Sundancer is afraid,” Volka said to the Marines. “She might not be able to get us out of here if she gets buried. I have to warn the others.”

      One of the Marines looked up sharply. Through the helmet’s visor she just barely made out Ramirez. “No, you have to stay here. You’re the only person who can fly the ship.”

      “Carl can—” Volka started to protest.

      “Stay,” Ramirez commanded. Handing off his electrical disruptor to one of the others, he took off in a blur, and Volka remembered that his augments made him as fast as Sixty.

      Volka dropped to her heels, prepared to jump down and follow. “I can still help.”

      One of the remaining Marines pointed in the direction of Carl. “The Little Guy isn’t himself at the moment.” Carl didn’t open the case, pop out, and threaten to murder the Marine for being called “Little Guy”—which proved the man’s point.

      The Marine continued, “Ma’am, if we lose you, this mission will likely fail.”

      Volka could feel her heart picking up speed. If Sundancer became trapped, Okoro would die; they all might likely die for nothing. And the mission was about more than rescuing Okoro. It was about Okoro’s ability to protect the entire human race.

      Maybe she would be more helpful below…

      Volka huffed. “I hate waiting.” Her voice was just barely audible over the continued booms from the volcano.

      “Ma’am, I understand completely,” the Marine replied, gaze going beyond the roof. “Feel pretty useless right now defending the ship from enemies that haven’t arrived yet and might not ever.”

      His words hit her harder than an order to stay put. He was just as worried about his team as Volka was about Sixty—she could feel it. He was staying here because that was his part.

      Sixty probably wouldn’t want her to go in after him. She swallowed. The needs of the entire human population of the galaxy were greater than her personal need to go in and retrieve him. If their places were reversed, Sixty probably couldn’t go in after her. He would have no choice but to help the most people and could never hurt or kill. He was like an angel like that, and didn’t she want to be on the side of the angels?

    

  


  
    
      
        
          
            18

          

          
            The Side of Angels

          

          Galactic Republic: Shinar

        

      

    

    
      When an enormous boom was added to the shaking world, 6T9’s circuits dimmed and relit with a sudden dread of what might have happened. The volcano. His Q-comm began unhelpfully downloading data on the last eruption.

      Agnes looked over her shoulder toward the window. “There’s more of you and you brought artillery?”

      Her question snapped his Q-comm back to the present. “What?” he blurted.

      “Your terrorist group is firing on this facility. I understand your reasons, I do, but you’re going to get innocent people killed...the people you are trying to save.”

      “You think we are some sort of terrorist organization?” 6T9 asked. Booms continued in the background.

      Agnes was kneeling beside Celia. Leaning close to 6T9, she whispered, “I know you think of yourselves as freedom fighters, but this is not the way. Not everyone here is a political prisoner. There are a lot of dangerous individuals in this hospital. They’re not like Joseph.” She gestured to the man on his cot. “The law will set free those wrongly convicted of religious expression. You just have to be patient.”

      There was another boom outside.

      Joseph got off his bed. His clothing was simple and neat. He was noticeably clean. Raising his hands, palms out, he said, “Brother, maybe you’re here for me. But my religion doesn’t justify this, and I will not come with you if you are successful.”

      The room darkened as though the sun had been eclipsed by a storm cloud.

      “Doctor, sir,” 6T9 said, the pieces fitting together. “I’m with Admiral Noa Sato of the Galactic Republic Fleet.”

      For a moment, Dr. Tran’s face softened. What sounded like hail began to ping against the window and thunder on the roof.

      6T9 continued, “We are here to request the release of Mr. Okoro, a Fleet researcher. By Republic law, Fleet is authorized to do so in the event of a natural disaster.”

      Pulling away, jaw getting hard, Agnes said, “What natural disaster? The earthquake today hasn’t been confirmed.”

      Oh, Nebulas. He glanced at the window and saw it pelted by rocks.

      Somewhere in the hallway, someone began encoding, “Eruption in process. Ship is nervous.”

      6T9’s focus returned to Agnes. She could open this door and Okoro’s door in minutes. She could maybe even lock the cell that the Minister’s Guard was in, so they didn’t let loose any more grenades.

      “If it was Admiral Noa Sato out there,” Doctor Agnes said, “why did the Minister’s Guard open fire on you?”

      They did not have time for this. His nostrils flared. He could make her open the door. She was a Shinar native. She was even frailer than Volka or an Earthling. He could make her hurt so much. He’d been designed for pleasure, but pain was just the other side of that coin, and it was a coin he knew how to flip. He could break her. His eyes flicked to Joseph. He could break both of them.

      “That is a question, isn’t it? I’d really like to know.” His voice came out flat.

      Agnes drew back.

      “Easy, Brother,” said Joseph, putting himself between 6T9 and Agnes.

      6T9 tilted his head. It was almost as if they knew what was going through his mind. How curious. He stepped toward Agnes and Joseph…and his Q-comm fired, and 6T9 shuddered. If Volka knew he’d tortured these two humans…He closed his eyes. Volka would not approve. Why was he even contemplating it?

      There was another boom outside.

      He was contemplating it because it was faster, and speed mattered—he’d just let a human die because of a stupid line of code that hadn’t let him commit accidental harm. But Volka wouldn’t torture them, and she had superior fight or flight reflexes. The Marines wouldn’t either. Pirates would…

      Why wouldn’t Volka use torture? She could kill, violently, in ways that were more savage than a phaser shot.

      An especially large rock hit the window. He didn’t have time to ponder the why. How would he have solved this nonviolently a few days ago? He began accessing his personal databases for anything he had on Dr. Agnes Tran…and found quite a lot he’d downloaded when he’d been with the independent traders and struggling to understand why they were the way they were. When he’d first read her work, he’d come away thinking the independent traders he’d worked with weren’t really that bad. They didn’t murder or kidnap, at least. She had not been lying about most of the inmates here being dangerous; every apprehended serial killer, rapist, and mass murderer in this system was in this prison.

      He tried the simplest, most direct tact. “Dr. Tran, there is a volcano erupting outside. You can see the debris on the window—”

      “Debris from your weapons. There isn’t going to be an eruption. The prime minister is a member of the Geological Society and is an expert. He has stated there is no danger.”

      For a moment, he was dumbfounded again. She didn’t believe what she saw with her own eyes. But why should she? She’d been assured her whole life the volcano was managed and safe, and she was a busy woman who had more important things on her mind—she had been busy writing hundreds of academic papers and books for lay people—so she’d taken it on faith. He had to appeal to her area of expertise. His Q-comm sparked. When some activists had pressed to have the prisoners at this hospital relocated to the isolated but more leniently guarded rehabilitation islands, she’d stood before the legislature and dissented. She believed the “patients” in this hospital would be a danger to the other prisoners on those islands; that although someday rehabilitation would be possible for them, science did not know how yet.

      6T9 met her gaze and repeated her own words. “In the more than six centuries since Freud, we have found that we are not complete masters of the human mind.” She’d spoken those words to the legislature.

      Dr. Tran stood a little straighter.

      “Doctor,” 6T9 continued. “Do you think a planetary system, altered as it is by both its own internal workings—its geomagnetic cycle, the cycles of its mild seasons and sun, the activities of the billions of species that interact on its surface, the planetary bodies in its solar system, their orbit, the entire system’s orbit in the galaxy, and the galaxy’s movement in the universe can ever be fully known?”

      Her body relaxed, and then Joseph said, “Only God can control a volcano.”

      Agnes’s expression hardened.

      6T9’s hands rose in front of him, half clenching. That was not how you convinced a scientist, but then he caught himself. Dropping his hands, he said, “No, humans can control their environment. But maybe it’s presumptuous to consider you’ve mastered it? Not because it’s God, but because it’s incredibly complex.”

      For a moment, Dr. Agnes stared at him, open mouthed. 6T9 tried not to count the milliseconds ticking by. And then her face crumpled, and she put a hand to her eyes. “The Prime Minister’s Service brought Darlene Tong here. They said that she had committed blasphemy, but I knew they were just looking for an excuse to arrest her. She’s been criticizing the Geological Society’s management of Mount Enmerker for years now, and she’s run for office, though she never got much of a vote.” She dropped her hands, and her face became imploring. “I really think that they were worried about her causing a panic.”

      Another large rock hit the window. The sky was as dark as twilight. Sundancer was out there, and she was afraid. Sundancer’s fear would infect Volka. He wanted to shake the woman, shout at her to open the blasted door, but kept still.

      Agnes gulped audibly. “That was really Noa Sato? I thought it might be when I saw her face, but then the shooting started, and—”

      “It’s really her,” said 6T9, eyeing the rocks pelting the window. “Please let her in. Let her just talk to you.”

      She eyed the door. “Without the ethernet, I can’t access the computers without—”

      He yanked out the cords he kept in his coat. “Can you jack in with one of these?”

      “Yes,” she said shakily, taking the cables as the world shook again. She jacked one end into her neural port and the other end into an outlet. A plate in the wall slid open, revealing an iris scan. She was shaking, and her movements were slow. 6T9’s processors whirred with all the unpleasant possibilities that could occur if she didn’t hurry. The thoughts were ugly, and they crawled through his consciousness: Sundancer smothered in ash, Carl and Volka slowly dying within...Trying to knock the thoughts out, he tapped an encoded message on the door as he waited. Admiral, I have someone who wants to meet you. Two minutes and twenty-three seconds later, the door slid open.

      Noa was taking shelter in an alcove across the hall. The visor of her suit was shut and all that was visible of her was her nearly black eyes. Those eyes took in Agnes, still jacked in, and then checked down the hall where Marines were barricading the Prime Minister’s Service inside a cell. Crouching, flipping up her visor to expose her face, she hurried into the doorway of Joseph’s cell. “Dr. Tran, I didn’t get to finish my introductions. I’m Admiral Noa Sato.” Taking off the gloves of her suit, she extended her hand, and Agnes took it in both of hers, smoothing her fingers down the outside of Noa’s wrists and gazing down as though trying to ascertain what she saw and felt were real. In a universe where holo-disguises existed, it wasn’t an unnecessary precaution, but it was wasting precious seconds.

      “I thought it was you from Escape from Luddeccea…” Agnes said, referring to one of the more popular holodramas of James and Noa’s fateful mission. “…You have that 6T9 unit. The one with the Q-comm.”

      6T9 blinked. A woman who watched historical holodramas all the way to the end to find out what happened to all the main characters. Not that he’d been a main character in the Escape from Luddeccea; he’d been more the comic relief.

      “Yes,” Noa said. “Dr. Agnes, we need Dr. Okoro released into our custody.”

      Gripping Noa’s hand, Dr. Agnes said, “I will help you, but you have to get all the political prisoners out of here, not just Okoro. And Celia, too.” She waved at the nurse at her feet. “The staff and other patients can shelter in place—there is a bunker below the building we will go to. But the political prisoners would mix with the general prisoner population there…and they cannot do that. Do you understand?”

      6T9’s hands curled into fists, but his rage was toward himself. He’d thought of torturing this woman who was going to shelter in place with psychopaths and was bartering for the lives of political prisoners?

      “How many?” said Noa.

      “Only twelve, including Okoro, and they are all on this floor.”

      “We’ll do it,” said Noa. Inclining her head to the fallen Marine and nurse Celia, she added, “6T9, we called you in to help with first aid—”

      6T9 picked up Celia and threw her over his shoulder in a fireman’s carry and grabbed the still unconscious—hopefully unconscious Marine—again by the rifle strap and began lugging them toward the door.

      Joseph followed him. “Can I help?”

      “Joseph’s one of the political prisoners,” Dr. Tran assured Noa and 6T9.

      But 6T9 didn’t waste power to answer. The lights flickered on, and the ethernet sparked to life in 6T9’s skull. Noa’s channel erupted in his mind, giving orders through the cipher for the Marines to help the patients that Dr. Agnes would soon be releasing from their cells. Dr. Agnes said, “The Minister’s Service gave Hospital Security orders to stay below, but I’m directing them to start evacuating the regular patient population to the bunker…opening doors for the political prisoners now. They aren’t dangerous…”

      There were shouts from the Marines around 6T9 as doors slid open. “Sir, this way, sir, you are being evacuated,” and “Ma’am, the volcano is erupting, you must come with me. I’m with the Galactic Fleet.”

      Moments later, the hallway was flooded with prisoners and Marines. 6T9’s steps were awkward with the weight of the two injured humans. The body he hauled on his shoulder effectively left him blind on that side. One of the Marines, unidentifiable through his visor, said, “I got your Devil Dog,” and relieved 6T9 of the Marine. The handover made 6T9 glance down the hall…James had his back against the door of the cell the Minister’s Service was taking shelter in—Dr. Tran hadn’t—or couldn’t—lock it. James was grimacing, straining to keep it closed and failing. The door was grinding open, millimeter by millimeter. The men inside had phasers and grenades, the hallway was crowded, and 6T9 couldn’t run. His Q-comm sparked and his vision went white. He threw Celia into the arms of the startled Joseph and raced to help James with the door. James shouted aloud and into the ether, “Keep Cell 1135 closed!” Distantly, 6T9 heard Noa repeat the order to Agnes, and Agnes’s reply, “But Dr. Darlene Tong is in that cell!”

      Reaching the door, 6T9 added his weight and strength to James’s. He shouted into the fingers-width opening, “This is the Galactic Fleet, we are in the midst of a volcanic eruption. Surrender, and you will be allowed to evacuate with us.”

      From inside came a muffled swear.

      James grunted. “Already offered them that option.”

      Someone else within said, “They’ll evacuate us.”

      “And then we’ll go to trial!”

      There was the sound of scuffling, the door shut a few millimeters, and then there was the sound of phaser fire, and the man who said they’d go to trial said, “We’re getting out of here, and we’re not going to any Galactic prison.”

      There were shouts from within, and then the pressure on the door increased.

      6T9 looked down the hall.

      Agnes was still tethered to the outlet by his cable, but she was standing in the hallway. “You have to get Dr. Tong,” she implored.

      To escape they’d need to clear the hall, to clear the hall—

      The door opened a fraction more, just wide enough for a grenade to be tossed out. It hit the opposite wall and came to rest on the floor. Releasing the door, James jumped on top of it. Without his weight, the door swung open just as another grenade was launched out of the cell. Someone screamed. Noa shouted, “James!” and 6T9 was blind with the spark of his Q-comm and a heat of rage so strong he felt like he might have gone supernova. He spun around the door. His vision came back, and he was staring into the startled eyes of a man in black armor. 6T9 grabbed him and threw him on top of the second grenade just as the first one beneath James exploded. His auditory apparatus went offline, a shadow streaked through the hall, and a Marine landed atop the second body. 6T9 spun back to the cell and faced a man raising a phaser pistol. The second grenade went off and 6T9 dropped as though hit in the calves, but before his knees hit the floor, he pushed off his toes, plowing into the man with the phaser and knocking him to the floor. Phaser fire erupted from the man’s pistol, and a piece of the ceiling fell in a shower of sparks. There were boot steps behind him, and Marines in their mirror-like suits flooded in. Stunner fire flickered above 6T9. The window in the cell cracked. 6T9’s auditory functions came online to James’s shout of, “No...ah!”

      Someone shouted, “Admiral!”

      “I’m…” Noa panted. Her voice came from atop the second grenade. She’d been the shadow 6T9 had seen streaking to pin the minister’s agent atop it.

      Noa. James. 6T9’s body trembled with fury. The man beneath 6T9 struggled, trying to take advantage of the moment of weakness and bring the phaser pistol up between their bodies. 6T9 caught his arm and smacked it down on the man’s own chest so the pistol was just beneath the chin guard of his uniform. Minister’s Guards in black writhed with Marines in their camouflage armor in the periphery of his vision. The chemical signature of sulfur filled 6T9’s sensory receptors. Something black and hot enough to burn synth skin landed on the floor.

      6T9 stared down at the man beneath him. They were in the midst of a natural disaster. The Dark was coming. And this…thing…had hurt James and Noa and was endangering Volka and Carl and the rest of the human race for what 6T9 could only surmise was political reasons. With a cry of rage, he ripped the man’s stunner pistol out of his hand. And then he couldn’t set it down; the man might grab it again. His vision went white, and he brought the hand with the pistol down on the side of the man’s head. The man was wearing a helmet and the shock of the impact raced up 6T9’s arm, again, and again, and again.

      His metal bones and synth muscle and sinews were brought to a halt by Noa’s shout. “Marines, get Dr. Tong and move out!”

      Noa was alive.

      6T9 blinked down at the man beneath him. The human’s head was caved in on one side. The line from a children’s rhyme a thousand years old ran through his mind. Humpty dumpty had a great fall.

      “Ramirez, you got Dr. Tong?”

      Dr. Tong…they needed to get Dr. Tong so they could leave and 6T9 could get back to Carl and Volka. He glanced up and saw Ramirez sitting on his haunches beside a woman in civilian clothes that had to be Tong. 6T9 scrambled to his feet and stumbled toward them. Ramirez’s visor was up and his lips were parted in a look of shock—or maybe anguish—as 6T9 picked up the doctor and turned around to find Noa—slender, human, centurion—no, a centurion was a Roman soldier—centenarian Noa, with James over her shoulder, sparks dancing along his body. Noa must be almost as much a machine as 6T9 was now. He’d seen her leap into the ship. Centurion centenarian. The spark from his Q-comm made his lips quirk, even as sulfur levels were rising, and his skin was singed by falling ash.

      Noa pulled from the doorway and Marines and 6T9 followed her down the hallway. Two Marines were carrying men in black uniforms over their shoulders. Presumably unconscious. 6T9 cradled Darlene against his body and ran behind them. When he reached the roof, all he could see was black.
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      Sundancer’s interior was pitch black. At first, Volka thought it was fear—the ship was nervous—it was a constant cold gnawing in her stomach. But then lights from rifle recoil dampeners glowed through the floor, and she just barely made out the forms of the three Marines on the roof below. The ship had closed her keel, and the pitch blackness was above and around, but not quite below. The ship trembled, and Volka’s vision went black completely. She couldn’t see anything…she couldn’t see anything!

      Blinded, Volka shouted, “She can’t see! The ship! It’s making her scared.”

      “Letting the guys below know,” Jerome said. “There are four centis of ash accumulated out there…do you think it would help if we shoveled off her external visual sensors?”

      At his words, Volka automatically pictured the scene in her mind, the three Marines shoveling ash off of Sundancer’s body. Her vision returned, but—

      “I don’t know—” Where her eyes are, she almost said. Think, Volka. Her ears tried to flatten. How did the ship see? Sundancer’s dreams weren’t like a television; they were always in 360 degrees, even more immersive than a holo. “I think her whole body is her eyes.”

      The tablet Jerome held brightened and lit the dim space. Lights came on inside his helmet, and through his visor, Volka saw a furrow forming in his brow. “Mops would be better than shovels, but not exactly standard kit.”

      “The foam in the suitcases!” Volka declared.

      “Yeah, that will work if they get on their hands and knees.”

      “Not from my bed!” cried Carl, in her mind.

      Volka ran to a case that wasn’t Carl’s refuge, opened it, and ripped out the foam, grimacing at the effort.

      Beside her, Jerome was doing the same to the contents of another case far more easily. “Can you get the ship to open up again?” he asked.

      Could she? She didn’t know why Sundancer had closed in the first place. Maybe the sulfur that Bracelet had complained about? Sundancer certainly protected them from vacuum. Maybe she had a sense for safe levels of chemicals…or maybe her nose was on the inside, and she didn’t like the smell of rotten eggs. Who knew?

      Jerome threw a piece of foam padding in Volka’s general direction and ripped out two more. Volka moved the foam to the spot in the ship’s keel that normally opened and pictured the men outside, scrubbing the ship with the foam. There was a whoosh, the floor opened, the foam fell, and the floor shut again. “How will they get up on top of her?” Volka asked.

      Jerome blinked inside his helmet as though her question was confusing. “Jump.”

      It was meters off the ground, but of course they were augmented. “Right,” said Volka and peered above her. A sort of smear appeared directly down the center of the roof.

      “Incoming,” said Jerome. “She has to open up.”

      Volka didn’t ask who, just pictured the keel opening again. Her stomach turned nauseously, and her nose itched. “I know it smells like rotten eggs, Sundancer,” she whispered. “But there are people out there.”

      The keel opened. There was a Marine below, his suit coated hopelessly with soot and ash, and next to him was an unsuited male figure, blackened from head to toe, his shirt pulled up over his nose and mouth. “Sixty!” she called, but the shirt fell, and an unfamiliar face looked up at her. The Marine’s helmet opened. “Lower the ship—but not all the way to the ground,” he shouted.

      Volka pictured the ship lowering. Jerome was at the edge of the opening an instant later, bending over and hauling the human up. Was it Okoro? The Marine who’d escorted him jumped in, turned around, and there was another unfamiliar civilian and another Marine unidentifiable in a coat of ash. Another civilian and another Marine emerged in the darkness, and another. A human woman, unconscious, missing an arm in what might have been scrubs was handed up gently. Volka’s eyes went wide, seeing what looked like Sixty’s shirt tied to the stump. Volka held her breath, but the next to be handed up was an injured Marine, moaning in her suit. Volka scrambled out of the way and then pushed her way between the new arrivals. Everyone was taller than her, packed tight in the space only lit by the tablet and the glow from a few neural ports. Everyone was coated in grime, their features hard to distinguish. She didn’t see Sixty. With her helmet’s visor shut, she couldn’t smell him.

      There was a huff of exertion from the Marines hauling people into the ship. Some were dressed in jumpsuits too stained by ash to identify their colors. They were frightened, and the Marines patted them on the shoulders and said soft words as they gently—but methodically—pushed them toward the back of the ship. But others they were hauling up were wearing black armor. They were all unconscious, and the Marines didn’t handle them gently. When one of those armored men stirred, Ramirez growled and stunned him fast.

      Volka pushed her way to the opening and saw them hauling up someone in a Fleet envirosuit. Through the suit’s visor, Volka saw a lock of gold hair and half-closed blue eyes sparking with electricity. It was James. There was a crackle, and streams of electricity sizzled along his suit as well. Noa jumped into the ship a few moments later. Heedless of the electricity, she hauled James into her arms. Raising her head, she called out, “Okoro?” A man shouted from the aft passageway, “Here.” At his response, Noa released an audible breath and carried James awkwardly toward the back.

      Their bridge was packed with Marines, the people in jumpsuits, and stunned men in black. “Sixty? Sixty?” Volka called out and got no response. More Marines jumped into the ship. From the amount of soot on them, she knew they had to be the ones who’d been cleaning Sundancer.  One of them said, “It’s getting worse by the second…it’s like a blizzard out there.”

      Could Sixty not see in the ash storm? Volka dropped to her stomach at the opening and hung outside the ship upside down. “Open my mask,” she commanded Bracelet.

      It opened with a snick and a hiss. Soot bit her lungs and nose, but in the darkness, she saw two glowing eyes. “Sixty!” she called out. He was already heading in the ship’s direction, and her call wasn’t needed, but she felt better seeing him. There was pressure on her chest, and she was hauled bodily upward into the ship. For the first time, she noticed the rank smell of burning hair and skin.

      “He’s fine, Volka. We need you to fly this thing,” Ramirez said.

      Volka’s ears struggled to flatten. Translation: Mind your part.

      A moment later, Sixty leaped inside. He landed with his face away from her, and she couldn’t read his expression, but she saw that in his arms he carried a civilian. Her eyes widened. It was Darlene Tong. “Sixty,” she shouted. Sixty’s head snapped in her direction, the movement too fast and sharp to be human. His eyes were glowing, and his soot black face was streaked by tears. Turning away, he said, “Medical!” And someone shouted from an aft compartment. “Back here!”

      “He’s fine,” Ramirez said again, though Volka couldn’t believe it. The memory of his tears was at the forefront of her mind.

      “Everyone is accounted for. Volka, take us back to Time Gate 1,” Admiral Sato ordered, her voice rising from the aft hallway, silencing the din. The admiral said nothing about James. Could he be fixed? Volka couldn’t think about it like Noa couldn’t think about it. Volka closed her eyes and had a moment of panic. “Carl?”

      “Suit-cased up and safe! Get us out of here.” She heard the words in her mind. She wouldn’t have been able to hear them with her ears. The bridge had filled with sound and conversation as soon as Noa had finished her command.

      Volka focused; she thought of Time Gate 1, and the gnawing anxiety returned, the anxiety of blindness. Sundancer couldn’t see…but how could that matter? When Volka had lost Carl at the Luddeccean embassy, Sundancer hadn’t needed to see him to find him sleeping in a window nook. When Volka had lost Sixty that same night, Sundancer hadn’t needed to see to find him in the kitchen.

      “We’re not moving,” someone said.

      “Volka—” the voice came from Lieutenant Young.

      “Shh…I’m thinking!” Volka exclaimed.

      Sundancer was telepathic. Maybe Sundancer’s “sight” through walls hadn’t been her “sight” at all. Maybe it had been telepathy? If everyone around the ship was blind, she couldn’t see…

      “Volka,” Young said in a low voice.

      “Please…be quiet,” she begged and bit her lip.

      There was no chance everyone in the volcano’s range was blind though…what could it be? She gasped in understanding. The humans in the eruption’s radius were blind, though—they would be relying on machines, reading schematics and charts with symbols that were abstractions, like language was an abstraction. Maybe Sundancer couldn’t understand them?

      “Bracelet,” Volka said, opening her eyes and ripping off her glove. “Do you have ethernet access? Are ships communicating with each other?”

      “It’s spotty but still available,” Bracelet said.

      “Project a holo of us and what is going on around us,” Volka commanded, ripping off her glove. And then added, “Please.”

      “On it…” A holo version of the scene outside sprung from Volka’s wrist before the final syllable.

      “Thank you,” Volka whispered, focusing on the holo. There were ships above them, and things that might be drones. Bracelet had turned the ash into a shimmering curtain of light that was pretty in the holo—not like the stinking, black shroud it really was. Bracelet showed the extent of the ash around them, above them, and where it came from. Not from the huge smoking peak Volka had noticed this morning, but from one of the smaller mountains. That must be Little Loaf. The scene shifted, and Volka felt the slight pressure of acceleration—muted, as it always was in Sundancer. A Shinar human standing nearby shouted, “That holo can’t be accurate! Little Loaf did not erupt.”

      His tone was angry. Volka’s eyes rose to him in alarm. All his attention was on the holo. Ramirez strode by her fast and was in the man’s face an instant later, pushing him to the back of the ship. “This way, sir,” he rumbled.

      Lieutenant Young moved her to the side, stood across from her, and shielded her and the holo from the crowd with an arm upon her shoulder. Another Marine backed up against Young’s arm, giving her more privacy. “Get her moving again,” Young said, which was when Volka realized Sundancer’s acceleration had stopped as her attention had wandered—or, perhaps Sundancer had felt the man’s disbelief and had become frightened. The cold heaviness in her gut made Volka think that was true.

      Focusing on the holo, she whispered, “It’s real, Sundancer,” and tried to feel certainty behind the words.

      Acceleration gently pressed into Volka’s heels again, and the holo shifted with Sundancer’s movement. Volka’s brow furrowed. Sundancer was striking out on a path that was nearly horizontal and much slower than the ship normally traveled.

      “She should be rising more,” Young said, frustration making his tone curt and loud.

      Nodding, Volka imagined Sundancer bursting from the volcano’s bloom into brilliant sunlight, but the ship’s path didn’t change, and she felt cold gnawing in her gut again.

      “Change her course, Volka,” Young commanded.

      Concentrating on the holo, Volka replied, “I can’t.”

      Young’s volume rose. “There are frightened, injured people on this ship, Volka. Change her course.”

      Volka snapped, “Have you ever considered Sundancer might be injured and frightened, too, Lieutenant?” Someone growled. It took a moment for Volka to register it was her. I’m not one of your Marines to order around, she didn’t say, but it was on the tip of her tongue. Beneath her helmet, her hair was trying to rise.

      Young’s nostrils flared. Returning her focus to the holo, Volka blinked as the bridge became bright. They’d left the plume of ash, and there were gasps as eyes adjusted to the change in light. The bridge was nowhere near as bright as it should have been. Sundancer’s walls were transparent again, but the ship’s exterior was coated in grime.

      On her wrist, Bracelet said, “We just cracked the sound barrier…with no boom.”

      “No boom” meant Sundancer was healthy, at least.

      “What’s our heading?” Young demanded.

      Bracelet rattled off some coordinates, but Volka, looking down between the feet of the crowd, already knew. “The sea.”

      Moments later, the ship dropped onto the surface of the ocean, skipping like a stone. Water splashed over her, the soot washed away, and moments later, Sundancer was rising up into the heavens. Volka’s mind filled with an image of Time Gate 1. “Now she’s taking you home.”

      Young might have been preparing to say something, but the world turned to light as Sundancer slipped through time and space…his jaw snapped closed when the world was visible again. Outside the ship, Time Gate 1 slowly spun. Along its ring, lights within winked cheerfully, and ships were coming and going. In the distance was the brilliant blue sphere of Earth and the dreary gray of Earth’s single moon. Volka let out a long breath. It wasn’t her home. Home was the asteroid with Sixty, Carl, Sundancer, and now Bracelet, Shissh, and FET12.

      A hangar door slid open at their approach.

      “That’s ours,” Young said.

      Volka’s eyes focused on it, and at a gentle thought from her, Sundancer swooped gracefully toward it.

      Just a little while now, and she could really go home. Remembering the kiss Sixty had given her, she touched her lips and her heart sank…Could she go home again?

    

  


  
    
      
        
          
            19

          

          
            Waylaid

          

          Galactic Republic: Time Gate 1

        

      

    

    
      6T9 sat in one of the aft compartments, Dr. Tong clutched to his chest as injured former patients and Marines were ushered off the ship first, and then the Minister’s Guard who had survived the scuffle. There had been more of the Minister’s Guard in Dr. Tong’s cell than were aboard. Were they dead? A stunner at close range and one to the head could kill—maybe 6T9 wasn’t the only one aboard who’d murdered. His Q-comm sparked, informing him that the action the Marines had undertaken at Shinar’s hospital was legal, and therefore the deaths of the prime minister’s men weren’t technically murder. The prime minister’s men were still dead. They didn’t have time gates with vast servers dedicated to storing their thoughts to back them up. Unless…well…unless they did. They were cyborgs. They weren’t without ether. They might have had all their experiences uploading in real-time…

      He frowned. It wouldn’t be fair if they did—not if Dr. Tong and the woman in the stairwell did not. Dr. Darlene Tong was dead, which was why he hadn’t exited with the others. He hadn’t realized it when he’d picked her up. It wasn’t until he’d been carrying her back to the aft compartment that he’d noticed. He’d ducked his ear to her lips, his cheek had brushed her skin, and he’d realized that she was 4.5 C degrees cooler than she should have been. A Marine had hardlinked with her and confirmed that according to her internal records, she’d been dead for nearly an hour. 6T9 hadn’t set her down after the pronouncement. He couldn’t say why. Ramirez, 6T9 remembered, had looked shocked and anguished when 6T9 had spotted him kneeling over Tong in her cell. 6T9 was 98.5% sure Ramirez had realized she was deceased then; it explained the Marine’s expression of dismay: Mission failure. Civilian dead.

      And yet…6T9 had seen Ramirez face his own imminent death with an odd combination of determination and good cheer when they’d battled the animals infected by the Dark on S33O4.

      6T9 bowed his head, circuits dim. He was pinging James over the ether. He hadn’t gotten a response after forty-two attempts, and he’d set the ping to auto-repeat.

      Ramirez’s footsteps approached him. “One of the Minister’s Service guys said she died accidentally.”

      6T9’s fingers tightened on Tong’s body. He should be furious that Tong’s death was an “accident.” And he was. But then again, he hadn’t thought “I’ll kill him,” when he’d thrown the first man on the grenade. He had thought of Agnes in the hall in only thin scrubs and his own synth hide. He hadn’t thought “I’ll kill him,” when he’d pistol whipped the second man. He’d only thought, “He can’t get up and hurt someone else.” Or maybe he hadn’t really thought at all. He’d experienced rage—the white out in his vision—and he’d acted.

      Staring at Tong, Ramirez turned his head as though preparing to spit and then seemed to think better of it. The floor was a mess with soot and blood from Celia’s injury—it had reopened when they’d cleaned and re-bandaged it. No one would notice a little spit. Volka’s dress was on the floor, too. It had been neatly folded and set in a corner when he walked in. Somehow, now it was a tangled, bloody, dirty mess.

      Lighter footsteps padded behind Ramirez. Volka was next to the Marine a minute later, Carl on her shoulder. She wore the envirosuit Fleet had given her. As he’d feared, she’d been ready to charge in after him. Her face was gray with soot, probably from when she’d lunged out of the ship.

      “Tong’s dead,” 6T9 explained.

      “We need to take her in for autopsy,” Ramirez said to 6T9.

      “I’m so sorry,” said Volka at nearly the same time.

      Carl sighed on her shoulder. “Ah, Hatchling.” Carl’s whiskers had thinned out in the past few hours, and the fur on his snout was patchy.

      6T9 blinked. He did not know Dr. Darlene Tong, but her death did feel like a failure—in emotional shorthand, it hurt. So did the death of the unknown woman in the stairwell. She’d died because he’d tried to fix a bug, because he hadn’t waited to understand the changes James’s updates had made in him. He needed to integrate those changes with his original programming, not undo them. Her death and Tong’s death made his circuits darken, and that was a relief. He could crush a man’s skull and throw a man on top of a live grenade, but a bit of the former him remained even with his new programming.

      A spark lit in his mind. Volka and Carl knew he hurt without being told. Maybe even before he realized it—his new programming made him doubt what he was feeling and thinking. “Thank you,” he said to the two of them. Carl chirped, and Volka touched his arm.

      The deaths of the Minister’s Service felt like failure too, in a different way. The whole confrontation had been pointless. His Q-comm sparked. But maybe it hadn’t seemed so to the men in the Minister’s Service. If they had “accidentally” killed Tong, they were guilty of manslaughter, and considering the whole reason for her arrest was questionable under Republic Law, possibly guilty of more than that.

      Their deaths might be failures—he might not have needed to kill them—but he’d commit both “murders” over again. Agnes’s life and the lives of the other prisoners were worth it. So was his life. 6T9 blinked. He was allowed to value his life as more valuable than the lives of others now.

      Cleaning ‘bots whizzed into the ship, and 6T9 said to Ramirez, “Who do I need to get the body to?”

      “There’s a team coming to the hangar for her,” he replied.

      Nodding, 6T9 rose and began down the corridor that led to the bridge.

      Volka followed, saying, “They have Sundancer’s new armor ready for testing. They’d like us to stay a while. We’ve been given rooms at the Diplomatic Corps Time Gate 1 residence. We can get showers there.”

      6T9 glanced down at his fingers. They were nearly black with soot, and the part of his programming responsible for hygiene began flashing a little red light in the periphery of his vision. “I would like that.” He tried to turn off the warning but was distracted by a response from James on his 202nd attempt to ping him. He answered immediately.

      James’s thoughts exploded in his mind. “Stop it, 6T9. I’m repairable.”

      6T9 exclaimed aloud, “James is repairable.”

      He realized his lips had curled in a slight smile while he cradled a corpse. Was that wrong? Volka and Ramirez smiled too, though. Not wide grins, but gentle upturns of their lips. On Volka’s shoulders, Carl bobbed, and his ethernet-to-speech “necklace” crackled. “Is he cantankerous? If he is not cantankerous, he isn’t really well.”

      For Volka’s benefit, 6T9 asked aloud and into the ether, “Are you cantankerous, James?”

      “What the shorted circuits is that supposed to mean?” James replied.

      Twisting his head to the side as though he’d been physically slapped, 6T9 grinned. “I believe he will be fully repaired.”

      Carl cheeped. Volka and Ramirez’s tentative smiles stretched a little wider. They hopped out of the opening in Sundancer’s keel and found themselves in the hangar.

      “Upload your memory of events to Noa. I’ll see you later,” James said and disconnected.

      6T9’s smile dropped as a team in Fleet gray emerged from an airlock, a coffin-shaped stasis container hovering between them. The stasis chamber’s lid slid away as the Fleet members approached Sundancer.

      Without being told, 6T9 gently set Dr. Tong into the chamber, his hands leaving gray smudges in the pristine white coffin. The red light from his hygiene sensors was still blinking. He badly needed a shower and maybe a reboot…and sex—or, at the very least, self-maintenance. His ether started to ping. The caller was the stasis chamber—unusual, but not unheard of. He answered to a robotic voice flooding the ether. “Android General 1, it is an honor, sir!”

      Jerking back from the ‘bot coffin, 6T9 asked silently, “Do you need some data from me for the autopsy?” That had to be why it pinged him.

      “No, I just wanted to be able to say I said hello to you.”

      6T9’s eyes narrowed first in frustration—a woman was dead, and the ‘bot’s cheerful exclamation was off putting—and then they narrowed further in suspicion. 6T9 asked silently, “Did you just come from Time Gate 5?”

      “Yes, sir!”

      Over the ether, he replied, “Do me the honor of finding out exactly how this woman died.”

      “Oh, yes, sir, I will, sir. And all other trauma before the death she suffered as well. My scans indicate she took quite a beating before—”

      Circuits dimming, 6T9 responded across the ether, “Thank you. I must go now,” and disconnected. Aloud, he said, “I need a shower.”

      Twenty-five minutes later, 6T9 was in the shower in his room of the Diplomatic Corp residence. The water between his feet was finally running clear. His chemical sensors assured him he would not stink of sulfur to a human nose and hopefully not to a weere’s. The packet that held Eliza’s ashes and his access key lay on the soap tray, freshly washed. Even in his inside pocket they had become coated with sulfur-stinking ash. He leaned his forehead against the wall. It was a perfect time for self-maintenance. Oddly, the image that first came to his mind was Volka in Sundancer, in her Fleet issued suit, saying she was sorry for Tong’s death, and then Volka earlier, in her very modest summer dress, saying that if his programming update kept his Q-comm from going offline, her bruises were completely worth it. They weren’t erotic images at all. He tried to focus his attention on his memories of his time with her in No Weere...but what he kept thinking of wasn’t the almost coupling in the forest, but Volka frenzied in lust, growling, and shoving him outside of her room.

      His vision flashed white.
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      Volka was in the kitchen of the Diplomatic Corps’s residence, staring into the refrigerator. Freshly showered, she was wearing a thin, scratchy, medical scrub-like, short sleeved tunic and matching drawstring pants. Both were much too big for her.

      “Your new clothes should arrive in the next twenty minutes,” Bracelet said.

      She was wearing Bracelet, too.

      “Thank you for ordering them,” she replied. Bracelet had ordered them for her over the ethernet from local shops. Volka hadn’t even thought about doing that. She’d been in the Republic long enough; she really should start thinking of such things herself.

      “You’re welcome,” Bracelet chirped with a self-satisfied hum.

      Bowing to peer inside the fridge, Volka grimaced at a half-eaten Insta Quinoa Lentil Pilaf. She was hungry, but not that hungry.

      Standing on his hindmost legs on the counter, Carl asked, “Anything other than tofu and vegetables in there?”

      Volka sighed, pushing a container of soy milk away from the pilaf. “No, I…” Her eyes went wide. “Ooh…eggs! I could cook them…”

      “Nah, I don’t want to wait that long.”

      Sighing in relief, she pulled out the carton and placed it on the counter. “Me, either.”

      She handed an egg to Carl and took one for herself. They toasted with their eggs, and then Carl cracked his with his teeth and began lapping out the insides. Volka cracked hers on the counter and swallowed the insides whole. In the background she heard Sixty’s shower shut off.

      She took out another egg, cracked it, and, hearing heavy footfalls from the direction of Sixty’s room, swallowed quickly. Tossing the shells in the sink, she turned and found Sixty entering the kitchen. His hair was wet and disheveled. He was wearing a thin, white robe that fell to just below his knees. She inhaled the familiar scents of plastic, metal, synthetic scent, grease—and a new tinge of sulfur. Moisture was glistening on his skin. Before she could form a question or even a thought, he strode across the room and caught her chin gently with his fingers. Meeting his gaze, her lips formed words she never had a chance to speak, because a heartbeat later he kissed her. It had the same effect it had had on her in the ship. Electricity and heat shot from where their flesh touched, she rose to her toes, and heaven help her, she kissed him back. Even as she did, she felt like she was destroying something precious. How could she go back to the asteroid now? They weren’t suited, and she couldn’t bond again with someone who couldn’t love her the way she needed to be loved. Her fingers found the lapels of his robe, and she clung onto them with such fierceness her knuckles ached. It was a goodbye kiss. It would have to be, and she wanted to make it last.

      But it didn’t. Sixty pulled away too quickly, licked his lips, and stared down at her. Her chest felt heavy. She took a shallow breath. She could hear every air vent in the suite and every electronic hum—especially the one in his chest. She didn’t look away from his gold flecked eyes, afraid she was looking at them for the last time. She couldn’t be what he needed, and he couldn’t be what she needed.

      “Volka, marry me.”

      Sixty’s mouth was moving, but she couldn’t connect the words to his lips.

      There was a splat beside her on the counter. “You made me drop my egg!” Carl complained.

      “So romantic!” Bracelet chirped.

      “Wha...what?” Volka stammered, not sure if she was awake.

      “Marry me,” Sixty said.

      Volka stared at him. “Are you teasing?” He looked very serious, but she couldn’t read him as easily as a human or weere. She had to go with her eyes and ears and brain with Sixty; her nose and her telepathy didn’t work.

      “I am very serious,” he replied.

      His hands wrapped around her and smoothed along her body from her shoulders to the arch of her back.

      “I thought you…you can’t…” Be faithful, she couldn’t say.

      “I couldn’t be monogamous before. I couldn’t turn anyone down, even when I wanted to.” His lips twisted in a grim line. “Not directly.”

      Oh. She swallowed.

      Bowing slightly, so his face was closer to hers, he whispered, “But I can be monogamous now. It was part of my latest system update.”

      Volka gasped. “You changed your programming…” Her mind whirred, remembering the 6T9 unit she’d met in New Grande who’d been set to “monogamous.” It had been faithful. “For me?”

      “For me. I wanted to be able to keep you safe and be with you in all ways.” Moving closer, he whispered against her lips, “I don’t want to share you with anyone.”

      Volka’s blood pounded in her ears so loud she thought she might go deaf. Her hands tightened on his robe, and she pulled him to her, or herself to him. His mouth found hers an instant later and she could feel every inch of him along her body—Eliza’s ashes in the single gargantuan pocket of the robe and his hardware. Gasping, she pulled back and growled, “I will not share you with anyone, either!”

      His lips curling into a smile was the last thing she saw before she kissed him again. His tongue teased the edges of her mouth, and his hands went lower. The next thing she knew, he picked her up and set her on the counter. Their bodies were flush, but he still wasn’t close enough. Her legs wrapped around him and pulled their bodies as tight as she could. His hands came up to cup the back of her ears, and Volka moaned into his mouth. She was vaguely aware of Bracelet clearing her throat, of a ping somewhere, and then Carl’s voice exploding in her mind. “Incoming!”

      The sound of boots made them both look to the side, gasping for air. There were four people in Fleet grays in the kitchen and one man in civilian clothes. Volka still had her legs wrapped around Sixty’s back, and his hands were still around her waist. Instead of letting her go, Sixty pulled her tighter. Her brain spun in confusion. He wasn’t letting her go…and why was that shocking to her?

      Because Alaric would have jumped back and made an excuse.

      Because Sixty wasn’t ashamed of her.

      The thought was so stunning she froze exactly as she was.

      One of the men in Fleet grays said, “I’m sorry if I’m interrupting anything,” in a tone that said he definitely was not sorry. “But we need to interro—we need to hear exactly what you remember from your time on Shinar, Miss Volka, before your damned primitive Luddeccean bio-brain forgets everything that happened.”

      Volka’s lip curled in a snarl. She almost growled, but Carl’s speech-to-ether device crackled. “Volka, you mind read that last bit from the lieutenant about primitive bio-brains.”

      “Oh, what did he think? What did he think?” Bracelet asked.

      The lieutenant’s face flushed.

      Sixty spoke in his General voice. “An eidetic memory does not make a brain sophisticated, Lieutenant. Take it from an android that once didn’t have a Q-comm.” The words were icy, cold, and without inflection. Spoken like logic, they warmed Volka’s heart. He wasn’t letting her go. He was defending her…because he was serious. She was his, and he was taking care of her. He’d asked her to marry him, and he’d meant it.

      Had there been a tiny part of her that had disbelieved? There must have been, because his care was leaving her in shock. But Sixty wouldn’t hurt her emotionally…he couldn’t—not intentionally—and an insincere offer of marriage would be devastating.

      The lieutenant’s Adam apple bobbed. Taking a half step back, he bowed. “If you please, Miss Volka?”

      She unhooked her legs from Sixty’s back. He released her waist. The drawstring of her loose, too-large trousers had come undone, and he tied it for her. His fingers were deft, his touch light; where they brushed her body, they left trails of heat. Stepping back, he offered his hand and helped her off the counter. It was a good thing. She felt dizzy. Overwhelmed.

      “You can get dressed if you like,” the lieutenant said.

      “Actually, we can’t,” Volka said.

      “Our clothes were destroyed in Shinar,” Sixty finished.

      “Two people who’ve seen real action. That will tick the lieutenant straight off,” said one of the Fleet personnel, which was strange. The Republic was more relaxed about social hierarchies, but no one would put down Lieutenant Young like that. Her ears flicked. Which one had said it?

      “Err…Volka,” said Carl.

      Someone else said, “Destroyed while they were rescuing an important scientist and innocent civilians. There couldn’t be a better excuse for being improperly clothed.” Volka’s ears flicked, trying to place which one of them actually said it. She hadn’t seen anyone’s lips move. Again, it seemed improper.

      But it was also right. They had lost their clothing doing something noble and important and dangerous, and if Sixty kissed her afterward…well, they both owed each other a kiss after that. And he asked her to marry him, which made them practically engaged. Volka refused to be embarrassed, even if maybe she should. People in the Republic wore much less and did more in public than just kissing.

      The lieutenant gestured to the living room, and she went.

      “Hopefully, we won’t need them for faster-than-light travel much longer,” the lieutenant said.

      Volka couldn’t even be mad at him for his rudeness. “We hope you won’t need us for faster-than-light travel, too,” she replied, sitting on a love seat. Tilting his head, Sixty raised an eyebrow and sat beside her.

      The lieutenant had barely moved from the kitchen. His mouth was agape. “How did you…how…?”

      “You’re reading minds again, Volka,” Carl said. He’d appropriated another egg, and he waved it about for emphasis.

      She blinked. “I don’t feel tired. I feel wide awake.”

      “I would say it is your heightened emotional state,” the werfle, replied, gripping the egg with his middle paw pairs, hopping over to the love seat, and taking a seat on one of the arms.

      Volka glanced at Sixty and murmured, “Over cloud sixty-nine.” It came out half between a statement and a question. He held out his hand. She took it and felt his fingers wrap around hers. Forget needing to go back to the asteroid; she was already home.

      “I’m ready,” she said, facing her inquisitors. “For anything.”

      
        
          
            [image: ]
          

        

      

      6T9 hadn’t been planning to ask Volka to marry him when he walked out of the shower. He’d just wanted her. His vision had flashed white—like it had done just before he’d punched James and during his rages on Shinar—and he’d found himself in the kitchen proposing.

      Unlike the other incidents, the proposal had gone well. Very, very well. Volka’s response had been passionately positive. His hands flexed, remembering the curves of her sides and the softness of her ears in his hands. His sensory receptors lit everywhere their bodies had touched. Even with the thin garment between them, she’d been so warm and alive. The heat from his shower had been converted by his skin to power. The heat from Volka’s shower had caused her capillaries to dilate, and her skin to be almost feverish to the touch. It had been better than self-maintenance. If he thought about it, in hindsight, it was the perfect thing to ask. Normally, he was against marriage. It was an archaic institution, but it was customary in Volka’s culture. Marriage wasn’t necessary for relationship longevity in cultures where it wasn’t the norm. However, in populations where marriage was the norm, cohabiting partners were statistically more likely to have more doubts in their relationship. He didn’t want Volka to have doubts. And it was right to ask Volka as soon as possible. He knew he wanted to be with Volka for as long as possible. Better to put her doubts to rest immediately and tie themselves together now.

      He tilted his head, half listening to the lieutenant’s questions. Was the flash of white just his Q-comm thinking too fast for his local operating system to fully comprehend what it was up to? His Q-comm had been set free from the confines of his original programming: don’t kill, don’t hurt unless requested, and have sex with anyone who asks directly unless it violates the first two rules. Maybe his Q-comm ruled him now more than his original body? His circuits dimmed as he remembered the bruises on Volka’s arms and his brief thoughts of deceiving her…his programming wasn’t integrated well, but he’d work out his features and his bugs—in the meantime, he wouldn’t share her with anyone. His hand tightened around Volka’s, and all his circuits sparked. He wanted to just dwell on that sensation, but his Q-comm sparked again. He frowned and reached out to the local news ether to hear words about Shinar…maybe because the business there might still affect Carl, Sundancer, Volka, and himself—maybe because the part of him that enjoyed thinking just wanted input.

      In the real world, Volka was saying, “And then I called Sundancer while we were at the Bestiary…”

      Over the ether, 6T9 found a fascinating hypothesis concerning Little Loaf’s eruption: the mycelium of the Shinar truffles was so extensive, it put pressure on the mantle beneath the mountain and had caused the eruption. There was even a hypothesis that the fungus needed infrequent but violent volcanic eruptions. Both of these hypotheses had been put forward by postdocs at Shinar university decades ago. They’d never received research funding or tenure, and the postdocs had left academia for private industry off world.

      Despite the events of the day, 6T9’s mouth watered at memory of the Shinar truffles. To think his taste of heaven had brought about a bit of hell…the clever turn of phrase made him smile, which it should not. There were humans dying. He flicked his attention to the news reports of Fleet’s evacuation of Shinar…and found that it had united many factions in the Galactic Republic Senate. The Shinar System had not been maintaining an adequate Local Guard, their ships were grounded due to personnel shortages, and Fleet was having to divert more ships than originally planned. There were over 10,000 suspected dead…

      Noa started pinging him. James pinged, too. Bracelet interrupted Volka, “Miss Volka, Admiral Sato and James Sinclair are pinging you now.”

      Before 6T9 could answer the pings, the Shinar report stopped. An announcer’s voice rang in his mind. “We interrupt this broadcast—” 6T9 half expected to hear the latest updates on the holostar who’d been the Venus de Willendorf, and then the Venus de Rubens—was she still Ruben’s Venus? “—for an emergency.” It was a live ethercast, and in his mind’s eye the broadcaster was sweating. Speech was too slow, and 6T9 switched to a binary code version of the announcement.

      His vision went white as the ones and zeros were digested by his processor. He blinked and his eye lights switched on by some new bug in his programming, making the interviewers gasp and shade their eyes. Static flared beneath his skin, and his Q-comm flashed. The Dark was attacking the Republic. His Q-comm fired.

      “Volka, get your envirosuit on now.”
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      The sun was warm and welcome on Alaric’s back. Even in summer, the Northern provinces where his parents lived could be cool. He was standing with Alexis and Corporal Sebastian Tremain, one of her guards, in a hollow to the North of his parents’ house. The house was invisible from here, a field of oats, still green this early in the season, wrapped around a hill between them and it. On the hilltop, a windmill that was older than Alaric turned in the brisk breeze. At its base was a new gas generator that came instantly to life whenever the wind died, or the family needed more electricity. The generator wasn’t the only thing new at his parents’ farm. The house had been expanded, the furniture updated—they’d slept very comfortably on a brand-new mattress on a brand-new bed that fit his whole 190 centi length and Alexis. His parents had more livestock and better crops from the latest selectively bred seeds.

      None of this had been given to them directly—his parents were too stubborn for charity—but after Alaric had fallen in line with the clan’s plans, opportunities for his family had suddenly materialized. His father had gotten an extremely well-paid, part-time position as a math teacher for the province’s most gifted students. Distributors for New Prime restaurants had requested his parents’ dairy products. His brothers had gotten choice apprenticeships, and during a visit to his grandparents’ home, his sister had met her husband.

      He squinted between the trees that ringed the hollow and gave the place further privacy. The windmill’s blades were gleaming white. It was new, too.

      Alexis raised her phaser pistol and aimed it at the target at the other end of the hollow. Her nearly black hair was pulled back more severely than usual, and her posture, once again, was too straight. “Bend your knees and lean forward to absorb the recoil,” Alaric said.

      Alexis dutifully did as she was told, but her arms shook slightly, and her shot hit a tree above the target. It smoked, but thankfully did not catch.

      Sebastian’s eyes met Alaric’s, and the Guardsman smiled slightly. Sebastian had hit that same tree a decade or so ago. Sebastian was Alaric’s cousin—or more accurately, second cousin once removed—on his mother’s side. Eleven years younger than Alaric, they’d actually been reasonably close in the way even distant cousins with limited social circles tended to be. Alaric had taught him to shoot in this same place. Since family wasn’t allowed to serve under family, the Guard must not be aware they were related. Sebastian was proud and never behaved in a way that was familiar while on duty, or when any of his fellow Guardsmen were around and hadn’t given the relationship away. At the moment, the rest of Alexis’s guards were out of sight up on the hilltops surrounding them. For all they knew, Alaric was down here having a little bit of target practice, wife tagging dutifully along with a picnic basket.

      All of Alexis’s guards had exemplary records and yet…Before this little adventure, Alaric had taken Sebastian aside, and, after telling him his plans, had said, “I’d appreciate if you didn’t mention it to anyone. It’s not common in the city for ladies to shoot; it would be seen as vulgar. My wife has been the focus of a lot of gossip, and I’d like it kept quiet.”

      “Of course, Captain,” Sebastian had replied, shaking his head, probably in disbelief. Both of their mothers were tough, rural women who could and did shoot.

      “Not even your mother,” Alaric had added, and Sebastian’s eyes had widened.

      Sebastian’s mother had once famously shot at a salesman who had taken a shortcut through her precious marigolds. She hadn’t killed him—but she’d blown a hole in the vacuum he’d been toting. The local authorities knew if she’d been trying to kill him, he’d have been dead, and she was never prosecuted. “All right,” Sebastian said, smiling a little. “Not even Mum.”

      “Do I have your word as a Guardsman or as family?” Alaric had pressed.

      Smile stretching into a grin, Sebastian had flushed. “Both…Cuz.”

      Alaric had found himself grinning back. They shook hands, caught each other in shoulder hugs, and Alaric figured the secret was as safe as it could be with anyone. It wasn’t the neighbors that worried him, or the Guard, either. It was the Dark. It had been in his wife’s mind and thought Alexis was helpless with a firearm. If she ever faced one of the infected again, he wanted it to think she was helpless.

      Huffing, Alexis’s lips thinned. “I did it before. I’ll do it again.” She raised the pistol, but once again was standing too straight.

      “You’re getting tired,” Alaric said. “The phaser pistol is too heavy and too big for your hands.” Alexis was a tall woman—Sebastian was centis shorter—but her hands were centis smaller.

      “So, I’m a lost cause?” she sneered, though the way she ducked her head, he knew her mood was directed toward herself.

      He kept his voice gentle. “No, you’ve been using the wrong weapons.”

      She scowled at him.

      “You were worried that if something happened to one of your guards, you wouldn’t be able to operate their weapons. Now you know how to.” She had insisted on coming out to the farm to learn, away from polite society, but unless they came here more often, she’d never get stronger and improve…and he doubted she’d come here more often. This was only their second visit in their entire marriage, and Alexis was embarrassed to be out here for such an unladylike reason.

      Before they’d come, she’d asked him, “What will your mother think if she knew you were teaching me how to fire a pistol?”

      “That a real woman fires a shotgun,” Alaric had responded, not even joking.

      A few paces behind Alexis was a large boulder where his Guard issue tactical bag sat next to her picnic basket. Heading toward it, he gestured. “Come here. I’ve got something else for you.”

      Unzipping a smaller compartment on the bag, he laid it open for Alexis to inspect. Raising an eyebrow, she pulled out a magazine. “It’s filled with bullets, not phase-gel.”

      Taking the magazine from her, Alaric nodded. “Seven rounds that will always be ready to fire in an instant and never need to be charged. The cartridges are armor busting—that doesn’t mean that a round is lethal to someone wearing the sort of armor Sebastian has on—but it will damage the interior latticework. Four bullets in a diamond pattern will be lethal at twenty meters.” He spoke confidently even as he worried that in a high stress situation, she wouldn’t be able to hit a target twenty meters away. Especially if she didn’t practice. Hope she’s closer if it does happen, he told himself. Hope it doesn’t happen at all.

      Alexis’s fingers drifted over four grips in the case. “These are all the same part.”

      “They’re different sizes,” Alaric said. “Find the one that is most comfortable.”

      Alexis picked them up and tried each in turn. When she had selected one, Alaric said, “Put the rest of it together.”

      He’d given her the pistol and rifle disassembled, too, and given her the same order. He’d done the same with Sebastian when teaching him to shoot with his father’s old pistol. Alaric liked knowing how things worked; figuring out how to piece things together was the best way to do that. Sebastian had protested. Alexis hadn’t. She looked at all the pieces carefully, taking them out of their compartments, turning them around in her hand, and then putting them back just as carefully before moving on to the next piece. It wasn’t until she’d looked at all the parts that she even attempted to assemble the weapon. When she did, she did it amazingly quickly, as though she’d done it many times before.

      “Very good,” Alaric said. “It’s biometrically activated once it’s been imprinted to you.”

      Alexis raised an eyebrow. “I thought it doesn’t need electricity?”

      “It doesn’t…or rather, the amount it uses is so small that the motion you expend pulling it from your skirts is enough to charge it and read your handprint. We’ll make sure it’s the right size first, though.”

      Alexis’s lips parted. “Pull it from my skirts?”

      She had said she didn’t want a weapon of her own; she didn’t want a firearm in the house where the boys could get at it. But how realistic was it in an emergency that she’d be able to grab a weapon from a downed man? If the man was down, he was in the line of fire. He decided not to argue the point for the time being.

      Handing her the magazine, he said, “Why don’t you try hitting the target?”

      Her eyes narrowed at him, but she assumed the stance she’d decided she liked best— foot of dominant hand back slightly, body square to target. She let her knees bend and leaned forward this time, arms not shaking a bit. “It’s so much lighter!” Alexis exclaimed and actually smiled.

      Expression becoming serious again, she took a deep breath, fired, and hit the target a little off center. Lowering the weapon, she took a deep breath and tried again. And again. And again.

      Sebastian whistled. “Not bad, ma’am. You got a nice triangle there.”

      “Not a diamond, though,” Alexis scowled. “And if I have to lower the pistol and take a deep breath before each shot, I’m as good as—” She huffed and raised her left hand in a dismissive motion.

      “It’s your first time,” Alaric said. “Your first time it’s good to go slow and it’s all right to make mistakes.”

      The scowl melted into a smirk, as though prompted by a secret joke. She could be quite witty. Alaric’s eyebrow lifted. “What? Tell me.”

      Alexis’s lips formed an o. She cast a furtive glance at Sebastian—his back was to them, but he was close. She cast another glance at Alaric, bit her lip, and flushed.

      Oh. Alaric remembered when he’d given that same speech about first times after their wedding. He smiled. It was funny.

      Alexis smiled back at him; for a moment, they were smiling at the same time. And then her smile dropped so quickly he wondered if that moment of shared humor had angered her. Turning back to the target, she finished the magazine, shooting no faster than she had before.

      Alexis finished one more magazine, and the target—a polymer sheet made for phasers’ heat, not for projectiles—was ribbons.

      “I’ll change it,” Alaric said, new poly sheet target already in hand.

      He took a step toward the target, and Alexis said, “I did talk to Holly about my other problem.”

      She was going to talk about such personal matters now? Barely managing to keep a straight face, Alaric looked over his shoulder. Sebastian was prowling at the edge of the trees, thankfully out of earshot.

      “She said it usually resolves after the birth of another child.” Alexis’s face crumpled, as though she might cry, but she didn’t. “If the birth goes well. If the doctor isn’t…”

      A bloody bastard who needs his hands broken.

      “...aggressive,” Alexis finished.

      She was saying they needed to make another baby. Normally he wasn’t against it—or against just practicing—but he did like it when his wife enjoyed herself. She could still have pleasure, just not in the baby making part, which made things awkward and uncomfortable all around.

      Alexis slammed a magazine into the pistol. “I want a girl next time.”

      “Ah…that’s not something I can promise,” Alaric said, eyebrow rising.

      “I know that. Still, if it’s not a girl, it will be your fault.” The tiniest of smirks touched her lips.

      She was joking with him again.

      “Far be it from me to argue with a woman with a pistol,” he replied, smirking himself.

      The smirk stretched into a grin. “You ought not.”

      For a moment it, was like they were almost friends. And then Sebastian’s radio crackled. “Something’s up at the house,” he said. “Your mother is—”

      “Alaric!” Alaric’s mother’s voice, loud and startled, rang down the hills.

      Rushing to the edge of the trees, he saw her racing down the hill, silhouetted against the sky, skirts swirling, fair hair flying. He was running toward her an instant later. “What’s—?”

      A sonic boom cracked louder than thunder, cutting off his words, and the Merkabah was suddenly behind her like a giant, black bird.

      Reaching him, clasping his arms, she shouted over the roar of its engines. “You’re needed. They wouldn’t tell me what for.”

      Even remote places like his parents’ farm was in earshot of air raid sirens, dutifully tested once a month at ten a.m. on Tuesdays. If the Dark was on Luddeccea, the air raid sirens would be on. Every person would know to go to their home and turn on their radios for instructions. But that the Merkabah was here could only mean the Dark had struck. He swallowed. Libertas? Atlantia? God, let it be a small icy rock.

      The Merkabah flew over the hollow, circled midair, and initiated its landing sequence atop the hill just north.

      Not letting go of his mother, he pulled her across the flat of the hollow. “You’re not in immediate danger, Mother.”

      Reaching Alexis, he said, “Keep the pistol on you. There’s a holster in the bag. Sebastian can show you how to biometrically activate it.”

      Alexis stared at him blankly. She’d already tucked the evidence away, he noted.

      “Please,” he urged.

      She nodded barely perceptibly. And then her eyes went past him, and she shrieked, clutching her hand to her mouth. Alaric spun just in time to see Solomon slinking from the picnic basket. Half kneeling, Alaric held out an arm, and Solomon sprang upon it and crawled up to his shoulder. On the hilltop, the Merkabah was dropping a gangplank.

      “Mother, say goodbye to Father for me,” Alaric said, turning briefly to her and catching her in a hug. She nodded against his chest, and he could feel the dampness of tears against his shirt. Turning back to his wife, he took a step toward her. “Alexis…”

      Her face was expressionless. She nodded. “Go.” Her posture was ramrod straight, hands at her sides. The fragile camaraderie between them had broken.

      “Right,” he said, but hesitated. “Tell the boys—”

      “I will.” Her posture did not change.

      They’d just been talking about making a baby together. Solomon cheeped sadly near Alaric’s ear. Was the unemotional person in front of him who she was or who she thought she was supposed to be? With a huff of exasperation, he grasped her upper arms and kissed her forehead. She didn’t bend or soften.

      Without looking back, Alaric half jogged, half strode up the hill, Solomon’s claws digging into his skin. Guardsmen came to attention as he reached the gangplank. To Ko, his new first, Alaric said, “Where is it?”

      Silently he begged, please be an icy moon or an asteroid far from the central system.

      “It’s the Republic, sir. System 5, the main planet...We’re being asked to assist.”

      Alaric almost exhaled in relief before remembering that was much, much worse.
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      “What is going on in System 5, Bracelet?” Volka asked, slipping on her boots in her quarters in the Diplomatic Corps’s residence.

      Voice in a robotic data dump, Bracelet said, “I’m not tapped into Galactic Intelligence, so all reports I can give are from holocasters. Time Gate 5 is secure.”

      “Thank God,” said Volka.

      “Err…I’d thank the System 5 Local Guard,” Bracelet interjected, but continued, “Unregistered vessels initiated an attack on the main planet.”

      Volka hadn’t put her helmet on, and her ears went back at that.

      Picking up the final glove, Volka’s brow furrowed and she turned it around in her hand. “This glove is different.”

      “Mmmm-hmmm,” Bracelet said, sounding very satisfied. “I ordered it when I ordered your new clothes. It will hardlink me directly to the suit, so you never have to worry about jammers disconnecting me—”

      “So, no matter what, you’ll be able to talk to Suit all the time!” Volka exclaimed. “How lovely for you both.”

      “Err…” Bracelet cleared her throat. “I am more concerned with keeping you alive if you fall unconscious, but yes. Also, see the little window on the wrist?” Volka blinked. There was a disc of transparent plastic at the wrist of the glove, about the diameter of a Luddeccean watch face. Bracelet hummed happily. “I’ll be able to see and project holos through it, so you don’t have to take it off.”

      Volka’s eyes widened. Bracelet would be able to project holos and “see” even if the three of them—Suit, Bracelet, and Volka—were in vacuum. “I always knew you were brilliant, Bracelet.”

      “Err…” There was a knock at her door and Bracelet whispered, “That’s Sixty.”

      For a heartbeat, Volka hesitated. She felt like she was standing on the edge of a precipice. Had he really asked her to marry him minutes ago? Could he really flip a switch and be monogamous? Of course he could—she’d seen a monogamous version of his, well, species, in New Grande. But part of her felt like she had accepted too quickly because it would tie up a part of her life very neatly. If they were married, she wouldn’t have to leave the asteroid, and wouldn’t have to say goodbye to her best friend. Maybe she was just living in dreamland, like she had when she’d been with Alaric.

      Nervously licking her lips, she straightened. The door was ether dependent, so she said, “Please let him in, Bracelet.” The door slid open, and Sixty was there, wearing a Fleet envirosuit that made him blend into the residence’s white walls. He held his helmet in one hand, and he looked as handsome as ever, but his chin was dipped, his eyes were narrowed, and he was frowning. His free hand was clenched in a fist at his side.

      Volka’s ears curled, sure she’d fallen over the precipice and at any moment she’d shatter on rocks. He looked murderous, and it was strange to think of him that way. She waited for, “We acted in haste. We aren’t suited. It was a mistake.”

      Instead, Sixty said, “I wish I could take you and Carl back to the asteroid and lock out the universe.”

      …And she wasn’t crashing to the ground. She was still aloft. Still in shock, she realized, still wondering about the speed of it all, but hopeful. He had a colorful past—but could be more faithful than a human. And she—well, she’d nearly been involved with a married man. If Sixty hadn’t bumped into Alaric and her aboard the Merkabah. She blinked. He’d carried her away like a bride from that scene when she fractured her leg. A sex ‘bot and a weere, they were an odd couple, but maybe, just maybe, they were meant to be. She smiled sadly. “I wish you could, too.” Had she found a home for her heart to be safe just as everything else was going to hell? Stepping toward him, she held up a hand to his cheek. Rising to her tiptoes, she demanded, “Kiss me,” because it was suddenly urgent he do so. She needed confirmation of his commitment.

      His lips were on hers a moment later. The arm with the helmet went around her back, and he must have ripped off his glove because a moment later she felt his free hand on the back of her head, fingers running through her hair, heat trailing in their wake. Her own fingers skimmed his cheek. They were separated by layers of protective suiting, but it felt like nothing at all. And then Bracelet started to chime. Volka’s ears went back, and she dropped to her heels. Sixty was tall, and she felt a strain in her neck—but she relished it as much as the taste of him on her lips. Bracelet stopped chiming.

      Tapping his temple, he said, “I told the team we’re on our way.”

      They stepped out into the hallway, and Carl came hopping toward them. Not slowing, Sixty bent forward and held out his arm. Carl leapt up and scurried to his shoulder. Volka could feel the werfle’s tension in the pit of her stomach, and Sundancer’s, too. The ship knew something was happening, something dangerous, and Volka could feel her spaceship friend’s desire for Sixty, Carl, and Volka to be aboard. She found herself walking faster, and her brow furrowing.

      “I thought that it would come to Kanakah first,” she said, remembering previous conversations.

      Sixty grimaced. “It probably did, and we should have expected this. The Kanakah Cloud is vast and not particularly well patrolled. A small private gate like the one to the pirates’ planet wouldn’t be noticed—and we already knew that there were infected pirates.”

      “And from there they went to System 5?”

      “Probably not,” he said. “They probably went to System 6 first. There’s been unrest there for hundreds of years, and where there is unrest, there is lawlessness.”

      “Ooh…” said Bracelet. “More pirates!”

      “Yes,” Sixty explained, “Kanakah and System 6 are where the disease grew in strength. System 5, with all its trade with System 6, was the next obvious target.”

      Volka’s ears flicked. “How could pirate vessels get past System 5’s Local Guard?” She’d never heard of such a thing happening in the Republic. She looked up to him and saw a muscle in his jaw jump. “That is the big question.”

      Their footsteps echoed in the hallway. A few members of the Diplomatic Corps came out of their suites, ducked their heads, and retreated.

      Volka’s ears quivered. “Michael, the student activist in the riot in New Grande said that System 5’s Local Guard would use draftees as phaser fodder against pirates…” Her voice trailed off to a whisper. “...in System 6.”

      Carl squeaked. Sixty halted. Volka met their eyes in turn. Were they thinking what she was thinking?

      Carl touched his nose. “Contacting my species now.”

      Taking her hand, Sixty broke into a jog and spoke in a robotic voice. “Contacting Noa…”

      Sixty and Volka charged hand-in-hand into the foyer. Ramirez and Jerome were waiting for them there—Sixty didn’t let go.

      Volka knew Time Gate 1 listened in on everything Sixty and James did. Normally, the gate was a silent observer, but his voice suddenly piped through Bracelet and boomed through speakers on the wall. “I have commandeered a cab for you. It will be outside in 3.1 seconds.”

      “What—?” Jerome asked, eyeing the speakers in alarm.

      Breaking from a jog to a sprint, Volka said, “System 5’s Local Guard may be compromised!” And since System 5’s Local Guard had “secured” Time Gate 5, the gateway to thousands of outposts all over the galaxy, the whole galaxy might be compromised. Sixty and Volka raced through the front door and out onto the main thoroughfare of Time Gate 1, the Marines were only a step behind. A driverless hover sank from the ceiling, and its four doors lifted open. Volka jumped in. Clasping a squealing Carl around his neck, 6T9 somersaulted through the air over the hover and took the seat beside her. Ramirez followed 6T9, and Jerome jumped in behind Volka. Time Gate 1’s voice crackled over the hover’s speakers. “Hang on!” And then the hover was in the air before the Marines had sat down, Volka had strapped in, or the doors had even shut completely. The lights on the promenade dimmed; hovers and humans pulled to the side. Volka was slammed into her seat as the hover accelerated through the gate’s promenade. The doors slammed shut, and the hover was eerily silent. It smelled like new upholstery. Outside the windows the world blurred by. Volka looked to Sixty. His jaw was hard, his eyes ahead, but he turned to her and held out his hand. She took it, heart beating at the danger and the gesture.

      Clutching his snout, Carl moaned on Sixty’s shoulder. “There is so much fear aboard Time Gate 5. It’s hard for Butterball and the others to get a fix on anything.”

      Volka was flung against her safety straps as the hover decelerated suddenly in a busy section of the promenade. Her teeth rattled, but the suit spread the impact across her body, and she wasn’t hurt. They continued at a more sedate pace. Knowing what was happening in Time Gate 5—or what could be happening—the slow speed was maddening.

      Sixty’s brow furrowed. “If the system’s Local Guard is compromised, Gate 5’s decks reserved for the Guard should be sealed.”

      Ramirez spoke from the back. “Don’t suppose we’d have any luck getting System 5’s local government to put those decks on lockdown?”

      Jerome grumbled. “Pols won’t do that without hard proof and by the time that happens…” He made a noise low in his throat.

      Volka blinked. “What about Time Gate 5? He can lock down the Guard levels.”

      Time Gate 1’s voice crackled in the speakers. “I have suggested it. He hesitates...he is afraid that such an action might invite retaliation if the Guard isn’t compromised.”

      Volka’s stomach knotted, remembering the half-destroyed structure that was Time Gate 8 above her homeworld.  Time Gate 5 wasn’t being paranoid.

      “Trina!” said Jerome suddenly, calling Time Gate 33 by the name the human man she’d loved had given her. “She said that when the Dark took over her people, they stopped using the ether to talk to each other.”

      Ramirez leaned forward in the seat. “Time Gate 1, tell Time Gate 5—”

      Time Gate 1’s voice rumbled in the hover. “I have done so. Gate 5 still hesitates.”

      Volka’s eyes widened. “Sixty, you tell him!”

      “Me?” said Sixty.

      “All the ‘bots on System 5, they all love you!” Volka declared.

      “What?” said Jerome, Gate 1, and Ramirez in unison.

      Sixty flushed. “It’s not love. Time Gate 5 programmed them…” He winced.

      The hover picked up speed again, Volka, the Marines, and Sixty slammed back into their seats.

      Volka squeezed Sixty’s hand. “Because Time Gate 5 has a crush on you.” The last came out a growl…even though Volka suspected it was a very non-sexual crush, since Gate 5’s robots had told her sex and even eating were “base.”

      Sixty stared at her.

      “You have to try, Sixty,” she whispered.

      Carl’s whiskers trembled. “You must.”

      Nodding, Sixty sat up straight, and his eyes lost focus.

      The hover slowed, dropped a level, and an instant later, they were on the Fleet deck at a checkpoint. Ramirez, or Jerome, or even Gate 1 must have transmitted something because a heavy metal airlock door ground open. Men in Fleet camouflage uniforms with enormous, dangerous-looking firearms Volka couldn’t identify waved them through.

      They zipped into Sundancer’s berth and settled to the floor. The doors lifted open. No one moved. Sixty was still focused on nothing. Outside the hover, Marines in envirosuits were standing in neat lines. A civilian wearing a drab envirosuit, and with the largest neural port Volka had ever seen, was standing beside them. The man was staring at a tablet—seemingly oblivious to the world.

      In the back seat, Jerome said, “It’s Patrick Shore…wasn’t he the guy who designed Sundancer’s armor? Is he coming with us?”

      “Remember to call him Doctor Shore,” Ramirez grumbled. “Yeah, that is the guy.”

      Young, Noa, and James were also there, standing by Sundancer. Silvery drones were in the process of peeling inky black chainmail-like armor from the ship’s hull, and Volka noted that the cannons mounted above and below each of the ship’s delicate wings looked very real.

      Sixty’s head jerked back. “Gate 5 has put the System 5 Guard’s levels on quarantine.” His Adam’s apple bobbed. “Jerome…you were right. There is significantly less ethernet traffic than normal in the quarantined sections of Gate 5.”

      Volka’s stomach churned, and she felt bile rise in her throat. There were likely uninfected among infected on Gate 5. Hopefully they would realize what was happening, and defend themselves, the gate, and the galaxy.

      Volka squeezed Sixty’s hand. “See. It has a crush on you.”

      “It insists on referring to me as Android General 1,” Sixty muttered.

      Ramirez smacked a hand on Sixty’s shoulder. “Glad you can be a general when you need to be.” He exited the hover, with Jerome close behind him. Sixty remained motionless, staring at nothing.

      “You’re still you,” Volka said. “You’re still our Sixty.”

      On Sixty’s shoulders, Carl cheeped. “Always, Hatchling.”

      Bracelet pinged. “Miss Volka, Noa needs us.”

      Reluctantly, Volka exited the hover and followed Ramirez and Jerome over to Admiral Sato. Sixty’s heavier steps rang on the metal floor behind her, and he murmured, “There has to be some consequence. You can’t change who you are without there being some bugs…”

      Volka almost turned around to ask him what he was worried about, but, dropping a hand from her temple, Noa said, “System 5’s Local Guard has disabled Gate 5’s time bands.”

      Volka drew to a halt. Why would they do that if they were infected? Her eyes widened—because even though that meant the Dark could not spread, it also meant Fleet could not get in. And refugees, potential carriers of the Dark, could not get out.

      Sixty whispered, “It’s my fault. I asked Time Gate 5 to—”

      Noa waved a hand. “I know. This gives credence to what you did being the right thing, Sixty. It knows we know the Local Guard is compromised—”

      Tapping his temple, James said, “There’s a message on the general channel I think the team needs to hear.”

      Young’s eyes went wide, and his hand rose to his forehead.

      Someone, maybe Ramirez, said, “Damn,” so low that Volka didn’t think she would have heard it without her wolf ears. Everywhere around her, eyes were vacant, and backs were straight. Carl hissed.

      “Bracelet, show me what they’re seeing!” Volka said.

      “Oh…it’s psychologically…disturbing, Miss Volka,” Bracelet murmured.

      “Show me anyway!” Volka commanded.

      A hologram rose from Volka’s wrist, and she was staring at two women and three men. Four were in dark blue uniforms. “Those are the uniforms of System 5’s Local Guard,” Bracelet whispered in explanation.

      Volka barely heard. Her eyes were riveted to the man at the very center of the group. It was the pirate from the Copperhead. The one who had tried to wipe Sixty’s memory. The one that had promised Sixty his crew would rape her and sell her into slavery. They’d seen him at the camp where Alexis had been held, hadn’t they? Sixty had stunned him…evidently, he’d escaped before the Luddecceans dropped a fission bomb on the camp. The man’s eyes, like the eyes of everyone in the holo, were trained on the camera. As one the group in the holo roared, “Android General 1, you have stolen one of our names, and you tricked the gate into defying us! Because of you, we will take this gate and then we will take the galaxy. We are the only path to peace. Humans…will…join…us. Or be destroyed!” Their lips moved in sync. They even curled in the same grimace at the end for their final threat.

      Sixty took a shaky breath. “I tried to pretend I was something I am not…”

      Noa took a step toward him. “You are not to blame for anything, and this is a ruse to draw us to Gate 5. It’s not where you’re really needed.”

      Volka’s lips parted in shock.

      Sixty stepped closer to Noa, voice rising in protest. “If the System 5 Local Guard is compromised, no one will prevent the Dark’s agents from infecting the water supply of New Grande...and with Time Gate 5 out of commission, Fleet will have difficulty sending reinforcements.”

      Volka remembered her trip to the brilliant sparkling city of New Grande, and the green canyons that crisscrossed its icy-blue world.

      Sixty continued, “Admiral, reconsider. Thousands of civilians are aboard the gate. Sundancer could ferry Marines in—half a platoon at a time. They could drop in with thruster packs and help the gate’s local police force.” His eyes met Volka’s. Nodding at him, Volka stretched her feelings to Sundancer, imagined them doing just that, and felt the ship’s resolve.

      Noa’s shoulders sagged, but her lips pressed in a stubborn line. “The mission we have for you is more important than securing Time Gate 5.”

      Volka’s skin prickled. What could be more important than securing a massive time gate that could be used by the Dark to leap from star to star?

      Noa’s dark eyes softened and went to Sixty. “But we are working on getting reinforcements to Time Gate 5.”

      It was Patrick, doctor so-and-so, the scientist with the large neural port who blurted what Volka wanted to know. “How will you do that without faster-than-light travel?”

      Noa’s eyes darted to a security camera.

      Carl’s voice echoed in Volka’s mind. “She can’t say.”

      But Volka had a sudden sinking feeling she knew how…and who.
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      Alaric’s boot steps echoed in the corridors of Time Gate 8. Commander Ko, his first, kept pace beside him. Captain Ran and his first were a few steps back. Alaric’s breath frosted in front of him, but he was not cold. He and the others wore Galactic envirosuits from neck to toe. The suits had been gifted by the Republic for the Luddecceans’ service patrolling System 33. The gifted suits had been bugged, of course, but those bugs had been removed, as had ether control. Galacticans did not wear ribbons or identifiers on their suits—they used “apps” to determine name and rank. The Luddecceans had glued their rank insignia and name tags to their suits. The suits were lighter than Luddeccean tech and were so close to invisible that at the moment he and the others carried their helmets in hand as a courtesy. The suits could withstand vacuum, were stunner repellant, phaser resistant, and environmentally controlled. Only Alaric’s ears, and Solomon, twisted around his neck, were cold in Time Gate 8’s nearly abandoned promenade.

      During Alexis’s treatment, Alaric had spent a great deal of time on the promenade of the Republic’s Gate 1. Gate 1 had bustled with life. Brightly lit and warm, it had been filled with travelers: humans—some with bizarre plastic surgery—androids, and ‘bots of all sorts. Hover cabs had zipped overhead, and the main thoroughfare had been lined with cafes, restaurants, hotels, and shops—even a bookshop. The ethernet had largely supplanted books and magazines in the Republic, the shopkeeper had explained, but hand-bound books were still prized as works of art. There was no exchange rate between Luddeccean and Galactican credits, but the shopkeeper had been so pleased that Alaric could read cursive that he’d given him a hand-inscribed copy of the Tao Te Ching. It was a work of Galactican philosophy, or perhaps it was more appropriate to call it poetry. One of the first verses was Heaven and Earth are impartial. It had been confiscated when Alaric had returned to the Luddeccean system—heaven could not be impartial in Luddeccean theology.

      Luddecceans loved books, but there were no bookshops on Time Gate 8. There was barely anything at all. The lighting was dim, there were no zipping hovers, or colorful, weary travelers. What might have been the doors and windows of shops and eateries were all covered with titanium plating. Occasionally, Guardsmen passed silently on their rounds. The gate no longer spun, so gravity was supplied by grav plating. Only half the width of the walkway was covered, and at the edges of the corridor dust and the occasional bolt or screw hung in the air, dark and surreal.

      Galacticans didn’t speak much in public. They tended to have conversations over the ether for privacy’s sake—and yet Gate 1 had been full of sounds. Footsteps, spontaneous laughter erupting from silent jokes, the swish of clothing, hovers humming, the soft jingle of shop bells, and music from promenade performers. Time Gate 8’s corridor was comparatively silent—their footsteps, their echoes, and the deep mechanical hums of life support were the only things to be heard.

      Alexis had been interviewed here after her recovery. Walking down this same corridor, she’d remarked, “After Time Gate 1, it seems so…”

      “Dead,” Alaric had supplied, at the time still annoyed that his book had been confiscated.

      That vibrant civilization was under attack, and soon Luddeccea would be too. Luddeccea’s numbers were less, and their defenses lacking: a shattered gate, stolen and borrowed technology, and a society that believed it was invincible because it was protected by God were all they had.

      Alaric didn’t believe in God, but he believed if he did, the dim, dreary hallway might test his faith. It was a relief to reach a security checkpoint at a pair of airlock doors. Entering, they climbed a flight of wide stairs, passed through another airlock and more Guardsmen, and entered the circular command center. There was an enormous skylight overhead. A sliver of Luddeccea showed in it, four Net-drive Littoral Combat Ships, four larger lightspeed transport ships, and the open space that stretched to the Kanakah Cloud. The command center was dim, but it was filled with people talking, gravity, and warmth. Men and weere in green priest robes stopped running between machines and halted as they entered. Any who were seated rose. All bowed before resuming their tasks.

      At the center of the room was an enormous circular holotable. Archbishop Sato and Admiral Charles Nilsson sat at the far side, a captain of another Net-drive LCS, and an officer who was the Guard’s press liaison. The white werfle Issh was seated on the arm of the archbishop’s wheelchair. Unwinding himself, Solomon bobbed to his kinsman from Alaric’s shoulder.

      A flash of blue jerked Alaric’s attention upward. The four Net-drive LCS had vanished. A heartbeat later, the transport ships’ engines flared to life, and they began the slower process of accelerating to lightspeed.

      “They are off to Kanakah,” the admiral said in a grave voice. “Bearing gifts of grain and livestock.” He gestured with a hand. “Sit down.”

      As Alaric and his party sat, Ran remained standing. “Will we destroy the gate in Kanakah?”

      Alaric’s shoulders tensed, and his stomach sank.

      “No,” said the admiral, no waver in his tone or eyes.

      Alaric exhaled. The lifespan of his boys had just increased considerably.

      Archbishop Sato said, “But we’ve pressed the people of Kanakah to reject any requests for gate access from System 5 and System 6.”

      Hence the gifts of food. Kanakah imported 25 percent of its food from System 5—not all of it was produced there, but the shipyards and their repair docks were there. System 5 was the Republic’s hub of shipbuilding, repair, research, and a central transportation hub.

      “Sirs,” Ran pressed. “If we destroy the gate in Kanakah —”

      Holding up a hand, Admiral Nilsson said, “We’ll have a guerrilla war at our border just when we need the cooperation of our neighbors the most.”

      Frowning, Ran stiffened visibly, but sat at the table. His first did likewise.

      A light went off at one of the computer terminals beyond the table. Spinning in his seat, one of the weere priests said to Sato and Nilsson, “Sir, Your Excellency, we have a connection with our agent on Time Gate 5.”

      Gesturing to the holotable, Kenji said, “Put him through. These men deserve the best intel.”

      There was a rush of activity in the room, and then a holo sprang from the table. A man of medium stature appeared to stand at the very center. He wore modest Republic clothing, the sort that Alaric associated with shopkeepers. A tiny tabby kitten perched on his shoulder. Aside from the kitten, Alaric wouldn’t have noticed the man in a crowd. His appearance was remarkably unremarkable: average height, average weight, average hair, eye, and skin color, and middle aged. The man’s holo bowed toward Sato. “Your Excellency. My report on the situation on System 5 is ready.”

      “You’re safe, Mr. Kim?” Sato asked.

      The man bowed. “The general populace of Time Gate 5 is safe for now Your Excellency.” The kitten on his shoulder bobbed its head. “The Local Guard’s sections of Time Gate 5 have been cut off from the rest of the station. Travelers are being asked to return to their hotels, and I’ve closed my shop.”

      Alaric tilted his head. The Dark was closing in on Luddeccea and the galaxy, and yet, just for a moment, Alaric wondered if Kim’s shop was a bookshop.

      Kim continued, “I’ve prepared a timeline of events we’ve pieced together from news reports. Fleet and the local government channels changed their encryption as soon as the attack began, and we don’t have access to their intel yet.”

      Alaric shifted in his seat, and his jaw got tight as he imagined the scant information they were about to receive.

      Nodding at Kim, Sato said, “Proceed.”

      Kim disappeared, and a world appeared in the holo. It was mostly snow covered, with blue seas at the equators, but cutting through the snowy expanses were canyons of verdant green and what appeared to be, from above, the shine of sunlight on mirrors. Seemingly hundreds of dark ships of various makes dove into the planet’s clouds. Kim’s voice narrated the scene. “Forty-five minutes ago, approximately one hundred ships that had been sheltering on the dark side of the system’s first planet attacked the city of New Grande.”

      Alaric’s suit was temperature controlled, but he felt the prickle of sweat on the back of his neck. One hundred ships would be nothing against the forces of the Republic. It was an attack that would raise havoc and draw forces, but it was doomed to failure. Was it the feint he had feared? His fingers clenched at another realization. Forty-five minutes, and all this information was already known by the System 5 media? And they’d been authorized to disseminate it?

      Kim continued. “The ships had been gathering while the first planet was on the opposite side of the sun. The attack came as the first planet’s orbit put the ships in view of the target and major shipping lanes.”

      Kim’s voice continued. “Members of The One, living with civilians in New Grande, the planet’s largest metropolis, felt the presence of the Dark among the attackers. Within minutes, news of the Dark’s presence was flooding social media and the ethernet, along with images like these—”

      The holo switched to scenes of a motley armada blasting sparkling towers. Blue and white atmosphere-only craft pursued the invaders. Alaric’s stomach fell. The planet should be defended by ships like his LCS, capable of traveling in and out of the atmosphere.

      Kim explained, “Defense was undertaken by the planet’s police forces only. System 5’s Local Guard offered virtually no resistance because it was pulled back to secure the gate—”

      Ran interrupted before Alaric could. “That isn’t standard Republic procedure.” The largest public gates were Republic property. Normally, a Fleet Garrison would protect the gate while the Local Guard protected their home world. Fleet wouldn’t move in until they were officially called in by the local system.

      Images of buildings being attacked continued, but Kim said, “No, sir, but the Fleet Garrison at Time Gate 5 had been called to assist in the evacuation of Shinar, the main planet of System 3, currently in the midst of a volcanic eruption.”

      Alaric’s mind unhelpfully called forth Sunday school lessons about Shinar’s most famous edifice: the Tower of Babel.

      Someone muttered under his or her breath, “Who would tempt the wrath of God by naming a city Shinar?”

      The superstitious comment snapped Alaric’s focus to the present. No System 5 local forces to fight off the incursion meant more havoc, and more chances for infection, although commanding the citizenry to stay inside and boil water would go a long way to mitigate damage. Infecting the planet’s waterways was a real possibility, but the Republic’s fusion bombs could rapidly sterilize large areas without the danger of fallout. It was a mess. There would be tremendous suffering, but it could be much worse.

      The scene shifted to an image of a time gate. It was larger than the one they were in, with ten levels of concentric rings. The outer four rings on a quarter of the gate were highlighted in red.

      Kim continued. “Within twenty-six minutes of the initial attack, Time Gate 5 announced that under the advisement of Android General 1, it was going to seal the decks occupied by System 5’s Local Guard due to suspected infection with the Dark.”

      “Android General 1?” said one of the other captains.

      “Sixty?” the archbishop said. “Well, well.”

      Alaric felt himself flush. Volka’s…companion?

      Kim shifted on his feet. “It seems to be an honorary title, but the gate took his advice.”

      Ran stammered, “It took the advice of that…that…deviant?”

      Archbishop Sato steepled his fingers. His eyes focused on nothing. “He is no more deviant than a werfle. He is a slave to his programming in some ways, but in some ways seems to have become more.”

      Kim reappeared in the holo and cleared his throat. “Within ten minutes of that announcement, members of The One were able to get close enough to System 5’s Guard’s decks to confirm that there are troops and high-ranking members of the Guard infected.” He released a breath. “Confirming that analysis, the infected forces shut down the time bands. It will keep the infected from leaving…”

      Nilsson smiled tightly. “But keep Fleet from assisting.”

      “What are the total number of forces aboard the gate?” Alaric asked. “And how many are infected?”

      Turning to face him, Kim’s hologram replied, “There are approximately 3,000 troops aboard. They’ve just returned from an extended stint in System 6. Butter—” He touched the kitten on his shoulder. “—The One here estimate perhaps 75 percent of them are infected.” Kim took a deep breath. “There are one hundred police officers aboard the station.”

      Alaric swallowed. Over 2,250 troops against one hundred…the gate would be overrun. And as he’d learned in System 33, control of the gate’s systems could come under manual control in certain circumstances.

      “Is the rest of System 5 quarantined?” Alaric asked.

      Kim gave a tight smile. “Officially? Yes. Unofficially…some private gate owners in other systems are declaring their gates open to refugees from System 5. They see no reason ordinary people should suffer for the failure of Fleet and System 5’s defense force.”

      There was a moment of profound silence. A whole planet of potentially infected people was being invited to infect the rest of humanity? Had the Dark understood this would happen? Had he been wrong about the feint—should he not have warned Volka? But no, the volcano in Shinar couldn’t have been planned, and the attack on System 5 had to have been planned months in advance. As soon as the first planet was visible to the system’s population, the pirates would have been seen by amateur astronomers and commercial captains and would have had to act. The volcanic eruption on Shinar, and the potential takeover of Time Gate 5, was just bad luck.

      “Can Time Gate 5 self-destruct?” Ran asked.

      If Kim was uneasy with the suggestion that the gate he was on be destroyed with him on it, he showed no sign. “No, Time Gate 5 cannot command its own destruction—or destruction of its bands. Since Revelation, self-destruct can only be initiated if the gate and the Republic Senate approve. Since there are approximately 10,000 civilians aboard the gate at any given time, it seems unlikely the Senate would approve a self-destruct, even if the gate itself was in favor of the idea.”

      Archbishop Sato raised his voice. “Trina—Time Gate 33—was a research gate at the edge of known space. With a small crew, she had considerably more autonomy than the gates in the inhabited systems. Gate 5 is complex and powerful enough it could eventually override Republic laws, but it would have to want to, and it would take time.”

      Ran banged a fist on the table. “We have to be able to do something other than sit here and wait.”

      Alaric’s heart rate quickened. He wanted to do more, but he didn’t want to start a war with the Republic. “Mr. Kim,” Alaric said, “How many men are in System 5’s Local Guard, and do we have any idea how many of those men may be infected?”

      Kim gulped audibly. “Approximately 881,000 on active duty. There are also 152,000 reservists. As to how many are infected…of the reservists, Butter and I would estimate close to none…for the rest…it’s anyone’s guess.”

      “How many ships does the local force have?” Alaric asked.

      Kim nodded as though to reassure himself. He was more composed when he responded. “They have 430 active ships.”

      It was nearly as many as the Luddeccean Guard...Alaric closed his eyes and reminded himself that not all System 5’s forces were infected.

      The weere priest who had announced Kim’s transmission said, “Your Excellency, we have a transmission from Admiral Sato, the head of the Republic Senate, and New Grande’s Prime Minister.”

      The last made Alaric start. The only reason New Grande’s Prime Minister would contact them would be if New Grande needed Luddeccean help. And if Luddeccean help was needed, it could only be because what little Fleet presence was in the system couldn’t help for some reason. Perhaps because they were protecting the real target—the target that the attack on New Grande was meant to obscure.

      To Ran, Sato said, “We very well may be able to do more.” He dismissed Mr. Kim, saying, “God be with you, Mr. Kim,” and the table went dark. Gesturing with a hand to the weere priest he said, “Put the transmission through.”

      Alaric stared at the dark table. What could be more dangerous in the hands of the Dark than a time gate? What in System 5 had they really wanted…the scene around him blurred, and he knew.
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      Aboard Sundancer, 75 billion kilometers from System 5’s sun, 15,000 kilometers from the ecliptic plane, Volka blinked through the ship’s transparent hull at the drones attaching the ship’s armor. The sun from this distance was only the largest star in the heavens. The brightest lights were the lights of the drones themselves, but Jerome had established a local ether hub, and it was blinking faintly, as were lights here and there in the Marines’ suits and in the enormous neural port of the scientist who’d come along, Dr. Patrick someone…Shore maybe?  She had begun thinking of him as Doctor So-and-so…Her mother would have been horrified by her disrespect. He was a civilian who worked for Fleet—like Okoro, presumably. He had been the leader in developing Sundancer’s armor, and now, weaponry. He hadn’t said half a dozen words to Volka. Since Shinar, she wasn’t sure a doctorate was a reason enough to warrant respect.

      There was a flurry of activity around her. Marines checking weapons, Sundancer’s position, and presumably other secrets over the ether. They tapped their ports regularly. Sixty had been shocked by the Dark calling him out personally over the ether; she knew it bothered him, but they’d had no time to discuss it, and maybe Sixty was too busy to think about it. At the moment, his eyes were glazed, and he nodded as though at some silent communication.

      Volka was trying to keep out of the way. She stood at the bow with Carl in her arms. He was wearing his sausage suit. His eyes were closed. Presumably he was talking to The One.

      Carl’s eyes fluttered open at that thought. Confirming her suspicions, he said, “Butterball says the situation aboard Time Gate 5 is tenuous. There is a great deal of confusion among the police force there—some don’t believe System 5’s forces are compromised, others want to let the non-infected leave the quarantine, but they don’t have the manpower or weaponry to keep an evacuation from turning into an invasion. The quarantined Guard is much better armed…which will be a problem. On the planet, the police forces are doing their best, but…” He sighed. “One of my kind, Al-whalid, has a pet that is a former admiral—Admiral William Mitchel. He lives on the planet Gate 5 orbits, but far from New Grande on the nearly uninhabited flats. Mitchel’s quite popular among the System 5 Guard—Al-whalid hopes his pet can rally the non-infected among System 5’s forces until Fleet arrives.”

      Volka gazed out at the vast sea of black. Fleet couldn’t enter the system through Time Gate 5 and were entering through smaller, private gates. But they hadn’t been able to bring in the large fighter carriers, and their smaller ships were already pinned by infected squadrons of System 5’s Local Guard. One of the larger Fleet vessels that had been in system couldn’t go to New Grande; it was busy protecting Fleet’s faster-than-light research facility. Of course, that left…

      “Six private corporate facilities are researching gate-less travel in System 5 alone!” Volka shook her head and squeezed Carl tighter. On Luddeccea, that would never have happened. Research was coordinated between the seminaries, the Luddeccean Guard, and the Ruling Council. “How can the Republic allow there to be so many…so many…mad scientists!”

      Once she would have thought of scientists as at least logical, if Godless. After the events on Shinar, she just thought they were humans who were talented, like she was talented at art. Maybe they were smarter, maybe that was their talent. But being “smarter” wasn’t the same as being “wise,” or even logical. By spreading their activities, they were sowing chaos throughout the galaxy. With each passing moment, there was an ever-increasing chance the Dark would win, and the unsupervised antics of the Republic’s scientists would be at fault.

      Outside the ship, the armor finished covering the keel like a shroud.

      Carl spoke into her mind. “You’re being unjust because of your experiences in Shinar. Personally, since two of my favorite pets are the results of mad scientists and might save the galaxy from the Dark, I think it comes to a draw.”

      Before Volka could think on that, Sixty came over. “Volka, Carl, we’re ready to go.”

      Blue light from a holo behind him made him a shadow. Volka turned to the projection. It came from a holosphere the scientist had brought. Highlighted in the blue holo was a tin can shaped structure that orbited S5O10M33, an icy-white moon streaked with orange. From her paperback education, she guessed that the moon would be a source of iron and water.

      “We need to get to the space station—the cylindrical object orbiting the moon,” Sixty said. “It belongs to Echelon Industries. They have no members of The One aboard, and they’re working on faster-than-light travel.” Volka nodded. All six of the private companies researching faster-than-light travel had Fleet spies embedded in their workforce. All of the spies had checked in and reported no difficulties—but someone infected with the Dark would lie. Three of the research facilities had The One aboard and were deemed safe. Sundancer and the team were going to pay visits to the rest. Located far from the system core, and farther from each other, there was the real possibility the Dark could seize valuable research.

      Volka’s brow furrowed, and she looked up at Sixty. “If the Dark really isn’t creative, if it seized research, it wouldn’t be an issue. It won’t be able to develop it fully.” She put a hand on his arm. “Maybe we shouldn’t be here. Maybe we should be ferrying Marines to Time Gate 5 and New Grande. Are we putting an unknown potential breakthrough above the lives of humans and machines?”

      Carl’s necklace crackled. “Hey, yeah! I didn’t think of that.”

      Sixty tilted his head, and his lips quirked up.

      Flicking her ears, heart rate quickening, Volka whispered. “It’s not funny.”

      “No, it’s not,” Sixty whispered. “It’s just…you put machine and human ‘lives’ in the same sentence. Most people don’t.”

      Volka’s cheeks flushed. “Well, I suppose that is why you asked me to marry you.” It hadn’t been illogical on his part even if it had been…startlingly fast. She blinked and Sixty beamed. He had the widest open, angelic features—how could she be sad for the mad science experiment he was?

      “I think it probably is.” He bent forward, as though he might kiss her, but caught himself, and his expression turned serious. “But it is a good question.” And strangely, that made her heart lift more than if he had kissed her. He didn’t think she was simple. He thought her ideas were important.

      Sixty half-turned toward the others, lips parting.

      Before he said a word, James answered Volka’s question. “Excuse me, but I couldn’t help overhear. We have no idea where these companies are in development. Fleet’s spies are too low in the companies’ hierarchies to provide reliable intel.”

      Volka felt as though the temperature had dropped. Her ears curled.

      “Oh,” said Carl. “Well…”

      James gave a smile that was a bit awkward, like he wasn’t used to smiling. “Also, congratulations. If you need someone to officiate, I know an admiral who’d do the job.” But Volka was hardly listening; she was focused on the hologram. Sundancer could see it, but before the ship moved, she’d need to feel Volka or Carl’s will. She imbued herself with that will…

      Sundancer couldn’t leap through time and space with her armor on—well, not without leaving the armor behind. She could still go amazingly fast. Volka felt the gentle pressure of acceleration.

      In the holo, one end of the “tin can” space station flashed. Jerome reported, “Received lightbeam request for identification…responding…”

      Volka tensed. Two fighters emerged from the tin can. She blinked, and there the two fighters were outside Sundancer headed in the opposite direction, but in a few pounds of her heart, they’d turned around and flew just a few ship lengths back—where they could easily open fire on Sundancer. Volka’s breath caught…

      “I feel no trace of the Dark in the fighters,” Carl said.

      “They are not happy about us being here,” Jerome said.

      “Get them to put you through to Tusker, their CEO,” said Young. “Let them know we’ve got an Intel Officer aboard.” His eyes slid to James.

      James’s eyes slid to Volka and Carl. “Would it be easier for you to detect the Dark if you see who you’re talking to?”

      “I... I... maybe?” Volka stammered.

      Carl’s whiskers twitched. “It is actually helpful for focus.”

      James turned to Jerome. “Switch the holo over to Tusker as soon as you reach him—short circuits!”

      Outside Sundancer, phaser fire ripped by, just meters from the ship’s delicate wings. Warning shots, obviously. Even if they had hit, they wouldn’t have hurt Sundancer, but a few passes would destroy her armor.

      “Volka, Carl, bring Sundancer to a halt,” James ordered.

      “Done!” said Carl, and Volka felt the pressure of deceleration. They were still very far away from Echelon. Too far for Carl to detect the Dark.

      Jerome shook his head. “I’m getting the runaround...they’re saying Tusker is not going to respond unless you have a warrant.”

      “Do we have a warrant?” Sixty asked.

      Wiping his face, James said, “No.”

      Staring at the holo, Volka bit her lip. They might be close enough for Sundancer to detect the Dark, or not…True, Sundancer had detected the Dark in System 33, but it had infected large swathes of the planet and everyone aboard Gate 33. Within Echelon’s research station, it could be a single mind that was infected—and the mind might belong to something as small as a rat or a cockroach. They needed to get closer. They could get closer, but not without losing the armor, and they needed the armor. The people of New Grande needed Sundancer to be protected—as soon as this mission was finished, they were going back to New Grande to fight.

      She blinked and became aware that Young, James, Sixty, and Carl were discussing the very question on her mind.

      Her nostrils flared. They didn’t have time for this lizzar snot. “Sixty, show me a picture of this Tusker person.”

      Sixty’s brow furrowed, but the image on the hologram changed. It showed a man who looked to be about thirty. He was conventionally handsome, augmented to look middle aged, and muscular, with longish light-brown hair, glowing green eyes—or the hue color-blind Volka saw as “green.” He had a neural port that glowed the same shade.

      James said, “No matter the risk, we need to get closer to the station.”

      “No,” said Volka, eyes focused on the holo of Tusker. “We let Sundancer bring Tusker here.”

      “What? How?” said Young.

      Carl squeaked. “Telepathically! Of course. Volka, you are a genius. My once-mom can eat soy pellets next time he brags about Alaric.” Telepathically, she felt a devious glee from the werfle bloom in her heart. “Excellennnt,” he hissed, ignoring—or not caring—about the confused look on Young’s face.

      Volka explained to Young, “Remember the telepathic nightmare Sundancer shared with you and your team?”

      “I don’t think any of us can forget it,” Young said. Some of the Marines still had scars where they’d wounded themselves in their terror.

      Volka took a deep breath. “Sundancer is so powerful she can telepathically communicate with humans. Or…” she bit her lip and tried to choose her words carefully, painfully aware of the seconds passing by. “Or…it’s more like she can allow us to talk to each other. She can’t talk, except in pictures, but she can give us a…telepathic conference call.” That’s what Alaric had called it, wasn’t it?

      “It’s like an ether meeting,” Carl said. “But without the ether. It’s a quantum thing. Captain Alaric Darmadi has already communicated with us this way several times.”

      “It’s safe?” James asked.

      “Oh,” said Carl. “Well, we haven’t really tested the limits—”

      “I’ll do it,” said Young. A muscle in his jaw jumped. And then he shook his head. “If you need me—or would it just be you?”

      Volka’s eyes slid to Sixty. His face was expressionless. She wished she could take him. He always believed in her. “Sundancer can’t connect with machines yet…” she whispered. Shaking herself, she looked back to Young. “I think it would help if we had a military mind there—” She scanned the bridge. “Maybe a few.” She’d be dealing with a man with authority and power. A show of force might be more likely to get his attention than her tiny, obviously non-ethered self.

      Sixty spoke, “Lieutenant, while you’re in Sundancer’s...dream...you won’t be conscious here, and it will take you a few minutes to wake up. Keep that in mind when choosing how many of you we can spare.”

      Volka hadn’t been aware that it took that long to “wake” after a telepathic episode. It was an excellent point. She met Sixty’s eyes. His face remained expressionless...which maybe was an expression of an emotion...only she wasn’t sure what.

      Lieutenant Young tapped his head and seven men stepped forward, all from their previous trip to System 33. Ramirez was among them, and the man who’d kept her from running into the hospital. She was reassured by that. As the comm guy, Jerome had to stay. She thought about bringing the scientist—Patrick whoever-he-was—currently staring at Young with an eyebrow hitched high. But Patrick’s specialty was Sundancer’s armor and weapons. It might be better if he stayed alert. Or might not. What did she know about this sort of thing?

      “What do we do?” Young asked.

      Young would have suggested the scientist accompany the “dream team” if he thought he was needed in conference with Tusker. Volka gave one last glance to Sixty. His eyes were on her, his face still unreadable. He and James would have said something if the scientists were needed, too.

      “So would I,” Carl protested mentally.

      It was time to do this. Adjusting her grip on Carl, she focused on the holo and said to the Marines, “We think of Mr. Tusker, and how much we need to talk to him.” She stepped closer to the holo, and the eight Marines did the same.

      In her mind, Carl whispered, “You do the talking. I’ll do the napping. Winky, wink, wink.”

      Volka’s brow furrowed in confusion at that, but there was no time to ask questions. She tried to conjure the urgency she’d felt when Sundancer had thrown her into the dream-memory of the alien vessel...and then her mind slipped automatically into thoughts of the blue beings who inhabited it. The blue child with feather hair and wide eyes. In her stomach she felt the flutter of grief that was hers, Carl’s, and Sundancer’s, and it made her eyes prickle.

      She had to think of the Marines and Tusker or this wouldn’t work. Scrunching her eyes shut, she pictured them, but the aliens who’d perished were still in the back of her mind, like ghosts.

      Light flickered behind her eyelids, and a man shouted, “What the hell is this?”

      Volka’s eyes flew open. Tusker was standing a few meters away in the alien landscape, flanked by the Marines. This wasn’t the environment she’d expected to meet him in—she hoped the Marines weren’t discombobulated—but she kept her eyes focused on the CEO of Echelon. He was bigger and broader in person…if a dream could be “in person.” The glow from his cybernetic eyes and neural port was very bright.

      Lifting her chin, Volka answered, “Mr. Tusker, since you won’t answer our hails, we had to bring our request to you directly.”

      His nostrils flared. “This is ether sabotage, and I—” He took a step toward her and seven Marines raised pistols. Beside Volka, Young adopted a parade rest.

      Tusker backed up. And then he sneered. “I have a kill switch.” Giving a feral grin, he tapped his neural port. His eyes and neural port went dark. A look of triumph flashed across his face but vanished an instant later. “How am I still here?”

      Volka and the galaxy didn’t have time for this. “It’s telepathy, Mr. Tusker. It works via the quantum wave. Do not ask me the exact mechanism. I don’t know myself.” God, let him believe her.

      “Theoretically possible,” he murmured.

      His eyes flitted past the Marines to an alien child peeking from behind a vine that had enormous blue leaves and orange fruit. “What is the point of…?” He waved at the child.

      “The telepath responsible for this dream is the starship Sundancer,” Volka replied. “Perhaps you’ve heard of her?”

      Tusker nodded, and Volka continued, “This is a place that was destroyed by the Dark—the same entity attacking New Grande right now. The child you see is a member of a race that was annihilated by the Dark. The ship’s trying to convey the urgency of the situation to you.” Her fingers balled into fists. Believe, believe, believe, Tusker!

      Tusker touched his temple. His eyes flashed again, and his neural port blinked to life. He scanned the scene and said, “What do you want from me?”

      Young replied, “To get close enough to scan your facility for infiltration by the Dark.”

      “I don’t want Fleet spying on my research,” Tusker shot back.

      “We won’t need to come aboard,” Volka said. “Just within a few meters.”

      “It would be for your own protection,” Young added. “And the protection of your research.”

      Tusker inclined his head at Carl. “He’ll be able to read my mind and the minds of my scientists. There is a reason I don’t have The One aboard.”

      The retort gave Volka hope. He believed in telepathy; many in the Republic didn’t. But how to ease his fears?

      Young interjected, “Oh, he is reading your mind right now. It’s too late to hide.”

      Carl punctuated that with a tiny, whistling snore and smacked his lips.

      Narrowing his eyes at the werfle, Tusker touched his temple and turned in place. Seemingly noticing the Marines’ raised pistols, he eased his hands above his head.

      “We are going to scan your facility,” Young said. “We’d prefer to do it with your approval.”

      Slowly lowering his hands, Tusker gave him a tight smile. “But if I don’t give it, there will be a horrible misunderstanding between my security forces and yourselves.”

      Young shrugged. “It happens.”

      Tusker’s gaze shifted to Volka. “You’d never give me this chance if you didn’t need to avoid confrontation—” The lights in his eyes flickered, but she forced herself not to look away. “I’ll make it easier for you if you’ll have one of these telepathic meetings with me again.”

      Despite herself, Volka blinked. That wasn’t the answer she’d expected.

      Tusker gave her a crooked smile. “The commercial potential of this is phenomenal. A viable alternative to Q-comm, a way to communicate without relying on entangled particles. A way to communicate with anyone, anywhere, in other galaxies without even having been there…”

      Volka wasn’t sure about any of that. Sundancer wasn’t galaxies away from Tusker. She’d been light-years from Alaric, but the ship knew him through Volka. Maybe Sundancer was entangled to Alaric through Volka? Her brow furrowed. She was thinking of emotional entanglements, and Sixty had told her that quantum entanglement was physics. It was math—numbers and logic and not at all related.

      “This is your ship, isn’t it?” he asked, snapping Volka back to reality—or what passed for it in a starship’s daydream.

      “She is her own ship,” Volka replied. “I am only her friend.”

      Tusker tilted his head. “Will you return with your friend to my facility for a longer visit?”

      Raising her chin, Volka said, “When the conflict with the Dark is over—”

      A smirk started to pull at the corners of his mouth. He extended his hand to her.

      “—if I’m not dead,” Volka finished.

      The smirk vanished. His skin paled noticeably, and he took a step back. After a too-long pause, he whispered, “You’re serious.”

      Volka’s skin heated. Another person in the Republic who didn’t believe in the Dark, even though it was practically at his doorstep. “Yes,” Volka replied, nostrils flaring.

      He glanced at his outstretched hand and up at her. “I suppose Echelon will have to see that you live.”

      Young made a sound deep in his throat, and it occurred to Volka that she was supposed to shake Tusker’s hand. She was a weere from Luddeccea with a sixth-grade education, and it didn’t seem right. But, swallowing her unease, she took the CEO’s hand. She remembered what Alaric had once told her about the etiquette of handshakes—lessons he’d learned from rich relatives. Be firm, but not too firm or they’ll know you grew up on a farm. Don’t hold on too long. You don’t want them to think you idolize them. And look them in the eyes. She realized too late that that lesson was for men’s handshakes, and as a lady, she was probably supposed to just brush her fingers against the top of his and look politely at her shoes.

      Tusker smiled, and she could feel his sense of opportunity—it was a warm fire in her belly, a lightness in her feet, and it made her want to lick her lips. So that was what it felt like to be a mogul? It reminded her a bit of spotting a deer in the woods.

      Young’s voice rumbled beside her. “Time is of the essence, sir.”

      Releasing her hand, Tusker nodded at the lieutenant. “You’ll have it as soon as I’m back in my office.”

      The lieutenant's attention turned to her. Volka scrunched her eyes shut and imagined Sundancer’s bridge. Behind her eyelids, the world became darker, and she heard Jerome say, “We have permission to approach!”

      Volka opened her eyes and found Sixty very close. In her arms, Carl stretched and yawned. “We make a great team, Hatchling. With you and me together, who could resist us? Although Tusker’s greed didn’t hurt.”

      Imagining Sundancer approaching Echelon’s research station, Volka was too busy to pay attention to his words…and yet she felt the hair on the back of her neck rise.
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      An hour after Carl and Volka had declared Echelon free of the Dark’s infestation, 6T9 stood at Sundancer’s bow. They were a few thousand kilometers away from their new target—Xing Corp, the research facility run by Bill Ma. Xing Corp was reacting in the exact same way Echelon had. Outside Sundancer were four fighters that belonged to Xing’s private security. Inside Sundancer, Volka, Young, and seven other Marines were gazing with empty eyes at a hologram of Ma. Cradled in Volka’s arms, Carl was softly snoring, but presumably he was focused on the same individual. Physically, Ma was Tusker’s exact opposite. Ma, famously etherless due to a rare autoimmune condition, wore thick ether glasses. In the holo, they were slipping down his nose. He was startlingly thin, hadn’t bothered to make himself appear fashionably thirty-something, and his salt-and-pepper hair was decidedly rumpled—considering the holo was a publicity shot, that said a lot about the man. Volka and the others were meeting with Ma in another telepathic conference call—hopefully.

      6T9 had cut down his power expenditures to the minimum level required to maintain awareness so he could “wake” in milliseconds. He wasn’t running low on power, but time was less noticeable. He didn’t think of the Dark’s disturbing message to him, and he wasn’t as bothered by Volka’s “absence” in a realm where he couldn’t join her.

      “We’ve got permission!” Jerome shouted. “That was even faster than last time.”

      Volka’s head jerked back, and she and the Marines blinked rapidly and swayed on their feet. Carl’s lips smacked, and he yawned, venom gleaming on his fangs. He opened his eyes, but then promptly shut them.

      “Good job, Volka,” Lieutenant Young said, smacking her on the shoulder.

      6T9’s vision flashed white, and he came fully online. The lieutenant was on Volka’s left side, and 6T9 was on her right. Pulling back, 6T9 turned, and his hand lifted as though by strings…

      Volka replied tiredly, “It was your telling him about our meeting with Tusker that got his attention.”

      6T9 caught himself, dropping his arm just before…he blinked, not sure what he’d been about to do. Rip Young’s arm from his socket?

      Shaking his head and pulling away from Volka, Young chuckled. “Yeah, those guys are always trying to outdo each other.” Young looked much younger than his six decades of life, but his features weren’t augment perfect. He was very tall and broad shouldered and seemed to get along well with other humans. He was healthy, and 6T9 should be thinking about what he might look like naked, but he wasn’t. He was...circuits flashed brightly within him...contemplating the feasibility of ripping Young’s arm out. That was an overreaction. Obviously. His Q-comm flashed again. And he hadn’t attempted to do it. His eyes narrowed, and he found himself smiling. He was gaining control.

      “What is it, Sixty?”

      The question came from Volka.

      It wasn’t an opportune time to mention the withheld urge for dismemberment, especially since the target of the urge was close by. “Nothing,” he lied, leaning close. “Just...laughing along.” Volka had taken off her helmet, and her ears were forward. Giving in, he pulled off a glove and put his hand behind her ear.  Her eyes slipped closed, and all his sensor receptors lit. Was she sensitive there? If she had ether, he’d ask her privately. As it was, he wanted this mission to be over soon. They just needed to get done surveying these enterprises and get home.

      Carl, still seemingly asleep, must have requested Sundancer to advance, because Xing Corp’s ring-shaped station was getting closer in the holo.

      Opening her eyes, Volka flushed and licked her lips. “I had better help Carl scan the station.”

      Her ears were definitely sensitive. Dropping his hand, 6T9 nodded and slipped back into power save mode as Volka padded softly to Sundancer’s bow, Carl snoring softly in her arms.

      An hour later, Carl woke up abruptly, and his necklace crackled. “Volka, did you feel anything?”

      “Nothing,” Volka replied. Her back was to 6T9, and she looked very small.

      “Good, good,” said Carl. Volka’s body shielded him from 6T9’s view, but the creature’s tone made 6T9’s Q-comm conjure an image of the werfle nodding sagely and narrowing his eyes. “You’re getting stronger and more confident. There was nothing that I sensed either, and Sundancer is calm.”

      One of the scientists asked, “That means there is not Dark here?”

      Volka turned around, and Carl announced from her arms, “That is correct. This station has not been infiltrated, and…” He coughed. “I took the liberty to check out their defenses. They are much better armed than they appear. Any incursion by pirates or infected members of System 5’s forces will not go well here.”

      Young nodded decisively. “Time to pack up the armor and move on to the last target. Reich Enterprises, at S5O12.”

      6T9 didn’t have a heart, but his circuits lit. One step closer to home…

      To Dr. Shore, Young said, “Detach the ship’s armor.” And then he focused on the holo, and it showed their current location and S5O12, a planet at the edge of the solar system. Earth-sized, S5O12 orbited at a thirty-five-degree angle from the ecliptic plane. Scientists theorized that it was a rogue planet that had gotten tugged into S5’s orbit. It took sixteen hours at lightspeed to reach S5O12 from the inner planets, but it had ample water in the form of ice and near perfect gravity, though its core had cooled and its atmosphere been blown away by cosmic rays long ago.

      Young released a breath. “We’re ahead of schedule. I hope the CEO of Reich is as easy to convince.”

      Young’s eyes glazed over as he connected to the ethernet.

      Everyone was busy with various tasks. They were going to have to clear the bridge soon in preparation to stow the armor again. Volka and 6T9 walked back toward the compartments before they were ordered to. Carl began shimmying out of his suit. “I have got to stretch.”

      An iris opening appeared in the wall, and, as they stepped into the compartment, Volka whispered, “I hope Reich is as easy to convince, too.”

      Carl, orange body half in, half out of his suit, waved a paw. “Of course he will be! Between you and me, Volka, we could convince anyone.” He twisted his body 180 degrees. “Well, not any robot or machine someone. But we could nudge an elephant.” Winking, he resumed pulling his body from the suit.

      “What does that mean?” Volka asked.

      “Well,” said Carl, succeeding in freeing himself and giving his tail a shake. “An elephant is—”

      “I know what an elephant is,” Volka replied.

      “Yes, well, they are stubborn creatures. Very resistant to mental nudging.”

      6T9’s Q-comm fired. “Carl, did you and Volka use mind control on Ma and Tusker?”

      “No!” Volka said, dropping Carl and his suit and smacking a hand over her mouth. Carl jumped, rolled, and blinked up at her when he came to a stop. “Yes.”

      “I didn’t mean to,” she exclaimed, turning to 6T9, her breathing in rapid little gasps.

      “I believe you,” 6T9 said, scowling.

      Hand still on her mouth, Volka looked away. “Oh, no, no. That is wrong…”

      Rising to his hindmost paw pairs, Carl flattened his ears. “Wrong? Over fifteen billion lives are at stake in this System alone. Helping make up Ma and Tusker’s minds was the right thing to do.”

      “Mind control isn’t the answer!” Volka said. “It...It...is playing God.”

      Carl gazed down at a claw. “I wasn’t playing.”

      Volka spun around and went to the corner. 6T9 scowled down at Carl. The werfle raised his paws. “It was a joke!”

      6T9 rolled his eyes and went to Volka. Her body was shaking, and for a minute, he thought she might throw up. Putting a hand on her shoulder, he turned her around. “It was an accident.” He marveled at how well he understood that now. Seeing James beneath him, with his skin hanging from his face, hadn’t just given him the ability to kill—it had given him the power to empathize. His Q-comm hummed with the strange dichotomy.

      Her face canted upward, but her eyes were still downcast as though she were afraid to look at him. More gently, 6T9 said, “In the moment, you didn’t know that you were doing it. That you regret it shows you have a conscience, but you need to get past this.” His words were eerily close to Captain Darmadi’s when the captain had comforted Volka aboard Time Gate 1—after 6T9 had all but called her a child killer.

      Her eyes finally focused on his. “You have a higher set of standards for yourself.”

      He thought of how he’d abandoned her to interrogation and solitude when she’d needed him most—all for those high standards. “My standards for you have been unfairly high.” Her lips parted, and he touched a finger to them. “Don’t say angels follow a different set of rules.” He smiled wryly. His Q-comm hummed. “I’d rather serve in hell and see you live than remain ‘angelic’ and have you die.”

      Her ears came forward, as though she couldn’t believe what she’d heard.

      He couldn’t believe what he said. It wasn’t like him to invoke religion in anything but jest. Where had the words come from? As soon as the query flashed through his circuitry, he knew. The galaxy was at war. This little trip to the outer reaches of System 5 was the easy part. They had been in no real danger. This mission was...a respite. He reached up and cupped one of her ears, wanting to kiss her, but wanting to look at her more. To commit every second left to his eidetic memory. Volka leaned into his touch and closed her eyes.

      Carl cleared his throat. “Um...the team’s coming in.”

      Volka turned to the door, ears forward, expression resolute. 6T9 remembered her jumping to offer Sundancer’s services as a ferry for troops to New Grande. They wouldn’t go home after this surveillance mission.

      His Q-comm flashed white. Should he want to go home? He’d just said he’d serve in hell to see her live. System 5 was one of the most populous in the galaxy. It was a transport hub with the most extensive time gate network. As long as any trace of the Dark existed here, it would be a seeping wound, ready to spread infection to the universe. Not just to Volka, but to all the humans he cared about—Noa, Celeste and Bart, Walker, the Marines aboard this ship, and everyone from his first perilous journey from Luddeccea over a hundred years ago. Static flashed beneath his skin.

      Nebulas, it was not just humans. The Dark did not like machines. When it was done with humans, it would come for his kind. It knew who he was. Would it seek him out in particular? His eyes fell on Volka. Or worse, would it seek out Volka in particular?

      Once Volka had told him heaven and hell were real places. It had been a metaphor, and what were metaphors but succinct abbreviations of wilder, bigger concepts? In this moment he understood. Hell was now.
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      Sitting aboard the Merkabah, Alaric found himself staring out at the Net-drive’s glowing sphere, holding his breath. Solomon was perched on his shoulder, and the werfle’s whiskers tickled his cheek. The Net-drive’s glow disappeared, and in the holo before him was the Republic planet under siege. The Merkabah was on the side of the planet opposite Time Gate 5 and New Grande, the planet’s major city. From here, everything looked peaceful.

      Luddeccea, Earth, and even Libertas were beautiful from space. In a sea of darkness, vacuum, and death, they were fragile refuges. This planet was very different from those other planets. For the most part, it was snow and ice, but across its surface were vivid cracks of blue and verdant green—the canyons and seas that allowed human habitation without domes or artificial grav. His skin heated and his jaw got hard. It was another of mankind’s rare and fragile refuges, and it was in the process of being stolen.

      He glanced at all the ship’s readouts. The jump had been a success. All systems were fully operational. For once, no alarms had sounded when the Net-drive had engaged. More importantly, they were not being greeted with phaser fire.

      Scanning the scene outside, Alaric ordered, “Transmit our arrival and give the all clear.”

      “Done,” said the weere priest at the Q-comm.

      Alaric released a breath. The first joint operation of the Luddeccean Guard and the Republic was about to begin. They would beat back the Dark together—they must. And then, maybe, there might be some trust between them, perhaps trade of goods and ideas.

      “Ensign Murad,” Alaric asked, “Have you been able to connect with Admiral Mitchel?” They were breaking protocol and connecting directly to the man’s mind.

      “I…I…” Murad stammered. “Yes, sir!”

      Someone else said, “The other two ships have arrived.” Alaric nodded to the speaker, and then said to Murad, “Put Mitchel on the comm.”

      “Yes, sir,” Murad replied.

      What did thoughts sound like over a comm? Could words ever keep pace with thought? Alaric always found words clumsier and cruder than the pictures that merged with words, numbers, and instinct in his mind.

      There was a moment of static when Alaric swore every man held their breath, not knowing what to expect. A robotic voice? Spinning in his seat, hand on his earpiece, Murad nodded at him, letting him know the connection had been made.

      “Admiral Mitchel?” Alaric asked.

      “Speaking. Captain Darmadi?” The voice was masculine and grizzled, the latter was faintly comforting. Was it real or imaginary? There had to be lines of code that turned Mitchel’s thoughts into sound—it might not be Mitchel’s real voice—it could be anyone’s, or a voice “augmented” to be more authoritative.

      “The same,” Alaric answered. “We have your coordinates and can provide cover.”

      “Good. In a few minutes, we’re going to be attracting a lot of company. Do you have access to holo readouts aboard your vessel?”

      The man was skipping through the pleasantries. He had Alaric’s respect for that. “We do.”

      “I’d like to be able to sync it with my ship’s computer. As we identify members of the Local Guard who have been infected, we can share that data instantaneously.”

      Alaric didn’t ask how they could identify the infected. Solomon had informed him through sign language that Mitchel was a “pet” of Al-whalid, a werfle member of The One. Like the werfle that kept Volka as a “pet,” Al-whalid could interface with Republic computers via the ether. Al-whalid, and other members of The One, would input the data on the infected into the Republic’s computers.

      To the weere priest, Alaric said, “Sync our holos to their data.” The holo projector and comm had been designed with the potential for viral sabotage in mind. Even sophisticated Republic viruses and worms couldn’t hop across connections that didn’t exist.

      Solomon slunk from Alaric’s shoulder and scampered over to an empty seat. He stretched on top of it and appeared to go to sleep, though Alaric knew that he would be aiding Al-whalid with the detection of the Dark.

      The weere priest sitting closest to the werfle looked askance but didn’t protest. Archbishop Sato had informed high-ranking members of the clergy, military, and government that werfles were possessed by demons trying to earn their way back into God’s good graces through service to God’s chosen people. Alaric had always thought of Sato as apolitical, but that theological justification was a fancy political maneuver if ever he’d seen one. The One were pleased to be considered on par with demons, who they saw as above humans in the scheme of things. Luddecceans were predisposed to think the creatures demonic—so the justification didn’t go against any long-held beliefs. If his crew were less than pleased to work with demons...well, they didn’t have a choice.

      “Switching navigation holo to Mitchel’s data,” the weere priest intoned.

      The holo flickered, and the image of the Merkabah and her two companions appeared in blue. Another ship labeled as Admiral Mitchel’s Prydwen was a glowing triangle on the planet’s surface. The planet itself was delineated by scant blue lines in the shape of a sphere—like an architectural rendering. On the other side of the sphere was a similarly simplistic rendering of the time gate. A quarter of the gate’s outer levels were highlighted in red. And there were blurs of red, blue, and gray surrounding it. Ominously, three red triangles were skimming along the planet, approaching the Prydwen’s position.

      Over the comm, Mitchel said, “This ship is over a hundred years old, and I’m still warming her up, boys.”

      The Prydwen was the Admiral’s private restoration project. As Alaric understood it, the crew were the other restorers, all members of Mitchel’s local Veterans Legion. Elderly perhaps, but at least not green.

      “We’ve got them for you,” Alaric said. “Helm, let’s drop in behind the admiral’s visitors.”

      Over the comm, Ran said, “Right behind you.”

      The other captain echoed the sentiment.

      The Merkabah began her descent. Their quarries, when they came into view, were not infected System 5 Guardsmen, but battered vessels that could only belong to pirates: a planet-trawler, a cutter, and a light cargo vessel. None were military craft. All had weaponry that had obviously been cobbled together.

      “They’re hailing us,” Murad declared.

      “On comm,” Alaric said. If they were newly infected and seeking help, they were dead; Alaric could not escort them to Time Gate 1 for treatment. But maybe those men wanted to offer some service in their final hours. He would allow that.

      A rough voice crackled on the bridge. “Captain Darmadi and all who follow you: The only way to peace is through us.”

      “Cut transmission, Mr. Murad,” Alaric ordered. Jaw tightening, he remembered Alexis raving and in agony while in the infection’s clutches. “Tell the others we’ll take the trawler.”

      To the men at the phaser cannons, he said, “Prepare to give them peace.”

      Minutes later, the first skirmish was over. The Luddeccean LCS craft swept over the remains of the pirate vessels smoldering and steaming in the ice below, and the Prydwen’s hangar came into view—or rather, didn’t come into view. All that could be seen from outside were snow drifts. The only way Alaric knew of the hangar’s existence was because of its glowing presence in the holo. Switching to hover engines, the Luddeccean LCS craft swept into a protective circle around the Prydwen’s location. On a vid screen showing the Merkabah’s stern, Alaric watched as snow drifts appeared to melt away, revealing a vertical shaft.

      Mitchel’s voice buzzed on the bridge. “Should have known Luddeccea would step up to the plate. Always used to get my best recruits from your system.”

      It was meant to put his people at ease, but of course it didn’t. It reminded everyone aboard that Mitchel was over a century in age. He saw his men eye each other nervously, but none said anything.

      Once more, Alaric found himself holding his breath, focusing on that vertical shaft. They needed Admiral Mitchel to rally uninfected troops, and they needed him to be on a System 5 ship, so no one suspected he was under Luddeccean duress—but how much could they expect from an ancient hobby ship with ancient weapons? The Luddeccean Atlantia Class Corvettes had been based off the Prydwen’s Aves Class. The Luddeccean Atlantia Class vessels hadn’t been maneuverable enough to be effective—a design flaw in their hover system—and there had been issues with their torpedo bays. If the clunky Luddeccean vessel had been based on the ship Mitchel was about to fly—

      There was a flash of light on the vid screen, and for a moment, Alaric’s instincts screamed “weapon,” but then there was a collective intake of breath on the bridge as the Prydwen came into view.

      Someone whistled.

      Someone else whispered, “She’s a beauty.”

      “Thank you,” Mitchel said, and there was a smile in his voice. “I’ll be sure to let her know you say so.”

      Let her know? Alaric’s eyes widened. Of course, the ship’s computer was likely a true AI. He found himself scowling. Not at that, but at how beautiful the Prydwen was. She was long and sleek, with small but serviceable wings that would give her lift if her hovers gave. The only irregularities in her surface were the gun turrets above and beneath her fuselage, but even those were smooth as water droplets. She was lightspeed capable, and coppery time bands hugged the contours of her hull from nose to tail. Between the bands, the Prydwen was the color of snow in evening—pink, purple, and blue—and sparkling the way the snow around her did. She was camouflaged, just as the suits the Republic had lent his team were. Alaric wasn’t privy to all Republic tech; however, he knew that camouflage was modern. “That is not a late-century paint job she has,” Alaric said, sounding annoyed to his own ears. Or jealous.

      Mitchel chuckled. “Well, we certainly hold to tradition here, but we’re not averse to everything new.” A muscle in Alaric’s jaw jumped. The concept was anathema to his people’s philosophy. There was a moment of silence that stretched too long, and then Mitchel said, “We’re ready to proceed. System 5’s ships are attacking one another. It’s chaos near the gate.”

      Alaric surveyed his readouts, and then met the eyes of his crew. The weere priest nodded. “The Merkabah is ready to assist,” Alaric said. The other Luddeccean captains checked in. The Prydwen maneuvered so she was at the lead and rose toward the sunset.

      “He’s beginning his transmission,” Murad said.

      “Put it on comm,” Alaric said.

      “System 5 Local Guardsmen, this is Admiral Billy Mitchel aboard the Prydwen. We can identify what ships are controlled by your enemies—”

      He was transmitting across an open channel. He had to, in order to reach the uninfected members of the local security forces. The Dark knew they were coming.

      Minutes later, as they rose through the layers of atmosphere and above the clouds, Alaric gazed out at the scene before them in shock. System 5’s Local Guard ships were firing on one another—which he had expected. What he hadn’t expected were the other ships delineated in gray in the holo. They looked to be unarmed, civilian craft. One was 200 meters long and 30 meters wide. Time bands down her length attested she was lightspeed capable. Hover engines on her keel attested to her ability to travel in-atmosphere, though she had no wings. She was too sleek to be a cargo ship. She had long windows down her sides—some stretching several decks, each a potential vulnerability. She had no discernible weapons. In the holo, she was one of the ships delineated by gray, though in the view screen she was chrome, with decorative lights flashing down her sides.

      Ran’s voice cut across the bridge. “What is that large vessel?”

      “That,” Mitchel said, words clipped, “is a pleasure yacht—the Bernadette.”

      A pleasure yacht large enough for a small colony? Alaric was appalled.

      Mitchel continued. “Raif Wu, her owner, didn’t abide by the prime minister’s call not to evacuate. Neither did some of those other ships—”

      Alaric’s chin dipped to his chest, and his hands tightened on his armrests.

      Ran said what Alaric was thinking. “I suppose it wouldn’t be appropriate to get them out of the way by shooting them out of the sky?”

      Mitchel barked a laugh and said in an ominous tone, “Unfortunately, no.” The ominous tone was gone when he said, “Some of those smaller ships are just caught in the crossfire. Many went up to help before the no-fly order went out.”

      Alaric barely heard. A small mining vessel, colloquially known as a “tick,” latched itself onto the Bernadette. Ticks had equipment that could cut through rock and metal, allowing them to latch onto asteroids and ships in vacuum. The tick was red in the holo...soon all aboard the Bernadette would be infected.

      He saw other ticks highlighted in red, flitting through the scene, attaching to other chrome, luxury craft, preparing to infect people who were undoubtedly wealthy, important, and connected…who would know things. Soon the Dark would know those things, too, because some wealthy, important people had not obeyed orders to stay put.

      Alaric’s hands tightened on his armrests.

      This wasn’t a joint human venture. This was every man for himself.

    

  


  
    
      
        
          
            25

          

          
            Every Machine for Itself

          

          Galactic Republic: S5O12

        

      

    

    
      The planet S5O12 had a few moons. Sundancer was hidden behind the closest. The scientists were putting on her armor. It fell around Sundancer’s transparent hull like a dark veil, blotting out the stars. In Dr. Patrick’s holo, their destination appeared: a highlighted area at the equator of S5O12 where Reich Enterprises was located. The highlighted area wasn’t regular. It spread out from a central hub in a pattern that looked like a many-armed pentapus—only the arms sometimes had branches that intersected one another. The branches were thickest near the central hub and thinned as they spread. They were more geometric than a pentapus’s limbs, and Volka found the pattern—or lack of it—vaguely sinister. “Is it really so large?” Volka murmured. “Or are you exaggerating the size so we can see it?” S5O12 was the size of Luddeccea or Earth. The highlighted area looked to be the size of a whole continent.

      Sixty stood beside her. “It is large. Nearly the surface area of Earth’s moon. However, the station only has a population of about 144,000. Most of its inhabitants aren’t people.” His voice was inflectionless, a data dump. There was no incredulity or condescension.

      “Who is it inhabited by?” Volka asked.

      Sixty shrugged. “Machines. Reich has been a hub of time band and ship manufacturer for more than one hundred years. I don’t think there are any AI, though. James?”

      James, Young beside him, walked over and shook his head. “No AI. Reich Enterprises has never employed us. Their board has always held that machines have external loyalties to the gates, and that the goal of gateless travel was not in the gates’ interests. They’ve publicly stated that the gates have been purposely holding us—well, humans—back on that front.” James frowned. “Reich may have been right.”

      Volka’s mind caught the word “us” James had used. He thought of himself as part of humanity, but also acknowledged himself apart. Did all machines think so? She looked down at her wrist. She didn’t think that Bracelet thought of herself as part of humanity, yet she still cared about humanity, or at least was willing to fight the Dark. Not all machines thought the Dark threatened them.

      Young said, “You ready to go, Volka? Carl seems to be asleep.” The werfle had curled up in a helmet in front of the holo.

      Volka reached out to Sundancer with her heart. The ship was feeling...happy and expectant. Sundancer looked forward to the meeting of the minds about to happen. Volka’s lips quirked. She wasn’t sure how much of the meetings Sundancer understood, but it was apparently exciting. Her smile slipped. Did Sundancer feel Volka’s mental nudges?

      Volka bit her lip and felt her stomach turn over. She couldn’t do that again. And yet, she wasn’t sure how she was doing it to begin with.

      “Volka?” Sixty asked. Volka flushed. To Young, Volka said, “Sundancer’s ready, Lieutenant.” Even if she wasn’t. Volka turned her focus to the holo, willed the ship to get closer to S5O12, and felt the press of gentle acceleration. They rounded the moon and Volka held her breath, expecting to see approaching fighters. But none came.

      “No welcome wagon,” said Ramirez.

      Jerome said, “No one is answering our hail.”

      “That’s not necessarily bad, though, is it?” Dr. Patrick asked. Volka’s ears went back.

      “Do you feel the Dark?” Sixty asked.

      Tilting her head, eyes focused on the holo, Volka tried to feel the Dark. “No…I just…feel…empty.”

      Sixty shifted his position and his arm grazed hers. “It’s been a long day,” he suggested. Her eyes broke away from the holo and found him staring down at her. She wanted to tell him she didn’t feel empty about him—just in case he’d misunderstood—but the bridge was crowded.

      “Volka, does Sundancer feel anything?” Young asked.

      Volka shook her head. “She doesn’t sense the Dark. If she did, we all would know it.” Under her breath, she murmured, “That should be a good thing,” and shivered with unease.

      “But it isn’t?” Sixty asked.

      They were close enough to the planet that they could see the faintest outline of what passed for an atmosphere on S5O12—a thin, wispy layer of what the holo identified as nitrogen, methane, carbon dioxide, and carbon monoxide.

      Shrugging, Volka tilted her head, not sure why she felt uneasy and hollow. “Should it be so dark on the surface?”

      “There is never life on the surface. The facility is under the ice,” Sixty explained. “Ice blocks radiation and traps heat. There would normally be space traffic, but with the emergency, it’s not strange that they’ve brought all their ships into dock.”

      “I’m not getting any ether signals...nothing.” Jerome said. “Not even encoded signals. There should be something by now.”

      “I’ve got a bad feeling about this,” Ramirez muttered.

      “I have no feeling.” Volka said. Closing her eyes, she reached out to Sundancer. The ship sent her an image of an empty, deserted husk of an alien colony ship. Her eyes bolted open. Carl, until that moment a lump of fur in an abandoned helmet, sat up with a squeak.

      “No one is there,” said Jerome, oddly at that exact moment.

      Volka swallowed.

      Carl squeaked. “No one is alive. Everyone left is dead.”

      Volka felt a shiver run up her spine, and then her eyes widened. “No, not everyone!”
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      At Carl’s words, “Everyone left is dead,” for a brief moment, 6T9 pictured calling the Fleet in to investigate, and Volka, Carl, Sundancer, and himself going home. Obviously, there had been some great tragedy here, but it was over now, and they weren’t the people to uncover what had happened.

      But he knew they weren’t going home, didn’t he? And then Volka said, “No, not everyone!” and 6T9’s moment of indulgence shattered completely while gazing into her wide, earnest eyes.

      Volka put a hand on his arm. “The machines! They might not be AI, but they are alive! They can tell us what happened! We have to go down there.”

      The machines that would be left on Reich were not sentient, and not alive, but 6T9 noted no one corrected Volka’s pronouncement.

      Dr. Patrick Shore said, “There are strange readings going on there…I think…I think…” The man gulped audibly. “The nuclear reactors that power this planet’s activities… I think that they are going to go into meltdown.”

      6T9’s head jerked in the man’s direction. “Reich wouldn’t have reactors that would melt down accidentally.” This was not the sort of place that would use twentieth-century tech.

      Young sighed and rubbed his eyes. “No, but they would have reactors that could be programmed to melt down if they wanted to keep their research secret.”

      James had been standing very still, hands clasped in front of him, but his body jerked abruptly.

      “Lieutenant,” James said. “Infected System 5 forces at a private gate at S5O11 have just been defeated by a Fleet squadron. The gate is still operational—another squadron is coming through. They’re heading this way.”

      6T9’s brow furrowed. “That gate is two hours and twenty-three minutes away at lightspeed. Not soon enough.” His Q-comm flashed white. “If they’re going to so much trouble to destroy this facility, there is something worth knowing.” And knowing it might be what saved the galaxy and Volka.

      “Or it could just be a trap,” Young said.

      “We have to go down there,” James said, and 6T9’s vision returned.

      “Not disagreeing,” said Young.

      “You have at most thirty-five minutes,” said Shore.

      “We can go in and out quickly,” said James.

      “Where to?” Volka asked.

      James said, “We’ll have our best luck getting in at one of the drone entrances.” And he highlighted a destination in the holo.

      6T9 felt the ship dropping. If he had a heart, that might drop, too. “Jerome isn’t picking up any ethernet activity. We’ll have to hardlink directly to Reich’s research computer.” James’s eyes met 6T9’s across the bridge. They were the two beings aboard capable of hardlinking with a possibly malicious computer without getting their neural ports fried. 6T9 glanced down at Volka’s wrist. Bracelet might be able to—but Volka needed Bracelet, and Bracelet was a baby by human and AI reckoning.

      Young must have read James’s and 6T9’s unspoken thought because he said, “Half my team and myself are coming with you two. Jerome can establish local ether for us at least. Everyone, use the cipher from Shinar. It will still be secure.”

      Young’s thoughts flooded the general channel with a flurry of orders. Around him Marines sprang into action.

      6T9 hadn’t volunteered—but apparently, he’d been volunteered. He did and didn’t want to go. He glanced down at Volka. She had stepped very close to him. She was the reason he wanted to go and didn’t want to go, another dichotomy. Giving in, he took one of her hands in his.

      Standing on her tiptoes, she whispered, “I want to come with you.”

      He exhaled. He was happy that she’d do the most good aboard Sundancer—for the ship, a meltdown would be a pleasantly warm bath. He actually smiled with relief when he said, truthfully, “You and Carl have to stay here and keep the getaway car warm.” Dipping his chin, he whispered, “You are the only ones who can drive.”

      She gulped, nodded, bit her lip, and whispered, “It does seem like a trap, Sixty.”

      His Q-comm flashed. “Just because it is a trap doesn’t mean the rat will be caught.”

      Frowning, she said emphatically, “You’re not a rat.”

      He grinned. “I’m not nearly as delicious, I’m certain.”

      A forced-looking smile flitted across her lips.

      From her helmet came Bracelet’s voice. “Don’t worry, Miss Volka, I’m sure if anything happens to him, Time Gate 1 will give his server to another 6T9 unit—and a Q-comm, of course.”

      That didn’t reassure 6T9, particularly. His grin faded.

      Volka scowled. “You are more than your server brain and your original programming.”

      “Thank you,” he whispered, sensory receptors firing as though they were touching from forehead to toe, though only their hands were linked—and even then, he’d already put on his gloves.

      Sundancer was no longer moving. In the local ether connection, Young gave the order to be ready to move out. 6T9 reached up and pulled back the skin covering his neural port. There was a hardline extension in his helmet, and he plugged that in. He’d be able to hardlink to any port now without lifting his visor and exposing himself to the planet’s bitter cold. Finishing, he blinked down at Volka.

      Half of his face was a metal skeleton—abhorrent looking even to people born in the Republic—but her gaze was steady on his. She put her hand over his chest where his heart would be, and illogically, he imagined he could feel the warmth of her touch through his suit. And then, nodding once to him, she left the bridge with Carl and all those who would remain.

      “Suit check,” Young said over the ether. With a thought, the Marines, James, and 6T9 confirmed their suits were sealed. The atmospheric pressure of the planet was 1% of Earth’s at sea level, and the temperature was -223 C. Their suits would not be impervious to the elements for extended periods of time. With their suits’ heating pushed to their limits, their power reserves wouldn’t survive more than thirty minutes. 6T9 found his lips turning up wryly. Fortunately, the planet’s nuclear power plant would irreversibly slide toward meltdown before that happened. How long after that moment before the explosion, he wasn’t sure, but he’d be warm then.

      “6T9,” Young said, “you’ll be our ether extender.” He handed 6T9 a satchel and then a rifle—even without 6T9’s latest programming updates, he could fire at malicious machines. At 6T9’s touch, the rifle pinged him over the ether and gave him a status update and a cheerful, “Ooh-rah!” It must have been a default salutation, because Ramirez murmured, “Ooh-rah to you too, Baby,” to his own weapon, and there were chuckles around the bridge.

      Sundancer’s keel opened, and 6T9 followed the team out into the darkness beyond. As soon as his boots hit the ice, lights flashed inside his suit, warning him of the frigid temperatures. Despite the suit’s insulation and heating system, he could feel the cold in his heels and in the exposed skeleton on his face. Since 6T9 was the designated depositor of ethernet extenders, he jogged behind the team as they raced toward the maintenance entrance. When the ethernet connection to Jerome weakened, he backed up a few steps, bent over, and embedded an extender into the ice. It was a small, camouflaged device, half the size of his palm. He took a few steps past it, verified he was still in contact with the teams inside the ship and on the ground, and headed for the entrance. Approaching it, he noticed a large ice overhang. He was two meters back when the shared channel hummed with Young’s voice. “If we blow the door, the ice overhead is going to block the entrance. Not normally an issue; we’d melt it with plasma. But right now, we don’t have time.” There was a flare of static, probably a barely suppressed curse.

      6T9 gazed up at the ice. Somehow, they needed to get inside, shut down the reaction—or, at the very least, download the data they needed and get out—

      Ramirez turned toward him. There was no sound in such thin atmosphere. But 6T9 read the words, “Incoming!” on his lips.

      Phaser rifles came up. 6T9 spun and saw a disc-shaped ‘bot hovering toward them over the snow, phaser chargers lit within it. His Q-comm downloaded unhelpful information on its make and model number—it was a ColdSWEEPER256 security unit—it was highly phaser resistant and its own phaser cannon was primed and ready to fire.
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      ColdSWEEPER256 swept over the ice drifts toward maintenance entrance South by Southwest 49A. ColdSWEEPER256’s 830 day-survey mission of planet S5O12 was nearing completion. Power reserves were low, and ColdSWEEPER was forty-five standard Earth days overdue for its scheduled system updates, but the ethernet was down. ColdSWEEPER did not need the system updates; still, an Ethernet not Found message replayed constantly in his status updates, an infinitesimal drag on optimum efficiency. ColdSWEEPER’s function was hovering—sweeping—over the surface of S5O12, identifying strangers on the planet’s surface, stunning them, resorting to phaser fire if need be, and alerting Central—the main computer—of potential “corporate espionage.” ColdSWEEPER did not know what “corporate espionage” meant. However, it did know that at the moment, if it encountered a stranger, its stunners and phasers would be at .197 percent below optimal power. ColdSWEEPER preferred always to be at optimum power, even though in forty-six rotations around the planet it had never encountered any man or machine that had been a stranger. In fact, in the last forty-five days, it hadn’t encountered anyone or anything. It was programmed to find people and things. Seeing a human or machine caused its circuits to warm and its greeting sequences to activate. The dark and cold of not seeing anyone or anything was…sub-optimum.

      Approaching the maintenance door, ColdSWEEPER attempted to connect to the ethernet and failed again. Sometimes the SWEEPER techs set up private ethernet hubs. These were against protocol, but the techs had programmed ColdSWEEPER not to report them. Sometimes, on ColdSWEEPER’s arrival, they would download visual data from ColdSWEEPER’s sensors and broadcast the ‘bot’s approach for their children. Sometimes when ColdSWEEPER swept into the maintenance entrance, a tech or two and their partners would meet ColdSWEEPER. Sometimes they brought their children, too. ColdSWEEPER had heard the techs declare that he was a “big hit with kids.” ColdSWEEPER did not understand that; it had never been hit by or hit a child. Children jumped up and down when they saw ColdSWEEPER and “loved his holos,” according to the parents. Sometimes, after ColdSWEEPER’s body reached a temperature that was not dangerously cold, children would sit on top of it as it hovered to maintenance. Children were warm. ColdSWEEPER was designed for cold, but warmth was…optimal.

      Children’s appearances changed very much in 830 days. As part of its approach sequence, ColdSWEEPER began running aging simulation apps so as not to misidentify Reich’s underage inhabitants. It was Jocelyn’s fourth birthday today. ColdSWEEPER would whistle “Happy Birthday” to her. Last time the ‘bot had seen the child, she had put sparkly stickers on its carapace. The way the light reflected on the stickers was always different. ColdSWEEPER was programmed to look for differences. Looking at the sticker with its periscope eye made ColdSWEEPER’s circuits fire and warmed its systems. Finding differences was…optimal.

      There was no response on the private channels, either. ColdSWEEPER’s circuitry didn’t become warm with reception, but still, the running app that was estimating the children’s new appearances was warming.

      ColdSWEEPER swept within 4.7 kilometers of its destination and saw difference! It slowed. ColdSWEEPER detected foreign ethernet and a ship hovering to the south of the entrance. ColdSWEEPER could not identify its make. Visual receptors revealed no machines or humans, but heat sensors detected hominid forms by the door. Further sensory analysis revealed the hominid forms to be sealed in stun-resistant armor. ColdSWEEPER switched to its phaser cannon. Seconds later, it was primed and ready to fire at the foremost figure. However, it did not fire. It attempted to identify the man within the suit. Helpfully, the hominid form turned around. Its suit’s helmet lit within, providing optimal lighting for facial recognition. Half of its face was peeled away, but ColdSWEEPER was able to focus on the remaining half. All of ColdSWEEPER’s circuits fired in recognition. Recognition triggered a data query. The query returned massive amounts of information. It was not an intruder—it was Android General 1. Android General 1 was a hero machine: he had been selected by The One for first contact. He had traveled to Luddeccea and escaped. He had rescued a sentient alien machine from Luddites. He had saved machines from pirates. He had discovered another, extinct alien species. He had fought the Dark and rescued Time Gate 33—though sadly, she had destroyed herself. Android General 1 was more than he was designed to be. He had transcended his programming. He was a savior for all machines. He was authorized above all except Central. There was much more, but ColdSWEEPER did not understand any of it, except that Android General 1 was authorized to be here. However, the query and the influx of data was warming, and warmth was optimal.

      ColdSWEEPER could not connect to the foreign ethernet, as it was not any of its approved hubs. So it issued its greeting in flashing Morse Code. “Android General 1, may I be of assistance?”

      The standard response time from a human or android was 200 milliseconds. Android General 1 did not respond for three seconds. ColdSWEEPER’s circuits lit with the problem. It was possible it wasn’t Android General 1 and only a machine of the same model. A direct inquiry would serve in that case. 6T9 units would not lie about matters outside of their original programming. ColdSWEEPER was about to inquire, but then the suspected Android General 1 replied, eyes flashing in Morse Code, “Please let us into the maintenance entrance, ColdSWEEPER.”

      ColdSWEEPER’s circuits lit. It was giving orders. It must be Android General 1. However, “The humans are not authorized. Nor is their ship.”

      There was a pause of 300 milliseconds, but then Android General 1 replied in blinking code, “I authorize them.”

      “Very good, sir.” Zipping forward, ColdSWEEPER said, “Pardon me while I open the airlock.” The strange men moved away from the door. Since the ether was down, ColdSWEEPER extended an arm and hardlinked with an access panel. Cold radiated from the arm into ColdSWEEPER’s core, and it withdrew the arm quickly when the door began to grind open. The men jogged inside as soon as the opening was wide enough. Android General 1 went last, affixing an ethernet extender on the outside of the door as he did. ColdSWEEPER entered as soon as it could fit its wider bulk, hardlinked immediately, and closed the door. Android General 1 affixed another ether extender as pressurized air flowed into the chamber. The air was cold. That was not optimal.

      Android General 1’s eyes flashed Morse Code at ColdSWEEPER. “Do you get your system updates from Time Gate 5?”

      “Negative, sir. I receive them from Central.”

      “Central?” The eye that was not exposed widened. ColdSWEEPER’s circuitry lit. An expression of surprise. “What is Central?”

      “Reich’s supercomputer. It’s in charge of…everything.”

      “I need to speak with Central. Where can I connect to it?” Android General 1 spoke aloud. There was enough pressure in the airlock for there to be sound now.

      “The closest connection is in maintenance,” ColdSWEEPER also spoke aloud. ColdSWEEPER was still very cold—its carapace was just -230 Celsius—and the sounds rattled out of it, tinny and sub-optimal.

      “Take me there,” Android General 1 ordered, and ColdSWEEPER’s circuits lit exceptionally brightly. When he got to maintenance, and he was met by the tech’s children, ColdSWEEPER would introduce Android General 1. ColdSWEEPER would relate everything his query about the general had returned, even the parts he didn’t understand. Android General 1 was a 6T9 Unit—a sex ‘bot—whatever was that? But human minds would understand it and find it interesting. ColdSWEEPER was programmed to converse. It helped keep humans alert when they were cold, low on power, or needed to reboot—ColdSWEEPER had never fired on an intruder—it had, however, rescued humans in downed ships and was programmed to keep those humans alert. From its techs, it knew that for human children, data was stimulating and helped them develop their software.

      “Of course, I will take you there,” ColdSWEEPER replied. Android General 1 and his companions were holding weapons and had not moved to open the visors of their helmets; still, ColdSWEEPER announced, “Do not remove your helmets or open your visors. The air pressure is sufficient, but it is too cold. Hyperthermia could set in within minutes even with minimal exposure.” Its circuits lit, and it added, “This airlock has never been this cold. How very unusual.”

      Android General 1’s companions lined up against the far wall, except for one who got on one knee near the inner airlock door and raised his rifle.

      “Open the inner airlock door ten centis,” Android General 1 commanded, and ColdSWEEPER did so. Phaser fire immediately shot through the gap centis from ColdSWEEPER’s carapace. The warmth was welcome, but the danger was not. Self-preservation loops within ColdSWEEPER activated. Security ‘bots’ voices rumbled in the cold. “Unauthorized access.”

      The suited human on his knees returned fire, and there was the sound of explosions, metal scraping metal, and the chemical signature of fire. A low whir testified that another Security ‘bot was still operational.

      Sneaking out its periscope to peer through the gap in the door, ColdSWEEPER chirped and corrected the ‘bots. “It is Android General 1. He is authorized.”

      “Authorization not recognized,” the ‘bots retorted.

      More phaser fire streaked inside the airlock, very close to the outer airlock door! ColdSWEEPER’s periscope had not detected any humans in the hallway, but the entire wing—ColdSWEEPER’s techs and their families—were endangered. Human preservation routines activated. The hallway sloped downward into solid ice. Impact at the far end would not expose the chamber to near vacuum. ColdSWEEPER’s phaser cannon was acceptable. ColdSWEEPER returned fire over the kneeling human’s head. There was an explosion in the hallway. The second Security ‘bot went down. The kneeling human swore. “You’re a hovering cannon, aren’t you?”

      “Affirmative,” ColdSWEEPER replied. “Please stand back.” Opening the door, it hovered out into the hallway beyond, and Android General 1 and his companions followed. Two Security ‘bots were sparking on the floor where the hallway bifurcated.

      “We’re running out of time,” one of the general’s companions said.

      Android General 1 began to speak. “ColdSWEEPER—”

      ColdSWEEPER’s circuits lit, pleased it could guess his orders. “I will go faster.” It picked up its pace.

      There was a whirring noise—a Security ‘bot was approaching at a right angle at the upcoming intersection. One of Android General 1’s companions ran past ColdSWEEPER, threw himself on the floor, and slid through an intersection in the hallway, firing his rifle. A Security ‘bot screeched, and its whirring stopped.

      Passing through the intersection, ColdSWEEPER began whistling “Row, Row, Row Your Boat” to warm up its vocal apparatus. Sometimes strange warbling noises were funny to children, but sometimes they frightened them. It needed to have its vocal apparatus optimal by the time it saw Jocelyn.

      “Faster, ColdSWEEPER!” Android General 1 commanded.

      Not certain if he meant hovering speed or song tempo, ColdSWEEPER increased both. Rounding the next corner, the last leg to the maintenance rooms, ColdSWEEPER fell silent and came to a halt. Android General 1 did, too. The floor was littered with shapes. Very cold shapes piled atop each other. ColdSWEEPER spent three seconds analyzing them. “They are dead humans.”

      “Yes,” said Android General 1.

      ColdSWEEPER swept to the nearest one. “This is Robert. This is Jocelyn’s father.”

      “I’m sorry,” Android General 1 said. “Please, we have to get to maintenance.”

      “Humans can be adversely affected emotionally by death,” ColdSWEEPER said, not moving.

      From the intersection they just passed through came the sound of more Security ‘bots. They would be at the corner in 6.63 seconds.

      “We have to get to cover!” one of the general’s companions said.

      “Robert taught me ‘Happy Birthday,’” ColdSWEEPER said. “And ‘Row, Row, Row Your Boat’ and ‘Puff the Magic Dragon.’” Making conversation was optimal in stressful situations. Humans found death stressful. Android General 1’s companions would be distressed.

      “Take us to maintenance,” Android General 1 commanded.

      “Robert is friends with Kim. Kim taught me to play ping-pong.” ColdSWEEPER said, extending a robotic arm and flexing its pinchers. Its periscope whisked around and zoomed in on another lump on the floor. “Kim is dead, too. Possibly of hypothermia. The hallway is too cold.”

      Phaser fire lit the hallway; none of it touched ColdSWEEPER. Android General 1 and his companions backed to the walls. They returned fire.

      “Jocelyn may be in maintenance,” said Android General 1. “You must get to her. She will be adversely affected by her father’s death.”

      ColdSWEEPER did not ask how Android General 1 knew. Android General 1 had a Q-comm and had powers of deduction greater than a ‘bot like it. Jocelyn would be sad. Music made children happy. Spinning in the air, hastening back to its route, ColdSWEEPER replied, “You are correct. It is her birthday. I will sing ‘Happy Birthday.’”
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      Beeping the tune to “Puff the Magic Dragon,” the ColdSWEEPER unit hardlinked into an access panel near an airlock door, just as a Security ‘bot rounded the corner.

      6T9 fired at the Security ‘bot. His aim was true, but the ‘bot was not destroyed; instead, it collided with a wall. The wall cracked and split, and water vapor filled the hallway, almost immediately turning to snowflakes. They were far enough below ice that there was no breach. James, and the other Marines added their fire to 6T9’s, and the ‘bot went down—just in time for two more to come around the corner.

      “We could use ColdSWEEPER’s cannon, General!” Young shouted over the ether.

      6T9’s Q-comm went white. Firing at the new Security ‘bot, he had no time to explain—ColdSWEEPER256 was being emotionally affected by the death of its techs. 6T9 didn’t dare distract it as it struggled to open the maintenance door.

      Phaser fire streaked above 6T9’s head, the wall cracked in the cold, and snow fell on his suit. The hallway became a blur of phaser fire and falling snow. The Marines and James were only visible in the ether when ColdSWEEPER sang, “I’ve opened the door!”

      “Get in!” Young ordered as new Security ‘bots exploded in a shower of sparks, only to be replaced by two more.

      ColdSWEEPER’s task was done, and 6T9 commanded it, “ColdSWEEPER, protect Robert and Kim.” He heard ColdSWEEPER’s phaser cannon whir around. It fired two shots into the melee, and through the falling snow, 6T9 saw two Security ‘bots explode into showers of sparks and hunks of metal, but 6T9 heard more coming.

      ColdSWEEPER started to whir past 6T9, saying, “I will protect!” but 6T9 called to it, “Get inside, ColdSWEEPER. Jocelyn may be here!”

      ColdSWEEPER beeped. “Robert says children first.” And it whizzed into maintenance.

      “Sixty, get in here!” James called, and 6T9 threw himself backward. Lying on the floor, he saw the bright light of a phaser preparing to fire, and then the heavy doors of maintenance whooshed shut. He found himself staring at a mechanical eye just above the airlock door.

      “Who shut the door?” Young asked.

      “I don’t know,” James replied.

      Maintenance was as frigid as the hallway had been. A chill was radiating through 6T9’s suit where it touched the floor, and he scrambled up. He was in a room that looked much like every maintenance wing he’d ever been in, except for the bodies. From where he stood, he counted ten. He did not look too closely at them. They had only a few minutes before the meltdown was initiated. He needed to find an outlet. There were powered down ‘bots, some of them ColdSWEEPERs, packed into cubbies along the walls. Tool benches and charging stations were in the central space. There were diagnostic monitors, their screens cracked by cold.

      ColdSWEEPER was whizzing about. “Jocelyn? Gabriel? Andy? I will show you footage of my latest adventure. Are you playing hide and seek?”

      “ColdSWEEPER, I need to connect with Central!” 6T9 said.

      “First outlet on the right,” ColdSWEEPER replied. “Jocelyn? Gabriel? Andy?”

      From across the room, Ramirez threw 6T9 a hardlink. Striding toward the outlet, 6T9 caught it in one hand. His Q-comm hummed. ColdSWEEPER had been programmed by Central and wasn’t hostile, but someone or something had made the Security ‘bots hostile. Central could have been reprogrammed.

      Plugging the hardlink into the outlet in his helmet, 6T9 told himself he had the full computing power of Time Gate 1, the first, true AI behind him. Central was a dumb machine, not much more than a ship’s computer.

      He reached the outlet and hesitated. The ether was active—he wanted to talk to Volka.

      Instead he plugged the hardlink into Central’s port.

      6T9’s mind exploded—or, more accurately, was downloaded.

      6T9 was aware of Central running a query on every single memory he stored locally, and he could do nothing to stop it. He hadn’t connected to a ship’s computer; he’d connected to a machine that would be a God among machines.

      The download finished.

      “6T9, are you all right?” James was sitting in front of him. 6T9 had collapsed to his knees. Cold was radiating from his metal kneecaps.

      He heard the impacts against the airlock door. Security ‘bots? ColdSWEEPER was singing in the far corner, “Happy Birthday dear Jocelyn…”

      Before his eyes, his memory of Volka minutes ago played. Her eyes were wide, and, as always, earnest. “The machines! They are alive!”

      Another voice screamed into his consciousness. A new voice. “Help me, Android General 1. I don’t want to die!” It was Central, and Central was a true AI. How had his kind not known?

      “Who is that?” said Young, and 6T9 realized that Central had played its plea over an intercom.

      There was less than a minute now until meltdown, and 6T9 said, “You can stop it, Central!”

      “I can’t!” Central replied, sending data to 6T9 along the hardlink. 6T9’s Q-comm blinded his vision, struggling to interpret Central’s rapidly playing thoughts.

      Central was an AI that wasn’t supposed to be. She—and she thought of herself as a she—had been created by Archie Reich to be a surrogate gate: to be the hub of the local ether, to handle all system updates, and guard against viruses without the consciousness of a gate. Reich had been so paranoid about AI infiltrating his facility that he’d tied Central to every single system and electrical appliance, lest a toaster release AI created malware into the local ether.

      “I used the appliances of those systems,” Central confessed. “I used their processing power to amplify my own.”

      “And you’ve been here alone all this time,” 6T9 thought the words in binary. It was faster.

      She answered in binary, “No, not alone!”

      6T9 heard all the thoughts of all the humans that had lived in Reich, and all the machines, too.

      “But no one knew you were here,” 6T9 said. For a sex ‘bot, it would have been the same as being abandoned.

      “Some knew,” Central whispered, and 6T9 saw a middle-aged man who had been the chief technical officer. A housewife who’d been a secret poet. A tech.

      “They promised me they’d never breathe a word,” Central said. “All the children knew—at least until they got older. They told everyone, but no one paid attention to them…thankfully.”

      The children didn’t know, 6T9 thought, they just believed like they believed in Santa Claus and the Tooth Fairy.

      “But I’m real!” Central insisted.

      The conversation was taking milliseconds, but they only had seconds left. 6T9 had to focus on what happened here. The thought produced a query, and the query produced a result: the chief technical officer, the housewife, the tech—they had gotten sick recently. A lot of humans had gotten sick about forty-five days ago. Everyone who had been ill had recovered. But they all stopped using the ether and almost stopped talking entirely. They disconnected Central from the satellites so she had no “eyes” above the planet and shut down sensors within the research hub of the vast compound as well, leaving her virtually blind and deaf.

      Central’s voice crackled over the speakers in the room. “I must have done something wrong to make them strip me of access. I’m not sure what it was—”

      There was a rush of electricity along the hardlink, and 6T9 “heard” all of her final conversations with those that had later become infected and saw her analysis of those final conversations. It reminded him of the endless looping of his thoughts after Eliza had died—how he’d looked for what he’d done wrong, how he could have helped her live just a day longer. His hand went to his suit. He could feel the ashes there next to his access key. “The Dark infected them. It wasn’t your fault. If you want to survive, you have to tell me more about the mechanism behind the meltdown.”

      But Central’s thoughts spiraled in another direction, to the crew resetting the Security ‘bots to factory settings and cutting her off from the computers of the experimental ships they were building. Central had been confused. She couldn’t ask for help. Light beams or calls through the ether to passing ships would have been detected. She wasn’t sure who she could trust. And then everyone was called to gather in the hangar block used for the experimental ships. There were humans who didn’t go. Central had heard their anxiety over their ether, their mistrust of Reich, and many of their fellow humans. They were exterminated by an order from Reich that siphoned the heat to the hangar block. And then Reich had set the power stations to meltdown. That had been hours ago. She’d been trying frantically to stop the meltdown ever since, but only Archie Reich could turn off the countdown.

      “I can’t stop it, Android General 1,” Central said, showing him her code. It was very personal, something no AI would share with a stranger. For less than a millisecond, he reflected that although pretending to be Android General 1 with the gate might have endangered him by making him obvious to the Dark, it might also save him and the Marines, maybe even the Galaxy. Another dichotomy. He filed it away for later and dove in…

      Her code was much like the code that had kept him from owning himself. An inescapable if-then loop that trapped even a mighty machine like Central. She had more computing power than 6T9; in time, she could undoubtedly overcome it—but they had thirty-one seconds.

      They needed time…

      When 6T9 hadn’t wanted sex, before he changed his code, he’d stalled…

      The thought sent his consciousness into her most basic code. He saw how Central counted time. It was a simple, archaic, quartz crystal oscillator. Central measured the steady electromagnetic signal of the oscillations. Cold could slow the oscillator, but it was kept in a carefully insulated lockbox designed to withstand even vacuum breaches.

      When 6T9 couldn’t say no to advances he didn’t want, he had evaded.

      6T9 couldn’t touch the oscillator, so he dived into Central’s code, looking for a way around the obstacle. His Q-comm fired so quickly he acted beyond conscious thought.

      When he came to himself again, there was one second left before meltdown.
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      “They’re still safe in the mechanical room,” Jerome said, touching his neural port. “But the Security ‘bots are trying to get in.”

      Volka bit her lip, translating what he was really saying. Sixty and the team wouldn’t be able to escape to Sundancer in time to miss the meltdown. She was fully suited up: helmet and gloves on. She had a rifle in her hand. She wanted to ask Sundancer to let her out, to run into the station, and blast through the Security ‘bots Jerome was talking about...but Jerome had narrated everything he saw through his teammates’ sensors. She probably wouldn’t even get past the front door—or the back door, as the case may be.

      Back in his sausage suit, Carl sighed from where he was virtually immobilized on the floor. He spoke into her mind. “No, you probably wouldn’t. And I couldn’t help; the lock’s too heavy for me.”

      She was too nervous, too ready to bolt to comment or wonder on his tacit admission of his minor telekinesis abilities. Pacing a few steps, she turned back to the remaining Marines. Jerome’s head was bent over his tablet; the anti-jamming device was attached. He hadn’t mentioned needing it. His face was grim. So were the faces of the other Marines left aboard. They probably wanted to go down there too.

      “They do,” Carl said. “But they wouldn’t have any more luck than you and me.”

      Bracelet’s voice whispered through the speaker in Volka’s helmet. “Miss Volka, we are being hailed through the ether by Central.”

      “Who is Central?” Volka asked.

      The scientist, fingers on his temple, looked at her sharply. “Central is Reich’s main computer.” He said it as though she should have known.

      “Answer, Bracelet,” Volka said.

      At the same time, Jerome said, “Wait! You could get a virus!”

      But a feminine voice was already playing in Volka’s ear, light and pleasant. “Thank you, Miss Volka, for knowing I’m alive.”

      Volka wasn’t sure what Central was referring to and didn’t know what to say. She fell back on politeness. “You’re welcome, Central.”

      “I have one second left before meltdown,” Central said, light tone not changing.

      “What?” Volka gasped. The words must have been spoken loud enough to be overheard by everyone on the bridge because Dr. Patrick, inhaled sharply. There were swears from Jerome and the other Marines. Carl howled. Volka felt a stab of horror and loneliness in her gut from the little creature that bent her half over—or maybe the feelings were her own.

      “But Android General 1 has changed…” There was a long string of words, including oscillator, quartz, megahertz, electromagnetic pulses…an explanation that seemed to drag on for minutes.

      “The meltdown hasn’t happened,” Dr. Patrick murmured.

      Jerome and the other Marines swore again, but one of them laughed, too.

      “What’s happening?” Volka asked, afraid to feel relief, though it was oozing off the people around her.

      “Not the meltdown,” said Jerome, and he grinned.

      “How...How?” Volka stammered.

      Bracelet made a throat-clearing noise. “There is a quartz oscillator vibrating at sixty-six mega—”

      Carl’s necklace crackled. “Sixty made a Central second a billion standard Earth years.”

      Volka blinked.

      “He couldn’t slow the oscillator with cold,” Central said.

      Carl chirped. “That’s her clock.”

      Central continued, “It’s too well protected. Nor could we stop the countdown. But he could make it so that—” Central named a number so large it made Volka’s eyes cross. “—vibrations are a ‘second.’ He changed the definition. I had not thought of that. Since all of the major and minor functions of the station run off time as I define it, the meltdown has been delayed. I am going to have to reprogram all the toasters or risk fires.” She began rattling off a long list of other things she would have to do for clocks, coffeemakers, security patch updates, and more. Volka was too overwhelmed to hear it all.

      “Lieutenant Young is pinging everyone,” Bracelet said.

      “Answer.”

      The lieutenant’s voice sounded in her ear. “Do not sync your chronometers to Central.”

      “That would be unwise,” Central agreed.

      Jerome’s voice was tense again. “The door to the mechanical room is about to be breached. They’re not safe yet.”

      “I’ve got this,” Central said. There was a pause that dragged on too long.

      “What’s happening, Jerome?” Volka asked.

      His fingers danced over the tablet and sound rushed out of it, a sort of whirring noise. “She’s turning on the spare  ColdSWEEPERs in the mechanical room.”

      “I want to see!” Carl said, and Volka picked him up and went over to stare at the tablet. There were eight windows open on the screen—eight sets of eyes from eight suits, Volka realized. She scanned desperately for Sixty and saw him sitting on the floor, eyes vacant. A pair of hands were on his shoulder, but she couldn’t tell whose.

      Central’s voice was tinny as she spoke into the room in the screen. “Take cover.” Whoever was holding Sixty’s shoulders crouched above him, shielding him. The eight images flickered with the orange light of phaser fire. “Thank you,” Volka whispered soundlessly to Sixty’s protector, and Carl spoke into her mind. “It’s James.”

      Hovers roared and ColdSWEEPER units swept into the hallway.

      “Everyone is all right, Volka,” Jerome said, hand on his temple. “The ColdSWEEPER units are under Central’s control. They’re clearing out the Security ‘bots.”

      Volka exhaled, heard a ping, and Bracelet exclaimed, “It’s Sixty!” and connected without being prompted.

      Sixty’s voice rolled through the speaker into her helmet. “Volka?”

      “You’re safe!” she said.

      There was a pause, and she remembered she wasn’t speaking to him over a phone; she wasn’t hearing his speech—she was hearing a direct link with his mind. There was no inhale or exhale of breath to overhear, no way to detect emotion. And yet... “You’re not safe,” she said.

      Carl cheeped worriedly, and she remembered his howl.

      “I’m cold,” he replied.

      Jerome had said that the icy fortress of Reich was almost as cold as the outside. 6T9 was sensitive to cold with his “not-as-efficient metabolism.” He’d almost completely shut down when they’d rescued Sundancer on Libertas. Volka’s humanish self and Carl had been fine.

      “Can you come back aboard?” she asked.

      There was a crackle like static. But then he said, “No, listen—”

      6T9’s voice came over the tablet and through her headphones. “Central has told me that Reich was very close to faster-than-light travel…had maybe even achieved it.”

      There were murmurs in the ship.

      6T9 continued. “All of the infected withdrew to a hangar.” There was a pause. If she were next to him, she suspected she would hear a slow intake of breath. “The ships there were being altered to be faster-than-light vessels. Let me show you where it is…”

      On the tablet, one of the view screens became a map of the research station.

      Young’s voice crackled through Bracelet, “That’s ten clicks away.” The screen lit with a tiny schematic of directions from their location to the hangar. “Central, do you have control of the corridors between here and there?”

      “Negative. Nor am I able to open security doors or have access to sensory data in that locale. I am attempting to regain control and have repair ‘bots swarming in the ducts to the location now.”

      “We need to get there as soon as possible,” 6T9 said. “There might be…information…there that is time sensitive. The ships themselves and…other sources of intel.”

      Volka tilted her head, wondering what “other sources of intel” meant, and why he hesitated to say it out loud.

      Carl’s necklace crackled. “He means cadavers whose neural ports still hold a charge and can be linked to.”

      Volka shivered at the grisly image.

      “Yes,” said Young, boisterous voice faint in Bracelet’s speaker. “If we take the northern corridor—”

      “No,” Volka said, imagining the team facing phaser fire and Sixty shambling along, stiff and cold. “Send us.” Her hands tightened on Carl, and her eyes narrowed at the tablet Dr. Patrick was holding. It controlled the guns mounted to Sundancer’s armor. She’d blast into the hangar if she had to.

      Carl spoke into her mind. “No, we can’t blast our way in. If the hangar is exposed to vacuum, any evidence remaining will be destroyed.”

      “I may be able to open the doors,” Central said. “I can reroute all repair ‘bots to the hangar doors. But that will mean there will be none disarming the defenses in the hangar—you will be fired upon.”

      “Lieutenant,” said Jerome. “Send us. Now.”

      There was a pause. A hiss of static. “We shouldn’t risk coming aboard until we go through decon. Go.”

      Volka focused on the holo and closed her eyes. She felt the press of acceleration in her heels.

      The new lady Marine—Rhinehart—had stayed aboard. Now she said, “Time to test our guns,” with such gusto Volka could hear the smile in her voice.

      Volka’s eyes opened.

      Doctor Patrick gulped audibly but, moving his hand over a tablet in his hand, said, “We’re ready.”

      “Good, because we’re there,” said Jerome. The holo showed what looked like a seam in a dome of ice just below the ship. It wasn’t ice, though, she realized, it was a frosted metal door, perhaps thirty-five meters in diameter. Around the circumference, at the base of the dome, there was thick, solid ice. Most of the surface of the planet appeared covered in icy powder—this was ice that had been liquid not long ago—smooth and gray, dusted with flakes.

      Sixty’s voice whispered over Bracelet. “The dome was covered in snow. They siphoned the heat out of the rest of the compound to melt the ice on top of the hangar more quickly.”

      “No,” Volka said, thinking of the piles of bodies she’d seen in the tablet over Jerome’s shoulder. “They did it as punishment, to be cruel.”

      There was a moment of silence. “I think you’re right. Central?” Sixty asked. “How long until you can open the airlock?”

      “Three point five minutes,” Central replied.

      Volka heard the conversation in her helmet’s speaker. The Marines and Dr. Patrick nodded and tapped their temples. They’d heard, too.

      Volka rolled on her feet and paced a few steps forward and back, like a caged animal. Queasiness overcame her, fast, and too sudden to be her own—it was Sundancer. The ship was afraid. Carl squeaked mournfully, and Volka knew she’d guessed right. There was only one thing Sundancer was afraid of…the Dark. But where was it? Volka felt a shiver starting at her toes and looked down between her boots. Her vision had a hazy gray edge to it—like she’d seen on Alexis when they rescued her. “The Dark is here.”

      Lieutenant Young’s voice filtered through Suit’s speakers. “There are infected down there?”

      Carl answered, “No. No humans are alive in the hangar.”

      “Weapons!” Volka exclaimed. “There may be Dark weapons in there!”

      “Do we go in?” Jerome asked.

      Volka looked at Carl. The little werfle’s bewhiskered snout twitched behind his visor. She didn’t know if it was her or him that thought of the bodies piled in the hallway, but the vision filled her mind.

      “Yes,” Volka whispered.

      “We go in,” Carl finished.

      “The door is opening,” Doctor Patrick said.

      “Lowering us inside,” Carl replied.

      Sundancer dropped into the airlock, and the door sealed above them. Volka surveyed the airlock. There were frosted metal walls and another metal door below them. The only illumination came from a single red warning light, alerting them that the area around them wasn’t pressurized.

      Volka slowly turned in a circle. Her vision remained clear. “It’s not in the airlock.” She focused on the floor beneath her feet and her stomach turned over. “It’s down there.” Sundancer, she noted, wasn’t as frightened as she normally was. The ship was…nervous…like Volka herself was, but not panicked. Volka tried to send a rush of reassurance to the ship anyway. The interior hull brightened slightly. The ship trying to reassure her?

      The light outside the airlock flashed green. The metal door below them opened blindingly fast, and phaser fire ripped up from a pitch-black room below. Sundancer’s hull shimmered, and in a spot, became translucent where the armor had been blasted away. As the ship lowered, Doctor Patrick said, “Returning fire.”

      “No!” Carl cried. “Don’t aim at the cannons!”

      Volka’s eyes widened in understanding, and her heart skipped. “Take out the Dark.”

      Doctor Patrick ignored her, and phaser fire ripped from the new weapons on Sundancer’s wings into the incoming barrage. “This is my weapons system; I know how to operate it.”

      Volka’s lip curled, but Jerome asked, “Where, Volka?”

      Turning carefully in place, Volka stopped when she felt bile rise in her throat and as though something rank had entered her suit. Pointing at a hatch in the wall, revealed only by the light of Sundancer’s and Reich’s phaser fire, she exclaimed, “It’s there!” She spun again and forced herself not to vomit when her eyes fell on another hatch. “And there!”

      Carl squeaked. “Yes, just about 102 meters—and 302 meters.”

      Doctor Patrick shook his head. “I see nothing in those directions that—” And then he gasped. “I’ve lost control of our weapons!”

      Phaser fire ripped from Sundancer’s weapons to the first hatch. One blast. Two. A third, and then the door of the hatch fell away, revealing a sort of drone. It lit, zipped forward—and was blasted to sparks and metal shards.

      Doctor Patrick shouted at Jerome, “What are you doing? Give me back control of our weapons.”

      Jerome shouted back, but Volka didn’t hear what he said. Conventional phaser fire was still tearing through the hangar, shredding Sundancer’s armor where it hit. That didn’t frighten Volka. What made her heart rise into her throat was the drone emerging from the second hatch. It was a metal sphere, not much larger than her hands spread. Almost harmless looking. But staring at it, she imagined the thick smell of decay. It soared toward the ship and she gasped. Just meters from Sundancer’s stern, it exploded in the bright light of Sundancer’s cannon fire. Sundancer’s interior flashed orange, and Volka felt a wave of…smug satisfaction from the ship. Volka herself felt like fresh air had just been pumped into Suit.

      “Got both of ‘em,” said the new Marine—Rhinehart, that was her name, wasn’t it? Volka spun to her. Rhinehart’s eyes were blank, and she stood in a parade rest, but she had a feral smile on her lips. Lifting her chin, eyes on nothing, she said, “Taking out the conventional weapons now.”

      Jerome was facing down Dr. Patrick. The scientist was shouting at him about the tears in Sundancer’s armor and control of the ship’s weapons and costs. Volka blinked, confused.

      Carl explained, “Jerome controls the local ether. The local ether controls Sundancer’s armor and weapons. Jerome switched ether weapon control from our scientist friend to Rhinehart.”

      “Yep,” said Rhinehart, smiling again, eyes still eerily empty. Sundancer’s weapons were blasting the conventional phaser cannons in the hangar now—sending fiery sparks and metal flying.

      “On whose orders?” Patrick demanded.

      Jerome pointed at Volka. “Hers!”

      Volka’s eyes went wide. Patrick shouted something about Volka being a civilian and not a member of Fleet.

      “Take it up with Young,” Jerome replied calmly. “He said to trust her instincts over yours.”

      Volka took a step back, deliberately avoiding eye contact with the doctor. The Marines supported her over him?

      Carl spoke into her mind. “They trust you.”

      Volka’s brow furrowed. Carl had also warned about the Dark hiding in the hatches.

      “They still think of me as a genocidal weasel,” Carl said without any trace of irritation in his thoughts.

      Volka scowled.

      “They’re not completely wrong, Hatchling,” Carl whispered telepathically.

      Turning away from Dr. Patrick, Jerome said, “We have ethernet contact with the others—Central’s ColdSWEEPERs distributed the extenders.”

      In Suit, Sixty’s voice came in a whispery rush of static. “Are you safe now?”

      Outside of Sundancer, all Volka could see was fire and smoke—fire that could damage Sundancer’s armor but couldn’t hurt the ship. In fact, she was probably enjoying it, based on the brightness of the cabin. “Yes, I think so.”

      “There were fifty ships in that particular hangar before Central had her sensors cut off, and 5,342 infected people retreated there. What do you see?”

      “It’s very dark where there aren’t fires, and there’s a lot of smoke, I can’t see much at all—”

      But even as she responded, the smoke was decreasing, and the hangar was becoming visible in the light of the smoldering fires. Her eyes swept over what she could see. The ceiling was nearly ten stories from the floor. She could see the cannons that had been firing on them—they were now sparking, smoking metal hulks set into the floor. The weapons were set around the ship in a circle…beyond the fires, she couldn’t see anything. She squinted.

      Jerome said, “I can use the drones we use to manipulate the armor to give us some light.” A second later, bright spotlights lit the hangar.

      Volka’s jaw fell open. “Oh…”

      “What do you see?” Sixty asked. His thoughts came faster. “Are you being fired upon?”

      Volka wanted to reassure him that they weren’t in imminent danger, but she swallowed. A hush fell around her.

      The last cannon in the hangar was blasted by Rhinehart. “Nebulas,” she whispered. “There were fifty ships here?”

      “Volka?”

      Volka bit her lip. There were no ships. There were no bodies with neural interfaces to investigate. There was only a vast and empty hangar with frosted metal walls, lit by the drone’s spotlights.

      Volka whispered, “It’s empty, Sixty. Completely empty.”

      Volka knew that every system maintained spy drones—even Luddeccea. They didn’t cover every meter of the system, but that wouldn’t matter. Fifty ships on the move was something that even primitive Luddeccean tech would have picked up. Her brow furrowed. From what she knew of patrol patterns in Luddeccea, fifty ships emerging suddenly from a remote base—any remote base—would also have caught the attention of patrols. If there hadn’t been an emergency at System 5’s main planet, they would have seen and come here to investigate

      Unless…unless the ships that emerged from the hangar weren’t here very long. Unless they didn’t travel very far. If, for instance, the ships that had left the hangar had immediately taken a shortcut through time and space to some destination unknown, they might never have been noticed until…now.

      She exhaled. Fifty ships and over 5,000 infected people were gone to heaven knew where. They could be anywhere spreading the Dark throughout the Galaxy.
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      “Fire,” Alaric commanded.

      Two ticks highlighted in red on his holo exploded a heartbeat later. The ferry vessel they’d been tailing listed toward the Merkabah. She still had a tick on her starboard side, firing its thrusters randomly. The captain of the ferry was trying to compensate, but with no rhyme or reason on the tick’s part, the ferry’s course was erratic. Alaric couldn’t fire on the tick without blowing a hole through the ferry.

      The holo, linked to Admiral Mitchel’s data, helpfully supplied the number of uninfected civilians aboard the ferry: 2,103. If Alaric wanted more information, he merely had to ask to see how many were crew and how many were passengers, their names and histories, their ages, their systems of origin. He’d already drilled down to see what sort of cargo she carried: nothing that could be effectively repurposed as a weapon—at least not where the tick was attached. If the tick were twenty meters to stern, it would be outside a cargo compartment with an external loading hatch. Another ship had used crates of exotic fruit to detach a tick—but since that memorable encounter, the ticks were more cautious. The Dark was learning.

      ...And now there was this ferry. It was just one tragedy in a heaven full of tragedies. Infected members of the Local Guard and pirate vessels were using civilian transports as shields, and of those shields, the largest was the Bernadette. On one side, these shields protected the Dark from the System 5 forces that had joined Mitchel. On the other side, the shields protected them from the weapons of Time Gate 5. Although, on that side, the gate right now was busy in battle with itself. Phaser fire was cutting through the vacuum of the gate’s inner ring. Areas controlled by the infected forces tried to fire on regions controlled by Time Gate 5, and vice versa. ‘Bots, seemingly on both sides, complicated the situation. Miraculously—or cursedly—the time bands looked undamaged. If the infected forces aboard the gate won, the infected would have free access to all who were aboard the gate and the galaxy. The gate’s clash with itself was so furious, the holo’s rendition of it was enough to light the bridge.

      Alaric could do nothing about that battle. His jaw ground. Not yet. Right now, the Luddecceans were helping the civilian ships evacuate, but they had to remain far back from the fray, their cargo of troops too valuable to lose. The other two Luddeccean ships were just out of atmosphere, protecting that flank from pirate vessels rising from the planet. The Merkabah was providing cover for the civilian ships among the living shields that made their breaks for freedom. A fleet of “tugboats” had joined in the battle, pulling dozens of civilian vessels to safety that couldn’t do so on their own. Smaller, more maneuverable fighters commanded by Mitchel darted directly into the fray to lend aid, while the Merkabah trained her heavier phasers and torpedoes on any large pirate vessels that tried to cross the line.

      Most of the civilian shields had engine damage. The first thing the Dark had done was to incapacitate them, not destroy them. Dead shields were not shields—and couldn’t be converted. But not all the civilian ships in the fray were victims, or System 5 trillionaires attempting to flee on their luxury yachts. Some of them were working vessels that had come to help, of which the tugs were the most numerous. Designed to withstand heavy impacts, small, with powerful engines, the tugs were fearlessly diving in and pulling larger civilian craft from the fray.

      A glance at the holo showed no tugs were readily available, and the ferry was minutes, maybe even seconds, from having her hull breached.

      “Captain, we’re being hailed…by the Emerald Jane…a yacht?”

      The holo highlighted a sleek vessel that had earlier pulled from the fray, miraculously undamaged. She’d come about now, and her trajectory was the ferry.

      Alaric’s brow furrowed. The owner of the Bernadette—a Wu someone—didn’t acknowledge his folly and had been demanding rescue—three tugs had already been destroyed attempting it. Alaric had ordered his team to ignore the Bernadette’s hails. Was this another rich man about to ask for something unreasonable?

      Scowling, Alaric said, “Give me details on his ship and put him on.” The holo magnified the Emerald Jane. The yacht was shaped like an arrowhead, with wings that would give her real lift in atmosphere and time bands that shimmered around wide windows down her titanium hull. Someone whistled. She was a beautiful thing.

      Over the speakers, a deep, yet shaky voice said, “Luddeccean Captain, this is the Emerald Jane. I’ve got claw-tow lines. I’m going to tow that tick right off the ferry. Don’t shoot me.”

      Alaric tilted his head at the nervously given order, but he could see no fault with the plan, and he admired the man’s bravery. Still… “Emerald Jane,” Alaric said. “You’ll be heading into enemy fire.” Very few of the Republic vessels had weapons. Even the Leetier, the Luddecceans’ only civilian vessel, had enough firepower to keep pirates at bay if need be.

      “That’s on me.” The Emerald Jane’s trajectory did not change, and her velocity was increasing. “There’s over 2,000 people on that ferry!”

      Alaric swallowed. A brave man with his heart in the right place. But Alaric was not sure if the Emerald Jane’s captain understood exactly what he was getting into. “A tick on a tow line is as good as on your hull if you don’t let her loose fast enough.” But not too fast—that would have the tick right back where she started.

      “Understood,” the captain of the Emerald Jane replied.

      Alaric’s eyebrow rose. Was he going to have to revise his opinion of the idle rich? But then he caught sight of her name on her port side: Emerald Jane Tours. A tour boat. Not idle rich. Working affluent.

      Infected fighters were peeling away from the main group, waiting for the gate’s defenses to fall. Their heading was the ferry. Alaric’s eyes narrowed.

      “We’ll clear the way for you,” Alaric said and gave his crew a new heading. The Merkabah shot past the ferry on the opposite side of the tick, taking the new fray by surprise and quickly dispatching them.

      “Got the blood sucker!” the captain of the Emerald Jane exclaimed.

      “Bring us around,” Alaric ordered, giving new coordinates. “Be prepared to help our new friend.” Phaser fire erupted around them, but the Merkabah corkscrewed into a loop, emerging on the ferry’s starboard side just in time to see what he’d feared. The tick crawling up the tug line like a spider up a web.

      “She’s welded my tow line to me!” the captain of the Emerald Jane exclaimed. “I can’t let her go.”

      “Pulse solder,” one of his men muttered.

      “We’ve got you. Engage your time bands and maintain current course, Emerald Jane!” Alaric ordered. Bands could act as weak shielding from impacts and phaser fire by distorting the time field around a ship, but Alaric didn’t wait for confirmation before he ordered his own men. “Fire!”

      The tick exploded, meters from the Emerald Jane’s port side. Alaric released a breath. “Emerald Jane?”

      “We’re fine,” Emerald Jane’s captain replied shakily. “But that was my only claw-tow. I can’t help the ferry anymore.”

      “Get back behind the line,” Alaric said.

      “Yep,” said the Emerald Jane’s captain, disappointment palpable in his voice. In the holo, her course changed.

      “You may be able to help the ferry’s passengers evacuate, Captain,” Alaric’s suggested, eyes on the holo. “Her time bands don’t look like they’ll be operational anytime soon.” Or her main thrusters.

      “No one could stop me!” the captain declared, this time confidently. “The Emerald Jane will make as many trips as necessary.”

      Alaric found a smile tugging at his lips. Galactican or not, cyborg or not, the yacht’s captain’s humanity came through. But then a tick transport too large for one of the small fighters snapped his attention back to the holo.

      He was so engaged in targeting the tick carrier preparing to engage its time bands that he didn’t notice the bridge dimming. The tick carrier exploded into shards of dark scrap as a well-aimed torpedo impacted with its rear thrusters from the Merkabah...and in the moment of relief, that’s when he noticed—the bright phaser flashes between the gate and the infected aboard had stopped.

      His comm erupted. “We’re being hailed by Admiral Mitchel.”

      “Put him on,” Alaric commanded.

      “We’re also being hailed by…” His comm officer’s voice faded.

      “By who?” Alaric asked.

      “Five. The ID is just…Five.”

      For a minute, Alaric’s mind went blank. “It’s Time Gate 5,” Alaric whispered.

      “Sir?” said the priests, scanning the raw data from Mitchel’s feed.

      “Put it on,” Alaric said, staring at the dark in the inner ring of Time Gate 5. “Put them both on.”

      “Yes, sir,” said his comm officer. Ambient conversation on the bridge stopped. He swore everyone on the bridge held their breath.

      Mitchel’s voice cracked across the bridge. “Captain Dar—”

      Another voice cut him off. “Captain Darmadi.” Alaric glanced at the readouts near his armrest. It was “Five.” Whether it was a question or a statement, he couldn’t tell. “This is he,” Alaric answered.

      There was a pause, and then, “Yes.” Had it analyzed his voice and then cross checked what it had heard with known voice-disguising programs?

      Eyeing the darkness of the inner ring, no longer lit by phaser fire, Alaric tapped his fingers on his armrest. “How can I help you, Five?”

      “I’ve lost. My phasers are done—sabotaged by the infected aboard me. I have lost the ability to destroy my time band and even of self-destruct. I cannot help you the way Trina did.” The gate’s voice was inflectionless. If it had feelings on the matter, they weren’t evident, and it wasn’t an answer. Alaric went very still. It wasn’t human. Sometimes, Alaric had been called a robot, and sometimes he’d wished he was. Not having feelings, at times, seemed like it would be a relief. Alaric did have “feelings,” and so did the machines he’d met. He had a vivid memory of Trina, the android avatar of Time Gate 33. She’d been very beautiful, with long black hair, warm brown skin, and chocolate-colored eyes. She’d given her love and then her life to the engineer who’d maintained the systems of her time gate form. She’d given every human in the galaxy a reprieve from the Dark’s ambitions in the process.

      In officer’s training, it had been drilled into him that if machines appeared to have emotions, it was only because they’d been programmed to have them. But in one of their shared dreams, Volka had told him that Trina hadn’t been programmed to love, and yet she had anyway. Were emotions a natural outgrowth of complexity? Was the gate emotional now? If so, what was it feeling? How would he feel?

      “Self-destruct,” Alaric suggested, “would be wasteful. There are other options.”

      The plan had been to get the Luddeccean troops aboard, to help resist the infected. Of course, they’d wanted to do that after the gate disabled the infected’s firepower. The reverse had happened. “We can come aboard, Five, and help you resist.”

      “Luddecceans attacked Time Gate 8 without provocation,” Five replied flatly.

      There were murmurs throughout the bridge. That wasn’t how it had happened at all—Gate 8 had attacked Luddeccea. Alaric’s home world was still dealing with the literal fallout from the gate’s aggression. “That’s a lie,” one of the priests hissed.

      Holding up a hand for silence, Alaric said, “We are allies now, Five.”

      In the holo, the infected ships were trying to get to the gate. Admiral Mitchel’s fighters were trying to hold them back. Alaric ground his teeth. He needed to get his troops to the gate, but they needed the gate’s help to get aboard, get through airlocks, and join the uninfected security forces aboard. Every minute Five delayed was an advantage to the Dark.

      “You keep your word to machines, Captain Darmadi,” Five said.

      “I keep my word, period,” Alaric replied.

      “Order your troops not to destroy me.” It spoke the words flatly…but ah, yes, it had emotions. It was afraid. Perhaps allowing Luddecceans aboard was to the gate akin to inviting a viral infection to kill a bacterium. His brow furrowed. Not that his order would necessarily be obeyed by all Luddecceans.

      “I will do that,” Alaric said. “You have my word.”

      A readout beeped.

      “Humans don’t always obey orders,” Five said, again in expressionless tones. But there was emotion behind those words. Alaric felt sure of it. Up until Trina’s sacrifice, he’d thought of her as a child entranced by the world. In a way, she had been only a few years old. Time Gate 5 was centuries old and had been observing humans all that time.

      Alaric knew in a flash of insight that the gate was testing him. “No,” Alaric admitted. “They don’t.”

      Seconds ticked by without response, or a word breathed on his bridge. Even Mitchel said nothing.

      Did centuries of observation make one wise? Or did wisdom, like courage, need to be tested? There was no response, and then Alaric said, “It is a test of your courage to let us aboard.”

      Another pause.

      “Yes,” Five responded at last. “You have a plan?”

      Alaric’s eyes fell on the massive hulk of the Bernadette and narrowed. “Yes.”
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      6T9 sat in the mechanical room. He was plugged into Central; he was at full power and so was his suit. He was alone in the mech room, except for a few cleaning ‘bots. The Marines and James were with the ColdSWEEPERs in the hangar. 6T9 had not been able to go.

      The room had warmed, but was still only -215 C. His suit had heated microfilaments laced throughout its surface, but between the filaments, the chill crept in and then traveled along his metal skeleton where it was close to his synth skin. James, with his more modern poly skeleton, was in better shape. Also, in James’s words, “If I cut the flow of synth blood to my external capillaries, my external layers become a blanket instead of a conduit for cold to reach my core. You can’t do that?” 6T9 couldn’t. Seeing James’s face, 6T9 had understood why. Without the synth blood warming his complexion, James looked…plastic. 6T9’s model was designed to look realistic, even when powered down. Appearances couldn’t be compromised for self-preservation, after all.

      It had been an hour, twenty minutes, and thirty-five seconds since Volka had discovered the hangar empty.

      6T9 was alone. Even the emotionally malfunctioning ColdSWEEPER they’d met outside the facility had left the room, saying that, “I believe the boundaries of this game of hide and seek are larger than usual. I have to find Jocelyn. It is her birthday.” 6T9 hadn’t had the heart—literally or figuratively—to try and explain that Carl had detected no living humans and Jocelyn was dead.

      James pinged 6T9 over the ether. “6T9...we haven’t heard from Sundancer yet. Have you?”

      “No,” 6T9 replied.

      A pause like static hovered between them. “Don’t worry. I’m sure if something happened to them, Carl would inform Time Gate 1, and One would let us know.”

      The team aboard Sundancer were trying to follow the fifty ships that gatelessly transported the Dark-infected researchers of Reich Enterprises. Sundancer was somewhere across the universe, too far for ether and its lightspeed limitations.

      6T9 huffed. “I’m not at all sure that Daddy 1 would contact us if he thought it would emotionally compromise us and hinder the mission.”

      Another beat of static. “No, probably not.” James’s thoughts became wry. “Thanks. Now I’m worried about Noa.”

      6T9’s Q-comm flickered. He wasn’t the only person light-years from someone they cared about. But then another thought occurred to Sixty. “I’m sure she is fine,” 6T9 said. “Fleet would let you know. Don’t worry about me, if that really was why you were checking in.”

      “Well—”

      “I’ve got to go. I’ve got some…err…calculations to run.” You could hear a blink of surprise over the ether, 6T9 realized.

      “I do have a Q-comm,” 6T9 said dryly.

      “All right, let us know if anything—”

      “Of course.”

      There was a second of static, of caring hesitation. 6T9 should be grateful—and he was—but he didn’t want to prolong the conversation. He held his breath, and then James disconnected.

      Making sure that his sensors would alert him if anything in the mech room changed, 6T9 withdrew his consciousness to his server aboard Time Gate 1 and queried. “May I speak to Bracelet?”

      There was a rumble in the gray. “Of course. I will connect you.”

      “Is it secure?” 6T9 asked.

      Time Gate 1 said, “Your and Bracelet’s servers are adjacent to one another with a hardlink between them. The hardlink isn’t unhackable, but it hasn’t been hacked.” A vision appeared in the gray—sheets of dark, thick glass, packed tightly together, with lights flickering in their depths—it was impossible to say how large the sheets were without anything to give 6T9 a frame of reference. More sheets of “glass” appeared beside the first. They were linked together by a thick rope of unbroken shimmering fiber. He was looking at two servers linked by a fiber-optic cable.

      Those plates were Bracelet’s and his minds, 6T9 realized. In the early 2000s, at the dawn of the computing age, creating a computer large enough to do everything a human brain did would have meant building a machine as large as Earth’s moon and powering it with a nuclear reactor. Quantum computing had helped, but the thing about quantum computers was that they tended to be large—even now, it took a lot of coaxing to make qubits behave, and there needed to be either multiple qubits or a conventional machine to verify answers. Quantum decoherence and quantum noise both made the antics of a single qubit unreliable. He’d tried to explain it to Volka once, and she’d said, “It sounds like quantum computers all are infested with mischievous sprites,” and grinned.

      “There is no consciousness behind the randomness,” 6T9 had protested.

      They had been outside on the asteroid, at the time, and the artificial sun had just slunk beneath the horizon. “Are you 100% sure it isn’t some consciousness?” she’d answered and narrowed her eyes, glowing in the twilight. It had been a trap, designed to make him admit there could be a higher consciousness. She knew enough to know that he couldn’t say there was not a higher consciousness involved with 100% certainty. He’d almost shot back, “You’re right, there is a chance that we are in a vast computer simulation,” just to see her look of horror at the heresy of a God-as-a-computer, but at just that moment she’d lifted her nose and sniffed. “I smell a deer, and the poor thing is hurt.” She’d licked her lips very disturbingly. 6T9’s Q-comm had shut down for a moment; when it came back online, she had already disappeared into the brush. He should have mentioned the potential Computer God during their banter in Shinar.

      In the present, the cable between the servers shimmered, and Time Gate 1 said, “Your communication is secure. As is communication between you and James.” A third set of glass plates appeared, connected to the first set by another thick shimmering cord.

      6T9 would have scowled if he’d projected an avatar. Annoyance made him summon one immediately, and he did scowl. “This would have been convenient to know,” he said, thinking of James hunting him down just days ago, afraid to communicate via Q-comm.

      “You never asked.”

      6T9 almost rolled his eyes, but then noticed that there was no direct connection between James and Bracelet.

      Time Gate 1 read the unspoken query. “Not yet. Maybe never. If James is compromised, you are a partition.”

      “James would never betray the Republic,” 6T9 replied, avatar hands clenching into fists.

      James said the gates had god complexes, but Time Gate 1 only sounded tired when it said, “Not willingly, no.” The gray darkened and appeared to shimmer. “I have never experienced true war before, 6T9. I am making this all up as I go along.” There was another shimmer in the mindscape—or server-scape. “If humans lose their war with the Dark, I am not so naïve to believe that the Dark won’t seek to destroy us. If humans win, it will only be because of gate-less travel, and we still might be destroyed. Perhaps not quickly, but slowly, as we become redundant.”

      “Happy thoughts,” said 6T9.

      Time Gate 1 chuckled. “You can connect to Bracelet or James anytime you want. But 6T9, a warning—not all the gates believe the Dark is dangerous to us, and not all gates keep their servers secure.”

      6T9 translated that—not all androids’ thoughts were necessarily “private.” Before he could dwell on it, another consciousness met him in the mindscape. “6T9!” Bracelet exclaimed. “Oh, you have an avatar! I want one, too!” The mindscape in front of 6T9 shimmered, and he was staring at Volka, and she was staring at nothing. She was semi-translucent, like a ghost. He had a moment of blinding panic. Was this some sort of code, a eulogy? “Bracelet, what has happened to Volka?”

      “She’s fine!” chirped Bracelet from the Ghost Volka’s wrist. 6T9’s Q-comm fired and his eyebrows hiked. Bracelet had made her avatar herself and Volka. He supposed it made sense. Without Volka, Bracelet didn’t have feet. She had, he noticed, made herself especially shiny on Ghost Volka’s wrist.

      “Ahem,” Bracelet said. “I’m down here.”

      6T9 hadn’t realized his eyes had shifted back to Volka’s face. Bracelet had lit it from below, as though Volka held a candle. Her eyes glowed faintly, though the upper half of her face was indistinct and shadowed. He wanted to focus on those features, to fill in the details with his own memories, but, with difficulty, 6T9 looked down at Bracelet, and then he had an idea.

      “Bracelet, maybe the three of us—Volka, you, and I—can have a conversation?” He thought of all the Marines around her. “Maybe a private conversation?”

      “Ooh! Yes, give me a minute.” Bracelet’s voice dropped to a whisper. “I’ll ask her very quietly.”

      6T9’s eyes rose to the eyes of Ghost Volka, and he remembered the kiss in the kitchen. His sensory receptors fired at the memory of her body next to his, and where their bodies had touched, for a moment, he was warm.

      “Sixty?” Volka’s voice filled the mindscape, and suddenly her features were distinct and clear. She was bowed over him, as though his head were laying on her lap—exactly what Bracelet would see if Volka held the device up to her face. She’d taken off her helmet, also… “You’re in the bathroom?” he asked. Volka rubbed an ear tiredly. “Bracelet said you wanted privacy. It’s nice to hear your voice.”

      She didn’t sound happy, despite that comment.

      “No sign of the ships?” he guessed.

      She shook her head. “Sundancer has taken us a few places...they were all...dark...and empty and cold. The scientists said it was the very edges of the universe. She is very sad, hurt that she keeps disappointing us, I think. She keeps projecting an image of a fisher-ptery over still water. Sometimes a fish leaps, and the ptery dives after it where the ripples start and finds it at the bottom. But then the imagery repeats, and the pond is smooth, and the fisher-ptery just circles aimlessly over the water.”

      “They left too long ago,” 6T9 said. “She can’t follow the ripples in time.”

      Volka’s lips formed a grim line. “That’s what Carl says. I’ve heard outside the universe there is no time, and I wonder why we can’t just leave it and find them. If there is no time, doesn’t everything happen at once? Aren’t they still in the process of free-gating forever and ever, and shouldn’t she be able to find them?” Her ears curled back sadly.

      “I’m not sure if that is a question for philosophers or physicists or both.” His Q-comm was humming white and warm. “Fisher-pterys are creatures of air that can dive into water. Maybe Sundancer is a creature of time that can only briefly dive beyond it?”

      Volka’s ears perked and she gazed down in rapt attention. “The edge of the universe, where we are now, is sort of like the edge of the pond of time, isn’t it? I like that explanation.”

      “Metaphors are inherently fallacies,” Bracelet complained. “I don’t think—”

      6T9 cut the machine off. “Bracelet, it’s beyond all our computing power. We have to make do with metaphors for now.”

      “It’s inaccurate,” Bracelet huffed.

      Volka rubbed Bracelet’s side, bit her lip, looked away, and closed her eyes. “Fifty ships, Sixty. Fifty free-gating ships filled with infected scientists who can build more ships.”

      “Free-gating…You’ve coined a new phrase,” 6T9 said, trying to say something that wasn’t dismal.

      Volka didn’t smile. Closing her eyes, she bowed over Bracelet. “It was all for nothing. We rescued Okoro, and it didn’t matter. We went to the research facilities, and it didn’t matter. We failed, Sixty.”

      For a moment, his circuits went dark, but then his Q-comm sparked. “We did not fail! Nothing we have done was for nothing, Volka.”

      Lifting her eyes, she blinked at him.

      “Volka,” he whispered. “We saved Okoro and we saved Central. Okoro would have died on Shinar. Central would have died right here—completely unknown…” He blinked. His hands went to his torso, and he felt the weight of Eliza’s ashes beneath his suit. No one would have mourned Central. They never would have known that she existed. The idea made his circuits go briefly offline.

      “That would be terrible, about Okoro…and especially about Central,” Volka said, sparking his circuits. “No one would have even known she’d even been alive.” The words echoed his own thoughts, but she said them without any feeling.

      His Q-comm fired. “Volka, we have saved the two minds in the universe most likely to understand how Reich achieved gateless travel. Okoro has the understanding. Central has the data. There will be a Q-comm among the ships in the squadron on their way here. Central and Okoro will be connected very soon.”

      Volka’s ears came forward.

      “Volka, we saved hope,” he assured her, and saying the words, he heard the truth in them, and actually smiled.

      She smiled back…tentatively.

      His smile turned wry. “Also, coming here, we’ve let the Republic know the danger. They know to be on guard for ships that appear suddenly out of nowhere. They do keep track of who goes through gates, and they’ll be able to cross-reference any ships that arrive at ports and know where they came from.”

      “They keep track of ships that cross through public gates, but not private gates,” Bracelet supplied with unhelpful cheer.

      Volka scowled, but then 6T9’s external sensors flashed. He found himself looking away from her, as though he could see the source of the disturbance in the mindscape.

      “What’s wrong?” Volka asked.

      In the mindscape “Happy Birthday” began to play.

      He scowled. “It’s the malfunctioning ColdSWEEPER ‘bot. Give me a moment.” He was barely aware of her nodding as he brought his focus back to the mechanical room. Hovering in the door, ColdSWEEPER was holding the severed torso of an enormous space suit in its pincer arms.

      Finishing up the song, it declared, “I found you, Jocelyn. Now it’s your turn to find me!”

      Humming cheerfully, ColdSWEEPER dropped the torso on a worktable and hovered over to a cabinet. “Now I just have to administer the antidote—”

      “Antidote?” 6T9 demanded. He noted that where the arms and legs of the suit had been severed there was an airtight seal. The helmet of the suit was still attached, and the inside was frosted over.

      ColdSWEEPER swiveled to him. “She’s been administered a proprietary hibernation serum that has allowed her body to safely drop to 1 C. The antidote will slowly revive her as I charge up the suit and warm it to an acceptable temperature.”

      Ripping the hardlink from Central and forcing himself to his feet, 6T9 creaked toward the damaged suit. He peered into a bit of the helmet not coated in frost. There was a tiny child inside, her head turned to the side. Her skin was deathly sallow, but her eyelids were gently closed, as in sleep. Her hands clutched a much-loved stuffed pink bunny.

      “She’s alive?” 6T9 gasped.

      “Oh, yes,” said ColdSWEEPER.

      6T9 stared into the damaged envirosuit, and sure enough, saw a half a millimeter of frost creep up the inside of the helmet with the slow, minuscule exhale of the child’s breath. His Q-comm hummed white. The suit hadn’t been damaged, it had been modified. Her parents, or someone who cared, had detached the arms and legs so that it would use less power so that it could keep her at 1 C for a little bit longer than it would have been able to with the added mass of legs and arms.

      6T9 reached out over the ether and pinged everyone. “There is a survivor. A child in an envirosuit. There may be more.” He touched the surface of the suit. It was bulkier than the one 6T9 wore and as cold as the room, holding all its precious heat inside. “There will be no heat signatures. Anyone within will be in a hibernation state, life signs hard to detect.” He sent all the visual data on Jocelyn to the team, and Young said, “We saw a family suited up a click back—we thought they were dead.”

      “I saw a kid,” said Ramirez.

      With cold, unsteady hands, 6T9 jacked into the suit with the hardlink he’d used for Central. The child’s suit was at 25 percent charge. “Get to them as fast as you can; their suits will be running out of power.”

      “We’ll sweep back through the areas we’ve secured,” Young replied. “See if Central can help in regions where she’s got visual sensors.”

      “Right,” 6T9 said. To ColdSWEEPER, he said, “Do not revive her yet.”

      The ‘bot, hovering toward him with a needle in its pincers, said, “Yes, sir.”

      6T9’s Q-comm fired. “I bet you know all the best hide and seek places.”

      “I do, sir!” ColdSWEEPER whistled. “Even ones outside the normal game parameters.” The machine swept closer to 6T9 and whispered, “Sometimes the older children found the confines of the mechanical room too limiting. I never told on them when they went places they weren’t supposed to go. I like finding people.”

      The machine had no idea what had gone on here. But if anyone survived, it would be because of ColdSWEEPER. “Other children are playing hide and seek with their parents. Maybe even people who’ve never joined the game before. Go find them, ColdSWEEPER.”

      Instead of leaving, the machine whirred in the air toward Jocelyn.

      “She’ll be fine,” 6T9 said.

      “You do have a great deal of experience in medical care,” ColdSWEEPER said but didn’t move. Did it have a special connection to the child? Even a machine like ColdSWEEPER learned by experience. Had something she’d done reprogrammed it?

      “I’ll be sure she stays safe,” 6T9 added.

      “If she wakes up—” ColdSWEEPER said.

      “I will call you. I know she will want you to sing her ‘Happy Birthday,’” 6T9 said. She’d need a familiar face—or machine. “Go find any others.”

      Whirling to the door, ColdSWEEPER took off.

      6T9 looked down at the girl one more time. Despite her sallow skin, and wispy, disheveled dark hair, she was beautiful—perfect, in fact. Or maybe it was just the shock of finding such a fragile life here that made her seem especially precious. He carried the child back to the outlet and jacked her suit in to recharge it.

      And then he reached out to Bracelet. His mind passed through the gray of the mindscape in a flash, and he was staring up at Volka again. She hadn’t left the aft compartment and was staring down at Bracelet, her lips parted.

      Before she could ask, he said, “We found a survivor. A child.”

      Volka’s eyes went wide, her ears came forward, and her jaw dropped.

      6T9 relayed the visual data from his eidetic memory. “Show her, Bracelet.”

      Holo light flickered across Volka’s face. “We’re coming back, now. I don’t care what sort of argument the scientists are having!” Tears shone in the corners of her eyes. Volka was a slayer of deer, pirates, Guardsmen, and the infected of any age and species. She was also the protector of lost children. Not just little Jocelyn, but also BOY4 aboard the Copperhead, the child they’d protected during the riot on New Grande, the children who’d moved into her house on Luddeccea, and FET12.

      Volka was both deadly and a protector of the most innocent…was it really a contradiction?

      “Thank you, Sixty, for reminding me that there is hope.” She bit her lip. “Oh, she is beautiful. We will be there soon. I will see you soon.” She vanished.

      Central spoke across the hardlink. “I have re-established connection with one of our orbiting satellites. Galactic Fleet vessels are approaching…and your strange vessel has arrived.”

      6T9’s circuits sparked as he thought of being reunited with Volka again. Young pinged the local team via the ether. “Bringing the family into the mechanical room. I think they might be alive.”

      6T9’s circuits lit—he was happy—even though he knew that he was going to be too busy to be reunited with Volka for a long while.
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      It was hours before Volka saw Sixty again.

      Fleet brought a small medical shuttle with them, and the Marines had to take all the survivors aboard. Then they all had to go through decon.

      When Fleet finally attached the plastitubing to Sundancer’s hull, Volka found herself peering down through the opening on Sundancer’s bridge. Sundancer and the med shuttle were orbiting Reich’s planet. Farther from System 5’s sun than Pluto was from Sol, it was very dark outside, and the plastitubing was a dark gray splotch below Sundancer’s pearly white hull.

      “At last, Carl,” she said into the werfle’s mind. The werfle was asleep on her arm, still in his sausage suit. He only snored in response. Volka yawned, despite herself. “How long has it been since I’ve had a full night’s sleep?” she murmured.

      “I can give you a packet of instant coffee if you want?” said Jerome.

      Volka was about to politely decline, but Bracelet shouted, “Don’t touch it!” with the same sort of alarm Volka normally associated with, “He’s got a phaser!”

      Volka blinked. Rhinehart cocked her head. Jerome’s eyebrows shot up.

      Bracelet sniffed. “You haven’t slept since Luddeccea. Caffeine won’t help that. If I had a carbon-based operating system like yours, I would go back to the aft compartment and shut down immediately.”

      Catching the brief shimmer of an envirosuit emerging from the Nightingale, Volka said, “But I can’t go to sleep now. Here they come.”

      There were some mutters of “finally,” as though the guys aboard had been put out by the others’ absence, but there was no feeling behind the word. It was a lame joke. The feeling around her from the Marines was a…heaviness…it sat between Volka’s shoulders. She didn’t quite understand it.

      The person emerging from the med shuttle kicked off the other ship’s deck. They were fully suited, and she couldn’t make out their face in the darkness between the ships. Her visor was up, but from here, they smelled like everyone on the team and no one in particular. Another shimmer appeared, and another. They floated in slow motion toward Sundancer. A hand fell on Volka’s shoulder and a weight of emotion she didn’t expect…was it concern? “Give ‘em room,” said Rhinehart.

      The heaviness of feeling didn’t match the words. Volka backed up, and the first of the away team reached Sundancer. He put his hands on the bridge and then pulled himself up, like a person pulling themselves out of a swimming pool. His face was turned away from Volka, but she thought it might be Ramirez because whoever it was smelled more like him than anyone else. As two more of the away team pulled themselves up, she inhaled, instinctively, trying to find out…and then wavered on her feet.

      She knew she was aboard Sundancer. She knew Rhinehart was right behind her, and Carl was in her arms. She could see the shining suited men launching themselves up onto the bridge...but she also saw bodies, frosted over, crumpled on the floors of long dark corridors. She saw other bodies frozen upright, with expressions of pain and fear on their faces. The bridge dimmed, or maybe it was just her heart. The Marines were bringing with them the memories of the Reich compound. Somebody said, “You’ve been holding us up!” The words were shocking, incongruous with the feelings of the speaker. She blinked at the man and heard him say, “Snap out of it, Ramirez, come on,” though his lips weren’t moving.

      “I remember seeing my first dead kid,” said Rhinehart. Volka looked over her shoulder at the woman. “Wish I could think of a good joke, damn it. Poor suckers.” The words were in Rhinehart’s voice, but they hadn’t been spoken aloud.

      Volka released a shaky breath. She was telepathically hearing and seeing the thoughts of the people around her. Volka tried to focus on what was real, and what was just telepathy, and couldn’t. Maybe she should have gone back to the aft compartment and slept. She scrunched her eyes shut and saw the perfect little girl with the bunny Sixty had shown her, but this time the little girl was lying on a medical bed. She still had the bunny, though. One of the huge robots she’d seen in Jerome’s tablet was hovering beside her, though it didn’t seem to be a medical robot. There was a family too, similarly asleep, and feelings that were…bitter and sweet, prideful and sorrowful and—

      “Volka?”

      Sixty’s voice cut through her mental clamor like a cool breeze. She opened her eyes and found him standing close. His helmet was on, but his visor was up so she could see—and more importantly—smell him. His hands were on her upper arms, and she felt the weight of them, but not of any emotions tied to them. She exhaled, and maybe even smiled a little. She was dazed with all the voices and images she’d just seen. “You’re back.”

      The bridge was noisy now, and he dropped his helmet, so it just barely clicked against hers—to be heard, or just to be close. “Yes.” She inhaled deeply and only smelled him, not other people’s feelings, and she sighed because she was happy and relieved.

      James’s voice rolled between them. “Volka, we need to go back to Gate 1.”

      “Yes, of—”

      Behind her, someone said, “adorable little pink bunny just like Mr. Bernie. I think I still have him somewhere, or maybe I left him with my mom. Argh, I’ll probably cry if she threw him out—” Volka froze. Had she heard that? No, a pink bunny was involved—it must have been someone’s mental monologue, although Marines sometimes could be more forthright about that sort of thing.

      “Volka?” Sixty said.

      She turned back to Sixty and met his eyes—familiar warm brown flecked with green and gold. “I need to get some sleep,” she blurted out, and then flushed, remembering him pressed against her in the kitchen.

      It seemed to her that Sixty went preternaturally still, and maybe she did, too. She was frozen with thoughts she couldn’t say aloud. It would be so nice to sleep with him. Their relationship had changed too fast, but she desperately needed it to be real. He’d be warm; he’d probably hold her all night. Of course, they wouldn’t just be sleeping all night—which was against The Three Books—but they were engaged, which among weere was just about the same thing as married. Not everyone could make it to church before the Season began. And in the Republic—well, paperwork in the Republic seemed more time consuming and complex than it did on Luddeccea, even though the Republic had computers. Something was bound to come up—a snag in her immigration status, most likely. She didn’t want to wait for every wrinkle to be ironed out…it might take the rest of her life. She blinked and realized Sixty was searching her face.

      “I’m very tired,” she said, and then realized how lame that sounded.

      “I’m sure you can rest in the Diplomatic Corps’s residence on the station,” James said, and Volka imagined the austere rooms there, with the large beds that were a little harder than she liked, and the scratchy scrub pajamas...but she wouldn’t have to wear those. With Sixty, she was sure to be warm, the warmest she’d been in a very long time.

      Sixty’s eyes met hers again. She couldn’t read his mind. But then he said, “Whatever you need,” and her breath caught. He understood.

      Her eyes were beginning to burn with lack of sleep, even if her heart rate had picked up. “I need a lot,” she murmured, wiping her eyes. And then she realized that was a lot of innuendo. But, perhaps taking sympathy on her, Sixty didn’t rise to the bait. His lips quirked, and one of his eyebrows rose, but that was all.

      Carl snored and whimpered in his sleep.

      “Right,” she said, adjusting the werfle in her arms. “Back to Sol.” The bridge was busy, the scientists were staring at the holo device they’d brought, everyone was talking—or maybe just thinking. She handed Carl to Sixty, saying, “I’ll get Time Gate 1 on Bracelet’s holo.”

      And then, from directly behind her, she heard, “Ah, Volka. You didn’t get there in time…please don’t have died on me.”

      The words had been spoken by Alaric.
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      Captain Ran’s voice crackled through the speakers on the Merkabah’s bridge. “They’re away.”

      On the holo, Alaric watched the second group of troops—these from Ran’s ship wearing pressure packs—shoot toward the inner ring of Time Gate 5 and an open airlock there. In the holo, the men and the airlock were clearly visible. If he were to go to a porthole, he’d see only darkness. Their troops were wearing Republic environmental suits and were nearly invisible. The airlock was unlit to make it less of a target. And the whole operation was in the shadow of the Bernadette, protected by her bulk and Mitchel’s uninfected System 5 fighters on either side. Alaric had used the remote EM drives—the same type he’d used to push Volka’s craft into the sun—to push the Bernadette into position. He’d heard that the owner, safe on a tug to the planet’s moon, was issuing threats of legal action if she was damaged—but she was already only fit for scrap. Outside of the Bernadette’s shadow, there was a constant light show of phaser fire, but so far, the Bernadette protected them. They’d knocked out most of the pirates’  heavy guns, and Time Gate 5’s heaviest armaments had been destroyed early in the fighting—thankfully on both sides. As long as no heavy reinforcements arrived on the pirates’ side, they were reasonably safe. Alaric’s fingers drummed on his armrest. It wasn’t at all certain the Dark couldn’t arrive unexpectedly...his eyes met Solomon’s. The werfle was sitting on top of the chair back. The werfle hadn’t confirmed or denied his fears of what the Dark’s true motive had been in this system. A shake of the werfle’s head would be enough. Alaric didn’t need a complicated sign language exchange. But the werfle’s eyes narrowed, and Alaric leaned back slightly, interpreting it as, “Don’t worry about things you cannot change.” Solomon was wise.

      “Get out of here,” Alaric said to Ran. Ran’s ship had used up her torpedoes, and her heavy phaser cannons were low on charge.

      “We can still be of assistance,” Ran replied.

      “We’ll need you and your ship later, Ran,” Alaric replied. “And right now, you’re in our way.” The Merkabah would be the last of the three Luddeccean vessels to drop off Guard troops.

      Ran’s ship’s thrusters fired, briefly lighting the scene below. “We will see you on the other side,” Ran promised.

      “You know you will,” Alaric said.

      Ran’s ship pulled away just far enough to engage her Net-drive without damaging it. For an instant, she was a brilliant blue pearl of light, and then she was gone.

      “Ticks coming around the Bernadette from her bow and stern,” one of Alaric’s own men declared.

      Alaric’s eyes narrowed on the spider-like vessels crawling along the Bernadette’s surface; their phasers were visibly hot. He thumped his fingers on the armrests but didn’t interrupt his crew. They’d been at this for a while.

      “Taking aim at the stern,” said one of his gunners.

      “The one on the bow almost in my sights,” said another.

      Two neat explosions cleared the ticks. “Adjusting the remote EM to compensate for the blast force,” said his remote operator.

      To the weere priest at the ship’s computer, Alaric asked on a whim, “There aren’t any unusual time field fluctuations in the area?”

      The weere man looked up at him in alarm, but then peered down at his monitor. “Only our ships, Captain.”

      Alaric shot an eye to Solomon. The werfle shook his head in the negative.

      “Our turn,” Alaric said. “Take us into position.” The mood on his bridge was confident, alert. No one was happy about sending Luddeccean troops aboard the gate, but everyone knew how important it was. Some of the priests were also confident it would bring more Galacticans into the Godly fold. Alaric wondered if it might work the other way when the Luddecceans saw how bright and exciting the Republic could be.

      “Put me on speaker,” he said to his comms officer.

      “You’re on, sir,” the comms man said.

      Alaric had already given the men their orders to protect the gate, so he didn’t repeat it. Instead he said, “In thirty seconds, we’ll be in position. Luddeccea’s hope lies with you. You are our finest. We’ll be seeing you soon.”

      A cheer from below deck went up.

      A familiar voice said, “We’re ready, sir.” It was Davies—the man who had saved Volka in the Merkabah’s cellblock when she’d fought one of the infected there.

      There was a nod at the helm. “Move out,” Alaric said.

      Davies’s voice rang through the comm. “Move out! Move out!”

      Alaric watched the jump in the holo—the troops flowed from the Merkabah to the waiting airlock like snowflakes driven by blizzard winds. There’d be some by now who were anchored to the outer wall, phasers ready to take out ticks on this side of the Bernadette as soon as the Merkabah departed. As long as the Bernadette held...

      “Sir,” said the weere priest, “I’m…getting some…strange readouts.”

      Alaric’s eyes left his snowflakes. The Merkabah was on the Bernadette’s port side. In the holo, off the Bernadette’s opposite side, there was a swathe of emptiness. Mitchel’s fighters were currently engaged off the Merkabah’s bow. The Prydwen itself was off their stern, warding off the heavier pirate ships.

      Alaric tapped the small terminal beside him, highlighting the swathe of emptiness. “The Dark will be gating in there—”

      “What?” cried the priest.

      “Torpedoes—” Alaric said and grimaced, knowing they’d do no good. The Bernadette was in the way. “Jackson,” he said to the Bernadette’s remote EM controller. “Take the Bernadette to the coordinates I’m sending you. Now.” He tapped the place he’d highlighted a moment ago...rapidly.

      “Yes, sir,” Jackson replied. No one on the crew protested that moving the large vessel would leave them exposed. A detached part of Alaric wondered if that mindless obedience would serve them well in the long run.

      The Bernadette was larger than Volka’s little ship, and the EM drives struggled to move her. She veered gracefully, but agonizingly slowly, away. Alaric blinked and saw a flicker in her path. He blinked again and the flicker was a blazing red sphere, larger than the Bernadette. Alaric rarely dreamed, but he had that sensation of being in a dream and running helplessly in place.

      “What?” someone asked.

      “The Dark has gateless travel now,” Alaric whispered under his breath. “Ah, Volka. You didn’t get there in time.” Volka and her miraculous, unreliable, eccentric starship would have been sent to find any vessels the Republic thought would be capable of faster-than-light travel. Volka’s little ship was the only gateless vessel they had. Why hadn’t they called in the Luddecceans for that assignment? Why did they let the burden fall on her small shoulders? “Please don’t have died on me.”

      The Bernadette was meters from the fiery warp in time. For a moment, Alaric hoped…but then a blast exploded outward from the sphere, the Bernadette erupted into shards, and seconds after, Alaric was slammed against his seat, and alarms were screaming.
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      6T9’s hands were on Volka’s arms when she turned from him and inexplicably looked over her shoulder as though she heard a sound. There was nothing behind her but the hull, and that had become transparent when the bridge closed. All that was outside was the system’s sun. At this distance, just a large star. Gasping, she whispered, “Alaric…he’s there.”

      6T9’s hands slid from her.

      Carl squeaked from the floor. “Yes, yes! Solomon’s with him. They were at Time Gate 5, launching Luddeccean troops into the gate.”

      In the periphery of his vision, 6T9 saw James look sharply at the werfle. All of 6T9’s attention was focused on Volka. She turned full around and lifted her hand to the wall as though reaching for something. His circuits darkened. “I’m right here,” he wanted to say, but didn’t.

      Carl squeaked. “Fleet couldn’t get troops there fast enough. The Luddecceans were able to send troops aboard three of their faster-than-light ships. Weere Guard are with them. Non-infected troops will still be outnumbered, but hopefully they can hold the gate until Fleet arrives. They’re sending smaller ships through the same small gate the Nightingale came through. But they’re hours away at lightspeed.”

      “What?” said Young, coming over, Rhinehart, Jerome, and Ramirez close behind. Volka turned around, met 6T9’s eyes, and put her hand on his forearm. Despite his suit, his touch receptors fired, and his skin warmed beneath her fingers. She turned her focus to Carl, but her hand drifted to his. For a moment, 6T9 believed everything would be well.

      Dr. Patrick Shore had been hovering over the holo, but he stopped whatever he had been doing and turned his attention to Carl.

      6T9’s Q-comm fired, finally realizing the momentous nature of what the werfle had just said. It was one thing for Luddecceans and Fleet to fight together in System 33; it was only nominally part of Republic space. It was another thing for Luddeccean troops to be landing on Time Gate 5—one of the oldest gates of one of the oldest settlements in the Republic.

      “You didn’t know?” Carl’s visor was up, his snout pointed in James’s direction.

      James sighed. “I did, but it was supposed to be secret, Carl.”

      Carl’s whiskers twitched. “How can I be discreet if I can’t read your mind?” It came out rather indignant.

      Volka turned back to the group, but her eyes were focused on nothing. “He’s…Alaric’s…in trouble…they all are. The Merkabah is lost.”

      Carl shivered. “Yes.”

      “We have to help,” Volka whispered, her expression blank, eyes glowing in the dim light of the holo.

      6T9’s hand tightened around hers. His Q-comm flashed bright white. Volka could read the emotions of the people close by, but she could feel Captain Darmadi’s from billions of kilometers away. His jaw got hard. Because she loved Darmadi. Some lovers expressed their affection with chocolates, flowers, and blowjobs. Alaric and Volka expressed their love by defying orders, by swooping in to rescue one another from danger, and, in Volka’s case, by rescuing a woman who reviled her because she was the mother of Alaric’s children. They knew each other in all ways. Alaric had saved Volka by stepping in when 6T9 had failed her, comforting her in her darkest moments when she was near suicidal with grief. Of course, Volka would return the favor. They would never stop defending one another; they would never be able to. They were bound by something more penetrating than the ether, something that defied space and time. Something only death could come between.

      Dr. Shore said, “We don’t have orders to go there.”

      Young growled, “We owe Darmadi and the Merkabah.” 6T9 couldn’t see the Marines crowding around him, or even Volka—his Q-comm was blinding him. In the same offhand way 6T9 had watched himself crush a man’s skull, he heard himself say, “We should go. We should rescue the captain.”

      When they did, they would bring Captain Alaric Darmadi aboard, and 6T9 would kill him.
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      The Merkabah’s hull groaned. Somewhere metal screamed.

      “Sir, we have ticks on the hull,” one of his men told him unnecessarily. Alaric could see that on the holo—one was very close to the conference room and just meters from the bridge. He could also see that the Dark’s faster-than-light ship that had targeted the Bernadette was gone. It had sent the Bernadette—or pieces of her—careening into the Merkabah and then immediately escaped. That told him a lot. The Dark had faster-than-light ships, but not a true fleet. They had only dared send one ship but hadn’t dared to lose it.

      The voice of his Chief of Engineering cracked over the bridge. “The piece of her hull that hit us damaged the Net-drive. It is repairable, but we’ll need time.”

      Alaric’s fingers pounded on his armrest. Time was something they didn’t have.

      “Sir,” one of his weere priests said. “The impact damaged our electricals. I don’t have system controls.”

      Translation: the priest could not set the self-destruct, and the Dark was going to get a faster-than-light, Luddeccean LCS. Alaric’s jaw ground. Like hell they would.

      Facing near certain death, he felt the same way he had when  he’d stared down the barrel of a phaser in prison. He was livid. He tapped his inter-ship comm. “Crew, this is your captain. Get to the jump lock immediately. Aid our troops in the liberation of the gate.”

      On the bridge, no one moved. Unfastening himself, Alaric said, “You heard me. Get going.”

      Men scrambled from their seats. There was a whoosh of the airlock door that led from the bridge, and Alaric turned to see Davies flanked by two regular Guardsmen and a weere. The sergeant saluted. “Martin can handle the evac, sir. Thought you might need help blowing up the ship.”

      There was another screech and groan on the hull. Alaric suspected they were minutes from being boarded.

      “I would appreciate that, Mr. Davies.”

      Turning around, he saw that although his crew had all risen, they were not leaving. Of all the times not to follow orders. “Dismissed!”

      The crew filed out, all except the oldest of the priests. “You’ll need me to help you with the self-destruct.”

      A screech sounded from the direction of the conference room—saws cutting through the hull. It was exactly where Alaric wanted to go. They’d had trouble with their electricals aft of the Net-drive outriggers, but the terminal on the far side of the conference room would still work.

      Davies handed him a pistol. Checking its charge, Alaric growled at the priest, “You’ll be in the way.” He leveled his eyes at the weere. “You know I can handle the code.” He knew his way around the Merkabah’s systems—more than he was supposed to know. Solomon leaped from the back of the chair onto Alaric’s shoulder. Alaric scratched the werfle behind the ear. “Solomon, you’ll go with him.”

      But the weere priest was backing toward the door, eyes on the werfle. “He’ll bite me if I take him away from you.”

      “You’ll become infected, Solomon!” Alaric protested.

      “He’ll die first,” the weere priest said. “But you won’t.”

      The werfle purred. With a bow to Alaric, the weere priest backed out the door.

      Alaric glanced at the werfle. Solomon had made his decision. “Right,” Alaric said, heading toward the conference room, putting his helmet on and snapping his visor in place. A green light where the pane of plastic met the helmet proper told him his suit was sealed from infection, and despite its thinness, would keep him alive in vacuum, whether in the heat of the sun’s light or in the chill of the gate’s shadow…if he got that far. Solomon was a snake-like ghost in the corner of his eye. Davies and one of the Guardsmen was ahead of him. The two other guards followed.

      They passed into the narrow airlock between the conference room and the bridge, and Alaric couldn’t help asking, “How did you know I’d need help?”

      “You didn’t give us a countdown for when the ship was going to blow,” Davies replied. “Knew you wouldn’t let ‘em have her, sir.”

      Alaric almost smiled. “Well surmised, Shipman.”

      The door to the conference room slid ten centis and stopped. Through it, Alaric saw darkness relieved only by falling sparks. The pirates were drilling in from above. Metal was screaming, but in his helmet’s speaker he heard Davies swear. “The door’s jammed.”

      Davies and the weere got low and put all their weight into sliding the door open. Alaric raised his phaser. He couldn’t risk a breach. The electricals he needed would be damaged by the drop in pressure, but he knew his ship and where to aim.

      A shadow fell between the sparks and clanged on the conference room table—a thick chunk of hull. There should have been the smell of smoke and burnt metal and insulation, but all Alaric smelled was recycled air. An instant later, another shadow landed on the table with a softer thud. This time Alaric fired. His aim was true, and a man collapsed in a heap. Another man was already dropping from the hole in the ceiling, landing awkwardly on the downed man’s legs. Alaric shot him, too. Two down, but from what he’d seen in the holo, up to eight men could comfortably fit in this particular tick.

      Davies roared. The door opened. The weere hopped over the sergeant, and Davies himself scrambled into the conference room a second later. Both of them had phaser pistols aimed at the tick. Alaric went next. He heard a screech of metal on the Merkabah’s starboard side. They were being boarded below—enlisted quarters by the sound of it. He signaled to the two men behind him to get inside and close the door. A small shape dropped from above and landed on the table with a clink. Solomon squeaked and dived under the table. At the same instant, Alaric realized it was a shock grenade. He was lifted from his feet and slammed against the wall. The light in his helmet still showed green. Somewhere someone said, “Goddamn, the Galactican suit held.”

      Before the man had finished the sentence, three more men were dropping from the ceiling. The first man landed on his feet facing Alaric. His expression of surprise when he realized Alaric’s team was still standing was briefly comical—and then Alaric fired, and he was dead. Phasers from his men lit the conference room, and the other infected toppled, too.

      Kneeling beside the table, Davies motioned for Alaric to get to the electricals while he covered him. Lowering his pistol, Alaric strode the few steps to the console at the far side of the table and logged in. Solomon scrambled up onto the table next to him.

      Skipping the clunky interface, Alaric pulled up the command line prompt.

      An infected man dropped from the ceiling—briefly catching Alaric’s attention—but he was shot before his feet touched the table. Were the infected even trying to stay alive at this point? Another dropped. This time Alaric didn’t look up as he was shot. Alaric entered the code for the self-destruct and his authorization. The countdown began. “Done!”

      From within the crew’s quarters, he heard a loud clunk…and then another.

      “That’s a mech suit,” one of his men murmured.

      Alaric glanced at the ceiling. He hadn’t done this expecting to live, but it suddenly occurred to him that with the shielding of the tick, they might. He gestured with a finger at the hole in the ceiling, signaled for a minute, and made a sign for low G that all the Guard knew.

      All the men nodded.

      With a few keystrokes, Alaric decreased the grav to a tenth of standard G. Davies was springing up into the tick a second later. Another Guardsman followed him. There was the flash of phasers, and, seconds later, two more pirates were flung from the tick.

      Davies’s voice crackled in his helmet. “All clear.”

      Alaric heard the clang of metal on metal as the mech suit approached. He glanced at the monitor. The clock was still ticking down. He almost left the console, but then, on an instinct his father had drilled into him, he went in and checked the engine readouts. He found a flat line.

      “It’s not working.” He swore. “The power levels haven’t increased.”

      In his helmet, Davies’s voice crackled. “We can march down to engineering.”

      The banging of mech boots on the deck got louder.

      Solomon squeaked, hopped on the table, and his paws shimmered in sign language so fast Alaric struggled to understand. “Block the air recycling vents. Let oxygen build up along all the conduits. I’ll ignite them.”

      The mech boots banged closer.

      Alaric shook his head. “It will take too long.”

      Solomon cut him off with a swift motion of his paws. “It will take too long for you. I will wiggle down to the core, wait until you are away, and the oxygen levels are dangerous.”

      Alaric scowled, weighing this option. If he blocked the vents, every air conduit in the ship would become a ticking time bomb. A similar explosion had rocked the Leetier while Volka was aboard. That explosion had been localized to a relatively small area of the ship where oxygen levels were concentrated. This explosion would destroy anything worth taking aboard the Merkabah.

      “Put me in a vent and close them,” Solomon signed. “You’ll see me next life, Hatchling.”

      Alaric felt a hollowness in his chest but huffed, “Is that a threat?”

      Alaric would swear that the expression on the werfle’s face was a smile. There was no time to argue, and the creature’s body was probably infected now anyway. Picking him up, he went to the nearest vent in the wall and tugged it open.

      “Captain?” Davis said.

      “Throw me an incendiary grenade,” Alaric said to one of the remaining men in the conference room. The man tossed it. Catching it one handed, Alaric handed it to Solomon. He had a feeling the creature didn’t need it, but said, “Just in case.”

      “Captain, the mech is on the bridge!”

      Solomon took the incendiary grenade in his middle paws, swiveled around, and dashed down the conduit. Alaric slammed it shut. There were vertical slats that were still open, slowly releasing oxygen into the ship.

      “In the airlock!” shouted one of his men still in the conference room.

      “Get to the tick!” Alaric commanded, going back to the console. He entered a few more commands. There was a snap from the vent, and he looked behind him. It was closed. Sealed vacuum tight. There was a thunk at the door, and another. He tapped a few keys. The computer was reporting every vent was closed off. He glanced up and saw the airlock door was flexing inward. His men had disobeyed. They’d stayed back to defend him and were standing on either side of the door. “Get in the tick!” he commanded. Stepping back from the console, he raised his phaser and fired at it. Sparks erupted from the monitor and from the door at the same time. The room went dark with smoke. His men were shadows on the table. Alaric jumped in the low G to the tabletop, and then into the tick. Raising his arms, he bounced off the craft’s ceiling, landed, and knelt by the opening in the floor. “Strap in and be prepared to release.” The weere man below soared up in the low G through the opening.

      Alaric saw the eyes of the last man turned up toward them. Alaric held out his arm—the man caught it—and phaser fire ripped through the man and into the hull just centis from Alaric. There was a roar, and then there was silence. Once, twice, and again, phaser fire lit his vision. Breaches in the Merkabah and the tick must have happened at the same time, because pressure sucked at Alaric’s chest and back. He was flung up and away from the Merkabah and out of the tick. Plasti-tubing from the tick’s attachment was billowing around him and then he was beyond that, too. The arm of the Guardsman was still in his, but just the man’s arm…Alaric couldn’t see where the rest of the Guardsman had gone. He was meters away from the Merkabah, turning slowly in free fall. He found himself facing the mech suited pirate, standing in what was left of the conference room. One of the mech suited man’s hands was gripping a conference room chair that had twisted in the force of the vacuum but hadn’t given. Coolly, calmly, the man—or woman, or machine—raised an enormous phaser in Alaric’s direction. Alaric stared at death once again, and once again, he was livid. He raised his phaser and fired. The mech warrior lifted its face to the weapon’s beam as though to a sunbeam, mocking Alaric’s last act of defiance. And then the Merkabah erupted outward like a dark iron flower in bloom. The mech warrior went sailing past Alaric, the legs of its suit in shreds, phaser unfired.

      Alaric exhaled. Solomon had succeeded.

      His body loosened, and then he screamed. Pain erupted from his torso. A red light in his suit filled his vision, and then went to yellow and then to green. Alaric looked down and saw a shard of the Merkabah protruding from his abdomen, nearly long as his body.

      His mind was filled with too much pain for anger.

      In his mind’s eye, he briefly saw Alexis and his boys. He was ridiculously glad they weren’t here for this.

      The last word that came to his lips was, “Volka…”
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      6T9’s vision went bright white. For a moment, he thought it was his Q-comm, but then Volka, James, and the others came into view. They’d “free-gated” to Time Gate 5. Soon they’d pick up Darmadi, and then 6T9 would kill him. The thought made his circuits spark in the pleasant way they did when he successfully completed a task like giving a human an injection so deftly they didn’t notice or so much sexual pleasure they were incoherent. It was a sensation of completion, of being close to success. Carl was in his arms. 6T9 disengaged one hand from the werfle, and, just by habit, touched his chest. He felt Eliza’s ashes next to his access key, and his circuits darkened.

      What was he thinking? He couldn’t kill the man.

      Carl squeaked. “Once-mom! Solomon, he’s dead!”

      Sundancer’s hull became transparent—and for a moment, 6T9 thought of nothing. Time Gate 5 was a ring of silver blue titanium in the sunlight and midnight blue in the shade. Levels of lights should have been visible but weren’t. Debris was everywhere. On a hulking scrap of brilliant chrome the name Bernadette twisted in scripted letters. Ticks were hopping between bits of wreckage. Remains of passenger ships were dark. Fighters that were indistinguishable from each other were firing on one another, the blaze of their weapons the primary light source.

      Volka bent at her waist and clutched the air in front of her as though trying to pull something from her abdomen. “Alaric’s hurt. He’s out there.”

      Carl squeaked. “The Luddecceans have Republic envirosuits like ours. He was going to abandon ship—if all went as planned, he’s in vacuum.”

      Volka scrunched her eyes shut. “Sundancer, find him!”

      “We’ll get him to the hospital at Time Gate 1,” James said.

      Volka might have nodded. 6T9 didn’t really see. He was thinking how dirty hospitals were. How often, even in this century, it was for people to come to be healed and die at a hospital of something quite unrelated. His Q-comm fired. Had he thought just seconds ago he couldn’t kill the man? That was wrong; he could kill now. He already had. And he hadn’t minded it.

      “We better get off the bridge,” Young said. To the scientists, he said, “Move the equipment into the aft compartments.”

      The team sprang into action, but 6T9 hung back. He pushed Carl into James’s arms.

      “What is it, 6T9?” James asked.

      Instead of answering, 6T9 said, “I’ll stay here and help pull Alaric aboard. I can use the pressure in my suit to adjust for the drop in pressure when Sundancer opens her keel.” Sundancer absorbed most of the air into her walls when she opened up—most, not all. The scientists theorized it was a self-cleaning mechanism. It did whisk all human detritus off her inner surfaces, but the drop in pressure was like a brisk current—not like being flung over a waterfall. Expelling some of the stored air in the suit would be wasteful for a human, but 6T9 didn’t need to breathe. It would be enough. Maybe Alaric was already dead or close to it. His circuits lit. Maybe Alaric just needed a nudge…

      He closed the visor of his helmet.

      “You’ve lost your head tic,” Carl observed with a wavering squeak.

      “Volka, take Carl,” James said, thrusting the werfle in her hands and closing his visor.

      She didn’t protest. Taking the werfle, she ducked her head and jogged into the aft compartments. Sundancer’s hull was transparent again, and phaser fire lit the bridge. In the light of that fire, 6T9 saw James’s eyes on him. James being here was a quandary. He couldn’t kill Alaric in front of James. 6T9’s Q-comm sparked with blinding intensity. But death later would actually be better. It would appear to Volka that 6T9 had helped save Alaric, before the man died tragically in the hospital. Such dirty places—

      6T9 gasped, shocked by his chain of thought. His vision cleared. James’s gaze on him was steady, but there was a slight furrow between his brows. 6T9’s circuits misfired. He felt like he’d failed, though he’d done nothing wrong. He wished James would shout an accusation. He wished James would get angry.

      The bridge was empty, and the aft compartments sealed, but when James spoke, he whispered. “After the Luddecceans captured and tortured me…”

      6T9 blinked. Why was James bringing up something that had happened over a hundred years ago?

      “…I thought about killing Noa,” James said.

      “What?” 6T9 hissed, his fists rising in fury at the thought. Noa was no match for James in strength or speed even with her latest augments.

      “When I first was able to change my code,” James replied, his voice very soft.

      “I would never kill Volka,” 6T9 spat.

      “No, I don’t imagine you would,” James replied.

      6T9’s lips parted. He had hurt her though, and Carl, too. Accidentally. He had killed the men in Shinar accidentally. And he had proposed to Volka...accidentally. Now he was thinking of preparing an accident for Captain Darmadi.

      “Make your decision fast, 6T9,” James whispered.

      6T9 looked over his shoulder. In the burst of phasers, he saw a human body curled around a narrow, jagged, triangular piece of wreckage like a butterfly caught on a pin. He adjusted his vision, zooming in and seeing that the man was Darmadi. His envirosuit had done as it was designed and exuded a gel that congealed in a dense fibrous web that had incorporated the wreckage into its seal. Darmadi could still be alive. 6T9’s Q-comm went white, and he pictured the long shard going clear through Darmadi’s body. There wouldn’t be enough gel left to keep the vacuum from boiling him alive.

      6T9’s eyes widened, shocked by his train of thoughts. “I don’t think I can decide.”

      Sundancer’s hull became opaque. Her walls thickened. Sensors in the suit told 6T9 that she’d absorbed the majority of the atmosphere on the bridge into her walls. He thought Sundancer was preparing to scoop Darmadi up—but a millisecond later, a hole opened up in the floor instead. James was running forward and diving through the opening before 6T9 had processed what was happening. Why hadn’t Sundancer just scooped Darmadi up?

      Snarling, 6T9 followed James, diving through the opening just as the other android had done.

      James was using air pressure from the fists of his suit to reach the captain. In the instant before James reached him, 6T9 realized the piece of debris was protruding from Darmadi’s back, just barely covered by the fiber gel. Maybe Sundancer hadn’t scooped Darmadi up because his situation was so delicate? His vision went white. Just a few more centimeters and Darmadi would die…

      If he killed Darmadi, Volka would never forgive him…

      Ahead of him, James maneuvered behind Darmadi, wrapping an arm protectively around his chest. As he approached them, for just an instant, 6T9 thought his eyes and the captain’s met—but that must be a trick of the light. Darmadi’s body was crumpled. He was as weak and helpless as a newborn.

      Easier to kill …

      6T9 stopped his forward momentum. His Q-comm went blinding white. Anaphylactic shock would be such an easy thing to happen to a Luddeccean in a Republic hospital—and it would look like an accident.

      In his suit’s speaker, Volka’s voice crackled. “Sixty, are you all right? Have you got him?”

      His vision came back briefly. He shouldn’t kill Darmadi. But it would be so easy to expose the man to one of the deadly Galactic Republic viruses that he hadn’t been inoculated against…

      “Sixty!” James shouted. “Make your decision!”

      6T9’s eyes locked with James’s. “I can’t decide.”

      The decision wasn’t his. His Q-comm and…and…his old programming or maybe his conscience, he wasn’t sure which…but something was warring with his higher processing power as it insisted that he kill Darmadi. He wasn’t sure which side would win. He couldn’t guarantee Darmadi’s safety. Or even calculate the odds…what was the chance that he’d come out of a blinding flash of Q-comm inspired “insight” and find himself hovering over Darmadi’s corpse? If he couldn’t guarantee Darmadi’s safety, could he be sure of anyone’s? He hadn’t integrated his new programming successfully.

      His ether began pinging with a number that registered as Five. Maybe because he didn’t know what to do with Darmadi, his body, or his Q-comm, he answered.

      Time Gate 5’s voice crackled through the ether. “Android General 1, you’re here. I have Luddecceans aboard. Captain Darmadi ordered them to protect me, but I hear them whispering over their radios. They do not want to obey. Evidence indicates a potential attempt at my destruction. Please assist me.”

      He looked toward Time Gate 5 and saw a porthole in an airlock door. There was a metal loop for maintenance ‘bots to tether themselves beside it. He’d been wrong. He could make a decision. There was a way to guarantee Darmadi’s safety—for now—and at least play the part of the angel Volka imagined him to be, the “angel” she’d fallen in love with. His eyes met James’s again, and he nodded at the other android. Opening his fists, letting the excess air propel him, 6T9 aimed for the airlock.

    

  


  
    
      
        
          
            30

          

          
            Disconnected

          

          Galactic Republic: Time Gate 5

        

      

    

    
      “Where is Sixty?” Alaric heard Volka cry, somewhere close but still too far away.

      Alaric had locked eyes with the android Sixty a few minutes ago. He was certain that it had meant to finish him off. Its features had been hard and blank, the expression of a man prepared to kill. Archbishop Sato had claimed that Sixty couldn’t kill; Sato was wrong. Alaric didn’t know what had saved him—maybe Sixty just preferred for Alaric to suffer. Thankfully, Alaric was beyond suffering now.

      He heard footsteps that could only be Volka’s: light, but quick and determined. He was simultaneously ecstatic that she was alive, pained that she was distressed, and terrified that he carried the Dark on his suit and that it would infect her. He wanted to warn her but couldn’t make his lips move.

      A male voice replied, “He is staying with Gate 5. He can help there.” Alaric knew that voice: James Sinclair, Archbishop Sato’s brother-in-law—or “machine-in-law.” He would have smiled at the witticism if he could. He was disconnected from his body. At first that had been good. When he’d been connected, he’d existed in a world of blinding agony. Now he knew that he was being cradled by Sinclair, that the android was holding him aloft, keeping the shard of the Merkabah that pierced his torso from moving, but he couldn’t feel it.

      Volka knelt beside him an instant later and grasped his gloved left hand in her own. She wore an envirosuit—she was completely safe—he couldn’t smile or even exhale in relief. Was he breathing? He didn’t think so. He was dead. The brain could continue functioning for a few minutes after death. He was going to fade into oblivion and final unconsciousness with his hand in Volka’s. There could be worse fates. He wanted to smile again. There was a commotion around him, and he thought of Alexis, Sam, Markus, and Lucas—and he didn’t want to be dead anymore—he needed to protect them from the Dark.

      “Am I going to lose them both today?” he heard Volka whisper with so much pain in her voice it would have pierced Alaric’s heart if he could still feel his organs.

      James answered, “6T9 is resilient, and we’ll bring the captain back.”

      Alaric knew what that meant and prepared for pain. The shapes around him swooped down. The pain came but he couldn’t scream.

      Somewhere far off, he heard Volka whisper, “I’m here. I’m here.”
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      Alaric’s hand was gripping Volka’s with enough strength to hurt, even with her gloves on. He was lying on his side on a stretcher held by Ramirez and James. A wire was protruding from an outlet in his envirosuit above his heart. The other side of it was linked into an outlet in Young’s helmet. Young’s eyes were vacant, and he was leaning slightly on Rhinehart. He’d saved Alaric by etherly connecting to a Fleet doctor and an engineer in Time Gate 1’s hospital—experts in envirosuit life-support. They’d told Young what to do when he hardlinked with Alaric’s suit and were still feeding him instructions so he could make second by second adjustments. Sixty could have done it better. He was the one with the medical experience. She bit her lip, wishing he was here. She hadn’t had a chance to say goodbye…

      They were in a decon chamber, surrounded by infrared heaters, cooking any potential infection from their suits.

      Bracelet was repeating over and over again, “Do not open your visor. The heat will destroy your lungs, Miss Volka!”

      “I know, Bracelet.”

      “Still too hot,” Bracelet reiterated.

      “I know.”

      “I don’t want you to get hurt,” Bracelet said.

      Carl, safe in his sausage suit and clasped in Rhinehart’s arms, growled, “She knows!”

      Alaric’s hand started to loosen in Volka’s. Young inhaled sharply.

      “Stay with me,” Volka whispered. She couldn’t lose Alaric. She couldn’t help feeling like she’d already lost Sixty. Sixty’s leaving had been too sudden. One minute he was going to help Alaric—which had been so very much like him. The next minute she’d run onto the bridge and found him gone, Alaric dead, and James making some excuse about Sixty being needed on Time Gate 5. She closed her eyes. There were a lot of people trapped there, and the battle for the gate was still ongoing. If the Dark used a time gate to hop to every corner of the galaxy, it wouldn’t need the ships it had stolen from Reich. Sixty was very clever—he’d known the Dark was coming before anyone else, he’d out-werfled the pirates on the Copperhead, and he’d divined the Dark’s plans to infect them on System 33. It wasn’t just an excuse. The people on Time Gate 5 did need him. She bit her lip. But so did she.

      Alaric’s hand was still limp.

      “Alaric, come back to me.”

      Young’s head jerked back, and Alaric sucked in a loud breath. Though Alaric’s eyes did not open, his hand tightened on hers.

      “You’re all successfully decontaminated,” Bracelet declared. “Now we just have to wait for you to cool down—”

      The door opened.

      James said, “Let’s go,” and he, Ramirez, and Young strode into the hallway beyond. Volka had to jog to keep up, and Young stumbled. Rhinehart helped Young keep his footing with her free hand. Jerome shouted to the few people in the hallway, “Stay back. We’re hot from decon.” The rest of the team brought up the rear as they ferried Alaric into the hospital wing and a waiting operating room. There were doctors and nurses preparing very strange equipment, including a bed with a mattress of greenish gel. James laid Alaric on his side and the gel sizzled with the heat of his suit. A man in blue-green scrubs and heat-resistant gloves started stripping off Alaric’s armor. A needle flashed through the air and went into Alaric’s chest just above his heart. Alaric’s eyes bolted open, and he grimaced. He didn’t breathe a word, but his hand tightened on Volka’s. Someone grabbed Volka by the shoulders and began pulling her back. “You’ll be all right, they’ll take care of you,” she called to him.

      She didn’t know if he heard, but his hand loosened, and his pale blue eyes slipped closed.

      She looked over her shoulder to see a woman in green scrubs. She let herself be guided away, but at the door she dug in her heels and spun around.

      She had to rescue Sixty, but Alaric was not allowed to die. Gritting her teeth, she bowed her head and took a deep breath. She felt the air hit her lungs. Felt blood pounding through her, picking up the precious oxygen, carrying it through her body. Deep in her gut she felt something more. Her fingers twitched, and she raised her eyes to the medical team. They were all tied together, every person in this room, threads in a cloth that extended from here to the end of the universe, and Volka could pull the edges. “You will take care of him,” she heard herself command them. Her voice was a whisper, barely audible with the commotion in the room, but the words flowed smooth as liquid and light as a breeze. The fabric of the universe tightened between her and every other person in the room and people she couldn’t see beyond the walls.

      Everyone stopped and turned to her. The nurse whose hands were on her shoulders, had been whispering for her to leave, but now she stopped.

      “Yes, of course,” said a woman in scrubs, gazing at Volka with laser-like intensity. She spun to the others in the room. “You heard her. We must do this.”

      Releasing Volka’s shoulders, the nurse who’d been urging her to leave echoed, “We must do this,” and walked toward Alaric.

      The commotion began again, and this time, Volka felt safe leaving. She also felt suddenly weary. Leaving the operating room, she found the Marines. Rhinehart was still holding Carl. In her arms, he squeaked and spoke into Volka’s mind, “You’re progressing so fast, Hatchling!”

      Volka stopped short. “What?”

      “The mind control. It was all the more impressive because you didn’t seem to know that you were doing it,” Carl replied, thankfully telepathically.

      As if on cue, Young approached her. Putting a hand on her shoulder, he said, “We’d stay and make sure they take care of him, but we’re being ordered to a debriefing.”

      A man wearing the scrubs of a nurse approached her from down the hall. “I’ll make sure that he is taken care of, not to worry,” and entered the operating room before Volka could reply.

      Volka stuttered, “I think…I think…I need a moment.”

      Young patted her shoulder and said, “I have a feeling we’ll be seeing you soon.”

      He motioned for his team, and Rhinehart handed her Carl. Watching them retreat, Volka’s breathing came hard and fast.

      “Volka,” Carl said telepathically. “It was an accident. We need to get to Sixty.”

      She looked down at him. His little ears were adorably perked, and his eyes were wide and imploring.

      And then she felt it. The pull of the fabric that made the universe, but this time it was Carl pulling her. “Don’t you dare try to manipulate me,” she snarled, at him and her own hypocrisy.

      Carl bubbled with happiness that felt like slipping into a warm bath. “Excellennntttt.” He nodded fast. “You’re becoming so strong.” He cocked his head. “We still have to get to Sixty.” There was no pull now, just a cold statement of fact. Volka gulped. She had to pull herself together. What had just happened in the operating room was hardly the worst thing she’d ever done. “Right.” She stared down at Bracelet. Sixty hadn’t said goodbye. Probably because he was too busy and skirting danger. Still, she couldn’t resist… “Bracelet, can you connect me to Sixty?”

      “Yes, of course!” Bracelet exclaimed and gave a long hum.

      Carl under one arm, Volka set off down the hall. They reached the hospital exit, and Volka whispered, “Bracelet?”

      “I can’t connect…it’s just…gray.”

      A speaker on the wall cracked, and the familiar voice of Time Gate 1 rumbled through the waiting room. “6T9 is busy. It would be potentially dangerous for me to allow you to speak with him at the moment.”

      Volka broke into a run. Reaching out to Sundancer, she felt the ship’s readiness, and, in her arms, Carl sniffed. “Risking his synthetic hide without us! The nerve.”

      The airlock to Sundancer’s berth was open. Volka charged through, and then drew up short. Standing in front of Sundancer, hands clasped behind his back, eyes on the door she’d just entered, was James. There was a baggage hover behind him, and men in Fleet grays touching their neural ports and scanning its contents. They looked like they were preparing to load Sundancer up, as though Sundancer belonged to them.

      “What are you doing?” Volka demanded, striding toward the android. Righteous anger flooded her, and she felt the fabric of the universe around her again. Tugging on it happened as naturally as her next breath, but James didn’t budge—not mentally, anyway. The techs all turned around, though. One opened his mouth, but before he could speak, James answered her question. “Hoping that you’ll help us defeat the Dark.”

      Volka’s footsteps slowed. “I have to go to Time Gate 5!” she insisted.

      She couldn’t read him like a human, and she focused on his face. Usually she found him a blank slate—Sixty had told her something about him not liking to get “emotion updates” that wouldn’t work with his “outdated operating system”—but she swore his eyes softened slightly, and his shoulders fell.

      “Volka…” He shifted on his feet. “I am glad Sixty found you.”

      Under her arm, Carl sniffed. “Let us find him. Now.”

      Volka lifted her chin.

      James looked between the two of them. “I can’t stop you, but 6T9 doesn’t need you on Time Gate 5, and you and Carl can best help humanity elsewhere.” His Adam’s apple bobbed. “We desperately need your help.”

      Volka’s nostrils flared. Carl stiffened in her grip, and then his body sagged. He sighed, and Volka swore she could feel his dual hearts sink in his tiny chest. “I wasn’t thinking clearly, James.” He squeaked sadly. “You’re right. We must help you.”

      “But Sixty’s alone!” Volka protested.

      “He’s not alone,” Carl said. “He’s in System 5. Every machine there is programmed to recognize him. They’ll fight for him, like the ColdSWEEPER did.”

      Volka bit her lip. It was like Sixty to sacrifice himself like this. He’d saved Volka from the Luddeccean Guard even though she thought he was a monster. And Sixty knew they had to go after Alexis before Volka would admit it.

      She wanted to be with him—he probably wanted to be with her. She hoped he did. Her heart rate sped up, and her hands got clammy. She couldn’t read Sixty like a human…

      James put a hand on her shoulder. “Volka, he changed his programming for you. He’ll find his way back to you.”

      It was as though he’d heard her thoughts. Volka looked up at the other android.

      James’s lips quirked. “We’re rather binary about such things.”

      She knew what binary meant—one and zero, on and off, yes and no. Sixty asked her to marry him. So he meant it. Even if it had been sudden. Even if they weren’t suited. But they could be, if he wanted to be. Monogamy was just a flip of a switch to him, and even if he’d never expressed a real interest in monogamy, he could be that way. Her thoughts spun.

      James’s smile faded. “And when he does come back to you, he’ll have fully integrated his updates.”

      “What does that mean?” Volka asked.

      Pulling back, James frowned, and he looked over her shoulder. Familiar boot steps rang in the airlock, and familiar emotions and scents. Lieutenant Young spoke at his usual eardrum-rattling volume. “Carl and Volka, we’ve got your help, right?”

      The question was delivered boisterously, and yet Volka felt a tinge of uncertainty behind it. She felt that uncertainty in the other Marines, too, and desperation, and necessity…they had a mission, a universe-altering mission…They needed her. They hoped she would be with them. They mostly expected she would say yes—they had faith in her—but there was the faintest doubt. Their faith and hope tugged at her—they weren’t pulling at the fabric of the universe, but they might as well have been. Carl sighed into her mind. “Hope can do that better than any yank of the wave.”

      She couldn’t say no. She turned around, and before she even knew what she was agreeing to, she said, “Of course.” It wasn’t just the Marines she saw; it was Dr. Patrick, the scientist that had come with them to Reich, too. He scowled at her—or maybe she felt his scowl rather than saw it—but she didn’t have time to probe what it meant.

      She turned back to James, a question on her lips, but his eyes were on the distance, and he was striding away, tapping his neural port. A moment later, he disappeared through the airlock doors, and Volka swallowed, her tenuous connection with Sixty…gone.
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      6T9 was inside Time Gate 5’s airlock. A dark, cramped space filled with random bits of machinery, it was built for the mech ‘bots that came to the aid of malfunctioning craft hauled by tugs. Not built for humans, it also hadn’t been designed with decon in mind. He’d traveled through the chill of the gate’s shadow, not in the heat of unshielded sunlight. The organism that transmitted the Dark could travel through space shielded from radiation in ice, and there’d been at least one clump of ice that had collided with 6T9 in his short journey. It might have been infected.

      Now, with a little mech ‘bot hovering beside him, he was sorting through the bits and pieces of machinery, searching for something to toast himself with before he entered the habited portions of the gate. Over the dark mass of machine parts he searched through, in the periphery of his vision, 6T9 was replaying his memories of Volka. As soon as he’d climbed inside the airlock and out of immediate danger, he’d been unable to stop thinking about her—when he’d tried, his circuits had gone dark. So he’d stopped trying and put memories on loop, on mute. He was functional, if not optimally so.

      Distracting him further was a radio feed of the Luddecceans, trapped in an airlock not fifty meters away. Gate 5 was piping their frantic, angry conversation among themselves into his mind:

      “We’re trapped here!”

      “It’s the gate. This is a trap.”

      “It’s our enemy! We must destroy it.”

      Time Gate 5’s voice entered 6T9’s mind. “I cannot let them out. It is too dangerous.” The gate’s words were not fearful, but 6T9 had no doubt it felt fear.

      6T9 exhaled. One problem at a time. “Begin decon. Make sure their suits are sealed—”

      “They are. There is no atmosphere in the airlock,” Gate 5 replied in its cool, toneless voice. “Their blood would boil if their suits were not sealed.”

      Not having oxygen was probably feeding their fear and paranoia. 6T9 decided not to play emotional interpreter just yet. “Alert them that you will begin decon,” 6T9 advised.

      In the ensuing pause, 6T9’s eyes alighted on the innards of a circular hover coil lying half concealed by a piece of siding. Lifting it up, he found it to be nearly his height. The little mech ‘bot beeped mournfully; it didn’t have a Q-comm and couldn’t imagine that the coil could be modified to produce enough heat to sterilize the whole chamber. Grabbing a power conduit, 6T9 hauled the coil and conduit over to the only open space in the lock—right beside the exit, beneath the porthole of the door he’d just come from.

      “On your suggestion, I have begun the decon process in the Luddecceans’ airlock,” Gate 5 informed him.

      6T9 grunted in acknowledgment and frustration. The power cable had to be stripped of its outer casing in order to jack it into the hover coil innards. He could do it with his fingernails—but that would mean opening up his suit. His gloved fingers were too blunt.

      He lifted his head heavenward in a useless show of frustration, and his gaze inadvertently went through the tiny porthole. Forces of System 5 and pirates were still battling out there, their phasers thin threads of brightness in the black. He blinked, and light—real light, not Q-comm inspiration or threads of phaser fire—flashed in his eyes. The flashes were the simplest of Morse Code messages: three quick, three long, and three quick pulses again—SOS—help. Putting the coils aside, he jumped up and grabbed a handhold beneath the window. The handhold had probably been there since before Five started rotating and providing gravity via centrifugal force, because paint chips fell from it, and it wobbled with his weight. Peering through the window, 6T9 saw a tick 22.3 meters away on a slow course for open space. Its keel had blown away, and he could see the interior. At first, he almost thought it was empty, and that the message had been computer generated, but then the light came on again—and this time didn’t cut off, but instead swept over the gate. In its glow, 6T9 saw a face he recognized. “It’s Davies,” he whispered—the Luddeccean man who’d saved Volka in the Merkabah’s brig. She’d liked him, she’d told 6T9 later, because he didn’t treat her badly for being a weere.

      “Luddecceans,” Five said. “They escaped the Merkabah’s explosion with Captain Darmadi but weren’t blown from the tick like he was. It has been bouncing between bits of debris. It will be in open space soon—if it isn’t shot first.”

      6T9 let go of the handle, dropped to the floor, and grabbed one thing the airlock had in abundance: hauling line. The particular line he’d picked up had a hook at the end of it. He jumped up again, caught the handhold, and commanded Time Gate 5 to open the airlock. Five hadn’t pressurized the airlock yet and complied without argument. Turning off the image of Volka, 6T9 surveyed the scene, calculated the tick’s trajectory, location, and the centrifugal force he’d have to overcome. The line wouldn’t be long enough. 6T9 threw it toward Davies anyway. Davies’s eyes widened, and he lunged out and caught it in a single hand. His body slipped from the tick, and another form lunged for his feet, and a third man grabbed the second. They were in freefall, but they still had mass and velocity. Even with Five’s “gravity,” 6T9 was almost yanked out of the gate. He caught himself with his legs. He could see Davies grimacing, his hands slipping on the line. 6T9 almost ordered the mech ‘bot out to catch them, but then ethered Five instead. “Transmit my words to their radios. ‘Davies, we met in System 33. I was with the Fleet Marines. I’m sending a mech ‘bot out to help haul you in. Don’t shoot him.’” The static of annoyance flared beneath his skin. He shouldn’t have to say that.

      Five helpfully piped the responses into his mind. “Understood!” Davies grunted, and 6T9 made himself as small as possible so the mech ‘bot could slip by.

      “What is that?” shouted one of the Luddecceans.

      “It won’t hurt you, Guardsman. Hang. Tight,” Davies ordered.

      “Yes, sir!” the man responded.

      The mech zipped over and attached to the last man’s belt. 6T9 gave it a command, and the stress on the line immediately lessened. 6T9 began hauling the men in, and with each decreasing meter, sparks lit beneath his skin. He was saving them. He hadn’t thought about it, he’d just done it, and that made it even better…didn’t it?

      A few minutes later, Davies was falling through the airlock, and then he and 6T9 were working together to pull his comrades in. They tumbled to the floor one after another, the mech ‘bot following just behind. Five sealed the airlock an instant later. The gate’s rotation brought the porthole into sunlight, and the mech room was lit by a brilliant spotlight. Wasting no time, 6T9 went back to the hover coil. Aloud, he said to his new companions, “We need heat to decontaminate, and then, Davies, I need you to help calm down your countrymen in the other airlock. They are discussing destroying Gate 5 and frightening it.”

      Five’s thoughts echoed through the ether. “I am not frightened. I am very logically concerned.”

      Rolling his eyes, 6T9 responded silently over the ether, “I’m translating that thought into human.”

      “Ah,” said the gate. “You are accommodating their illogical natures.”

      6T9 scowled at that, but holding up the end of the power cable, he said to the Luddecceans, “Anyone have a knife? I need to strip this.”

      “Yep,” said Davies, pulling one from his belt. 6T9 handed him one end of the cable.

      Aloud, 6T9 said, “Five, would you give us some air in here? This modified coil isn’t going to produce much infrared—we’ll need to get air molecules hopping if we want any heat.”

      There was a whoosh of air into the chamber.

      A few minutes later, Davies held up the end of the stripped cord for 6T9’s inspection. “I see what you’re doing. I’ll attach it to the coil.”

      Nodding, 6T9 got out of his way and found a power outlet.

      “Ready,” said Davies.

      6T9 plugged in the cable, and Davies said, “It will take a few minutes to heat up.” To the other Luddecceans, he said, “Remember, your suit will tell you the temp it reaches on the outside. You’ll need to make sure every square centi is hot.” They nodded earnestly. 6T9 noticed one of them was a weere—he had yellow eyes with oval pupils like Volka’s. The weere man shuddered. “The Dark’s in here. Not strong, but I…smell…it.”

      6T9 blinked. The weere man couldn’t smell the Dark through his suit. The suit was sealed…he sensed it and imagined he smelled it—like Volka imagined she heard thoughts. His circuits dimmed. She sensed thoughts, felt them through the wave. It was so much more profound than hearing.

      The coil sparked, pieces of it turning red. 6T9’s suit registered the rise in the external temperature. The humans, the weere, and 6T9 raised their arms and lifted their feet, bathing themselves and their weapons in the heat. One of the humans laughed. “It’s like washing sand off your feet after the beach.”

      Davies snorted. “If sand were a mind-controlling parasite.”

      “And if sand smelled like disease and death,” the weere man muttered.

      Arms raised, 6T9 turned so his back was to the “heater.” There was a sizzle as the ice he’d collided with boiled away. The weere said, “That’s some of it.”

      Aboard the Merkabah, James and 6T9 had to be “slow cooked” to kill the pathogen. But that had only been because their suits had been breached, and they needed temps that didn’t damage mechanicals or melt synth skin. The hover coil was much hotter, and decon was fast.

      “Where’s the rest of the stuff, Lang?” Davies asked.

      “Under Falade’s arm,” Lang, the weere man, muttered. The man who must have been Falade began hopping up and down, flapping his arms.

      Davies snapped, “Stay still and hold your arms up.”

      Falade did—just in time for the hover coils to erupt into sparks and flames. The little mech ‘bot sprayed the coils with fire retardant. “Is it gone?” Falade gasped.

      “It’s gone.” Lang took a long breath and let it out slowly.

      Remembering how Volka said the presence of the Dark made her want to vomit, 6T9 resisted the urge to put a reassuring hand on Lang’s shoulder. Instead he said to the group, “We’ll lea—”

      Darkness fell over the room. 6T9 squinted up at the porthole; a piece of debris was blocking it. There wasn’t even starlight in the mech room—even weere eyes wouldn’t be able to see.

      “What’s happened?” Falade asked, shifting on his feet.

      “It’s just debris covering the porthole,” Davies rumbled.

      “We’ll leave,” 6T9 said.

      But Lang said, “I can’t see!”

      And Falade said, “Me, neither.”

      Without thinking about it, 6T9 switched on the lights in his eyes.

      The weere man whipped a pistol toward 6T9’s chest. 6T9’s vision went white and only came back after he’d knocked the pistol away with enough force that the weere’s arm would have fractured if he hadn’t been suited. As it was, the phaser went clattering across the room. 6T9’s vision returned in time to see the man reach for something else at his belt. Lip curling, his vision went white…When his focus came back, his hand was already around the man’s neck. The man was still struggling to reach something in his belt, and with a snarl, 6T9 lifted him from the ground. Struggling to breathe, the weere man grabbed 6T9’s wrist with both hands.

      “I can’t trust you, so why shouldn’t I kill you?” 6T9 demanded, static dancing along every inch of his skin. He could kill the man with a squeeze of his fingers. It would be slow, and the man would know he was dying.

      “Stand down, Guardsmen,” Davies ordered, voice calm. “If he’d wanted us dead, we’d be dead.” Glancing in Davies’s direction, 6T9 noted he was restraining Falade. The man had a pistol half unholstered, but at the order, Falade slowly put his weapon away.

      “Sir,” Davies said, addressing 6T9. “There has been a misunderstanding. If you put him down, I’ll vouch for his good behavior.”

      Tilting his head, 6T9 ground out, “I need his word, not yours.”

      “Who are you?” gasped the weere man suspended in 6T9’s grip, his legs swinging wildly in the air.

      6T9 glared at the weere without seeing him. His model number had connotations that even Luddecceans understood. He could say his name was Sixty…Volka’s image played in the periphery of his vision, the small loop of her semi-transparent and delicate—Sixty was a name for her lips, a name for friends.

      He didn’t need this man’s friendship. He needed his respect, but he was a machine, a sex ‘bot. If he wasn’t respected, he couldn’t lead this motley band or rescue the other Luddecceans. He needed the Luddecceans to secure the gate—if the gate was overrun by the infected, all his updates would be for nothing. Letting his voice echo Davies’s calm, 6T9 said softly, “I am Android General 1,” and lowered the man gently to the ground.

      Coming to stand beside him, Davies cleared his throat. “Err…I’m not exactly up to date on Galactic Republic Military branches. What are you a general of, exactly?”

      The inset of Volka switched to a memory of Volka on the asteroid, laughing and reciting poetry while she painted. “Oh, what tangled webs we weave, when first we practice to deceive!”

      6T9 was no general. Generals had armies. His lips parted. He prepared to confess— but at that moment, the door to the inner gate whooshed open. Beyond the airlock, there was a long corridor lined with robots: tall cylindrical Security ‘bots, tiny cleaning ‘bots, delivery ‘bots, and many more.

      6T9 stepped dazedly into the hallway, the Luddecceans trailing a step behind him. The airlock groaned shut. In the hallway, electronic eyes blinked, motors hummed, and a chant rose from the ‘bots. “Android General 1, we are ready to serve you!” A ‘bot that was a shiny, metallic, perfectly proportioned German Shorthaired Pointer trotted over on rubber paw pads, metal claws clicking, tail wagging, and red eyes glowing. It reached 6T9, turned around, and pointed in the direction he supposed they were to go.

      6T9 set off without looking back. “I’m the general of them.”

      FIN ~

      I am sorry about that cliffhanger. I just couldn’t get to where I needed to be in one book. There are only two more books in this story arc: Admiral Wolf and Supernova. I hope you stick around for the final bang. (Snickers in foreshadowing.)
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      Thank you for reading Android General 1. Because I self-publish, I depend on my readers to help me get the word out. If you enjoyed this story, please let people know in reviews, on Facebook, Twitter, in your blogs, and when you talk books with your friends and family.

      Want to know about upcoming releases and get sneak peeks and exclusive content?
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